TRANSITION AND WELLBEING RESEARCH PROGRAMME MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING TRANSITION STUDY

Mental Health Prevalence and Pathways to Care

Summary Report

2018

978-0-6481608-4-7 (PDF) 978-0-6481608-5-4 (Print)

© Commonwealth of Australia 2018

Unless otherwise noted, copyright (and other intellectual property rights, if any) in this publication is owned by the Commonwealth of Australia.

With the exception of the Coat of Arms and all photographs and graphics, this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Australia Licence. The Creative Commons 3.0 Australia Licence is a standard form licence agreement that allows you to copy, distribute, transmit and adapt this publication provided that you attribute the work.

The full licence terms are available from www.creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/legalcode

Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to:

The Department of Veterans' Affairs GPO Box 9998 Brisbane QLD 4001

or emailed to publications@dva.gov.au

Suggested reference:

Van Hooff M, Forbes D, Lawrence-Wood E, Hodson S, Sadler N, Benassi H, Hansen C, Grace B, Avery J, Searle A, Iannos M, Abraham M, Baur J, Varker T, O'Donnell M, Phelps A, Frederickson J, Sharp M, McFarlane A, 2018, *Mental Health Prevalence and Pathways to Care Summary Report, Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study*, the Department of Defence and the Department of Veterans' Affairs, Canberra.

This report is available from:

The Department of Defence http://www.defence.gov.au/Health/DMH/ResearchSurveillancePlan.asp

The Department of Veterans' Affairs www.dva.gov.au/prevalence-pathways-summary-report

Published by the Department of Veterans' Affairs, Canberra

Publication no: P03435

Contents

Acknowledgments	V
Context	1
Key findings	3
Background	5
Methodology	9
How to interpret and discuss the findings in this report	15
Socio-demographic characteristics	
Mental Health Prevalence Report findings	
Pathways to Care among Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF	
Glossary of terms	63
References	73

Tables

Table 1	Programme reports and objectives	6
Table 2	Survey response rates by Service for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF	12
Table 3	Estimated prevalence of lifetime ICD-10 anxiety, affective, alcohol and any disorders in Transitioned ADF	23
Table 4	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety, affective, alcohol, any disorder in Transitioned ADF	24
Table 5	Estimated prevalence n (%) of single and co-morbid affective, anxiety (excluding PTSD), PTSD and alcohol use disorders in the Transitioned ADF in the previous 12-months using ICD-10 criteria	25
Table 6	Self-reported suicidal ideation, plans and attempts in the Transitioned ADF	25
Table 7	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists and Active Reservists)	26
Table 8	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by reason for discharge	27
Table 9	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by DVA status	27
Table 10	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 Disorder and suicidality in Transitioned ADF by Service at time of transition from Regular Service	28
Table 11	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 Disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF by rank at time of transition from Regular Service	28
Table 12	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 Disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF, by deployment status	
Table 13	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF by sex	30
Table 14	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF in each scoring band for the K10, PCL, AUDIT, PHQ-9, GAD-7 and the DAR-5	32
Table 15	Estimated prevalence in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian community K10 scoring bands for psychological distress	34
Table 16	Estimated proportions of maximum number of standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian community	34

Table 17	Estimated proportions of the Frequency of Alcohol Consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian community in the last 12 months	34
Table 18	Estimated proportion of 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF who reported being concerned about their mental health in their lifetime, stratified by probable 30-day disorder	43
Table 19	Weighted estimate of 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF who reported being concerned about their mental health in their lifetime, and whether they ever had assistance for their mental health, stratified by probable 30-day disorder	44
Table 20	Estimated proportion of the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF consulting each type of health professional, stratified by probable 30-day disorder	49
Table 21	Estimated proportion of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF who used websites in the last 12 months to inform/assess mental health, stratified by probable 30-day disorder	53
Table 22	Preferred method for receiving health information in the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF, stratified by probable 30-day disorder	54

Figures

Figure 1	Survey response rates for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF	11
Figure 2	Flowchart of participation in Phase 2 of the Mental Health Prevalence and Transition Study for Transitioned ADF members	13
Figure 3	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by years since transition	26
Figure 4	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 Disorders and suicidality by years of Regular Service	29
Figure 5	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by age	30
Figure 6	Estimated length of time between having a mental health concern and help-seeking among Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30-day disorder	45
Figure 7	Who suggested help-seeking in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30- day disorder (Note: all proportions are estimated)	46
Figure 8	Who assisted help-seeking in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30-day disorder	47
Figure 9	Primary reason for seeking assistance for mental health among the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30-day disorder	48
Figure 10	Aspects of service satisfaction in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF, stratified by probable 30- day disorder	
Figure 11	Estimated proportion of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF endorsing each stigma item stratified by probable 30-day disorder	
Figure 12	Number of stigmas endorsed in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30- day disorder	56
Figure 13	Estimated proportion of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF endorsing each barrier item stratified by probable 30-day disorder	57
Figure 14	Weighted estimate of reasons why help was not sought among those concerned with their mental health in the 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF, stratified by probable 30-day disorder	

Acknowledgments

Study participants

First and foremost, we acknowledge all current and ex-serving ADF personnel who generously gave their time to complete the study. This research was only made possible by their efforts and commitment to the study. Other key individuals include:

Principal Investigator

Dr Miranda Van Hooff (Co-lead), Director of Research, Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Investigators

Professor David Forbes (Co-lead), Director, Phoenix Australia, Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health, University of Melbourne.

Dr Ellie Lawrence-Wood, Senior Research Fellow, Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Dr Stephanie Hodson, National Manager, Veterans and Veterans Families Counselling Service, Department of Veterans' Affairs.

COL Nicole Sadler (Reservist), Senior Specialist, Military and High Risk Organisations, Phoenix Australia, Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health, University of Melbourne.

Ms Helen Benassi, Mental Health, Rehabilitation and Psychology Branch, Joint Health Command, Department of Defence; PhD candidate, Australian National University.

Professor Alexander McFarlane, Professor of Psychiatry, Head of Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Lead statistician

Dr Craig Hansen, Senior Statistician and Epidemiologist, Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Statistician

Dr Blair Grace, Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Scientific Advisory Committee

RADM Jenny Firman (co-chair), Dr Ian Gardner (co-chair), Professor Ian Hickie, Professor Malcolm Battersby, Professor Mark Creamer, Professor Peter Butterworth, Professor Lyndall Strazdins, Dr Paul Jelfs, Dr Duncan Wallace, GPCAPT Lisa Jackson Pulver, Professor Tim Driscoll, Professor Kathy Griffiths, Professor Beverley Raphael, Dr Graeme Killer.

Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide

Mr Roger Glenny, Ms Maria Abraham, Ms Jenelle Baur, Ms Ashleigh Kenny, Ms Marie Iannos, Dr Jodie Avery, Dr Amelia Searle, Dr Elizabeth Saccone, Ms Jane Cocks, Mr Jeremy Hamlin, Ms Judy Bament, Ms Dianne Stewart.

Phoenix Australia, Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health, University of Melbourne

Dr Tracey Varker, Professor Meaghan O'Donnell, Associate Professor Andrea Phelps, Dr Julia Frederickson, Dr Richard Cash, Dr John Cooper, Associate Professor Darryl Wade, Ms Loretta Watson.

Hunter Valley Foundation

Ms Shanti Ramanathan, Mr David Shellard, Dr Clare Hogue, Ms Phyllis Hartung, Mr Russ Redford and the team of CIDI interviewers.

Nexview Systems

Mr Trevor Moyle, Ms Hong Yan.

Australian Institute of Family Studies

Dr Galina Daraganova, Dr Jacquie Harvey.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare

Mr Phil Anderson, Mr Nick Von Sanden, Mr Richard Solon, Mr Tenniel Guiver.

Australian Bureau of Statistics

Mr David Haynes, Ms Beatrix Forrest, Ms Michelle Ducat and staff from the Health and Disability Branch, Mr Barry Tynan and staff from the Communications and Dissemination Branch.

Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Management Team

Ms Kyleigh Heggie, Ms Karen Barker, Dr Loretta Poerio, Ms Melissa Preston, Dr Carmel Anderson, Mr Tim Cummins, Ms Olivia Mahn, Ms Rachel McNab, Mr Christian Callisen, Department of Veterans' Affairs.

COL Laura Sinclair, Ms Jess Styles, Ms Kanny Tait, Department of Defence.

For their assistance in developing the Study Roll: Mr Mark Watson and Ms Megan MacDonald, Department of Veterans' Affairs, and Ms Carolina Casetta and Warrant Officer Class One Iain Lewington, Joint Health Command, Department of Defence.

Other key organisations

Australia Post.

Context

In Australia, military service is held in high esteem with a recognition that it places high demands on those who serve, and can include exposure to extreme physical, psychological and mental stressors (Dobson et al., 2012; Forces in Mind Trust, 2013). Approximately 5,000 (9%) serving men and women transition out of the Regular Australian Defence Force (ADF) each year, either discharging completely (if involuntarily discharged, that is on medical or administrative grounds) or transferring into the Active or Inactive Reserves. This represents a significant number of Transitioned ADF members who are currently in the critical early stages of adjusting to civilian life and reintegrating into their community.

The period of transition from military to civilian life is quickly becoming recognised as one of the most significant and stressful transitions in the life course of military members world-wide owing to potential changes in identity, community and residence, social networks and status, family roles, occupation, finances, routines, responsibilities, supports and culture. Changes brought about by the transition process can lead to the development and/or exacerbation of existing service related mental and physical symptoms resulting in psycho-social adjustment issues ranging from employment difficulties and family/relationship conflict, to mental health and substance abuse problems.

Currently, there is very little systematic research about the mental health and wellbeing as well as the associated risk and protective factors and pathways to care in representative cohorts of transitioned military members. Most studies to date have focused on cohorts from specific deployments or those seeking treatment or compensation from the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA) or the international equivalent, as these are the populations suggested to be most at risk. While international literature estimates 60–75% of transitioned military members report an easy adjustment to civilian life, it is likely others, particularly those who developed mental health symptoms or disorder prior to discharge, may struggle upon transition. The types of symptoms experienced by those who struggle and the factors that facilitate or inhibit these individuals from accessing care are essential to understand in order to ensure they receive appropriate mental health care in the civilian sector.

In Australia, only one in 10 ADF members who have recently transitioned out of the Defence Force choose to (or are able to) access veteran healthcare services therefore, administrative data alone cannot provide an accurate snapshot of the health of the population in the Australian context. Consequently, a population or cohort based approach is essential to establish accurate prevalence estimates of mental disorder in Transitioned ADF members. It is only through this understanding that targeted policy and programs can be developed that will meet the needs of individuals in this stage of the military career cycle.

This study builds on the findings of the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011) which previously established the prevalence of mental disorder in the Regular ADF in 2010. It also examines the mental health and wellbeing and patterns of health service seeking and usage among ADF members in the first five years following transition from Regular 'full-time' ADF Service (January 2010-December 2014). The five-year window immediately post transition was chosen as this is a critical period to target for early intervention. Importantly, investigation of the differences in the mental health and wellbeing in current serving Regular ADF members, with Transitioned ADF members who are now in the Active and Inactive/Standby Reserves as well as Transitioned ADF members who have discharged completely into the community, provides critical information on the risk and protective factors throughout each stage of transition. Protective factors such as healthy worker or 'healthy warrior' effect have been seen for full-time regular serving ADF members but can lose strength as members transition out of the ADF.

Furthermore, a comparison of the self-reported psychological distress and alcohol consumption of the Transitioned ADF in 2015 with the contemporaneous data collected by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) in 2014–2015 as part of the National Health Survey was performed. This comparison situates the Transitioned ADF in the context of the civilian population using the most contemporary (and temporally equivalent) Australian data available. Mental health issues and disorder are not confined within the ADF. Nor are stigmas and barriers to care such as access, cost locality and stigmas. An understanding of how Transitioned ADF compare to the Australian community in this context provides a more thorough understanding of the role that military service plays in the amelioration or exacerbation of mental health symptoms as well as the factors that assist or limit access to care within these two populations.

The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme is the most comprehensive study undertaken in Australia of the impact of military service on the mental, physical and social health of Transitioned and 2015 Regular Australian Defence Force (ADF) members and their families (the study populations). Utilising a robust two-phase design, the internationally acclaimed gold standard structured interview for assessing ICD-10 and DSM-IV mental disorder (Composite International Diagnostic Interview [CIDI]) (Kessler and Ustun, 2004)), and a two-stage statistical weighting methodology to correct for differential non-response and systematic response biases, this study provides the most thorough assessment of the mental health and wellbeing and patterns of help seeking in the Transitioned ADF compared to the current serving Regular ADF conducted to date.

This Report summarises the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study methodology, describes the study populations and presents the key findings from the first two reports of the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme: *Mental Health Prevalence* and *Pathways to Care*.

Key findings

The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme addresses key research priorities of both the DVA and the Department of Defence (Defence) over three studies: The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study, the Impact of Combat Study and the Family Wellbeing Study. The findings from the first two reports form a fundamental component of the work under way by both DVA and Defence to enhance transition processes including enhancing mental health support services and suicide prevention initiatives (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017).

Results show ADF members transitioning from full-time military service represent a group at particular risk for mental disorder who would benefit from proactive strategies that aim to lessen the burden of mental illness and assist the transition process. An estimated 46% of ADF members who had transitioned from full-time service within the past five years, met 12-month diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder using a structured diagnostic interview. This level of 12-month disorder combined with the significantly greater severity of current self-reported symptoms of psychological distress, depression anxiety, anger, suicidality and alcohol use, particularly at subthreshold levels, in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF places this population at significant risk of impairment and disability highlighting the challenges of transitioning out of full-time military service. Despite these levels of disorder, the levels of engagement in employment and socially connected roles among the Transitioned ADF is encouraging. For example, when the spectrum of roles, including studying, were taken into account, approximately 84% of the Transitioned ADF were either working or engaged in some purposeful activity, suggesting a degree of social engagement.

In regard to seeking care, the majority of the 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF populations with a mental health concern will take the initial steps in seeking care within the first 12 months, with a considerable number doing so within the first three months. This care is commonly provided not only by psychologists and General Practitioners (GPs) and Medical Officers (MOs), but also by psychiatrists and a range of other allied mental health providers. The majority of those with mental health concerns have engaged in care for these concerns, despite high rates of endorsement of stigma related beliefs.

While the rates of initial engagement and uptake of services are reasonably high, due to an accumulation of factors that occur at each phase of the help-seeking process, the findings suggest an under-engagement with evidence-based treatment for those with a current disorder. This is more evident in the Transitioned ADF than in the 2015 Regular ADF. Similarly, satisfaction with services is higher in the 2015 Regular ADF. Whilst effective treatment can and often should be episodic, these findings indicate that strategies need to be considered for improving engagement rates, retention and delivery of best practice care at each contact point.

The findings of the *Mental Health Prevalence Report* and the *Pathways to Care Report* and the subsequent reports will provide the foundation for evidence-based policy and programs to support those that have served our nation to successfully transition from full-time military service.

Background



The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme (Programme) is the most comprehensive study undertaken in Australia that examines the impact of military service on the mental, physical and social health of:

- serving and ex-serving Australian Defence Force (ADF) members including those who have been deployed in contemporary conflicts, and
- their families.

This research further extends and builds on the findings of the world-leading research conducted with current serving members of the ADF in the 2010 Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP).

This research, conducted in 2015, arises from the collaborative partnership between the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA) and Department of Defence. It aims to implement the Government's goal of ensuring that current and future policy, programs and services are responsive to the current and emerging health and wellbeing needs of serving and ex-serving ADF members and their families before, during and after transition from military life.

Ten objectives were developed to guide the Programme. The objectives are being realised through three studies comprising eight reports: the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study (five reports and two papers), the Impact of Combat Study (one report), the Family Wellbeing Study (one report) and the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Key Findings Report, which summarises the research, as the diagram above shows.

The table below shows which reports deliver on the objectives. This publication, the *Mental Health Prevalence and Pathways to Care Summary Report*, addresses the first three objectives of the Programme, which are to:

- 1. Determine the prevalence of mental disorders amongst ADF members who have transitioned from Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014.
- 2. Examine the self-reported mental health status of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.
- 3. Assess pathways to care for Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, including those with a probable 30-day mental disorder.

Two eminent Australian research institutions, one specialising in trauma and the other in families, are leading the research programme. The Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies at the University of Adelaide is conducting the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study and the Impact of Combat Study, and the Australian Institute of Family Studies is conducting the Family and Wellbeing Study.

Their research depth and expertise is enhanced through partner institutions from Monash University, University of New South Wales, Phoenix Australia – Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health and InnoWell Pty Ltd, formerly the Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre.

	Table 1	Programme reports and objectives
--	---------	----------------------------------

Programme objectives	Corresponding reports and papers
1. Determine the prevalence of mental disorders among ADF members who have transitioned from Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014.	Mental Health Prevalence Report
2. Examine self-reported mental health status of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.	
 Assess pathways to care for Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, including those with a probable 30-day mental disorder. 	Pathways to Care Report
4. Examine the physical health status of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.	Physical Health Status Report
 Investigate technology and its utility for health and mental health programmes including implications for future health service delivery. 	Technology Use and Wellbeing Report
6. Conduct predictive modelling of the trajectory of mental health symptoms/disorder of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, removing the need to rely on estimated rates.	Mental Health Changes Over Time: A Longitudinal Perspective Report
7. Investigate the mental health and wellbeing of currently serving 2015 Ab initio Reservists.	The Health and Wellbeing of ADF Reservists paper
8. Examine the factors that contribute to the wellbeing of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.	Psychosocial Predictors of Health paper
 Follow up on the mental, physical and neurocognitive health and wellbeing of participants who deployed to the Middle East Area of Operations between 2010 and 2012. 	Impact of Combat Report
10. Investigate the impact of ADF service on the health and wellbeing of the families of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.	Family Wellbeing Report
All objectives	Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Key Findings Report

Through surveys and interviews, the researchers engaged with a range of ex-serving and current serving ADF members including:

- ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (including Ex-Serving, Active and Inactive Reservists) known as Transitioned ADF
- a random sample of Regular ADF members serving in 2015 known as 2015 Regular ADF
- a sample of Ab initio Reservists serving in 2015 (who have never been full-time ADF members)
- · 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF members who participated in MilHOP
- family members nominated by the above.

This report summarises the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study methodology, describes the study populations, and presents the key findings from the first two reports of the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme. This study is the first Australian study to establish the prevalence of mental disorder and pathways to care in a representative cohort of ADF members who have recently (2010–2014) transitioned out of Regular ADF service. It is also the first Australian study to map potential risk and protective factors associated with mental disorder in this Transitioned ADF population, and compare the self-reported mental health and wellbeing outcomes of this population with a contemporary sample of ADF members still in Regular military service in 2015, and the Australian community.

Methodology

Study design

Mental disorder prevalence estimates in the Transitioned ADF were obtained using a two-phase design. In the first phase, Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members were screened for mental health problems, psychological distress, physical health problems, wellbeing factors, pathways to care and occupational exposures using a 60-minute self-report questionnaire which was tailored to their current ADF status. All analyses comparing the Transitioned ADF with the 2015 Regular ADF used the self-report data. The self-report measures of mental health were administered to *all* participants in the study and therefore allow comparisons between the mental health of the Transitioned ADF and a contemporary cohort of Regular ADF members to be made. Examination of self-reported symptoms has gained increasing consideration in mapping the emerging risks of mental disorder at a population level over time.

In the second phase, a sub-sample of Transitioned ADF members surveyed in Phase 1 were interviewed over the telephone using the World Health Organisation's Composite International Diagnostic Interview (WMH-CIDI 3.0), with selection for this interview based on strata derived from rank, sex, Service and scores on measures of posttraumatic stress (PCL) and alco4hol consumption (AUDIT). Priority was given to Transitioned ADF members who were identified as being more likely to have a mental health problem based on their Phase 1 screening questionnaire, as well as groups accounting for the smallest proportion of the actual population (i.e. females). The CIDI was also used in the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS) (McFarlane et al., 2011)

As the demographic and service characteristics of the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF are known (i.e. sex, Service branch, rank and medical fitness, a dichotomous variable derived from Medical Employment Classification Status) it was possible to compare members who responded to the survey with members who did not. This allowed weighting of the data to provide estimates of mental disorder that are representative of the Transitioned ADF and self-reported mental health symptoms that are representative of each of the study populations: Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF.

Study population

In this report, Transitioned ADF refers to the population of ADF members who transitioned from full-time ADF service between 2010 and 2014, including those who transitioned into the Active and Inactive Reserves and those who had discharged completely (Ex-Serving). The 2015 Regular ADF refers to ADF members who were serving full-time in the ADF in 2015.

This Report summarises findings on the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, and provides self-report comparisons with the Australian Community (2014–2015: Socio-demographically matched data drawn from the 2014–2015 ABS National Health Survey (NHS) data) wherever possible (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2015).

The limited comparison of the mental health of the Transitioned ADF with an Australian community sample from the ABS, matched on age, sex and employment status, was included in this study, to situate the Transitioned ADF in the context of the civilian population. Two mental health outcomes were available to be compared between these groups: psychological distress and self-reported alcohol consumption.

Response rates

Of the Transitioned ADF population of 24,932, 96% (N = 23,974) were invited to participate in Phase 1 of the study. Those not invited represented those individuals who may have opted out of the study or did not have any usable contact information. Thirty-eight per cent (N = 20,031) of the 2015 Regular ADF population (N = 52,500) were invited to participate in Phase 1 of the study. The sample of 2015 Regular ADF invited to participate included a stratified random sample of 5040 regular ADF members in 2015 as well as those who had participated in the MilHOP between 2010 and 2012, and who were still serving in 2015.

Phase 1 responders

Of those invited, 18% (N = 4326) of the Transitioned ADF population and 42.3% (N = 8480) of the 2015 ADF population completed the Phase 1 survey. Figure 1 shows the overall response rates for each sample.

Phase 1 responders in both the Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF were predominantly Army (followed by Air Force and Navy), male and higher in rank (see Table 2), with the mean age of responders in both groups being approximately 41 years old. Transitioned females were more likely to respond than Transitioned males, while 2015 Regular ADF females were less likely to respond than their male counterparts. Not unexpectedly, Transitioned ADF were more likely to be unfit on transition from Regular ADF (31.1%) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF population (16.1%).



Figure 1 Survey response rates for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF

	Transitioned ADF N = 24,932				2015 Regular ADF N = 52,500			
	Population	Invited	Responders	Response rate (%)	Population	Invited	Responders	Response rate (%)
Service								
Navy	5671	5495	863	15.7	13,282	5113	2040	39.9
Army	15,038	14,465	2463	17.0	25,798	8067	3500	43.4
Air Force	4223	4014	1000	24.9	13,420	6851	2940	42.9
Sex								
Male	21,671	20,713	3646	17.6	47,645	15,176	6693	44.1
Female	3261	3261	380	20.9	4855	4855	1787	36.8
Rank								
OFFR	4063	3939	1259	32.0	13,444	7847	3538	45.1
NCO	7866	7393	2097	28.4	17,491	9117	4336	47.6
Other Ranks	13,003	12,642	970	7.7	21,565	3067	606	19.7
Medical fitness								
Fit	18,273	17,525	2981	17.0	46,022	17,097	7116	41.6
Unfit	6659	6449	1345	20.9	6478	2934	1364	46.5
Total	24,932	23,974	4326	18.0	52,500	20,031	8480	42.3

Table 2 Survey response rates by Service for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF

Notes: Unweighted data 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval Response rates presented in the table above are calculated as the proportion of those invited to participate in the study OFFR: Officer, NCO: Non-Commissioned Officer

Phase 2 responders

In Phase 2, 1807 Transitioned ADF members were selected for a CIDI diagnostic interview, and 1049 completed the interview.

Ethics

The study protocol was approved by the DVA Human Research Ethics Committee (E014/018) and was recognised under expedited review processes by Defence and the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee. The study protocol was also submitted to AIHW Ethics Committee, which granted approval (EO 2015/1/163). This study was conducted in accordance with the Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines-publications/r39).

Figure 2 Flowchart of participation in Phase 2 of the Mental Health Prevalence and Transition Study for Transitioned ADF members



How to interpret and discuss the findings in this report

Prevalence estimates

- Where the report refers to prevalence estimates of mental disorder and symptoms, these are the
 <u>estimated</u> rates of a particular outcome within an entire population (i.e. entire Transitioned ADF, entire
 2015 Regular ADF or Transitioned ADF with Probable Disorder, 2015 Regular ADF with Probable Disorder).
 It is important to understand that these are estimates. These estimates represent the proportion of cases
 we would predict to observe in the entire population, based on the proportion of actual cases detected in
 the subpopulation who completed the outcome measure (the CIDI interview for mental disorder
 estimates, the self-report survey for estimates of mental health symptoms).
- When considering prevalence estimates, the <u>estimated proportions</u> are more informative than the <u>estimated numbers</u>.
- While results in this report were weighted to be representative of the total population, this weighting was performed on the basis of four key variables: **sex**, **rank**, **Service (Navy, Army or Air Force)** and **medical fitness**. This assumes a general consistency across individuals with each combination of these characteristics (strata), and does not account for individual differences, or other factors that may influence the outcomes of interest.
- Weighted estimates of mental health outcomes for the Australian community were standardised on the basis of sex, employment status and age. These standardised rates are not the true rates in the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) population, but hypothetical rates that would have been observed if the Australian community population had the same age, sex and employment distribution as the ADF Transition population. This standardised rate takes into account any differences in the age, sex and employment structure of the two populations. Thus, when comparing the two populations using standardised rates, any remaining differences between them cannot be attributed to confounding by these three demographic factors.
- The relatively low response rates observed in the study mean that the weighted estimates presented may have a lower level of accuracy, with estimates more highly dependent on the characteristics used for weighting.
- The estimates for subpopulations (strata) with higher response rates can be considered more accurately representative of those subpopulations than those with lower response rates.
- In the case of diagnosable mental disorder:
 - In this report, all lifetime and 12-month mental disorder prevalence rates were calculated using diagnostic criteria obtained from the World Health Organization International Classification of Diseases (10th revision) (World Health Organisation, 1994) and as such provide a more inclusive measure of mental disorder than the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder (DSM 5) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).
 - Where mental disorder cases were detected among a proportion of study participants who completed the CIDI, the characteristics of this subpopulation were used as a basis for estimating the likelihood of disorder caseness in the broader study population who share those characteristics (through statistical weighting).
 - A two-phase weighting process was used to derive the prevalence estimates of diagnosable mental disorder. Stage 1 weighting accounted for the non-representativeness of the sample invited to

complete a diagnostic interview, while Stage 2 weighting adjusted the weights to be representative of the characteristics of the total population.

 To interpret the precision or imprecision of a given estimate, readers might consider additional information supplied with the estimates, such as confidence intervals.

Confidence intervals: confidence intervals represent the possible range of values within which the presented estimate falls. Where the value of interest is a prevalence estimate, the confidence intervals show the range of error of the estimate. In general, confidence intervals that are very close to the estimate value reflect the precision of the estimate, while confidence intervals that are very wide reflect estimate imprecision. Where there are wide confidence intervals, associated estimates should be interpreted cautiously, with the upper and lower limits considered the top and bottom range of possible precise values.

Significance: Where a between group difference is discussed as significant in the text, this means that the difference between groups was statistically tested, adjusting for sex, age and Service, and the associated confidence intervals had no overlap between groups.

Populations used in this report: The primary populations of interest used in this report were ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) and the 2015 Regular ADF population. Of note: the *Pathways to Care Report* focused on three specific sub-populations of Transitioned and Regular ADF members: (1) those who reported ever having a concern about their mental health (2) those who reported having had assistance for their mental health, (3) those who scored above (probable 30-day mental disorder) and below (no probable 30-day mental disorder) the epidemiological cut-off on the screens for anxiety and depression (K10) and posttraumatic stress (PCL).

Caveats: (1) The overall response rate was low, particularly for the Transitioned ADF, with a rate of 18% (n = 4326). This was largely due to the limited contact information available for this group which may not have been updated for several years; (2) Consistent with previous research (Dobson et al., 2012; McFarlane et al., 2011), responders in this study were more likely to be females, Officers, Non-Commissioned Officers and Air Force members. Individuals classified as medically unfit were also more likely to respond. The current study addressed this response bias by statistically weighting the results based on four key variables – sex, rank, Service (Navy, Army or Air Force) – known to impact response rates and the prevalence of mental disorder more broadly, and medical fitness. The lower the number of responders, the less accurate the resulting weighted population estimates are likely to be. This is highly relevant to rank, with Officers and Non-Commissioned Officers over-represented among responders, while Other Ranks were highly underrepresented, despite Other Ranks accounting for the largest proportion of the total population. As such, estimates stratified by rank should be interpreted with caution; (3) A large proportion of this study is based on self-report measures, which are subject to potential biases, including recall bias and other response biases. This response bias must be acknowledged in the interpretation of the findings presented; (4) This study reported ICD-10 rates of mental disorder which is likely to affect prevalence estimates for PTSD because ICD-10 PTSD has a lower threshold for severity of symptoms to achieve a diagnosis (Peters et al., 2006) than the DSM diagnostic system. However, given the literature regarding the morbidity associated with sub-syndromal DSM PTSD, the population defined in this study is clinically relevant (McFarlane, 2010); (5) All data used to examine help-seeking and pathways to care (for example categories of providers accessed, the types of services they received from these providers and the sources of funding for each) are based on participant selfreport. Although descriptors were included in the survey to help participants discriminate between types of mental health services provided, in reality this can be quite difficult for veterans and the lay community to identify; (6) Finally, this study only investigates the initial stages of transition (the first five years), and only includes ADF members who transitioned from ADF service between 2010 and 2014. Further study of this cohort should be an important priority to map the ongoing course of mental disorder following ADF service. This is particularly important in light of evidence about the emergence of disorders among veterans many years after active service in conflicts such as Vietnam (Johnston et al., 2016).

Socio-demographic characteristics

In order to fully understand how Transitioned ADF members are functioning in their civilian lives it is important to consider their current socio-demographic profile, as well as the circumstances surrounding their transition. There are known risk factors for social disadvantage in the literature that can contribute to mental health issues (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2010) including unemployment, incarceration, housing instability including homelessness, and being in receipt of disability payments. Understanding the extent to which Transitioned ADF members are exposed to these factors can provide valuable insight into the overall mental, physical and social health of this population.

Overall, approximately 84% of the Transitioned ADF were either working or engaged in some purposeful activity (62.8% employed) with the most commonly reported areas of employment being government administration and Defence (16.8%), mining (9.9%), construction (8.8%) and transport and storage (8.6%). Just over 5.5% of the Transitioned ADF had retired.

Similar to the 2015 Regular ADF, the majority of the Transitioned ADF were aged 28–47 years (56.2%), were male (86.9%), were in a significant relationship (74.7%), were of lower rank (52.2%) and were Army (60.3%). Just over one third of Transitioned ADF had served 4–7.9 years in the Regular ADF (36.2%), followed by 23.2% who had served for 20+ years. Compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, Transitioned ADF were *more likely* to be: aged over 58 years, female, lower in rank, from the Army, classified as medically unfit, and to have under eight years of service with the ADF. In contrast, Transitioned ADF were *less likely* than 2015 Regular ADF to be in a relationship where they are not living with their partner.

Just under half (43.3%) of the Transitioned ADF were Ex-Serving (discharged) at the time of survey completion and therefore no longer remained engaged with Defence in a Reservist role. A quarter of the Transitioned ADF had remained in an Active Reservist role (25.7%) and therefore continued to be engaged in service for a specified number of days per year; 30.1% were Inactive Reservists and therefore their contact with Defence would be variable and for some there would be no ongoing contact.

The most common type of discharge/resignation reported was 'own request' (53.7%) with over 60% of these voluntarily discharging or discharging due to the end of a fixed period of service. Just over 20% of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have been medically discharged, with their employment terminated by the ADF on the grounds of being permanently or at least in the long-term not fit to serve, or not fit for deployment to operational (warlike) service. The most common reasons for transition were 'impact of service life on family' (10.2%), 'better employment prospects in civilian life' (7.2%), 'mental health problems' (6.5%) and 'physical health problems' (4.3%).

In relation to the Transitioned ADF, potentially at greatest risk were a small subset (5.2%) who reported being unemployed at the time of the survey. In addition, just under half of Transitioned ADF members reported being unemployed for a period of three months or more after transitioning from Regular ADF service. There were also a very small proportion who reported having been arrested, convicted or incarcerated since transition (an estimated 5.1%), and approximately 3.4% who reported that they had not been living in stable housing in the two months prior to completing the survey.

One final group of particular interest, and who may be at significant risk due to the fact they have a known/diagnosed physical or mental health conditions, were the 8.9% who were on some form of disability support pension, as well as those discharged from the ADF on a medical discharge but who have not yet engaged with DVA. While over 43% of the Transitioned ADF reported currently accessing DVA funded treatment, there is likely a proportion of those who had medically discharged who were not.

Mental Health Prevalence Report findings

Key findings

Definitions of key terms used in this report

Transitioned ADF members -Population of ADF members who transitioned from full-time ADF service between 2010 and 2014, including those who transitioned into the Active and Inactive Reserves and those who had discharged completely (Ex-Serving).

2015 Regular ADF – ADF members who were serving full-time in the ADF in 2015

Lifetime prevalence – A prevalence that meets diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder at any point in the respondent's lifetime.

12-month prevalence – Meeting the diagnostic criteria for a lifetime ICD-10 mental disorder and having reported symptoms in the 12 months before the interview.

Refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of other key terms in this section.

Demographics

- More than half of Transitioned ADF members remained in the ADF as Reservists (55.8%). Of these, 25.7% were Active Reservists.
- Approximately, 84% of the Transitioned ADF were either working or engaged in some purposeful activity with 62.8% being employed. Just over 5.5% of the Transitioned ADF had retired.
- More than 43% of Transitioned ADF members reported accessing DVA-funded treatment through either a DVA White Card (39.4%) or DVA Gold Card (4.2%).
- Just over one-fifth of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have been medically discharged.
- The most commonly reported reasons for transition were 'impact of service life on family' (10.2%), 'better employment prospects in civilian life' (7.2%), 'mental health problems' (6.5%) and 'physical health problems' (4.3%).
- There were no significant differences in housing stability between the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, with more than 93% estimated to have been in stable housing in the previous two months.
- Just over 40% of the Transitioned ADF and 36% of the 2015 Regular ADF reported having a diploma or university qualification.
- Twice as many members of the Transitioned ADF were classified as medically unfit compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.

Estimated prevalence of lifetime mental disorder in Transitioned ADF

- Almost three in four Transitioned ADF members are estimated to have met criteria for a mental disorder at some stage in their lifetime that is either, prior to, during or after their military career.
- Anxiety and (46.1%) Alcohol disorders (47.5%) were the most common classes of lifetime disorder.
- One quarter of Transitioned ADF members were estimated to have met criteria for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in their lifetime (24.9%).

Estimated prevalence of 12-month mental disorder in Transitioned ADF

- Just over half of the Transitioned ADF had not experienced a mental disorder in the previous 12 months.
- 46.4% of Transitioned ADF members are estimated to have experienced a mental disorder in the previous 12 months.

Anxiety disorders

- Anxiety disorders were the most common type of 12-month mental disorder among the Transitioned ADF with over one in three (37.0%) experiencing an anxiety disorder in the last 12 months.
- PTSD (17.7%), panic attacks (17.0%), agoraphobia (11.9%) and social phobia (11.0%) were the most common types of anxiety disorders in the Transitioned ADF.

Affective disorders

- One in five (23.1%) Transitioned ADF are estimated to have experienced an affective disorder in the last 12 months.
- The most common affective disorder type in Transitioned ADF was depressive episodes (11.2%).

Alcohol disorders

• 12.9% of the Transitioned ADF met criteria for an alcohol disorder in the last 12 months.

Occurrence of more than one disorder at the same time (comorbidity) in Transitioned ADF

• Of the Transitioned ADF with a 12-month mental disorder more than half (55.2%) had at least one comorbid or co-existing mental disorder.

Estimated prevalence of suicidality (ideation, planning, attempting) in Transitioned ADF

- Just over 20 per cent of Transitioned ADF experienced suicidal ideation, plans or attempts in the last 12 months.
- 28.9% of Transitioned ADF had felt that their life was not worth living.
- 21.2% had felt so low that they thought about taking their own life.
- 7.9% of Transitioned ADF had made a suicide plan.
- 2.0% of Transitioned ADF reported having attempted suicide.

Transition factors associated with 12-month mental disorder and suicidality in Transitioned ADF

Transition status

Transitioned ADF, who were Ex-Serving, had significantly greater rates of anxiety disorders, affective
disorders, alcohol disorders and suicidality compared to both Inactive and Active Reservists indicating
poorer mental health outcomes for those who are most disengaged with Defence.

Years since transition

 The estimated rates of 12-month mental disorder were lowest in Transitioned ADF who had transitioned less than one year ago, increasing at one year or more post-transition. This may inform the timing of possible mental health surveillance activities.

Reason for discharge

• Transitioned ADF who had been medically discharged had significantly higher rates of affective, anxiety and alcohol disorders and suicidality than those who discharged for other reasons.

DVA Status

• Affective, anxiety and alcohol disorders and suicidality were more commonly observed in those Transitioned ADF who were in contact with or receiving services from DVA. This is expected given DVA is the primary conduit to care and assistance for ex-serving members.

Self-reported mental health in Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF

• Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, the Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher current mental health symptoms across all domains measured.

Psychological distress

 Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, nearly twice as many Transitioned ADF had high to very high psychological distress (33.1% vs 18.7%).

Posttraumatic stress symptoms

• Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, nearly three times as many Transitioned ADF had high to very high posttraumatic stress symptoms (24.3% vs 8.7%).

Alcohol use

- Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, nearly four times as many Transitioned ADF reported alcohol use at levels which suggest the need for further assessment.
- Compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, the Transitioned ADF were significantly more likely to report higher alcohol consumption and problems with drinking.

Depressive symptoms

• Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, nearly three times as many Transitioned ADF had moderately severe to severe depressive symptoms (19.5% vs 7.4%).

Anxiety symptoms

• Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, more than twice as many Transitioned ADF had moderate to severe general anxiety disorder symptoms (22.3% vs 9.6%).

Suicidality

• The Transitioned ADF had significantly higher rates of suicidal ideation, plans and attempts compared to 2015 Regular ADF.

Anger

• Transitioned ADF members experienced significantly greater levels of anger than the 2015 Regular ADF.

Self-reported trauma exposure

- An estimated 85% or more of the entire Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF have experienced a potentially adverse deployment exposure.
- Exposure to toxins were the most common deployment exposure type with over 50% of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF reporting potentially toxic/environmental exposures (smoke, fumes, chemicals, and local food and water).

Self-reported mental health in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community

Psychological distress

- Levels of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF were significantly higher than the Australian Community, with almost three times more Transitioned ADF reporting high to very high psychological distress (33.1%) compared to the Australian Community (12.8%).
- Patterns of psychological distress were similar in the Australian community and the Transitioned ADF for males and females and consistent across all age bands.

Alcohol use

- Overall, the Australian Community drank more standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months than the Transitioned ADF.
- Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months was similar for the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, but results varied by age and sex.
- A significantly higher proportion of Transitioned ADF females reported drinking daily, weekly and monthly compared to Australian Community females.
- There were no differences between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community in the frequency of alcohol consumed in the last 12 months in the 18–27-year age group.

Prevalence of mental disorder in Transitioned ADF

The key objective of the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study, Mental Health Prevalence Report was to document the mental health and wellbeing of 24,932 ADF members who had recently (between 2010–2014) transitioned from Regular military service. Providing this evidence base is a fundamental component of the work under way within both DVA and Defence to enhance transition processes in addition to describing the characteristics of the population.

International research suggests that there are a number of distinct risk and protective factors that may influence the likelihood of mental health problems during and following transition from military service. These include factors specific to transition such as whether someone is still in reserve service or has left the military

completely, the length of time that has passed since transition, whether someone was medically discharged or left for another reason, and whether someone is engaged with services such as DVA. Service specific factors such as Service branch, rank, whether someone has deployed or not, and how long someone has served for are also important. Finally, there is evidence that demographic factors like sex and age may also be relevant. In addition to presenting the lifetime and 12- month prevalence of a range of common mental disorders in Transitioned ADF, the Mental Health Prevalence Report also examined them in relation to each of these factors.

Estimated lifetime prevalence of mental disorder in Transitioned ADF

Consistent with the 2010 MHPWS report, this study examined three classes of common mental disorder anxiety, affective and alcohol disorder. Almost three quarters of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have met ICD-10 criteria for any lifetime mental disorder, with the most common of these being alcohol disorders (Table 3). Forty-six per cent of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have met criteria for a lifetime anxiety disorder, and one quarter were estimated to have met criteria for PTSD specifically in their lifetime. Just under 40% were estimated to have met criteria for a lifetime affective disorder.

Table 3 Estimated prevalence of lifetime ICD-10 anxiety, affective, alcohol and any disorders in Transitioned ADF

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)					
Lifetime ICD-10 Disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI			
Anxiety disorder (including PTSD)	11,378	46.1	41.4, 50.9			
Anxiety disorder (excluding PTSD)	7976	31.9	27.7,36.6			
Anxiety disorder (ABS)	10,421	41.8	37.1,46.6			
Affective disorder	9769	39.6	35.0, 44.4			
Alcohol disorder	11,714	47.5	42.8, 52.2			
PTSD	6134	24.9	20.9, 29.3			
Any disorder	18,435	74.7	70.5, 78.5			

Note: 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Estimated 12-month prevalence of mental disorder, comorbidity and suicidality in the Transitioned ADF

12-month ICD-10 mental disorder

In the past 12 months, it is estimated that nearly half of the Transitioned ADF met criteria for an ICD-10 mental disorder (Table 4). The most common class of 12-month mental disorder among the Transitioned ADF was anxiety, with more than one in three estimated to have met criteria for an anxiety disorder in the past 12 months. Posttraumatic stress disorder, panic attacks, agoraphobia and social phobia were the most common individual disorders, with 17.7% of the Transitioned ADF estimated to have met criteria for PTSD in the previous 12 months. An estimated 19.3% met criteria for an anxiety disorder other than PTSD. One in five Transitioned ADF members were estimated to have experienced an affective disorder in the past 12 months, with the most common type being depressive episodes. Alcohol disorders were the least prevalent 12-month mental disorders among the Transitioned ADF with an estimated 12.9% meeting ICD-10 criteria for a 12-month diagnosis.

		Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)	
12-month ICD-10 Disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Any anxiety disorder	9232	37.0	32.6, 41.7
Panic attack	4244	17.0	13.8, 20.8
Panic disorder	1344	5.4	3.6, 8.0
Agoraphobia	2975	11.9	9.1, 15.5
Social phobia	2738	11.0	8.4, 14.3
Specific phobia	1936	7.8	5.8, 10.3
Generalised anxiety disorder	917	3.7	2.2, 6.0
Obsessive compulsive disorder	1029	4.1	2.6, 6.6
Posttraumatic stress disorder	4408	17.7	14.5, 21.3
Any affective disorder	5755	23.1	19.2, 27.5
Depressive episodes	2783	11.2	8.6, 14.3
Dysthymia	1140	4.6	3.1, 6.7
Bipolar affective disorder	2443	9.8	7.0, 13.5
Any alcohol disorder	3219	12.9	9.8, 16.9
Alcohol harmful use	948	3.8	2.3, 6.3
Alcohol dependence	2271	9.1	6.4, 12.8
Any disorder	11,558	46.4	41.7, 51.1

 Table 4
 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety, affective, alcohol, any disorder in Transitioned ADF

Note: 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

12-month ICD-10 mental disorder comorbidity

The issue of mental disorder comorbidity is important as it is a marker of the severity of disorder and associated impairment in functioning and presents a significant challenge in obtaining optimal treatment outcomes (Hruska et al., 2014).

Mental disorder comorbidity among the Transitioned ADF was high. In the Transitioned ADF, just over half of those with a mental disorder had a least one comorbid disorder, with one in four Transitioned ADF meeting criteria for two or more mental disorder classes (Table 5: two classes:15.1%, three classes:8.2%, four classes: 1.9%). Alcohol disorders were the most common comorbid condition, with approximately 95% of those meeting 12-month criteria for an alcohol disorder also having another mental disorder. In relation to PTSD specifically, over 80% meeting 12-month criteria had another comorbid mental disorder.

Table 5Estimated prevalence n (%) of single and co-morbid affective, anxiety (excluding PTSD), PTSD and alcohol
use disorders in the Transitioned ADF in the previous 12-months using ICD-10 criteria

	Total (n = 24,932)		
ICD-10 mental disorder group	Weighted n	%	95% CI
No mental disorder	13,374	54.2	49.5, 58.9
Any alcohol disorder only	501	2.0	1.0, 3.9
Any anxiety disorder only (excl. PTSD)	2084	8.4	6.5, 10.9
PTSD only	873	3.5	2.3, 5.4
Any affective disorder only	1601	6.5	4.4, 9.4
One mental disorder class	5059	20.4	17.1, 24.3
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder	596	2.4	1.2, 4.8
Any affective disorder and any alcohol disorder	224	0.9	0.3, 2.7
PTSD and any alcohol disorder	317	1.3	0.5, 3.4
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any affective disorder	1412	5.7	3.8, 8.6
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and PTSD	814	3.3	2.1, 5.1
Any affective disorder and PTSD	381	1.5	0.7, 3.3
Two mental disorder classes	3744	15.1	12.0, 19.1
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder and PTSD	356	1.4	0.6, 3.7
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder and any affective disorder	731	3.0	1.5, 5.7
Any alcohol disorder and PTSD and any affective disorder	26	0.1	0.0, 0.4
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and PTSD and any affective disorder	912	3.7	2.3, 5.9
Three mental disorder classes	2025	8.2	5.7, 11.6
Four mental disorder classes	468	1.9	0.9, 4.0

Note: 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

12-month suicidality

Suicide and suicidality are issues of major concern in military populations. In this study, 21.7% of the Transitioned ADF reported some form of suicidal ideation, plans or attempts in the last 12 months with more than one quarter reporting they felt their life was not worth living and an estimated 21.2% reporting they had felt so low that they thought about death by suicide (Table 6). Overall, an estimated 7.9% of the Transitioned ADF reported making a suicide plan and 2.0% had attempted suicide.

Table 6 Self-reported suicidal ideation, plans and attempts in the Transitioned ADF

Suicide n (%) represent those answering yes to these items								
Transitioned ADF 2015 (n = 24,935)								
	Weighted n	%	95% CI					
Felt life not worth living	7208	28.9	(27.3, 30.6)					
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	5294	21.2	(19.8, 22.8)					
Made a suicide plan	1965	7.9	(7.0, 8.9)					
Attempted suicide	505	2.0	(1.6, 2.6)					
Any suicidality*	5342	21.7	20.2, 23.3					

* Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide

Note: 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Note: This terminology in this table reflects the standardized survey item used in this study, however it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'

Transition factors and 12-month mental disorder and suicidality in Transitioned ADF

It was the transition specific factors including the type of transition, years since transition, reason for discharge that were most associated with mental disorder and suicidality prevalence. DVA status and 12-month mental disorder were also strongly associated.

Transitioned status

Overall, mental health outcomes were poorer for those Transitioned ADF who were most disengaged with Defence. Specifically, those who had fully discharged at the time of completing the study (Ex-Serving) recorded

the highest rates of 12-month mental disorder across the various disorder categories (Table 7), and had significantly higher estimated rates of suicidality. This is also consistent with the finding of the 2017 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) suicide study (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2017). In contrast, those Transitioned ADF who were Inactive and Active Reservists had substantially lower rates of 12-month mental disorder and suicidality, however rates of diagnosable disorder, representing one in three, still remain a concern within this group.

Years Since Transition

Length of time since transition was also associated with various mental health outcomes. Overall, estimated rates of 12-month mental disorder were lowest in those who had transitioned less than one year ago, increasing at one year or more post-transition. This was not a linear association, and varied according to mental health outcome. This is a particularly important finding as it suggests that the most critical time for mental health surveillance may occur a significant time after transition from Regular ADF service. Furthermore, it may be indicative of the first 12 months following transition being a critical risk period for future disorder emergence.

	Transition status								
12-month ICD-10 Disorder	Ex-ser	ving (n = 1	1,440)	Inactive F	Reservists	(n = 6447)	Active Re	eservists (r	ı = 6968)
and Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Any anxiety disorder (incl. PTSD)	5102	44.6	37.2, 52.2	1902	29.5	22.5, 37.5	2223	31.9	24.9, 39.9
Posttraumatic stress disorder	2437	21.3	16.0, 27.8	1006	15.6	11.1, 21.5	948	13.6	8.7, 20.6
Any affective disorder	3764	32.9	26.0, 40.5	1096	17.0	11.2, 24.9	871	12.5	7.9, 19.2
Any alcohol disorder	2139	18.7	13.2, 25.9	561	8.7	4.8, 15.4	509	7.3	3.4, 15.0
Any suicidality*	3598	31.5	28.8, 34.2	1010	15.7	13.3, 18.4	866	12.4	10.3, 14.9

 Table 7
 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists and Active Reservists)

* Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide





Reason for discharge

Those with a medical discharge had significantly greater estimated rates of affective, anxiety, and alcohol disorder, and greater suicidality than those who transitioned for another reason (Table 8). These findings are not unexpected, as individuals with a medical versus other type of discharge would be expected to have greater rates of mental (and other) disorders.

		Reason for discharge							
		Medical (n = 5082)		Other (n = 19,154)					
12-month ICD-10 Disorder and Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI			
Any anxiety disorder (incl. PTSD)	2608	51.3	41.4, 61.2	5800	30.3	25.4, 35.7			
Posttraumatic stress disorder	1171	23.0	16.3, 31.6	2800	14.6	11.1, 19.0			
Any affective disorder	2008	39.5	30.2, 49.6	3324	17.4	13.2, 22.3			
Any alcohol disorder	1030	20.3	13.0, 30.2	1997	10.4	7.1, 15.0			
Any suicidality*	2165	42.6	38.9, 46.4	3065	16.0	14.4, 17.7			

Table 8Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by
reason for discharge

* Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide

DVA Status

Among the Transitioned ADF, those who were a DVA client had significantly greater estimated rates of affective, anxiety, and alcohol disorder, and greater suicidality than those who were not a DVA client (Table 9). Similar to the results for medical discharge these findings are not unexpected. As DVA is the primary conduit to care and assistance for ex-serving members, higher rates of mental disorder among DVA clients suggests that many of those Transitioned ADF who require assistance are already seeking it through DVA.

Of concern, however is the remaining, relatively large proportion (i.e. 40% of those with 12-month PTSD, 51% of those with a 12-month Affective Disorder) of Transitioned ADF who met criteria for a 12-month ICD-10 mental disorder but are not recorded as a DVA client. This highlights that many transitioned members who have a mental disorder in the first five years following discharge from military service are *not DVA clients*, and therefore are *not* receiving support through DVA.

Table 9 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by DVA status

			DVA Client						
12-month ICD-10 Disorder and									
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI			
Any anxiety disorder (incl. PTSD)	3480	22.3	16.4, 29.5	3975	45.3	39.4, 51.3			
Posttraumatic stress disorder	1326	8.5	5.0, 14.1	1983	22.6	18.0, 28.0			
Any affective disorder	2590	16.6	11.1, 24.0	2492	28.4	23.1, 24.4			
Any alcohol disorder	1248	8.0	4.5, 13.9	1395	15.9	11.5, 21.6			
Any suicidality*	2497	16	13.8, 18.5	2393	27.3	25.1, 29.6			

* Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide

ADF service factors and 12-month mental disorder and suicidality In Transitioned ADF

Service specific factors such as Service branch, rank, deployment, and years of service had mixed associations with mental disorder and suicidality prevalence among the Transitioned ADF. Service branch at time of transition had some association with rates of PTSD, alcohol disorder and suicidality, and rank at time of transition from Regular service had some association with 12-month mental disorder more generally. Transitioned ADF who had ever deployed were more likely to meet criteria for an anxiety disorder than those who had not, and overall, years of Regular ADF service was negatively associated with estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 mental disorders, though this was not a linear relationship, and varied by disorder category.

Service

The estimated prevalence of 12-month PTSD was greater in the Army and Air Force compared to Navy; Army and Navy had higher estimated alcohol disorder prevalence compared to Air Force; and estimated suicidality was highest amongst Transitioned ADF from the Army (Table 10).

 Table 10
 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 Disorder and suicidality in Transitioned ADF by Service at time of transition from Regular Service

	Service at Transition								
12-month ICD-10	Na	/y (n = 567	1)	Arn	ny (n = 15,038) Air Force (n = 4223)			23)	
Disorder and Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Any anxiety disorder (incl. PTSD)	1856	32.7	24.3, 42.5	5755	38.3	32.1, 44.8	1621	38.4	31.3, 46.0
Posttraumatic stress disorder	532	9.4	6.6, 13.1	3022	20.1	15.3, 25.9	854	20.2	15.3, 26.3
Any affective disorder	1309	23.1	15.5, 32.9	3577	23.8	18.5, 30.0	869	20.6	14.4, 28.6
Any alcohol disorder	760	13.4	7.5, 22.8	2173	14.4	10.2, 20.1	286	6.8	3.0, 14.8
Any suicidality*	1207	21.7	18.5, 25.3	3367	22.7	20.7, 24.8	768	18.4	15.8, 21.5

* Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide

Rank

Estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, alcohol disorders, and rates of self-reported suicidality were higher among Other Ranks, while anxiety disorders were higher among Non-Commissioned Officers compared to Officers (Table 11).

Table 11 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 Disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF by rank at time of transition from Regular Service

	Rank at Transition									
12-month ICD-10	OFF	FFR (n = 4063) NCO (n = 7866			56)	Other Ranks (n = 13,003)				
Disorder and Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Any anxiety disorder (incl. PTSD)	1203	29.6	25.0, 34.6	3181	40.5	36.3, 44.8	4848	37.3	29.5,45.8	
Posttraumatic stress disorder	608	15.0	11.6, 19.1	1559	19.8	16.6, 23.5	2242	17.2	12.0,24.2	
Any affective disorder	531	13.1	9.9, 17.1	1582	20.1	16.8, 23.9	3642	28.0	21.1, 36.2	
Any alcohol disorder	263	6.5	4.3, 9.7	571	7.3	5.3, 9.8	2385	18.3	12.6, 25.9	
Any suicidality*	533	13.2	11.7, 14.8	1687	21.8	0.3, 23.4	3122	24.4	21.7, 27.2	

*Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide

Deployment

Transitioned ADF who had been on an operational deployment were more likely to meet criteria for an anxiety disorder (in particular Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and PTSD) compared to those who had never deployed (Table 12). This is in direct contrast with the findings from the 2010 MHPWS report, and suggests that those ADF members who have been on an operational deployment and who have a mental disorder may be more inclined to transition out of Defence. Notably, an estimated 1 in 4 Transitioned ADF members who have never deployed still meet criteria for a 12-month disorder, despite never having been on an operational deployment.

	Deployment Status							
12-month ICD-10 Disorder and	Ev	er Deployed (N = 20,08	87)	Never Deployed (N = 4885)				
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Any anxiety disorder (incl. PTSD)	7370	39.1	34.2, 44.3	1405	25.1	15.7, 37.7		
Posttraumatic stress disorder	3782	20.1	16.2, 24.5	196	3.5	1.3, 9.0		
Any affective disorder	4436	23.6	19.3, 28.5	1251	22.4	13.2, 35.3		
Any alcohol disorder	2560	13.6	10.0, 18.2	602	10.8	4.7, 22.6		
Any suicidality*	4301	22.3	20.7, 24.0	1041	18.5	15.4, 22.0		

Table 12 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 Disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF, by deployment status

* Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide

Years of service

In general, rates of affective disorder were highest among those serving between 1 and 12 years in the ADF. Alcohol disorders and suicidality showed a general decrease with increasing years of service. Anxiety disorders overall were highest in those serving 3 months – 3.9 years and 8–11.9 years and lowest in those serving 12–15.9 years. Finally, for PTSD specifically, while estimated 12-month prevalence was reasonably evenly distributed among the different lengths of service (as can be seen in Figure 4) it was highest among those who had served between 4 and 7.9 years (21.2%, 95% CI 14.2, 30.4).



Figure 4 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 Disorders and suicidality by years of Regular Service

Demographic factors and 12-month mental disorder and suicidality in Transitioned ADF

Overall, sex and age had little association with estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 mental disorder among the Transitioned ADF.

Sex

There were no significant sex related differences in affective, anxiety or alcohol disorders, or self-reported suicidality (Table 13).

	Sex								
		Male (n = 21,671)		Female (n = 3261)					
12-month ICD-10 Disorder and Suicidality	Weighted N	%	95% CI	Weighted N	%	95% CI			
Any anxiety disorder (incl. PTSD)	7865	36.3	31.5, 41.4	1367	41.9	32.3, 52.2			
Posttraumatic stress disorder	3598	16.6	13.2, 20.7	810	24.8	18.2, 32.8			
Any affective disorder	5005	23.1	18.8, 28.0	750	23.0	14.7, 34.1			
Any alcohol disorder	2848	13.1	9.7, 17.5	371	11.4	5.3, 22.7			
Any suicidality*	4643	21.7	20.1, 23.4	699	21.7	18.4, 25.4			

Table 13 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders and suicidality in Transitioned ADF by sex

*Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide

Age

There were some age-related trends, with 12-month affective disorders and suicidality showing a similar pattern of prevalence across age groups and lowest in Transitioned ADF aged 58+ (Figure 5). Alcohol disorders were most commonly observed among the younger Transitioned ADF, aged 18–47. Anxiety disorder was relatively stable across age groups.





Transitioned ADF compared to 2015 Regular ADF

Current self-reported mental health

Currently, little is known about the similarities and differences in the mental health of recently transitioned and current serving Regular ADF members, and how symptoms change and develop in ADF members once they transition. Self-report measures of mental health can provide valuable additional information on the severity and nature of current symptomatology and in this report, mental health symptoms were compared between the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. A range of symptoms were compared: psychological distress, posttraumatic stress, alcohol use, depression, anger, suicidality, and anxiety, and self-reported lifetime and service related trauma exposures, and these are reported in Table 14.
Psychological distress (measured by K10)

Psychological distress was higher among the Transitioned ADF than in the 2015 Regular ADF with 33.0% scoring in the high to very high band compared to 18.7% of the 2015 Regular ADF. In general, the level of psychological distress was high among the Transitioned ADF and over 40.6% scored equal to or above the screening cut-off of 19. Importantly, a further 17.8% of the Transitioned ADF had a moderate level of symptomatology reflecting subthreshold anxiety or depressive disorders: these are a group at risk of developing a diagnosable disorder in the future.

Posttraumatic stress symptoms (measured by PCL)

Similar to findings for psychological distress, the severity of posttraumatic stress symptoms was significantly greater in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, highlighting the strength of the relationship between poor mental health and transition. Approximately 38% of the Transitioned ADF had moderate to very high posttraumatic stress symptoms and almost one quarter scored in the high to very high-risk categories. This compared to 20.2% and 8.7% of the Regular ADF respectively. Almost 40% of the Transitioned ADF scored equal to or above the ADF screening cut-off of 29 (McFarlane et al., 2011). Importantly, these individuals represent the group who could be considered to have subthreshold PTSD symptoms and should be a target for early intervention.

Alcohol use (measured by AUDIT)

Overall, self-reported alcohol use and problem drinking were significantly greater in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF. Compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, the Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher AUDIT total scores, more frequent drinking, and drinking more standard drinks on a typical day. They were also more likely to report a problem with drinking and to anticipate problems cutting down or stopping drinking if they tried, a pattern of drinking consistent with psychological dependence. Just over 11% of the Transitioned ADF scored in Band 3 or above in the Transitioned ADF, indicating a need for referral and/or brief counselling, compared to 3.3% of the 2015 Regular ADF.

Depressive symptoms (measured by PHQ)

The severity of self-reported depressive symptoms was significantly higher in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Regular ADF, with 19.5% of the Transitioned ADF reporting moderately severe (scoring range 15–19) to severe depressive symptoms (scoring range 20–27), compared to 7.4% of the Regular ADF. A further 11.1% of the Transitioned ADF had symptoms of depression in the moderate range (scoring range 10–14), highlighting the prevalence of subthreshold depression which is a significant risk in terms of future morbidity (Pine et al., 1999). As with posttraumatic stress symptoms and symptoms of psychological distress, the higher rates of self-reported depressive symptoms in the Transitioned ADF further underscores the role that symptoms may play in influencing the decision to leave the military, as well as the impact of transition on mood more generally.

Anxiety symptoms (measured by GAD-7)

The severity of self-reported symptoms of generalised anxiety in the Transitioned ADF was high with 22.3% reporting moderate to severe symptoms. In contrast, a significantly lower proportion of the 2015 Regular ADF (9.6%) reported moderate to severe symptoms.

Suicidal ideation and behaviour

The Transitioned ADF were significantly more likely to report suicidal ideation, plans and attempts than the 2015 Regular ADF. This is consistent with the recent AIHW report into the incidence of suicide among serving and Ex-Serving ADF members (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2017) which found rates of completed suicide were lower than the general population among those still serving in the ADF (Regular and Reserve) but higher in those who were Ex-Serving. The consistency of the self-reported suicidality observed in the current study with data regarding completed suicide is of high importance, as it strongly indicates that the Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF are at increased risk of suicidal ideation escalating to suicidal behaviour.

Anger (measured by DAR-5)

Self-reported anger was measured in this study for a range of reasons, notably because it is an important symptom of PTSD. In particular, as reported in the scientific literature, the associated impairments and impacts on interpersonal relationships and social functioning in relation to anger are significant. Overall, self-reported anger followed the same patterns as for other psychological symptoms and for diagnosable mental disorder with Transitioned ADF members reported significantly greater levels of anger than the 2015 Regular ADF.

	Tra	ansitioned ADF 2015 (n = 24,932)	5		2015 Regular ADF (n = 52,500)	
Γ	Weighted N	%	95% CI	Weighted N	%	95% CI
Psychological Distress (K10)						
Low (10–15)	11,904	47.7	45.9, 49.6	33,015	62.9	59.3, 66.4
Moderate (16–21)	4438	17.8	16.4, 19.3	8278	15.8	13.5, 18.4
High (22–29)	3371	13.5	12.3, 14.8	4179	7.9	6.4, 9.9
Very High (30-50)	4884	19.6	18.2, 21.1	5644	10.8	8.4, 13.7
Posttraumatic Stress (PCL)						
Low (17–29)	14,879	59.7	57.9, 61.5	41,432	78.9	75.6, 81.9
Moderate (30–39)	3426	13.7	12.5, 15.1	6013	11.5	9.3, 14.1
High (40–49)	2032	8.2	7.2, 9.2	2605	5.0	3.4, 7.3
Very High (50–85)	4003	16.1	14.8, 17.5	1957	3.7	2.6, 5.4
Alcohol Use (AUDIT)						
Band I (0–7)	16,236	65.1	63.2, 66.9	41,430	78.9	75.6, 81.9
Band 2 (8–15)	5574	22.4	20.8, 24.1	9151	17.4	14.7, 20.5
Band 3 (16–19)	1169	4.7	3.9, 5.6	988	1.9	1.1, 3.3
Band 4 (20 to 40)	1616	6.5	5.6, 7.5	726	1.4	0.6, 3.1
Depression (PHQ-9)						
Minimal (0–4)	11,342	45.5	43.7, 47.3	29,505	56.2	52.6, 59.7
Mild (5–9)	5788	23.2	21.7, 24.8	13,391	25.5	22.4, 28.9
Moderate (10–14)	2764	11.1	9.9, 12.3	5228	9.9	7.9, 12.5
Moderately Severe (15–19)	2250	9.0	8.0, 10.2	2374	4.5	3.1, 6.5
Severe (20–27)	2622	10.5	9.5, 11.7	1562	2.9	1.7, 5.1
General Anxiety (GAD-7)						
Minimal (0-4)	13,545	54.3	52.5, 56.1	36,907	70.3	66.8, 73.6
Mild (5–9)	5523	22.2	20.7, 23.7	10,049	19.1	16.4, 22.2
Moderate (10–14)	2734	10.9	9.9, 12.2	2671	5.1	3.7, 6.94
Severe (15–21)	2850	11.4	10.3, 12.6	2384	4.5	2.9, 6.9
Suicidality						
Felt life not worth living	7208	28.9	27.3, 30.6	6927	13.2	10.7, 16.2
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	5294	21.2	19.8, 22.8	4493	8.6	6.4, 11.3
Made a suicide plan	1965	7.9	6.9, 8.9	950	1.8	1.0, 3.3
Attempted suicide	505	2.0	1.6, 2.6	311	0.6	0.2, 1.6
Any suicidality†	5342	21.7	20.2, 23.3	4533	8.8	6.7, 11.6
	М	SE	95% CI	М	SE	95% CI
Anger (DAR-5)						
Anger frequency	2.4	0.02	2.4, 2.5	2.2	0.04	2.1, 2.2
Anger intensity	2.0	0.02	1.9, 2.0	1.7	0.04	1.6, 1.7
Anger duration	1.9	0.02	1.8,1.9	1.5	0.04	1.5, 1.6
Antagonism towards others	1.7	0.02	1.7, 1.8	1.4	0.04	1.3, 1.5
Social relations	1.8	0.02	1.8, 1.8	1.5	0.04	1.4, 1.6
DAR-5 total	9.8	0.1	9.6, 10.0	8.2	0.5	7.9 8.5

Table 14Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF in each scoring band for the K10, PCL,
AUDIT, PHQ-9, GAD-7 and the DAR-5

Deployment exposures and lifetime trauma exposure

The consistent findings of elevated rates of psychological symptoms and mental disorder among the Transitioned ADF need to be considered in the context of the reported deployment and non-deployment traumatic stress exposures experienced by this population.

Results of this study suggest that those who have transitioned from the ADF have had substantially higher levels of deployment related traumas in contrast to those who remain within the ADF in 2015. For example, in the Transitioned ADF, 38.3% reported they had gone on combat patrols in contrast to 29.9% of the 2015 Regular ADF. Similarly, among the Transitioned ADF, 37.4% had either handled or seen dead bodies in contrast to 30.2% of the 2015 Regular ADF.

Additionally, Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher rates of lifetime trauma (including both military and non-military trauma) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF with 77.0% of the Transitioned ADF and 69.3% of the 2015 Regular ADF reporting being exposed to a traumatic event in their lifetime. Transitioned ADF also reported being exposed to a greater number of different lifetime traumatic events compared to 2015 Regular ADF.

While it is important not to minimise the significant exposures of those who remain within Regular ADF service, these findings suggest that those who transition have on average endured a slightly greater history of a range of traumatic exposures both on deployment and in their lifetime compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.

An Australian Community comparison: psychological distress and alcohol use in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian community

Psychological distress (measured by K10)

National and International research has demonstrated that military service places high demands on those who serve. The 2010 MHPWS showed that ADF members experienced a significantly higher prevalence of lifetime trauma (both deployment related and pre-enlistment trauma) compared with a socio-demographically matched Australian community (ABS). The 2010 MHPWS study also showed that the 2010 Regular ADF had a significantly higher prevalence of 12-month depressive episodes and posttraumatic stress compared to the Australian community. The increased risk of lifetime trauma exposure and mental disorder in ADF members, combined with transition related stressors places Transitioned ADF members at particular risk as they assimilate back into civilian society which has clear implications for service provision and support.

In this section key measures of mental health are compared between Transitioned ADF members and a stratified sample of the general Australian community, in order to place the mental health of Transitioned members within the civilian context (please see methodology section for details on how estimates from the Australian community were calculated). Comparisons between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian community were made using contemporaneous data obtained from the 2014–2015 ABS National Health Survey (NHS): in particular the K10 and number of Alcohol Use questions taken from the NHS.

In general, psychological distress was higher among the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian community (Table 15). Almost three times more Transitioned ADF scored in the high to very high psychological distress bands (33.1%) compared to the Australian community (12.8%). Further analyses comparing the two populations by age and sex (not listed in table) showed that the largest difference between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian community, across the various sex and age groups, was in the very high scoring band on the K10 for psychological distress where nearly one in five Transitioned ADF scored in this band compared with just under 5% of the Australian community. Psychological distress was also found to decrease overall with age in the Transitioned ADF, while in the Australian community it remained relatively stable across age groups.

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)				Australian Community			Difference		
	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	
Low (10–15)	47.7	0.9	45.9, 49.6	66.3	0.9	64.5, 68.2	-18.6	1.3	-21.2, -15.9	
Moderate (16–21)	17.8	0.7	16.4, 19.3	20.1	0.8	18.6 21.6	-2.3	1.0	-4.3, -0.2	
High (22–29)	13.5	0.7	12.3, 14.8	8.3	0.6	7.1, 9.4	5.3	0.9	3.5, 6.9	
Very High (30–50)	19.6	0.7	18.2, 21.1	4.5	0.5	3.5, 5.5	15.1	0.9	13.3, 16.9	

Table 15Estimated prevalence in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian community K10 scoring bands
for psychological distress

Note: 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Alcohol use

A quite different pattern of results was found when comparing patterns of alcohol use between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian community. Overall, the Australian community drank more standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months than the Transitioned ADF, with a significantly higher proportion of the Australian community (48.3%) drinking more than seven or more standard drinks on a single occasion compared to the Transitioned ADF (33.2%), this pattern was particularly salient in Australian community males (Table 16). Overall, however, there were fewer observed differences in the rates of alcohol consumption between the two samples, particularly in the lower age groups (not presented in Table 16).

The majority of Transitioned ADF and the Australian community consumed alcohol weekly (approximately 45% – 48%), followed by monthly and less than monthly. A significantly higher proportion of the Transitioned ADF than the Australian Community reported drinking monthly. (Table 17). This pattern was mostly accounted for by ADF males. There were female specific differences in rates of problem drinking between the Transitioned ADF and the community (not presented in Table 17), with a significantly higher proportion of Transitioned ADF females reporting drinking daily, weekly and monthly compared to Australian community females.

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			Australian Community			Difference		
	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI
11 +	21.6	0.9	19.9, 23.3	34.2	1.0	32.3, 36.1	-12.6	1.3	-15.2, -10.1
7–10	11.6	0.6	10.4, 12.9	14.1	0.7	12.7, 15.4	-2.4	0.9	-4.3, -0.6
5 or 6	12.8	0.6	11.6, 14.7	10.5	0.6	9.4, 11.6	2.3	0.8	0.6, 3.9
3 or 4	11.3	0.6	10.2, 12.5	12.0	0.7	10.6, 12.5	-0.7	0.9	-2.6, 1.1
1 or 2	10.7	0.6	9.7, 11.8	13.7	0.6	12.5, 14.9	-3.0	0.8	-4.7, -1.4

Table 16Estimated proportions of maximum number of standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months
in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian community

Note: 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Table 17Estimated proportions of the Frequency of Alcohol Consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the
Australian community in the last 12 months

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			A	Australian Community			Difference		
	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	
Daily	4.3	0.4	3.6, 5.0	5.1	0.4	4.4, 5.8	-0.8	0.5	-1.8, 0.23	
Weekly	47.6	0.1	45.6, 49.5	45.4	1.0	43.5, 47.3	2.2	1.4	-0.5, 4.8	
Monthly	26.1	0.9	24.4, 27.9	20.1	0.9	18.4, 21.8	6.0	1.3	3.5, 8.5	
Less than monthly	14.1	0.7	12.8, 15.6	13.0	0.6	11.8, 14.3	1.1	0.9	-0.8, 2.9	

Note: 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Implications and future directions: Mental Health Prevalence

The rates of mental disorder identified in ADF members in the first five years following transition in this study is a matter of concern that warrants attention with nearly half estimated to have a 12-month mental disorder. This level of 12-month disorder combined with the significantly greater severity of current self-reported symptoms of psychological distress, depression anxiety, anger, suicidality and alcohol use in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF highlights the challenges of transitioning out of full-time military service.

Consistent with the findings of the 2017 AIHW report on suicide incidence among serving and ex-serving members, those discharging medically are one of the most high-risk groups identified in this report and should be a priority for further evaluation and follow-up (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2017). Importantly however, there is also a large proportion of Transitioned ADF who were not medically discharged but who met criteria for a mental disorder in the last 12 months (i.e. 62.3% of those with a 12-month affective disorder – 70.5% of those with 12-month PTSD). Thus, many of these individuals may not have been referred to the appropriate mental health providers at the point of transition. This raises important questions as to whether these disorders emerged following discharge or failed to be declared or identified during the discharge medical. It also raises questions as to whether there should be a more systematic mental health assessment during military service and/or the discharge process using structured diagnostic interviews. Furthermore, as has been planned by Defence, referral of discharging members to a primary health care provider should increasingly become a priority as this is likely to significantly assist in both the diagnosis of emerging disorders as well as referral to treatment networks.

Similarly, a large proportion of Transitioned ADF who met criteria for a 12-month mental disorder, were not recorded as a DVA client (i.e. 40% of those with 12-month PTSD, 51% of those with a 12-month Affective Disorder). Taken together these findings suggest a need to address how ADF members are screened, assessed and monitored for mental health conditions both pre-and post-transition. The data also reinforces the importance of a range of initiatives currently being implemented by DVA and Defence to enhance early identification and intervention, including through the transition process.

One example highlighted in the 2017 Government response to the National Mental Health Commission Review is the Early Engagement Model. The goal is for DVA to establish a relationship with serving members as early in their career as practical. This will include Defence notifying DVA at agreed events during a member's career including events such as enlistment, involvement in a serious incident, medical discharge or retirement (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017). Defence is also reforming the ADF Transition Support Service to offer coaching and mentoring with a focus on developing an individual post separation plan, including employment support. This new model is aimed at all ADF members who are transitioning. This new model will also see Transition Officers contacting each member one month after separation to check on the success of the post separation plan and whether any new issues have arisen.

Over recent years, Defence has been trialling and implementing an enhanced mental health screening program which builds upon the comprehensive program of screening which already occurs post-deployment and postexposure to critical incidents. Key components include standardising mental health screening measures across screening events, introducing periodic mental health screening for all ADF members (regardless of whether they have deployed) within primary health care settings, Command requested screening for high-risk groups, and updates to the health examination conducted as part of the discharge process (O'Donnell et al., 2014). This Mental Health Screening Continuum also includes the development of an online self-assessment website which will allow ADF members to anonymously assess their own mental health.

Meanwhile, the Veterans and Veterans Counselling Service (VVCS) is working towards development of a VVCS online system to increase help-seeking, early intervention and self-management. Through participatory design, VVCS intends to establish a range of digital options for care, including a Mental Health eClinic that offers immediate online assessment resulting in a dashboard of results as well as support via apps and eTools where

real-time data (i.e. physical activity, mood, sleep) can be displayed progressively. This initiative will see a wide variety of information, co-designed with members and their families that enhances awareness of the challenges experienced by transitioning members and offers information and tools to manage these experiences. Increased tailoring of online tools will not mitigate the need for some members of the community to access more direct clinical support, but will increase the likelihood that all discharging ADF members and their families are aware of, and understand the services available to them through the VVCS. As part of this offering VVCS would seek to make available a self-administered, online mental health check that connects the client to appropriate tools, resources and supports depending on individual need. In addition to these initiatives, it is suggested Defence and DVA consider the integration of screening processes pre-and post-transition and online resources to enable continuity throughout the transition process.

The findings in this report also strongly support an important DVA initiative to increase access to care: the DVA non-liability health care program. This program pays for mental health treatment for serving and ex-serving ADF members without needing to establish that the condition was caused by their ADF service. This treatment is delivered through the provision of a DVA White Card and allows ex-serving ADF members to access GPs, psychologists, psychiatrists, medication, public or private hospital care, and VVCS counselling services. Originally this was just for five common mental health conditions: PTSD, depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, and alcohol and substance use disorders with a set period of service. This has been now extended to anyone who has ever served at least one day in the full-time ADF and all mental health conditions.

The data in the report also highlights the importance of ensuring that whenever individuals access care they obtain a comprehensive assessment by military aware clinicians who are cognisant of the need for effective differential diagnosis when developing treatment plans. In the Transitioned ADF, just over half of those with a mental disorder had a least one comorbid disorder, with one in four Transitioned ADF meeting criteria for two or more mental disorder classes. The issue of mental disorder comorbidity is important as it is a marker of the severity of disorder and presents a significant challenge in obtaining optimal treatment outcomes, particularly when the co-morbid disorder(s) are not clearly defined from the outset (Hruska et al., 2014). These findings have important implications from a clinical perspective including the need to upskill both military and civilian clinicians on the specific criteria of a broad range of disorder in Transitioned ADF members found in this study, are matters of considerable concern, particularly due to the behavioural disinhibition, including greater suicidal risk, associated with bipolar disorder (Raja and Azzoni, 2004). Further longitudinal research should be conducted to examine the potential risk factors for this disorder and other high prevalence disorders in military populations, such as epigenetic consequences of PTSD and related stress exposures, in order to clearly identify subpopulations who maybe at particular risk.

A qualitative study of Transitioned ADF members who have been identified as having particular mental disorders would assist in better understanding the issues which cannot be captured by the structured diagnostic interview and questionnaires used in this study. This strategy would assist in better understanding the nuances and difficulties experienced by ADF members as they navigate the civilian healthcare system upon transition for the first time. This would also build on the quantitative information in the *Pathways to Care Report* including the nature of the interventions that have been offered once contact is made with the mental health system. It needs to be recognised that there are many limitations within the civilian health care sector and these are potentially impacting on Transitioned ADF members who do not have DVA entitlements.

The Mental Health Prevalence report examined both diagnosable mental disorders as well as self-reported subthreshold mental health symptoms. This latter group represent those at significant risk of the later emergence of disorder: a predictable outcome given the international evidence which has shown an association between increasing age/time and increasing rates of some disorders such as PTSD (Mota et al., 2016; Smid et al., 2013). This is in keeping with the importance of the introduction in Australia of the ability for GPs to conduct a comprehensive ADF Post Discharge Health Assessment (Reed et al., 2016) and further

supports the Departments considering further options for ongoing surveillance of this population including those who have transitioned to the Active and Inactive Reserves.

The current study focuses on ADF members who transitioned from Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014. This includes ADF members who transitioned into the Active and Inactive Reserves. What this study does not address is the mental health of Reservists who have never served in the Regular ADF (Ab Initio Reservists). Given data was collected on a sample of Ab Initio Reservists as part of this Programme, future planned analyses will compare the impacts of military service in these three Reservist groups.

More generally this study highlights the value of ongoing health surveillance of longitudinal cohorts. In the case of longitudinal surveillance, it is possible to make causal associations particularly where exposures have been measured in close proximity to their occurrence. Two planned future reports: *Impact of Combat Report and Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report* will provide some examples of the power of these prospective cohort studies to assist with the identification of risk and protective factors for good and poor health outcomes over time, and how these can directly inform risk mitigation and resilience building strategies to protect future cohorts.

Finally, the relationship between deployment exposures and the levels of psychological symptoms and mental disorder in both the Transitioned and Regular ADF require further exploration. This is particularly important longitudinally given recent research highlighting the role of sensitisation following deployment as a risk factor for the development of delayed onset PTSD and other mental disorders (McEwen, 2003; Smid et al., 2013).

Areas for future research

This study examined the prevalence of mental disorder in Transitioned ADF members and compared selfreported mental health symptoms among Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF members. Substantially more information exists within the dataset collected however and is yet to be analysed. It is critical that the value of this information is understood and that ongoing strategies for further analyses are developed in the light of the findings that emerge. Following are a number of suggested areas for further examination of this data that emerge from the findings of the first report:

- Examination of the relationship between aspects of social disadvantage (i.e. homelessness, unemployment) and mental health in Transitioned ADF.
- Examination of the association between mental disorder and functioning, social integration and impairment and how this differ between those with a co-morbid alcohol disorder and those without.
- Examination of the impact of alcohol use without problem drinking on the severity of disorder and functioning.
- Examination of the predictors of comorbid mental disorder and the impacts of comorbidity on functioning and impairment.
- Examination of the predictors (in relation to mental disorder and the difficulties associated with transition into civilian roles) of the increasing suicidality since transition.
- Examination of the impact of deployment location and deployment exposures on the mental health of those who have transitioned. What are the patterns of social integration, help seeking and treatment efficacy in these populations?
- Examination of the nature and prevalence of the physical comorbidities in Transitioned ADF with mental disorders. How does the presence of physical comorbidities impact on the help-seeking and treatment effectiveness for mental disorders?

- Examination of the risk factors for PTSD in deployed and non-deployed ADF members who have transitioned compared to those who remain in Regular ADF service.
- Examination of the predictors of who becomes a DVA client versus who does not and the effect this has on employment and other domains of social adjustment in those with a mental disorder.
- Examination of the relationship between anger and mental disorder in Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF and the impact of anger on levels of impairment and current levels of distress.
- Examination of the impact of anger with and without mental disorder on criminal acts and related social integration.
- Examination of predictors of suicidal ideation and behaviour of transitioned ADF members compared with the civilian community.

Pathways to Care among Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

Key findings

Definitions of key terms used in this report

Transitioned ADF members -population of ADF members who transitioned from full-time ADF service between 2010 and 2014, including those who transitioned into the Active and Inactive Reserves and those who had discharged completely (Ex-Serving).

2015 Regular ADF – ADF members who were serving full-time in the ADF in 2015

Mental health concern – having ever had any level of concern about their mental health.

Probable mental disorder – Where probable rates of mental disorder are presented, these are based on self-reported epidemiological cut-offs.

Refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of other key terms in this section.

Demographics

- More than half of Transitioned ADF members remained in the ADF as Reservists (55.8%). Of these, 25.7% were Active Reservists.
- Approximately, 84% of the Transitioned ADF were either working or engaged in some purposeful activity with 62.8% being employed. Just over 5.5% of the Transitioned ADF had retired.
- More than 43% of Transitioned ADF members reported accessing DVA-funded treatment through either a DVA White Card (39.4%) or DVA Gold Card (4.2%).
- Just over one-fifth of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have been medically discharged.
- The most commonly reported reasons for transition were 'impact of service life on family' (10.2%), 'better employment prospects in civilian life' (7.2%), 'mental health problems' (6.5%) and 'physical health problems' (4.3%).
- There were no significant differences in housing stability between the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, with more than 93% estimated to have been in stable housing in the previous two months.
- Just over 40% of the Transitioned ADF and 36% of the 2015 Regular ADF reported having a diploma or university qualification.
- Twice as many members of the Transitioned ADF were classified as medically unfit compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.

Self-reported concerns for mental health

- Over half the Transitioned ADF (64.4%) and 2015 Regular ADF (52.1%) have been concerned about their mental health during their lifetime.
- Prevalence of mental health concerns were significantly higher for the Ex-Serving group (70.9%) compared with the Inactive (61.0%) and the Active (57.6%) Reserve groups.

Help-seeking in the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

- Approximately, 3 in 4 Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF have received assistance for their mental health in their lifetime. Of these, about 41% of Transitioned ADF and 46% of 2015 Regular ADF report receiving assistance currently or within the last 12 months.
- Approximately, half of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF sought help for their mental health within three months of becoming concerned about it.

Support from others in seeking care

- For around 60% of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF, who were concerned about their mental health and sought assistance, someone else had suggested they seek care for their mental health, usually a partner or friend.
- Only about 30% received assistance in engaging with mental health care. For Transitioned ADF this was most commonly a doctor (either a General Practitioner or Medical Officer), partners or supervisors and, for Regular 2015 ADF, this was most commonly supervisors, General Practitioners or Medical Officers.

Primary reasons for seeking care

• In both the Transitioned and Regular ADF the most common reasons for seeking assistance were depression, anxiety, relationship problems and anger.

Help-seeking among Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with a probable current mental disorder

- Of the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with a probable current mental disorder, who have expressed a concern about their mental health and sought care, 75% had done so currently or within the last 12 months.
- Of those with probable disorder, 2015 Regular ADF were more likely than Transitioned ADF to seek care within the first three months.

Attrition in help seeking

Self-reported rates of help seeking for a mental health problem are reasonably high, but due to attrition at
each help seeking stage and variability in the treatment services delivered, approximately a quarter of
those with a probable current mental disorder were estimated to have received evidence-based care in
the last 12 months.

Mental health service use

In Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with a mental health concern

- Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with a mental health concern reported very high rates of consulting a General Practitioner/Medical Officer, psychologist and/or a psychiatrist at some stage in their lifetime.
- There were high rates of satisfaction with the services delivered by these health professionals.

In Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with a probable current mental disorder

- While the majority of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with a probable current mental disorder had reported consulting a psychologist in the self-report survey, only half of these had done so in the last 12 months.
- Approximately 60% of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with a probable current mental disorder reported consulting a psychiatrist in the self-report survey, and over half of these had done so in the last 12 months.

Satisfaction with health service factors

• 2015 Regular ADF were more likely to be satisfied than Transitioned ADF in the accessibility, location, effectiveness, competence, friendliness, convenience and confidentiality of health services. Those with probable current mental disorders reported lower satisfaction across all health service factors.

Mental health services funding

- Defence was the main funder of mental health services for the 2015 Regular ADF, followed by DVA, including Veterans and Veterans Families Counselling Service (VVCS).
- DVA was the main funder of mental health services for Transitioned ADF, followed by Medicare and selffunding.

Methods used to inform or assess mental health among the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

Websites

 Around one quarter of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF used websites to inform or assess their mental health, and were most likely to access websites designed by DVA or Defence. While satisfaction with the DVA and Defence websites were at reasonable levels, the proportion accessing them was low.

Smart phone apps

- Use of all smart apps were low in both Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF members, but doubled in those with a probable current mental disorder.

Helplines

About 10% of both Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF members used a veteran or military helpline, and these rates doubled in those with a probable current mental disorder. VVCS Vetline was the most highly used helpline with very high satisfaction rates.

Ex-service organisations (ESOs)

- Less than 10% of Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF members used ESOs to inform or assess their mental health. This doubled for those with a probable current mental disorder.
- Rates of satisfaction with ESO services were high.

Receiving health information

• Both Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF members preferred receiving mental health information face-toface rather than by the internet or by telephone. This effect was much stronger in those with a probable current disorder.

Stigma

- In both Transitioned 2015 and Regular ADF members, the highest rated stigmas were concerns others
 would lose confidence in them, that they would be seen as weak, that they would be treated differently,
 that they would feel worse due to being unable to solve their own problems, that they would feel
 embarrassed. Those with probable current mental disorder were more likely to endorse each stigma item.
- The most common reasons for not seeking assistance in both Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF members were a perceived preference to self-manage, ability to function effectively and feeling afraid to ask.
- Over half the Transitioned ADF and around 40% of the 2015 Regular ADF with probable current mental disorder held four or more stigma-related beliefs. However, the vast majority of those with mental health concerns still engaged in care.

Barriers to seeking help

• The most common barriers to seeking help for 2015 Regular ADF were concerns about the impact on deployability or career and for Transitioned ADF were concerns about the impact on career and expense.

Pathways to Care Report objectives

The *Pathways to Care Report* investigated self-reported pathways to care in transitioned and currently serving ADF members with mental health care needs, to ensure they have access to and receive appropriate mental health care. It specifically sought to identify:

- What proportion of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF sought professional care for their mental health concerns?
- What are the patterns of latency between onset of a mental health concern and seeking care?

- For those who sought care, what problems were driving their decision to seek care, did someone else suggest they seek care and if so, who was that and did someone else assist them in actually getting to care?
- What types of professionals did they consult, what type of services did they report the professionals provided and how satisfied were they with what was provided?
- What other self-management strategies did they use to address their mental health concerns and what were their levels of satisfaction with those strategies?
- What were common attitudes and beliefs about mental health and seeking care focusing initially on the entire cohort and then those with mental health concerns who did not seek care?

Self-reported patterns of service engagement were considered from both within the respective Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF populations and with comparisons between them, with further examination of the differences between the Transitioned ADF sub-groupings (Ex-Serving, Active Reservists, Inactive Reservists). The study also compared these patterns between those who did and did not meet criteria for current probable 30-day mental disorder, as defined by meeting the epidemiological cut-offs on the screens for anxiety and depression (K10) and posttraumatic stress (PCL).

Self-reported concern for mental health

Over half of the Transitioned ADF (64.4%) and the 2015 Regular ADF (52.1%) had experienced concerns about their mental health in their lifetime (Table 18). Within the Transitioned ADF, concerns about mental health were most prevalent in the Ex-Serving group (70.9%), and this was significantly different compared to both the Inactive (61.0%) and the Active (57.6%) Reserve groups.

Of note, a small but important minority of those with probable 30-day disorder (11.2% of the Transitioned ADF and 27.3% of the 2015 Regular ADF) *did not* express concern about their mental health.

	Transitioned ADF n = 24,932			2015 Regular ADF n = 52,500		
	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)
No	1294	8880	35.6 (33.7,37.6)	3362	25,128	47.9 (44.0, 51.8)
Yes	2485	16,052	64.4 (62.4,66.3)	4339	27,372	52.1 (48.3, 56.0)
Probable 30-day disorder (by concerned	about mental health)	l.				
No, Not Concerned	107	789	11.2 (9.0,14.0)	239	2069	27.3 (19.1, 37.5)
Yes, Concerned	920	6234	88.8 (86.0,91.0)	727	5506	72.7 (62.5, 90.0)
No probable 30-day disorder (by concerned about mental health)						
No, Not Concerned	1187	8091	45.2 (42.8,47.6)	3123	23,059	51.3 (47.2, 55.4)
Yes, Concerned	1565	9818	54.8 (52.4,57.2)	3612	21,866	48.7 (44.6, 52.8)

Table 18Estimated proportion of 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF who reported being concerned about
their mental health in their lifetime, stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Denominator: Entire cohort

Notes:

Probable 30-day disorder = PCL \ge 53 or K10 \ge 25; No probable 30-day disorder = PCL < 53 and K10 < 25.

95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Help-seeking among those with a mental health concern

Of those with a concern about their mental health, approximately three in four Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF reported having ever received assistance for their mental health (Table 19). Approximately 41% of Transitioned ADF and 46% of 2015 Regular ADF reported receiving assistance for their mental health *currently or within the last 12 months*.

Within the Transitioned groups, the Ex-Serving were more likely to seek assistance for their mental health concerns (82.2%) or currently be receiving treatment (38.2%), than the Inactive Reservists (68.3%, 18.4%), or Active Reservists (67.7%, 15.2%) (table/figure not shown in report).

Of those with a probable 30-day disorder, the majority of Transitioned ADF (84.0%) and 2015 Regular ADF (81.4%) reported receiving assistance for their mental health in their lifetime, with 75% of these reporting receiving care currently or within the last 12 months. This equates to approximately 63% of Transitioned ADF and 61% of 2015 Regular ADF with a probable 30-day disorder being currently or recently in care.

Table 19	Weighted estimate of 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF who reported being concerned about their
	mental health in their lifetime, and whether they ever had assistance for their mental health, stratified by
	probable 30-day disorder

	Transitioned ADF n = 16,052			2015 Regular ADF n = 27,372			
	n	Weighted n	% (95%Cl)	n	Weighted n	% (95%Cl)	
All							
No, never received assistance	562	3922	24.4 (22.3,26.7)	965	6546	23.9 (19.6,28.9)	
Yes, Currently	714	4374	27.3 (25.2,29.4)	972	6433	23.5 (19.0,28.7)	
Yes, In the Last 12 months	342	2199	13.7 (12.1,15.5)	815	6183	22.6 (18.2,27.7)	
Yes, more than 12 months ago	852	5449	33.9 (31.7,36.3)	1571	8124	29.7 (25.6,34.1)	
Dichotomised grouping							
No, Never	562	3922	24.4 (22.3,26.7)	965	6546	23.9 (19.6,28.9)	
Yes, Ever	1908	12,022	74.9 (72.6,77.0)	3358	20,740	75.8 (70.8,80.1)	
Probable 30-day disorder	n = 6234			n = 5506			
No, never received assistance	119	960	15.4 (12.55,18.76)	94	1006	18.3 (9.7,31.8)	
Yes, Currently	496	3141	50.4 (46.4,54.3)	359	2752	50.0 (37.1,62.8)	
Yes, In the Last 12 months	114	760	12.2 (9.9,15.0)	112	599	10.9 (7.8,14.9)	
Yes, more than 12 months ago	186	1334	21.4 (18.3,24.9)	159	1131	20.6 (11.8, 33.4)	
Dichotomised grouping							
No, Never	119	960	15.4 (12.6,18.8)	94	1006	18.3 (9.7,31.8)	
Yes, Ever	796	5236	84.0 (80.6,86.9)	630	4482	81.4 (68.0,90.0)	
No probable 30-day disorder		n = 9818			n = 21,866		
No, never received assistance	443	2962	30. 27 (27.3,33.2)	871	5540	25.3 (20.6,30.8)	
Yes, Currently	218	1233	12.6 (10.7,14.6)	613	3682	16.8 (12.8,21.9)	
Yes, In the Last 12 months	228	1438	14.7 (12.6,17.0)	703	5584	25.5 (20.4,31.5)	
Yes, more than 12 months ago	666	4114	41.9 (38.9,45.0)	1412	6993	32.0 (27.6,36.8)	
Dichotomised grouping							
No, Never	443	2962	30.2 (27.3,33.2)	871	5540	25.3 (20.6,30.8)	
Yes, Ever	1112	6786	69.1 (66.1,72.0)	2728	16,258	74.4 (68.9,79.1)	

Denominator: those who were concerned about their mental health

Notes: 194 (weighted) participants (2015 Regular ADF=86 (0.31%); Transitioned ADF=108 (0.67%)) had a missing value and are not included. However, distributions are calculated by

including those with a missing value to allow for correct weighted totals. Probable 30 day disorder – PCL \geq 53 or K10 \geq 25. No probable 30 day disorder – PCL \leq 53

Probable 30-day disorder = $PCL \ge 53$ or K10 ≥ 25 ; No probable 30-day disorder = PCL < 53 and K10 < 25. 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Help-seeking latency

Most Transitioned ADF members sought assistance for a mental health concern within one year of concern onset, with 45.4% of Transitioned ADF members seeking care within three months and another 24.7% between three months and a year (Figure 6). For those with a probable 30-day disorder, only 37.5% sought care within three months of being concerned and 17.7% waited three or more years.

Rates of early treatment seeking were significantly higher in the 2015 Regular ADF, with 55.9% seeking care within the first three months of concern onset, including 50.5% of those with a probable 30-day disorder.

Of note, is the significant minority of Transitioned ADF (14.4%) and 2015 Regular ADF (7.6%) who waited more than three years to seek care.



Figure 6 Estimated length of time between having a mental health concern and help-seeking among Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Support from others in seeking care

Who suggested they seek help?

In order to better understand patterns of service engagement, it is important to identify the most common pathways into care. For the majority of Transitioned ADF (62.5%) and 2015 Regular ADF (57.5%) who were concerned about their mental health and had ever sought assistance, engagement with professional care was suggested by another. These rates were similar for those with a probable 30-day disorder (68.6% and 55.5% respectively) (Figure 7).

Partners were most likely to suggest Transitioned ADF (47.2%) and 2015 Regular ADF (43.0%) seek assistance for their mental health, followed by friends (28.8% and 29.1%), supervisors (22.1% and 27.6%) and General Practitioners (GPs)/Medical Officers (MOs) (combined 31.1% and 25.3%).



Figure 7 Who suggested help-seeking in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30-day disorder (Note: all proportions are estimated)

Who assisted them to seek help?

While the majority of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF who sought care had it suggested by someone else, only a minority of those were actively assisted in accessing this care. For 32.6% of Transitioned ADF, someone else assisted them to engage with care, and this was most commonly a GP/MO (combined 41.4%), partner (28.0%), or supervisor (24.9%) (Figure 8). For the 28.5% of 2015 Regular ADF who received assistance with engaging with care, this was most commonly provided by supervisors (32.6%), then GP/MOs (combined 36.2%), friends (16.5%), and partners (12.0%).



Figure 8 Who assisted help-seeking in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Primary reasons for seeking care

There was considerable consistency in the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF in the primary reasons for seeking mental health care, with the most common reasons being depression (27.2% and 21.0%), anxiety (17.8% and 19.6%), relationship problems (11.1% and 18.7%), and anger (12.4% and 13.0%) (Figure 9). This pattern of primacy of depression, anxiety and anger was consistent for those with and without probable 30-day disorder, however Transitioned ADF with a probable disorder were most likely to seek care for depression whereas 2015 Regular ADF with a probable disorder were most likely to seek help for anxiety.



Figure 9 Primary reason for seeking assistance for mental health among the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Mental health service use

Who was consulted?

The Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with a mental health concern reported high rates of engagement with health and mental health professionals for mental health care during their lifetime, with most reporting consulting a GP/MO (80.9% and 77.6%), a psychologist (81.3% and 87.6%) and/or a psychiatrist (49.9% and 38.9%) (Table 20).

		Transitioned AE n = 12,022)F		2015 Regular ADF n = 20,740	
	n	Weighted n	% (95%Cl)	n	Weighted n	% (95%CI)
General Practitioner/Medical Officer						
Ever	1550	9720	80.9 (78.5,83.0)	2524	16,103	77.6 (72.8,81.8)
< 12 months ago	729	4616	38.4 (35.6,41.1)	1182	7868	37.9 (32.0,44.2)
> 12 months ago	1009	6330	52.7 (49.9,55.4)	1605	9474	45.7 (39.7,51.8)
Probable 30-day disorder						
Ever	707	4574	87.4 (84.1,90.1)	533	4051	90.4 (86.5,93.3)
< 12 months ago	462	2987	57.1 (52.8,61.2)	377	2483	55.4 (40.9,69.0)
> 12 months ago	363	2402	45.9 (41.7,50.1)	244	1917	42.8 (29.3,57.5)
No probable 30-day disorder						
Ever	843	5146	75.8 (72.5,78.9)	1991	12,052	74.1 (68.3,79.2)
< 12 months ago	267	1629	24.0 (21.0,27.3)	805	5385	33.1 (26.7,40.2)
> 12 months ago	646	3929	57.9 (54.2,61.5)	1361	7557	46.5 (39.9,53.2)
Psychologist	11			I		· · ·
Ever	1604	9772	81.3 (78.8,83.5)	2902	18,171	87.6 (83.7,90.7)
< 12 months ago	646	3878	32.3 (29.8,34.9)	1327	9148	44.1 (38.0,50.4)
> 12 months ago	1109	6864	57.1 (54.3,59.8)	1871	10,796	52.1 (45.9,58.2)
Probable 30-day disorder	1107	0001	0/11 (0 110/07/07	1071	10,170	0211 (1017/0012)
Ever	703	4413	84.3 (80.4,87.5)	576	4189	93.5 (90.1,95.7)
< 12 months ago	390	2342	44.7 (40.6,48.9)	381	2464	55.0 (40.6,68.6)
> 12 months ago	396	2596	49.6 (45.4,53.8)	280	2336	52.1 (38.2,65.7)
No probable 30-day disorder	370	2370	47.0 (43.4,55.0)	200	2330	52.1 (50.2,05.7)
Ever	901	5360	79.0 (75.6,82.0)	2326	13,982	86.0 (81.2,89.8)
< 12 months ago	256	1536	22.6 (19.7,25.9)	946	6684	41.1 (34.4,48.2)
< 12 months ago	713	4267	62.9 (59.2,66.4)	1591	8460	52.0 (45.3,58.7)
•	/13	4207	02.7 (37.2,00.4)	1371	8400	52.0 (45.5,56.7,
Psychiatrist	000	(003	40.0 (47.0 50.()	11/0	00/0	20.0 (22.0 45.2)
Ever	989	6003	49.9 (47.2,52.6)	1160	8068	38.9 (33.0,45.2)
< 12 months ago	477	2818	23.4 (21.3,25.7)	470	3201	15.4 (11.3,20.8)
> 12 months ago	613	3840	31.9 (29. 5,34.5)	761	5137	24.8 (19.5,30.9)
Probable 30-day disorder						
Ever	574	3485	66.5 (62.3,70.6)	342	2696	60.2 (46.4,72.4)
< 12 months ago	364	2123	40.6 (36.6,44.6)	212	1426	31.8 (20.2,46.2)
> 12 months ago	287	1847	35.3 (31.4,39.3)	602	3744	23.0 (17.5,29.6)
No probable 30-day disorder						
Ever	415	2518	37.1 (33.6,40.7)	818	5372	33.0 (26.7,40.0)
< 12 months ago	113	694	10.2 (8.2,12.7)	258	1775	10.9 (7.0,16.6)
> 12 months ago	326	1993	29.4 (26.1,32.8)	159	1393	31.1 (18.9,46.7)
Other mental health professional						
Ever	567	3662	30.5 (28.0,33.1)	1010	6945	33.5 (27.7,39.9)
< 12 months ago	196	1177	9.8 (8.3,11.5)	369	2058	9.9 (7.2,13.6)
> 12 months ago	414	2785	23.2 (20.9,25.7)	689	5050	24.4 (17.0,30.7
Probable 30-day disorder						
Ever	274	1745	33.3 (29.6,37.3)	218	1474	32.9 (21.2,47.2
< 12 months ago	136	786	15.0 (12.4,18.0)	132	743	16.6 (9.8,26.7
> 12 months ago	166	1173	22.4 (19.0,26.2)	102	788	17.6 (8.6,32.7
No probable 30-day disorder						
Ever	293	1917	28.3 (25.0,31.8)	792	5470	33.7 (27.2,40.8
< 12 months ago	60	391	5.8 (4.2,7.8)	237	1315	8.1 (5.3,12.2
> 12 months ago	248	1612	23.8 (20.7,27.1)	587	4262	26.2 (20.1,33.4

Estimated proportion of the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF consulting each type of health Table 20 professional, stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Denominator: Those who were concerned about their mental health and sought assistance. Notes: 95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

These are not mutually exclusive groups and therefore do not sum to 100%. Probable 30-day disorder = PCL ≥ 53 or K10 ≥ 25; No probable 30-day disorder = PCL < 53 and K10 < 25.

For those with a probable 30-day disorder who had sought assistance, 84.3% and 93.5% of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF respectively had consulted a psychologist. Of those, 55.5% of Transitioned ADF and 66.1% of 2015 Regular ADF had done so in the last 12 months. Approximately 60% of both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF with a probable 30-day disorder had consulted a psychiatrist.

What services were provided and what were the levels of satisfaction with these services?

Among the Transitioned ADF, overall satisfaction ratings for core services for each of GP/MOs, psychologists, psychiatrists, and other mental health professionals were in the 60% to70% range. Satisfaction reported by 2015 Regular ADF was considerably higher across MOs, psychologists and psychiatrists, with rates of between 70% and 90%.

GPs/MOs

The services most commonly provided by GPs/MOs to Transitioned ADF (73.4%) and 2015 Regular ADF (83.9%) was referral to another service. Other services provided, included information (50.2% and 46.7%), prescribing medicine (68.5% and 35.2%) and support (42.7% and 38.9%).

The GP/MO services with which Transitioned ADF were most satisfied included referrals (74.7%), information (66.1%), medicine (66.9%) and support (61.6%). The GP/MO services with which the 2015 Regular ADF were most satisfied included trauma-focused cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) and CBT (87.4% and 81.2%), referral (82.3%), and psychotherapy (78.3%).

Psychologists

The service most commonly provided by psychologists to Transitioned ADF (80.6%) and 2015 Regular ADF (85.7%) was supportive counselling. Other services included CBT (63.7% and 63.9%) and information (55.9% and 51.9%).

The psychology services with which Transitioned ADF were most satisfied included referrals (72.6%), information (68.6%), supportive counselling (62.5%) and CBT (59.9% including trauma-focused CBT 59.9%). The psychology services 2015 Regular ADF were most satisfied with included CBT (83.9%, including trauma focused CBT 85.5%), information (82.0%) and referrals (84.7%).

Of note, within this study the use of CBT is the best proxy for the delivery of evidence-based psychological treatment for the most common veteran and military mental health problems, and both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF are reporting high rates of psychologists delivering CBT (63%).

Psychiatrists

The services most commonly provided by psychiatrists to Transitioned ADF (77.9%) and 2015 Regular ADF (54.5%) were prescribing medicine, followed by supportive counselling (63.4% and 45.0%) and information (60.1% and 53.8%).

The psychiatry services the Transitioned ADF were most satisfied with included information (69.5%), medicine (66.7%) and CBT (63.0%). The psychiatry services the 2015 Regular ADF were most satisfied with included information (85.2%), medicine (78.3%), supportive counselling (66.8%) and CBT (61.5%).

Other mental health providers

The services sought from other mental health professionals such as social workers, occupational therapists and mental health nurses to address mental health concerns were also examined. The most commonly delivered services reported by the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF were supportive counselling (69% and 63%) followed by information provision (60% and 39%).

Attrition in help seeking

While the findings indicate high rates of engagement with mental health care, the attrition at each stage of engagement must also be taken into consideration.

Using the Transitioned ADF as an example:

- 84% of those with a lifetime mental health concern and who had a probable 30-day disorder sought care in their lifetime.
- Of these, 81% had consulted a psychologist for these concerns.
- This equates to 68% of those with a mental health concern at some stage in their lives and who had probable 30-day disorder having sought care from a psychologist. Of this 68%, 55% have seen their psychologist in the last 12 months, i.e., 38% of the total of those with a lifetime mental health concern and current probable 30-day disorder.
- Of the 38% of Transitioned ADF with a probable 30-day disorder seeing a psychologist in the last 12 months, 63% of these received CBT (the best proxy for receiving evidence-based care), (i.e. approximately 24% with a mental health concern and probable 30-day disorder received CBT from a psychologist in the past 12 months).

Therefore, whilst the rates of engagement and uptake at each time point are reasonably high, and exceed community and international standards in veteran and military mental health, a minority of Transitioned ADF with a probable 30-day disorder reported receiving CBT (24%), which would be considered the most evidence-supported treatment for the most prevalent conditions in this population.

Satisfaction with health service factors

Satisfaction with the accessibility, cost, location, effectiveness, competence, friendliness, convenience and confidentiality of health services are presented in Figure 10. 2015 Regular ADF were more likely to be satisfied than Transitioned ADF in all service factors, with the exception of cost, where there was no significant difference. In both Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF, those with probable 30-day disorders reported lower satisfaction in all service factors.

Of the key health service factors, Transitioned ADF were most satisfied with friendliness (71.6%), and confidentiality (70.3%) and 2015 Regular ADF were most satisfied with friendliness (90.9%), location (87.3%), and competence (85.7%).



Figure 10 Aspects of service satisfaction in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF, stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Who is funding the treatment?

As would be expected, Defence was reported to be the dominant funder of mental health related care for the 2015 Regular ADF, and DVA was reported to be the dominant funder of care for the Transitioned ADF (table/figure not shown in report).

For the Transitioned ADF, 57.1% reported receiving GP/MO services funded by DVA, followed by Medicare (40.6%), self-funded (22.1%), and Defence funded (14.9%). With respect to psychology services, 47.4% reported receiving services funded by DVA, followed by VVCS self-referral (25.8% with an additional 5.9% of Defence funded VVCS services), and Medicare (20.8%).

Within the 2015 Regular ADF, 93.0% reported receiving MO/GP services funded by Defence and 10.8% reported receiving these services funded through DVA. Approximately 85% reported receiving psychology services funded by Defence, followed by VVCS self-referral (17.1% with an additional 5.1% of Defence funded VVCS services).

Self-help strategies for informing and assessing mental health

Websites

Overall, 30.3% of Transitioned ADF and 25.0% of the 2015 Regular ADF reporting using a website to inform or assess their mental health (Table 21). In the Transitioned ADF, 18.6% reported using the DVA website with an additional 10.0% using the ADF website. For 2015 Regular ADF, 14.5% reported using the ADF website followed by 10.5% using the DVA website. The Beyondblue website was the next most common website utilised by both groups (8.0% Transitioned ADF, 6.4% 2015 Regular ADF). Less than 2% reported using the At Ease website.

While satisfaction with the DVA and ADF websites are at reasonable levels, and both the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF populations were most likely to access websites designed specifically for serving and exserving ADF members by either DVA or Defence, the proportion accessing them is low.

		Transitioned ADF n = 24,932			2015 Regular ADF n = 52,500			
	n	Weighted n	% (95%CI)	n	Weighted n	% (95%CI)		
ADF website	401	2505	10.0 (8.9,11.3)	1285	7577	14.4 (12.1,17.2)		
Helpful?	234	1407	56.2 (50.1,62.1)	948	5320	70.2 (60.9,78.1)		
With probable 30-day disorder	143	838	11.9 (9.9,14.4)	227	1540	20.3 (13.7,29.2)		
Helpful?	58	325	38.8 (29.8,48.7)	132	755	49.0 (29.9,68.5)		
DVA website	815	4644	18.6 (17.3,20.1)	1005	5535	10.5 (8.8,12.6)		
Helpful?	510	2694	58.0 (53.8,62.1)	795	3863	69.8 (59.8,78.2)		
With probable 30-day disorder	386	2190	31.2 (28.1,34.5)	232	1374	18.1 (12.3,25.9)		
Helpful?	206	1071	48.9 (43.1,54.8)	168	679	49.4 (31.4,67.6)		
At Ease website	84	437	1.8 (1.4,2.3)	107	818	1.6 (0.8,2.9)		
Helpful?	39	187	42.8 (31.1,55.5)	58	196	23.9 (11.6,42.9)		
With probable 30-day disorder	40	225	3.2 (2.2,4.6)	23	270	3.6 (0.9,12.7)		
Helpful?	16	93	41.2 (24.4,60.4)	11	30	11.3 (2.5,38.5)		
Beyond Blue	302	1998	8.0 (7.0,9.2)	531	3381	6.4 (4.7,8.8)		
Helpful?	208	1292	64.7 (57.4,71.3)	444	2647	78.3 (61.9,88.9)		
With probable 30-day disorder	160	1109	15.8 (13.2,18.8)	129	1043	13.8 (7.3,24.6)		
Helpful?	101	658	59.4 (49.5,68.5)	105	791	75.9 (38.2,94.1)		
Any Health websites	1230	7549	30.3 (28.6,32.1)	2126	13,113	25.0 (21.8,28.5)		
With probable 30-day disorder	535	3294	46.9 (43.2,50.6)	419	3021	40.0 (29.8,50.9)		

Table 21Estimated proportion of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF who used websites in the last 12 months
to inform/assess mental health, stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Denominator: Entire cohort

Notes:

Probable 30-day disorder = PCL ≥ 53 or K10 ≥ 25; No probable 30-day disorder = PCL < 53 and K10 < 25.

95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval These are not mutually exclusive groups and therefore do not sum to 100%.

Internet treatments

Internet treatments such as MoodGYM, and e-couch were only used by approximately 2% of both the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF. This rate was slightly higher for those with probable 30-day disorder.

Smartphone apps

Similarly, rates of uptake of smartphone applications remained quite low with only approximately 6% of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF using these applications, although these rates doubled to 14% in both groups in those with a probable 30-day disorder. The most commonly used app was PTSD Coach used by 9.1% and 9.8% in the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF respectively.

Other internet

Approximately 20% of the Transitioned and 10% of 2015 Regular ADF reported using some form of additional internet usage to inform or assess their mental health. Of these, the most common form of additional internet use was social media, with 18.1% and 9.9% of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF respectively using social media to inform or assess their mental health and approximately 55% of those finding it helpful. Considering this across the transitioned groups, the Ex-Serving group reported considerably higher social media usage of 22% compared with 17% and 13% in Inactive and Active Reservists respectively.

Telephone helplines

Approximately 9% of Transitioned ADF and 12% of 2015 Regular ADF used a veteran or military helpline, with rates of 17% and 19% respectively in those with a probable 30-day disorder. The VVCS Vetline was the most highly used helpline in both groups (approximately 8%) followed by 1800 IMSick in the 2015 Regular ADF (4.3%). Approximately 16% of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF with a probable 30-day disorder

reported using VVCS Vetline, with very high satisfaction rates of 75–85% in all users and 75% in those with a probable 30-day disorder.

Other telephone helplines which were not military specific, i.e., Lifeline, Mensline, Sane Australia were barely utilised across all groups (less than 2%), with the exception of 2015 Regular ADF members with a probable 30-day disorder, where 6% of this group reported use of the Relationships Australia helpline.

Ex-Service Organisations

Contact with ex-service organisations (ESOs) to inform or assess their mental health was reported by 9.2% of Transitioned ADF and 2.9% of 2015 Regular ADF. This figure doubled (18%) for those with a probable 30-day disorder. Rates of satisfaction with ESO services were also high, reinforcing the important role of these organisations within the broader veterans' service framework.

Preference for receiving mental health information

With respect to receiving health information, for both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF there was a stronger preference for receiving this information face-to-face rather than by the internet or by telephone, which was the least preferred of the three options (Table 22). This effect was much stronger in those with a probable 30-day disorder, where 59.7% of Transitioned ADF and 52.2% of 2015 Regular ADF preferred to receive information face-to-face compared to the internet (26.8% and 29.5% respectively).

	Transitioned ADF n = 24,932			2015 Regular ADF n = 52,500			
	n	Weighted n	% (95%CI)	n	Weighted n	% (95%Cl)	
All							
Face-to-face	1902	12,325	49.4 (47.4,51.4)	4484	29,335	55.9 (52.0,59.7)	
Telephone	151	1219	4.9 (4.0,5.6)	178	1106	2.1 (1.2,3.6)	
Internet	1182	7825	31.4 (29.6,33.3)	2199	14,975	28.5 (25.2,32.2)	
Probable 30-day disorder		n = 7023			n = 7575		
Face-to-face	637	4191	59.7 (55.9,63.3)	630	3952	52.2 (41.3,62.8)	
Telephone	45	350	5.0 (3.5,7.1)	33	429	5.7 (1.6,17.8)	
Internet	261	1881	26.8 (23.6,30.3)	209	2235	29.5 (20.0,41.2)	
No probable 30-day disorder		n = 17,909			n = 44,925		
Face-to-face	1265	8135	45.4 (43.1,47.8)	3854	25,383	56.5 (52.4,60.6)	
Telephone	106	869	4.9 (3.8,6.1)	145	677	1.5 (1.0,2.2)	
Internet	921	5944	33.2 (31.0,35.5)	1990	12,740	28.4 (24.8,32.9)	

Table 22	Preferred method for receiving health information in the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF,
	stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Denominator: Entire cohort

Notes:

Based on weighted counts, 7085 (13.49%) of 2015 Regular ADF, and 3562 (14.29%) Transitioned ADF had missing values for this question. However, distributions are calculated by including those with a missing value to allow for correct weighted totals.

Probable 30-day disorder = PCL ≥ 53 or K10 ≥ 25; No probable 30-day disorder = PCL < 53 and K10 < 25.

95%CI: 95% Confidence Interval

Stigma and barriers to care

Stigma

This study examined the degree to which negative beliefs and attitudes to seeking care were evident amongst the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF (Figure 11). This included the prevalence of negative beliefs relating to what help-seeking would mean about them and their expectation of themselves and how others would perceive them (self-stigma and anticipated public stigma), as well as beliefs about barriers to accessing care.

The most common negative attitudes and beliefs about help-seeking were consistent across both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, and included perceptions that others would lose confidence in them (40.0% and 44.6%), they would be seen as weak (28.8% and 31.3%), be treated differently (32.5% and

36.3%), feel worse due to being unable to solve their own problems (35.5% and 27.2%) and feel embarrassed (31.7% and 24.8%). Both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF with probable 30-day disorder were more likely to endorse most stigma items.



Figure 11 Estimated proportion of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF endorsing each stigma item stratified by probable 30-day disorder

While 35.0% of the Transitioned ADF and 37.4% of the 2015 Regular ADF groups did not report any stigmas, 33.6% and 30.0% respectively held four or more (Figure 12). In Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF with probable 30-day disorder, 56.2% and 43.8% respectively held four or more stigma related beliefs. Closer examination of this data indicated that care-seeking remained largely proportional to group size in the five stigma endorsement groupings, including for the group who endorsed four or more stigma-related beliefs.



Figure 12 Number of stigmas endorsed in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Barriers

The most common self-reported barrier to seeking care for a mental health problem in the Transitioned ADF was 'harm my career/career prospects' (30.3%), and for the 2015 Regular ADF was 'stop me from being deployed' (47.4%) (Figure 13). The next most commonly cited barriers for Transitioned ADF were 'too expensive' (30.0%) and 'difficulty getting time off work' (20.6%). For 2015 Regular ADF these were 'harm my career/career prospects' (38.7%) and 'difficulty getting time off work' (19.9%).

Similar results were found in those respondents with a probable 30-day disorder. For Transitioned ADF, the most commonly held barrier was 'too expensive' (42.2%), 'harm my career/career prospects' (41.9%) and 'difficulty getting time off work' (29.7%). For 2015 Regular ADF, these were 'stop me from being deployed' (47.2%), 'harm my career/career prospects' (46.0%) and 'difficulty getting time off work' (26.9%).

Reasons for not seeking assistance

The most common reasons for not seeking assistance for a mental health concern among the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF were 'I can still function' (80.6% and 82.4%), 'prefer to manage myself' (76.7% and 80.1%), and 'afraid to ask' (42.6% and 44.9%) (Figure 14).



Figure 13 Estimated proportion of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF endorsing each barrier item stratified by probable 30-day disorder

Figure 14 Weighted estimate of reasons why help was not sought among those concerned with their mental health in the 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF, stratified by probable 30-day disorder



Implications and future directions: Pathways to Care

The majority of the 2015 Regular ADF and the Transitioned ADF populations with a mental health concern will take the initial steps in seeking care within the first 12 months, with a considerable number doing so within the first three months. This care is commonly provided not only by psychologists, General Practitioners (GPs) and Medical Officers (MOs), but also by psychiatrists and a range of other allied mental health providers.

While the rates of initial engagement and uptake of services are reasonably high, due to an accumulation of factors that occur at each phase of the help-seeking process, the findings also suggest an under-engagement with evidence-based treatment for those with a current disorder. This is more evident in the Transitioned ADF than in the 2015 Regular ADF. Similarly, satisfaction with services is higher in the 2015 Regular ADF. Whilst effective treatment can and often should be episodic, these findings indicate that strategies need to be considered for improving engagement rates, retention and delivery of best practice care at each contact point.

Integration and coordination of services

There is currently a disparity between the available health service systems for Transitioned ADF and Regular ADF. One of the points of difference is the inherently more interconnected nature of the Defence health services for Regular ADF compared with the broader and more disparate range of services and service providers operating for Transitioned ADF. Currently there is little systematic coordination between the levels of care and providers of care for the Transitioned ADF, and therefore the risks of individuals falling out of care or into the gaps between services is considerable. Improving the organisation and coordination of health services across levels and types of care, and better supporting veterans in their navigation of services, will not only increase the potential for care to be delivered at the right level and intensity according to veterans' need, but will also place the veteran at the centre of the process and aid the ease with which they can assume agency in facilitating their own care. Aiding this coordination would be the future development and integration of a more proactive, outreach-focused and responsive health and non-health service capability.

Expertise in military culture and clinical presentations

With the exception of VVCS and the facilities providing accredited PTSD programs for veterans, services for Transitioned ADF are largely provided by a broad array of community practitioners and hospital-based services (National Mental Health Commission, 2017), many of which may not have sufficient exposure to military mental health issues. As such the military cultural competence and knowledge and skills in the treatment of veterans' common mental health problems may be quite variable. When satisfaction is examined more closely for specialised services such as the PTSD programs, satisfaction ratings are high and very high in currently serving ADF members. These systems have clear specifications to guide services delivered and identified quality assurance and evaluation processes around them specifically. In bolstering engagement and the satisfaction ratings for the competence and effectiveness domains identified in the Pathways to Care Report consideration needs to be given to the above features and factors in redressing these issues. One possibility to improve the quality and relevance of the services is to consider establishing networks of excellence (National Mental Health Commission, 2017) whereby services and practitioners with a cultural understanding of veterans and the experience, skill and competence in addressing veterans' mental health problems are identified and utilised. The network would also promote high levels of connectedness between services within the network, enabling closer communication between practitioners and allowing veterans to make informed decisions in the navigation of their own care.

While the focus is frequently on addressing more serious mental disorder, high quality services must also be provided for a broad range of presenting concerns in those without disorder. Such services serve a critical role of not only ameliorating current subclinical or broader psychosocial issues of concern but also in the prevention of further deterioration in mental health and the maintenance of wellbeing and functioning.

Bolstering effectiveness of treatment

Beyond the engagement in care, an issue for consideration is the degree to which Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF experience evidence-based treatments and an 'adequate dose' of such treatments (Rosen et al., 2011). The low reported rates of receiving CBT, the best proxy for evidence-based treatment within this study for common mental health problems, indicates the requirement for strategies to improve the extent to which evidence-based care is delivered and also the degree to which individuals remain in this care long enough to receive an effective intervention.

It is acknowledged that even the most evidence-based best practice interventions have limited effectiveness for a considerable proportion of veterans. Therefore, there is also a current DVA commitment reflected in the newly established DVA funded Centenary of Anzac Centre to continue to explore new and innovative biological, medical, social and psychological interventions to improve clinical outcomes for those who fail to benefit currently and adjunctive interventions in order to further enhance quality of life more broadly.

Bolstering support networks

For the majority of Transitioned and Regular ADF members in 2015, care had been suggested by others, particularly partners and friends. This reinforces the benefit of targeting mental health awareness and treatment information initiatives to the broader support network of Transitioned and Regular ADF members, including partners, family, peers, and commanders or supervisors. This has the potential to not only enhance treatment seeking rates but also direct current and ex-serving ADF members to the most appropriate source of mental health care.

Although the reported rates of contact with ESOs for mental health information and assistance were relatively low, rates of satisfaction with ESO services were high. This highlights the importance of DVA and Defence continuing to collaborate with the ESO community as they have the potential to act as a referral and access point to the evidence-based care provided by the broader veteran and ADF mental health care systems.

Bolstering the use of self-help strategies

While satisfaction with the DVA and ADF websites are at reasonable levels, and both the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF populations were most likely to access websites designed specifically for ADF members by either DVA or Defence, the proportion accessing them is low. The reported use of mobile phone applications was even lower. Currently considerable effort and resources are being dedicated to the use of e-health options. There is much promise in these technologies, however, a better understanding of the reasons for the low uptake rates for current available resources is required. The awareness of and preferences for use of these technologies across information provision and e-interventions will be considered in more detail in the *Technology Use and Wellbeing Report*.

The overall use of social media was not high, but a quarter of Transitioned ADF with a probable 30-day disorder reported using social media as a resource for assessing or informing their mental health, with about half of those reporting it to be useful. Therefore, the potential use of social media in the promotion and dissemination of important health related information should be considered, and this could include consideration of online support groups to promote recovery. It will be however, important to better understand the manner in which social media is being used to leverage off this finding.

Both the 2015 Regular ADF and the Transitioned ADF were most likely to utilise a veteran or military helpline to inform or assess their mental health. The VVCS Vetline service, in particular, had a strong market presence and perceived satisfaction with this service was high. It appears to be a strong brand that can be built upon and integrated further into the service offerings of the health system.

As there was a stronger preference for receiving health information face-to-face than by internet or by telephone, particularly in those with a probable 30-day disorder, consideration should be given to delivery of health-related information face-to-face where possible. One of the most likely and frequent points of face-to-face contact in the 2015 Regular ADF or Transitioned ADF members' mental health is the GP/MO. Hence,

continuing to focus on building the capacity of GP/MOs to deliver clear and targeted mental health awareness, self-management and treatment information is important. These findings also support the current ADF approach of conducting face-to-face mental health screening at high risk points in the service member's career, including the post deployment mental health screening which includes a significant face-to-face psycho-educational component.

Stigma, beliefs about mental health treatment and barriers to care

There is evidence of significant self-stigma and anticipated public stigma in up to 50% of Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF with probable 30-day disorders. While many of this group still sought care, these beliefs do impose a significant stress and emotional burden.

For those with mental health concerns who elected not to seek care, being afraid to ask was the most commonly cited reason for not accessing care. Furthermore, those with a probable 30-day disorder were more negative about the perceived trustworthiness of mental health professionals and the effectiveness of mental health treatment. Serious attention therefore needs to be paid by all agencies, departments and researchers to deliver clear and accurate public messaging regarding the potential availability and benefits of existing treatments, aligned with the evidence. Messaging that understates the availability of care and the effectiveness of this care can have significant impact on confidence and engagement (Rosen et al., 2011). Similarly, it is important that messages about the effectiveness of treatment be realistic and not overstated.

The prominence of the desire to help oneself was also evident in those with mental health concerns who did not seek care. Although a sense of agency, self-reliance and self-efficacy in solving one's problems is a highly valuable feature of resilience (Britt et al., 2016), a number of considerations emerge where this belief becomes a barrier to seeking care, where professional care is needed. Strategies to make self-help options more available, prominent, acceptable, non-threatening and effective ought to be considered. These may include digital options and greater examination and promulgation of self-management strategies both in terms of prevention and staying well, addressing subclinical problems and in the addressing of probable 30-day mental disorders (Commonweatlh of Australia Department of Health, 2013). There also needs to be further consideration of the messaging to a military population trained in the value of being able to solve their own problems and high levels of self-reliance. This messaging needs to consider how to effectively convey to this population that self-care, and when required, professional care-seeking for mental health concerns, can still be consistent with these values.

Finally, concerns that help-seeking will harm career need to be addressed through evidence. This is a complicated issue as declaration of mental health problems may, for reasons of overall duty of care to the organisation and the individuals (rather than public stigma), influence career outcomes in the short or longer term. However, it is critical that for those who seek care for mental health concerns, there is an ongoing focus on maximising their vocational engagement and career aspirations. For the purposes of changing culture, along with a strong policy and practice commitment to vocational rehabilitation and retention, it is critical that information about ADF members who have self-identified, sought care, and returned to meaningful and valued work be raised to greater attention and indeed be more commonplace. These examples should also represent a range of mental health problems. Current and ex-serving ADF members will understandably need to see examples of the successful application of vocational rehabilitation and retention to have the confidence that the practice matches the communications.

Areas for future research

The *Pathways to Care Report* examined the overall patterns of help-seeking and pathways into care among Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members. There are however, a number of suggested areas for further examination of this data that emerge from these findings. The key ones include:

• Examination of the influence of gender, symptom severity, age, functioning and Service on help-seeking and perceived service satisfaction.

- Examination of the 15% of Transitioned ADF and 25% of 2015 Regular ADF who met criteria for a probable 30-day disorder but did not identify as having a concern about their mental health.
- Examination of the subgroup of Transitioned ADF with a probable 30-day disorder who endorsed four or more beliefs relating to stigma and barriers to care.
- Integration of the data from the *Pathways to Care Report* with the CIDI and suicidality data from the Mental Health Prevalence Report, to examine the patterns of help-seeking among those with specific diagnosed mental disorders and levels of suicidality.
- Examination of the patterns of service engagement in Transitioned ADF members based on their reported reasons for leaving the ADF, including a more detailed analysis of those who were medically or administratively discharged.

Glossary of terms

12-month prevalence – Meeting the diagnostic criteria for a lifetime ICD-10 mental disorder and having reported symptoms in the 12 months before the interview.

Affective disorders – A class of mental disorder. The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study examined three types of affective disorders: depressive episodes, dysthymia and bipolar disorder. A key feature of these mental disorders is mood disturbance.

Agoraphobia – The marked fear or avoidance of situations such as crowds, public places, travelling alone or travelling away from home, which is accompanied by palpitations, sweating, shaking or dry mouth, as well as other anxiety symptoms such as chest pain, choking sensation, dizziness and sometimes feelings of unreality, fear of dying, losing control or going mad.

Alcohol dependence – A cluster of cognitive, behavioural and physiological characteristics indicating that the patient continues to use alcohol despite significant alcohol-related problems. A diagnosis was given if the person reported three or more of the following symptoms in the previous 12 months:

- a strong and irresistible urge to consume alcohol
- a tolerance to the effects of alcohol
- an inability to stop or reduce alcohol consumption
- withdrawal symptoms upon cessation or reduction of alcohol intake
- continuing to drink despite it causing emotional or physical problems
- reduction in important activities because of drinking or to drink.

Alcohol harmful use – A pattern of heavy drinking that is damaging to health. The damage may be physical or mental (in the absence of a diagnosis of dependence syndrome). Each participant was initially asked if they consumed 12 or more standard alcoholic drinks in a 12-month period. If so, they were then asked a series of questions about their level of consumption. A diagnosis of alcohol harmful use was applied if the alcohol interfered with work or other responsibilities; caused arguments with family or friends; was consumed in a situation where injury could occur; or resulted in the person being stopped or arrested by police; or if the participant continued drinking alcohol despite experiencing social or interpersonal problems as a result of their drinking during the previous 12 months. A person could not meet the criteria for alcohol harmful use if they met criteria for alcohol dependence.

Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) – Alcohol consumption and problem drinking was examined using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (Saunders et al., 1993), a brief self-report screening instrument developed by the World Health Organization. This instrument consists of 10 questions to examine the quantity and frequency of alcohol consumption, possible symptoms of dependence, and reactions or problems related to alcohol. The AUDIT is widely used in epidemiological and clinical practice for defining atrisk patterns of drinking.

Anxiety disorders – A class of mental disorder that involves experiencing intense and debilitating anxiety. Anxiety disorders covered in the survey were panic attacks, panic disorder, social phobia, specific phobia, agoraphobia, generalised anxiety disorder, posttraumatic stress disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) – Australia's national statistical agency, providing trusted official statistics on a wide range of economic, social, population and environmental matters of importance to Australia. To

enable comparison of estimates in the Transitioned ADF with an Australian Community population, direct standardisation was applied to estimates in the 2014–15 ABS National Health Survey (NHS) data. The NHS is the most recent in a series of Australia-wide ABS health surveys, assessing various aspects of the health of Australians, including long-term health conditions, health risk factors and health service use.

Australian Defence Force (ADF) – The ADF are members of the Permanent Navy, the Regular Army or the Permanent Air Force. This includes reserves that render continuous full-time service, or are on duty or in uniform. The Programme aims to examine the mental, physical and social health of serving and ex-serving ADF members and their families. It builds on previous research to inform effective and evidence-based health service provision for contemporary service members and veterans.

Australian Institute of Family Studies (AIFS) – The Australian Government's key research body focusing on family wellbeing. AIFS conducts original research to increase the understanding of Australian families and the issues that affect them. The research detailed in this report was conducted by a consortium of Australia's leading research institutions led by the Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies at the University of Adelaide, and AIFS.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) – Australia's national agency for health and welfare statistics and information. It was used in this Programme to develop a Military and Veteran Research Study Roll by integrating contact information from various sources and databases.

Bipolar affective disorder – A class of mental disorder associated with significant mood fluctuations. These fluctuations are markedly elevated on some occasions (hypomania or mania) and markedly lowered on others (depressive episodes). A diagnosis of bipolar affective disorder was applied in this study if the individual met criteria for mania or hypomania in the previous 12 months.

Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies (CTSS) – This centre at the University of Adelaide seeks to improve evidence-based practice by informing and applying scientific knowledge in the field of trauma, mental disorder and wellbeing in at-risk populations. The Programme was conducted by a consortium of Australia's leading research institutions, led by the CTSS and the Australian Institute of Family Studies.

Chain of command – A line of authority and responsibility along which orders are passed within a military unit and between different units.

Class of mental disorder – A group of mental disorders that share common features. The survey included three classes of mental disorders: affective disorders, anxiety disorders and alcohol disorders.

Comorbidity – The occurrence of more than one disorder at the same time. Comorbidity was defined by grouping any alcohol, affective or anxiety disorder (excluding posttraumatic stress disorder – PTSD) and PTSD, according to their co-occurrence. In addition to breaking down the individual patterns of co-occurrence, five categories were defined, representing those with no mental disorder, and those with one, two, three or four disorders.

Confidence interval (CI) – This measurement gives an estimated range of values that is likely to include an unknown population parameter: the estimated range being calculated from a given set of sample data.

Department of Defence (Defence) – The Department is constituted under the *Defence Act 1903* (Cth). Its mission is to defend Australia and its national interests. In fulfilling this mission, Defence serves the government of the day and is accountable to the Commonwealth Parliament, which represents the Australian people.

Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA) – The Department delivers government programs for war veterans, and members of the ADF and the Australian Federal Police and their dependants. In 2014, DVA, in

collaboration with the Department of Defence, commissioned the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme, one of the largest and most comprehensive military research projects undertaken in Australia.

Deployment status – The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study defined deployment status, based on survey responses, as:

- Never deployed: Individuals who did not endorse any deployments listed in the self-report survey (Your Military Career: Deployments) and did not endorse any deployment exposures (Your Military Career: Deployment Exposure)
- **Deployed:** Individuals who endorsed one or more of the listed deployments (Your Military Career: Deployments) or endorsed one or more of the deployment exposures (Your Military Career: Deployment Exposure).

Depressive episodes – Characteristic of a major depressive disorder, an episode requires that an individual has suffered from depressed mood lasting a minimum of two weeks, with associated symptoms or feelings of worthlessness, lack of appetite, difficulty with memory, reduction in energy, low self-esteem, concentration problems and suicidal thoughts. Depressive episodes can be mild, moderate or severe. All three are included under the same heading. Hierarchy rules were applied to depressive episodes, such that a person could not have met criteria for either a hypomanic or manic episode.

Diagnostic criteria – The survey was designed to estimate the prevalence of common mental disorders defined according to clinical diagnostic criteria under the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10). Diagnostic criteria for a disorder usually involves:

- the nature, number and combination of symptoms
- the time period over which the symptoms have been continuously experienced
- the level of distress or impairment experienced
- the circumstances for exclusion of a diagnosis, such as it being due to a general medical condition or the symptoms being associated with another mental disorder.

Dimensions of Anger Reactions Scale (DAR-5) – A concise measure of anger consisting of five items that address anger frequency, intensity, duration, aggression and interference with social functioning. Items are scored on a five-point Likert scale, generating a severity score ranging from 5 to 25, with higher scores indicating worse symptomatology. This scale has been used previously to assess Australian Vietnam veterans, as well as US Afghanistan and Iraq veterans, and shows strong unidimensionality, and high levels of internal consistency and criterion validity.

DVA client – A term used when referring to a DVA client during analyses. During construction of the DVA dataset for the Study Roll, DVA created an indicator for each veteran that assigned the degree of confidence in the accuracy of the data. This was based on the level of each veteran's interaction with DVA.

Each of the following were considered to signify whether someone was a DVA client:

- High level of contact: When a veteran received a fortnightly payment (such as income support or compensation pension) from DVA, which was a sign of regular ongoing contact with the client, so DVA was very confident that their address was up to date and correct
- Medium level of contact: When a veteran only had a treatment card (that is, they didn't receive ongoing payments) so there was less ongoing contact with the Department, and DVA was less confident about the accuracy of the client's address

- Low level of contact: When a veteran's illness or injury liability claim was not accepted by DVA as servicerelated so they would not automatically receive a treatment card or pension payment, but would still be considered a DVA client.

For this report, any individual in the study population who met any of the criteria above was flagged as a 'DVA client'. Those with this flag were compared against those without this flag.

Dysthymia – Characterised as a chronic or pervasive mood disturbance lasting several years that is not sufficiently severe or the depressive episodes are not sufficiently prolonged to warrant a diagnosis of a recurrent depressive disorder. The hierarchy rules applied to dysthymia meant that to have this disorder, a person could not have met criteria for either a hypomanic or manic episode and could not have reported episodes of severe or moderate depression within the first two years of dysthymia.

Epigenetic– is the study of heritable changes in gene expression (active versus inactive genes) that does not involve changes to the underlying DNA sequence – a change in phenotype without a change in genotype – which in turn affects how cells read the genes.

Ex-service organisation (ESO) – Organisations that provide assistance to current and former ADF members. Services can include but are not necessarily limited to welfare support, help with DVA claims, and employment programs and social support.

Generalised anxiety disorder (GAD) – A generalised and persistent worry, anxiety or apprehension about everyday events and activities lasting a minimum of six months that is accompanied by anxiety symptoms as described in 'agoraphobia'. Other symptoms may include muscle tension, inability to relax, irritability and difficulty concentrating. Using International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10) criteria, generalised anxiety disorder cannot be diagnosed if symptoms can be better explained by another disorder, such as panic disorder, social phobia, obsessive-compulsive disorder or hypochondriacal disorder.

Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7-item Scale (GAD-7) – A brief seven-item screening measure based on the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders – Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV) criteria for generalised anxiety disorder. Originally validated for use in primary care, the GAD-7 performs well in detecting probable cases of the disorder, with a sensitivity of 89% and a specificity of 82%.

Gold Card – A DVA health card for all conditions. Gold Card holders are entitled to DVA funding for services for all clinically necessary healthcare needs and all health conditions, whether or not they are related to war service. The card holder may be a veteran or the widow/widower or dependant of a veteran. Only the person named on the card is covered.

Help-seeking latency – The delay in time between first becoming concerned about a health problem and first seeking help for that problem. To assess help-seeking latency in the study, participants were asked to indicate when they first sought help for their own mental health. Options included 'within three months of becoming concerned' or 'within one year of becoming concerned'. Alternatively, participants were able to specify the number of years since becoming concerned. This item was developed by researchers for use in the study.

Hypomanic episodes – Episodes that last at least four consecutive days and are considered abnormal to the individual. These episodes are characterised by increased activity, talkativeness, elevated mood, disrupted concentration, decreased need for sleep and disrupted judgment, manifesting as risk-taking (for example, mild spending sprees). In a subgroup of people, these disorders are particularly characterised by irritability. To meet criteria for the 'with hierarchy' version, the person cannot have met criteria for an episode of mania.

Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) – A short 10-item screening questionnaire that yields a global measure of psychological distress based on symptoms of anxiety and depression experienced in the most recent four-week period. Items are scored from 1 to 5 and are added up to give a total score between 10 and
50. Various methods have been used to stratify the scores of the K10. The categories of low (10–15), moderate (16–21), high (22–29) and very high (30–50) used in this report are derived from the cut-offs of the K10 that were used in the 2007 Australian Bureau of Statistics National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing (Slade et al., 2009).

Lifetime prevalence – A prevalence that meets diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder at any point in the respondent's lifetime.

Lifetime trauma – Exposure questions used in this study were drawn from the posttraumatic stress disorder module of the CIDI (Haro et al., 2006). Participants were asked to indicate whether or not they had experienced the following traumatic events: combat (military or organised non-military group); being a peacekeeper in a war zone or a place of ongoing terror; being an unarmed civilian in a place of war, revolution, military coup or invasion; living as a civilian in a place of ongoing terror for political, ethnic, religious or other reasons; being a refugee; being kidnapped or held captive; being exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause serious harm; being in a life-threatening motor vehicle accident; being in any other life-threatening accident; being in a major natural disaster; being in a man-made disaster; having a life-threatening illness; being beaten by a spouse or romantic partner; being badly beaten by anyone else; being mugged, held up or threatened with a weapon; being raped; being sexually assaulted; being stalked; having someone close to you die; having a child with a life-threatening illness or injury; witnessing serious physical fights at home as a child; having someone close experience a traumatic event; witnessing someone badly injured or killed or unexpectedly seeing a dead body; accidentally injuring or killing someone; purposefully injuring, torturing or killing someone; seeing atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings; experiencing any other traumatic event.

Mania – Similar to hypomania but more severe in nature. Lasting slightly longer (a minimum of a week), these episodes often lead to severe interference with personal functioning. In addition to the symptoms outlined under 'hypomania', mania is often associated with feelings of grandiosity, marked sexual indiscretions and racing thoughts.

Medical Employment Classification (MEC) – An administrative system designed to monitor physical fitness and medical standards in the ADF. It is divided into four levels for members who are current or on discharge from the Regular ADF.

- MEC 1: Members who are medically fit for employment in a deployed or seagoing environment without restriction.
- MEC 2: Members with medical conditions that require access to various levels of medical support or employment restrictions. However, they remain medically fit for duty in their occupation in a deployed or seagoing environment. In allocating sub-classifications of MEC 2, access to the level of medical support will always take precedence over specified employment restrictions.
- MEC 3: Members who are medically unfit for duty in their occupation in a deployed or seagoing environment. The member should be medically managed towards recovery and receiving active medical management with the intention of regaining MEC 1 or 2 status within 12 months of an allocation of MEC 3 being made. The MEC is reviewed after a maximum of 12 months. If the person is still medically unfit for military duties in any operational environment, they are downgraded to MEC 4 or, if appropriate, referred to a Medical Employment Classification Review Board (MECRB) for consideration of an extension to remain at MEC 3.
- MEC 4: Members who are medically unfit for deployment or seagoing service in the long term. Members who are classified as MEC 4 for their military occupation are reviewed and the MECRB confirms their classification.

Medical fitness – A status defined as:

- Fit: Those who are categorised as fully employable and deployable, or deployable with restrictions. Participants are classified as 'fit' if they fall into MEC 1 or 2 as described above, or are assigned a perturbed MEC value of 'fit'.
- Unfit: Those not fit for deployment, their original occupation and/or further service. This can include people who are undergoing rehabilitation, transitioning to alternative return-to-work arrangements or who are in the process of being medically discharged from the ADF. Participants are classified as 'unfit' if they fall into MEC 3 or 4 as described above, or are assigned a perturbed MEC value of 'unfit'.

Medical discharge – The involuntary termination of the client's employment by the ADF on the grounds of permanent or long-term unfitness to serve, or unfitness for deployment to operational (war-like) service.

Mental disorders – Defined according to the detailed diagnostic criteria within the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10). This publication reports data for ICD-10 criteria.

Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS) – The 2010 study is part of the Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP), the first comprehensive investigation of the mental health of serving ADF members.

Middle East Area of Operations (MEAO) – Australia's military involvement in Afghanistan and Iraq is often referred to as the Middle East Area of Operations. Thousands of members have deployed to the MEAO since 2001, with many completing multiple tours of duty. The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme will build upon the Military Health Outcomes Program, which detailed the prevalence of mental disorders among serving ADF members in 2010 as well as deployment-related health issues for those deployed to the MEAO.

Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP) – MilHOP detailed the prevalence of mental disorders among serving ADF members in 2010 as well as deployment-related health issues for those deployed to the Middle East Area of Operations. The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme will address a number of gaps identified following MilHOP, including the mental health of Reservists, Ex-Serving members and ADF members in high-risk roles, as well as the trajectory of disorders and pathways to care for individuals identified with a mental disorder in 2010.

National Death Index (NDI) – A Commonwealth database that contains records of deaths registered in Australia since 1980. Data comes from the Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages in each jurisdiction, the National Coronial Information System and the Australian Bureau of Statistics. Before contacting participants, the Study Roll was cross-checked against the NDI to ensure we did not attempt to approach deceased members.

National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) – Australia's peak funding body for medical research. The NHMRC has funded previous investigations undertaken by the Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies.

National Health Survey (NHS) – The 2014–15 National Health Survey is the most recent in a series of Australiawide ABS health surveys, assessing various aspects of the health of Australians, including long-term health conditions, health risk factors, and health service use.

Obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) – A disorder characterised by obsessional thoughts (ideas, images, impulses) or compulsive acts (ritualised behaviour). These thoughts and acts are often distressing and typically cannot be avoided, despite the sufferer recognising their ineffectiveness.

Optimal epidemiological cut-off – The value that brings the number of false positives (mistaken identifications of a disorder) and false negatives (missed identifications of a disorder) closest together, thereby counterbalancing these sources of error most accurately. Therefore, this cut-off would give the closest

estimate to the true prevalence of a 30-day ICD-10 disorder as measured by the CIDI and should be used to monitor disorder trends.

Optimal screening cut-off – The value that maximises the sum of the sensitivity and specificity (the proportion of those with and without a disease who are correctly classified). This cut-off can be used to identify individuals who might need further evaluation.

Panic attack – Sudden onset of extreme fear or anxiety, often accompanied by palpitations, chest pain, choking sensations, dizziness, and sometimes feelings of unreality, fear of dying, losing control or going mad.

Panic disorder – Recurrent panic attacks that are unpredictable in nature.

Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) – Self-reported depression was examined using the nine-item questionnaire. The items are scored from 0 to 3 and added up to give a total score between 0 and 27. Higher scores indicate higher levels of depression symptoms.

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) – The PBS began as a limited scheme in 1948, offering free medicines for pensioners and a list of 139 'life-saving and disease-preventing' medicines free to other members of the community. Today, the PBS provides timely, reliable and affordable access to necessary medicines for all Australians. The PBS is part of the Australian Government's broader National Medicines Policy. Data on healthcare use and costs, and PBS and Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme data was obtained for consenting serving and Ex-Serving ADF members as part of the research programme.

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) – A stress reaction to an exceptionally threatening or traumatic event that would cause pervasive distress in almost anyone. Symptoms are categorised into three groups: reexperiencing memories or flashbacks, avoidance symptoms and either hyperarousal symptoms (increased arousal and sensitivity to cues) or inability to recall important parts of the experience.

The Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version (PCL-C) – A 17-item self-report measure designed to assess the symptomatic criteria of PTSD according to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV). The answers are scored from 1 to 5 and added up to give a total symptom severity score of between 17 and 85. An additional four items from the newly released PCL-5 (in the DSM-5) were included, giving researchers flexibility to also measure PTSD symptoms according to the most recent definitional criteria.

Personnel Management Key System (PMKeyS) – An integrated human resource management system that provides the ADF with a single source of personnel management information about the entire Defence workforce – Royal Australian Navy, Australian Army and Royal Australian Air Force.

Prevalence of mental disorders – The proportion of people in a given population who meet diagnostic criteria for any mental disorder in a given time frame. (See also '12-month prevalence' and 'lifetime prevalence'.)

Probable mental disorder – Where probable rates of mental disorder are presented, these are based on self-reported epidemiological cut-offs.

Psychopathology – The scientific study of mental disorders.

Rank status – Three levels of rank were used in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study:

 Commissioned Officer (OFFR): Senior Commissioned Officers (Commander (CMDR), Lieutenant Colonel (LTCOL), Wing Commander (WGCDR) and above) and Commissioned Officers (Lieutenant Commander (LCDR), Major (MAJ), Squadron Leader (SQNLDR) and more junior ranks)

- Non-Commissioned Officer (NCO): Senior Non-Commissioned Officers (Petty Officer (PO), Sergeant (SGT) and more senior ranks), and Junior Non-Commissioned Officers (Leading Seaman (LS), Corporal (CPL) and more junior ranks)
- Other Ranks: Able Seaman (AB), Seaman (SMN), Private (PTE), Leading Aircraftman (LAC), Aircraftman (AC) or equivalent.

Reason for discharge – The reason for transitioning out of the ADF. In the Programme, the reason for discharge was derived from responses on the self-report survey, and classified accordingly:

- Medical discharge: Involuntary termination of the client's employment by the ADF on the grounds of permanent or at least long-term unfitness to serve, or unfitness for deployment to operational (war-like) service
- Other: All other types of discharge including compulsory age retirement, resignation at own request, assessed as unsuitable for further training, end of fixed-period engagement, end of initial enlistment period or return of service obligation, end of limited-tenure appointment, not offered re-engagement, accepted voluntary redundancy, compassionate grounds, and non-voluntary administrative discharge.

Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (RPBS) – The benefits listed in the RPBS can only be prescribed for Department of Veterans' Affairs beneficiaries who hold a Gold, White or Orange card. Data on healthcare use and costs, and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme and RPBS data was obtained for consenting serving and Ex-Serving ADF members as part of the Programme.

Service status – The ADF is comprised of:

- Australian Army: The military land force, a potent, versatile and modern army that contributes to the security of Australia, protecting its interests and people
- **Royal Australian Navy:** A maritime force that contributes to regional security, supports global interests, shapes the strategic environment and protects national interests
- Royal Australian Air Force: An air force that provides immediate and responsive military options across the spectrum of operations as part of a whole-of-government joint or coalition response, either from Australia or deployment overseas. It does this through its key air power roles – control of the air; precision strikes; intelligence, surveillance and responses; and air mobility – enabled by combat and operational support.

Social phobia – The marked fear or avoidance of being the centre of attention or in situations where it is possible to behave in a humiliating or embarrassing way, accompanied by anxiety symptoms, and possibly blushing and fear of vomiting, defecating or urinating.

Specific phobia – The marked fear or avoidance of a specific object or situation such as animals, birds, insects, heights, thunder, flying, small enclosed spaces, sight of blood or injury, injections, dentists or hospitals, and accompanied by anxiety symptoms as described in 'agoraphobia'.

Stratification – Grouping outcomes by variables of interest. In Report 1, 12-month diagnosable mental disorder and self-reported suicidality were stratified by age, sex, rank, service, years of service in the Regular ADF, deployment status, transition status, years since transition, reason for transition and DVA client status.

Study Roll – Participants' contact details and demographic information were obtained via the creation of a study roll by the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. This process involved integrating contact information from the following sources:

Defence Personnel Management Key Solution database

- DVA client databases
- National Death Index
- ComSuper member database
- Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP) dataset.

Suicidal ideation – Serious thoughts about taking one's own life.

Suicidality – Suicidal ideation (serious thoughts about taking one's own life), suicide plans and attempts.

Subsyndromal disorder – Characterised by or exhibiting symptoms that are not severe enough for diagnosis as a clinically recognised syndrome.

Transitioned ADF/ADF members – ADF members who have left military service. For the study, this included all ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014, including those who transitioned into the Active Reserve and Inactive Reserve.

Transitioned status – Transitioned ADF members were categorised into one of three groups, which broadly represented their level of continued association and contact with Defence and their potential access to support services provided by Defence:

- **Ex-serving:** A person who was a Regular ADF member before 2010, has since transitioned out of the ADF and is no longer engaged with Defence in a Reservist role. The individual is classified as discharged from Defence
- Inactive Reservist: A person who was a Regular ADF member before 2010, but has since transitioned into an Inactive Reservist role
- Active Reservist: A person who was a Regular ADF member before 2010, but has since transitioned into an Active Reservist role.

Two-phase design – A well-accepted epidemiological approach to investigating the prevalence of mental disorders. In the first phase, participants completed a screening questionnaire, which was generally economical in terms of time and resources. Based on the results of this screening and the demographic information provided, certain participants were selected for a more accurate but costly formal diagnostic interview.

Veterans' health cards – DVA, on behalf of the Australian Government, uses the health cards as a convenient method for veterans, war widows and their eligible dependants to access health and other care services. Arrangements are based on providing access to clinically appropriate treatment that is evidence-based. There are Gold, White and Orange health cards.

Weighting – Allowing for the inference of results for the entire population. Weighting involved allocating a representative value or 'weight' to the data for each responder, based on key variables. The weight indicated how many individuals in the entire population were represented by each responder. Weighting was applied to:

- correct for differential non-response
- adjust for any systematic biases in the responders (for example, oversampling of high scorers for the CIDI).

White Card – A DVA health card for specific conditions. A White Card entitles the holder to care and treatment for:

• injuries or conditions that are accepted as being caused by war or service-related

- malignant cancer, pulmonary tuberculosis, posttraumatic stress disorder, anxiety and/or depression, whether or not it was caused by war
- symptoms of unidentifiable conditions that arise within 15 years of service (other than peacetime service).

Services covered by a White Card are the same as those for a Gold Card, but must be for treatment of conditions that are accepted as being caused by war or service-related.

World Mental Health Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization Composite International Diagnostic Interview – version 3 (CIDI) – The CIDI (Kessler and Ustun, 2004) provides an assessment of mental disorders based on the definitions and criteria of two classification systems: the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV) and the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10) (World Health Organisation, 1994). This instrument was used in phase 2 of the Programme.

Years since transition – To ascertain the number of years since transition from Regular Service, participants were asked to indicate what year they transitioned to Active Reserves, Inactive Reserves or were discharged out of the Service (Ex-Serving). Options included: zero, one, two, three, four or five years.

Years of Regular Service – The following categories were used in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study to define the number of years of Regular Service: 3 months – 3.9 years, 4–7.9 years, 8–11.9 years, 12– 15.9 years, 16–19.9 years and 20+ years.

References

- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.),* Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2010). Health and socioeconomic disadvantage. Available: http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/Ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/5703A93771AE2E4ECA2576E70016C8D3/ \$File/41020_ healthandseifa.pdf.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2015). National Health Survey: First Results 2014-2015. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2017. *Incidence of suicide among serving and ex-serving Australian Defence Force personnel 2001–2015.* [Online]. Cat. no. PHE 213. Canberra: AIHW. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=60129559899.
- Britt, T. W., Jennings, K. S., Cheung, J. H., Pury, C. L. S., Zinzow, H. M., Raymond, M. A. and McFadden, A. C. (2016). Determinants of mental health treatment seeking among soldiers who recognize their problem: implications for high-risk occupations. *Work and Stress*, 30(4), 318-336.
- Commonwealth of Australia. 2017. Australian Government response to the National Mental Health Commission Review into the suicide and self-harm prevention services available to current and former serving ADF members and their families. [Online]. Canberra: Department of Veteran's Affairs. Available: https://www.dva.gov.au/sites/default/files/files/health and wellbeing/mental/govtresponse.pdf.
- Commonweatlh of Australia Department of Health. (2013). A national framework for recovery-oriented mental health services: Guide for practitioners and providers. Available: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/mental-pubs-n-recovgde.
- Dobson, A., Treloar, S., Zheng, W., Anderson, R., Bredhauer, K., Kanesarajah, J., et al. and Waller, M. (2012). *The Middle East Area of Operations (MEAO) Health Study: Census Study Report*, Brisbane, Australia: The University of Queensland, Centre for Military and Veterans Health.
- Forces in Mind Trust (2013). The transition mapping study: understanding the transition process for service personnel returning to civilian life, London: Forces in Mind Trust.
- Haro, J. M., Arbabzadeh-Bouchez, S., Brugha, T. S., De Girolamo, G., Guyer, M. E., Jin, R., et al. andKessler, R. C. (2006). Concordance of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview Version 3.0 (CIDI 3.0) with standardized clinical assessments in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 15(4), 167-180.
- Hruska, B., Irish, L. A., Pacella, M. L., Sledjeski, E. M. and Delahanty, D. L. (2014). PTSD symptom severity and psychiatric comorbidity in recent motor vehicle accident victims: A latent class analysis. *Journal of anxiety disorders*, 28(7), 644-649.
- Johnston, D. W., Shields, M. A. and Siminski, P. (2016). Long-term health effects of Vietnam-era military service: A quasi-experiment using Australian conscription lotteries. *Journal of health economics*, 45, 12-26.
- Kessler, R. C. and Ustun, T. B. (2004). The World Mental Health (WMH) Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization (WHO) Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI). *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res*, 13(2), 93-117.

McEwen, B. S. (2003). Mood disorders and allostatic load. Biol Psychiatry, 54(3), 200-7.

- McFarlane, A. C. (2010). The long-term costs of traumatic stress: intertwined physical and psychological consequences. *World Psychiatry*, 9(1), 3-10.
- McFarlane, A. C., Hodson, S., Van Hooff, M., Verhagen, A. and Davies, C. (2011). *Mental health in the Australian Defence Force: 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study: Full Report*, Canberra: Department of Defence.
- Mota, N., Tsai, J., Kirwin, P. D., Harpaz-Rotem, I., Krystal, J. H., Southwick, S. M. and Pietrzak, R. H. (2016). Latelife exacerbation of PTSD symptoms in US veterans: results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 77(3), 348-54.
- National Mental Health Commission. (2017). Review into the suicide and self-harm prevention services available to current and former serving ADF members and their families. Available: http://www.mentalhealthcommission.gov.au/.
- O'Donnell, M., Dell, L., Fletcher, S., Couineau, A. and Forbes, D. (2014). *The Australian Defence Force Mental Health Screening Continuum Framework: Full Report.*, Canberra: Department of Defence.
- Pine, D. S., Cohen E, Cohen, P. and J., B. (1999). Adolescent depressive symptoms as predictors of adult depression: mood disorder? *Am J Psychiatry*, 56(1), 133-5.
- Raja, M. and Azzoni, A. (2004). Suicide attempts: differences between unipolar and bipolar patients and among groups with different lethality risk. *J Affect Disord*, 82(3), 437-42.
- Reed, R. L., Masters, S. and Roeger, L. S. (2016). The Australian Defence Force Post-discharge GP Health Assessment. *Australian family physician*, 45(3), 94.
- Rosen, C. S., Greenbaum, M. A., Fitt, J. E., Laffaye, C., Norris, V. A. and Kimerling, R. (2011). Stigma, helpseeking attitudes, and use of psychotherapy in veterans with diagnoses of posttraumatic stress disorder. J Nerv Ment Dis, 199(11), 879-885.
- Saunders, J. B., Aasland, O. G., Babor, T. F., de la Fuente, J. R. and Grant, M. (1993). Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol Consumption--II. *Addiction*, 88(6), 791-804.
- Slade, T., Johnston, A., Oakley Browne, M. A., Andrews, G. and Whiteford, H. (2009). 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing: methods and key findings. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*, 43(7), 594-605.
- Smid, G. E., Kleber, R. J., Rademaker, A. R., van Zuiden, M. and Vermetten, E. (2013). The role of stress sensitization in progression of posttraumatic distress following deployment. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*, 48(11), 1743-54.
- World Health Organisation (1994). *ICD-10 International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems*, Geneva: World Health Organization.

TRANSITION AND WELLBEING RESEARCH PROGRAMME MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING TRANSITION STUDY

Mental Health Prevalence

2018

ISBN 978-0-6481608-0-9 (PDF) ISBN 978-0-6481608-1-6 (Print)

© Commonwealth of Australia 2018

Unless otherwise noted, copyright (and other intellectual property rights, if any) in this publication is owned by the Commonwealth of Australia.

With the exception of the Coat of Arms and all photographs and graphics, this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Australia Licence. The Creative Commons 3.0 Australia Licence is a standard form licence agreement that allows you to copy, distribute, transmit and adapt this publication provided that you attribute the work.

The full licence terms are available from www.creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/legalcode

Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to:

The Department of Veterans' Affairs GPO Box 9998 Brisbane QLD 4001

or emailed to publications@dva.gov.au

Suggested reference:

Van Hooff M, Lawrence-Wood E, Hodson S, Sadler N, Benassi H, Hansen C, Grace B, Avery J, Searle A, Iannos M, Abraham M, Baur J, McFarlane A, 2018, *Mental Health Prevalence, Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study*, the Department of Defence and the Department of Veterans' Affairs, Canberra.

This report is available from:

The Department of Defence http://www.defence.gov.au/Health/DMH/ResearchSurveillancePlan.asp

The Department of Veterans' Affairs www.dva.gov.au/mental-health-prevalence-report

Published by the Department of Veterans' Affairs, Canberra

Publication no: P03371

Key findings

This *Mental Health Prevalence Report* is the first of eight reports and two papers that comprise the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme (the Programme). The Programme is the most comprehensive study undertaken in Australia on the impact of military service on the mental, physical and social health of Transitioned and 2015 Regular Australian Defence Force (ADF) members and their families (the study populations).

This report investigates the prevalence of 12-month and lifetime mental disorders, trauma exposure, suicidal ideation and self-reported mental health symptoms among Transitioned ADF members. Comparisons are also made between the self-reported mental health symptoms in Transitioned ADF with 2015 Regular ADF members and where possible, with the Australian Community.

The second report in the Programme, *Pathways to Care*, tells the next phase in the ADF mental health story by investigating how Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members access, use and value mental health care services.

The study populations for both reports are:

- ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (including Ex-Serving, Active and Inactive Reservists)
- a random sample of Regular ADF members serving in 2015
- 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF members who participated in the 2010 Military Health Outcomes Program or MilHOP.

Furthermore, a comparison of the self-reported psychological distress and alcohol consumption of the Transitioned ADF in 2015 with the contemporaneous data collected by the Australian Bureau of Statistics in 2014 -2015 as part of the National Health Survey was performed. In relation to these two mental health outcomes, psychological distress and alcohol consumption, this comparison situates the Transitioned ADF in the context of the civilian population using the most contemporary (and temporally equivalent) Australian data available.

Results from the *Mental Health Prevalence Report* show ADF members transitioning from full-time military service represent a group at particular risk for mental disorder who would benefit from proactive strategies that aim to lessen the burden of mental

illness and assist the transition process. An estimated 46% of ADF members who had transitioned from full-time service within the past five years met 12-month diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder using a structured diagnostic interview. This level of 12-month disorder combined with the significantly greater severity of current self-reported symptoms of psychological distress, depression anxiety, anger, suicidality and alcohol use, particularly at subthreshold levels in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, places this population at significant risk of impairment and disability, highlighting the challenges of transitioning out of full-time military service. Despite these levels of disorder, the levels of engagement in employment and socially connected roles among the Transitioned ADF is encouraging. For example, when the spectrum of roles, including studying were taken into account, approximately 84% of the Transitioned ADF were either working or engaged in some purposeful activity, suggesting a degree of social engagement.

We suggest reading these reports chronologically to obtain a full understanding of the status of Transitioned and Regular ADF mental health. While reading the findings below, it is important to remember that references to the '... last 12 months ...' is referring to the 12 months prior to the date of participation in the study with all data collection undertaken between 1 June and 31 December 2015.

Definitions of key terms used in this report

Transitioned ADF members – Population of ADF members who transitioned from fulltime ADF service between 2010 and 2014, including those who transitioned into the Active and Inactive Reserves and those who had discharged completely (Ex-Serving).

2015 Regular ADF – ADF members who were serving full-time in the ADF in 2015

Lifetime prevalence – A prevalence that meets diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder at any point in the respondent's lifetime.

12-month prevalence – Meeting the diagnostic criteria for a lifetime ICD-10 mental disorder and having reported symptoms in the 12 months before the interview.

Refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of other key terms in this section.

Demographics

- More than half of Transitioned ADF members remained in the ADF as Reservists (55.8%). Of these, 25.7% were Active Reservists.
- Approximately, 84% of the Transitioned ADF were either working or engaged in some purposeful activity with 62.8% being employed. Just over 5.5% of the Transitioned ADF had retired.

- More than 43% of Transitioned ADF members reported accessing DVA-funded treatment through either a DVA White Card (39.4%) or DVA Gold Card (4.2%).
- Just over one-fifth of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have been medically discharged.
- The most commonly reported reasons for transition were 'impact of service life on family' (10.2%), 'better employment prospects in civilian life' (7.2%), 'mental health problems' (6.5%) and 'physical health problems' (4.3%).
- There were no significant differences in housing stability between the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, with more than 93% estimated to have been in stable housing in the previous two months.
- Just over 40% of the Transitioned ADF and 36% of the 2015 Regular ADF reported having a diploma or university qualification.
- Twice as many members of the Transitioned ADF were classified as medically unfit compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.

Estimated prevalence of lifetime mental disorder in Transitioned ADF

- Almost three in four Transitioned ADF members are estimated to have met criteria for a mental disorder at some stage in their lifetime that is either, prior to, during or after their military career.
- Anxiety and (46.1%) Alcohol disorders (47.5%) were the most common classes of lifetime disorder.
- One quarter of Transitioned ADF members were estimated to have met criteria for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in their lifetime (24.9%).

Estimated prevalence of 12-month mental disorder in Transitioned ADF

• Just over half of the Transitioned ADF had not experienced a mental disorder in the previous 12 months.

• 46.4% of Transitioned ADF members are estimated to have experienced a mental disorder in the previous 12 months.

Anxiety disorders

- Anxiety disorders were the most common type of 12-month mental disorder among the Transitioned ADF with over one in three (37.0%) experiencing an anxiety disorder in the last 12 months.
- PTSD (17.7%), panic attacks (17.0%), agoraphobia (11.9%) and social phobia (11.0%) were the most common types of anxiety disorders in the Transitioned ADF.

Affective disorders

- One in five (23.1%) Transitioned ADF are estimated to have experienced an affective disorder in the last 12 months.
- The most common affective disorder type in Transitioned ADF was depressive episodes (11.2%).

Alcohol disorders

• 12.9% of the Transitioned ADF met criteria for an alcohol disorder in the last 12 months.

Occurrence of more than one disorder at the same time (comorbidity) in Transitioned ADF

• Of the Transitioned ADF with a 12-month mental disorder more than half (55.2%) had at least one comorbid or co-existing mental disorder.

Estimated prevalence of suicidality (ideation, planning, attempting) in Transitioned ADF

- Just over 20 per cent of Transitioned ADF experienced suicidal ideation, plans or attempts in the last 12 months.
- 28.9% of Transitioned ADF had felt that their life was not worth living.
- 21.2% had felt so low that they thought about taking their own life.
- 7.9% of Transitioned ADF had made a suicide plan.
- 2.0% of Transitioned ADF reported having attempted suicide.

Transition factors associated with 12-month mental disorder and suicidality in Transitioned ADF

Transition status

• Transitioned ADF, who were Ex-Serving, had significantly greater rates of anxiety disorders, affective disorders, alcohol disorders and suicidality compared to both Inactive and Active Reservists indicating poorer mental health outcomes for those who are most disengaged with Defence.

Years since transition

 The estimated rates of 12-month mental disorder were lowest in Transitioned ADF who had transitioned less than one year ago, increasing at one year or more posttransition. This may inform the timing of possible mental health surveillance activities.

Reason for discharge

• Transitioned ADF who had been medically discharged had significantly higher rates of affective, anxiety and alcohol disorders and suicidality than those who discharged for other reasons.

DVA Status

 Affective, anxiety and alcohol disorders and suicidality were more commonly observed in those Transitioned ADF who were in contact with or receiving services from DVA. This is expected given DVA is the primary conduit to care and assistance for ex-serving members.

Self-reported mental health in Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF

• Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, the Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher current mental health symptoms across all domains measured.

Psychological distress

 Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, nearly twice as many Transitioned ADF had high to very high psychological distress (33.1% vs 18.7%).

Posttraumatic stress symptoms

• Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, nearly three times as many Transitioned ADF had high to very high posttraumatic stress symptoms (24.3% vs 8.7%).

Alcohol use

- Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, nearly four times as many Transitioned ADF reported alcohol use at levels which suggest the need for further assessment.
- Compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, the Transitioned ADF were significantly more likely to report higher alcohol consumption and problems with drinking.

Depressive symptoms

• Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, nearly three times as many Transitioned ADF had moderately severe to severe depressive symptoms (19.5% vs 7.4%).

Anxiety symptoms

• Compared to 2015 Regular ADF, more than twice as many Transitioned ADF had moderate to severe general anxiety disorder symptoms (22.3% vs 9.6%).

Suicidality

• The Transitioned ADF had significantly higher rates of suicidal ideation, plans and attempts compared to 2015 Regular ADF.

Anger

• Transitioned ADF members experienced significantly greater levels of anger than the 2015 Regular ADF.

Self-reported trauma exposure

- An estimated 85% or more of the entire Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF have experienced a potentially adverse deployment exposure.
- Exposure to toxins were the most common deployment exposure type with over 50% of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF reporting potentially toxic/environmental exposures (smoke, fumes, chemicals, and local food and water).

Self-reported mental health in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community

Psychological distress

- Levels of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF were significantly higher than the Australian Community, with almost three times more Transitioned ADF reporting high to very high psychological distress (33.1%) compared to the Australian Community (12.8%).
- Patterns of psychological distress were similar in the Australian community and the Transitioned ADF for males and females and consistent across all age bands.

Alcohol use

- Overall, the Australian Community drank more standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months than the Transitioned ADF.
- Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months was similar for the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, but results varied by age and sex.
- A significantly higher proportion of Transitioned ADF females reported drinking daily, weekly and monthly compared to Australian Community females.
- There were no differences between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community in the frequency of alcohol consumed in the last 12 months in the 18-27-year age group.

Contents

Key find	ings			iii
Acknowl	edgments			xxv
Transitio	on and We	llbeing Re	search Programme—an overview	xxvii
1	Introduc	tion		1
	1.1	Mental H	lealth and Wellbeing Transition Study	2
	1.2	1.2.1 1.2.2 1.2.3 1.2.4 1.2.5 1.2.6	Ind to this report Mental health in the Australian Defence Force Mental health in the current Australian Defence Force Mental health in the Transitioned ADF Impact of transition from full-time military service: International literature Mental health in transitioned Canadian Forces Risk and protective factors.	2 5 6 9 11
	1.3	Aims, def 1.3.1 1.3.2 1.3.3 1.3.4 1.3.5	finitions, structure and scope Aims of this report Structure of this report Defining transition from regular military service Scope of this report Outline and interpretation of this report	14 15 15 15
2	Methodo	ology		23
	2.1	Study de	sign	24
	2.2	Samples. 2.2.1	Population comparison samples	
	2.3	Response 2.3.1 2.3.2	e rates Survey responders Composite International Diagnostic Interview responders	26
	2.4	Statistica	l analysis	32
	2.5	Stratifica	tion procedure	33
	2.6	Weightin 2.6.1 2.6.2	g Estimates from survey Estimates from the Composite International Diagnostic Interview	37
	2.7	Measure 2.7.1	s used in this report Self-report survey	

		2.7.2	Composite International Diagnostic Interview	
3	Demogra	aphic cha	racteristics in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF	41
	3.1	-	aphic characteristics of the Transitioned ADF and 2015 ADF	
	3.2	Demogra	aphic characteristics of the Transitioned ADF	
4	Estimate	ed prevale	ence of mental disorders	51
	4.1	Estimate	ed prevalence of anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF	
		4.1.1	Transitioned ADF population	
		4.1.2	Demographic factors	59
		4.1.3	Service factors	63
		4.1.4	Transition factors	70
		4.1.5	Posttraumatic stress disorder	
	4.2	Estimate	ed prevalence of affective disorders in Transitioned ADF	82
		4.2.1	Transitioned ADF population	
		4.2.2	Transition status	
		4.2.3	Demographic factors	85
		4.2.4	Service factors	
		4.2.5	Transition factors	
	4.3	Estimate	ed prevalence of alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF	
		4.3.1	Transitioned ADF	
		4.3.2	Demographic factors	102
		4.3.3	Service factors	105
		4.3.4	Transition factors	111
	4.4	Estimate	ed prevalence of comorbid mental health conditions in the	
			oned ADF	115
		4.4.1	Transitioned ADF population	116
		4.4.2	Transition status	117
	4.5	Estimate	ed prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF	119
		4.5.1	Suicidality	119
		4.5.2	Suicidality demographic factors	122
		4.5.3	Suicidality service factors	125
		4.5.4	Suicidality transition factors	132
5			ent mental health symptoms, and trauma exposure	
	among Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members			
	5.1	Psycholo	ogical distress – (K10)	143
		5.1.1	Psychological distress in Transitioned ADF compared to	
			entire 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF	144
		5.1.2	Psychological distress in different transition population subgroups	146
	5.2	Posttrau	imatic stress symptoms (PCL)	
	5.2	1 0 3 1 1 0 0		

	5.2.1	Posttraumatic stress symptoms in Transitioned ADF members compared to the entire ADF in 2010 and 2015	15
	5.2.2	Posttraumatic symptoms in different transition population subgroups	15
5.3	Alcohol	use and problem drinking (AUDIT)	15
	5.3.1	Alcohol use and problem drinking in Transitioned ADF	
		members compared to entire 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF.	15
	5.3.2	Frequency of alcohol consumption	15
	5.3.3	Quantity of alcohol consumed	16
	5.3.4	Self-reported drinking problem	16
	5.3.5	Self-reported difficulties reducing alcohol consumption	16
	5.3.6	Alcohol use and problem drinking in different transition	
		population subgroups	16
5.4	Depress	sive symptoms (PHQ-9)	16
	5.4.1	Depressive symptoms in the Transitioned ADF	16
5.5	Anger s	ymptoms (DAR-5)	
	5.5.1	Anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF compared to 2010	
		and 2015 Regular ADF	17
	5.5.2	Anger symptoms in different transition population	
		subgroups	17
5.6	Suicidal	l ideation, plans and attempts	17
	5.6.1	Suicidality in Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 and	
		2015 Regular ADF	17
5.7	Drug us	e (illicit and the use of prescription drugs for non-medical	
	purpose	es) in Transitioned ADF	
	5.7.1	Drug use in different transition population subgroups	18
5.8	Genera	lised anxiety (GAD-7)	
	5.8.1	Generalised anxiety symptoms in Transitioned ADF and	
		2015 Regular ADF	
	5.8.2	Generalised anxiety symptoms in different transition	
		population subgroups	18
5.9	Deploy	ment exposures	19
	5.9.1	Deployment exposures in Transitioned ADF and 2015	
		Regular ADF	19
5.10	Self-rep	oorted lifetime trauma	
	5.10.1	Lifetime trauma exposure in Transitioned ADF and the	
		2015 Regular ADF	19
-		e mental health of Transitioned ADF with the Australian 15	19
6.1	Psychol	ogical distress (K10) in Transitioned ADF compared to the	
0.1		ian Community in 2015	
	6.1.1	Psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF compared	
	0.1.1	to the Australian Community	20
	6.1.2	Psychological distress, by sex	

6

	6.1.3	Psychological distress, by age	
6.2	Alcohol	use and problem drinking in the Transitioned ADF	
	compare	ed to the Australian Community in 2015	20
	6.2.1	Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months	
		in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian	
		Community	21
	6.2.2	Maximum number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed	
		on a single occasion in the last 12 months in the	
		Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community	21
	6.2.3	Frequency of alcohol consumption in last 12 months in	
		the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian	
		Community, by sex	21
	6.2.4	Maximum number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed	
		on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned	24
	-	ADF compared to Australian Community, by sex	21
	6.2.5	Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months	
		in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by age	21
	626	Maximum number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed	21
	6.2.6		
		on a single occasion in the last 12 months in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian	
		Community, by age	2
Discus	sion		22
		nsitioned ADF	22
		nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics	22 22
	The Trai	nsitioned ADF	22 22
	The Tran 7.1.1	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics	22 22 22
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder	22 22 22 22
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders	22 22 22 22 22
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder	22 22 22 22 22 22
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders	22 22 22 22 22 22 22
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders	22 22 22 22 22 22 23 23
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity	22 22 22 22 22 22 23 23
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality	22 22 22 22 22 22 23 23
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder	22 22 22 22 22 22 23 23 23
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality	
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors	
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.11	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors	22 22 22 22 22 23
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.11 7.1.12	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors successful to the second se	22 22 22 22 22 23
	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.10 7.1.11 7.1.12 7.1.13	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors	
7.1	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.10 7.1.11 7.1.12 7.1.13 7.1.14	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors Service factors Risk and protective factors Comparisons with the 2010 ADF Mental Health	
7.1	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.10 7.1.11 7.1.12 7.1.13 7.1.14	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors Risk and protective factors Comparisons with the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study	
7.1	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.10 7.1.11 7.1.12 7.1.13 7.1.14 The Tran	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors s Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors Comparisons with the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study nsitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF	22 22 22 22 22 23
7.1	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.11 7.1.12 7.1.13 7.1.14 The Tran 7.2.1	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors s Comparisons with the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study The rationale for using self-report measures	
7.1	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.10 7.1.11 7.1.12 7.1.13 7.1.14 The Tran 7.2.1 7.2.2	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors Comparisons with the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study The rationale for using self-report measures Psychological distress	22 22 22 22 22 23
Discus 7.1 7.2	The Tran 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.1.5 7.1.6 7.1.7 7.1.8 7.1.9 7.1.10 7.1.10 7.1.11 7.1.12 7.1.13 7.1.14 The Tran 7.2.1 7.2.2 7.2.3	nsitioned ADF Socio-demographic characteristics The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder Anxiety disorders Posttraumatic stress disorder Affective disorders Alcohol disorders Comorbidity Suicidality Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality Demographic factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors Service factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors Transition factors Risk and protective factors Comparisons with the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study The rationale for using self-report measures Posttraumatic stress symptoms	

7

		7.2.6	Anger symptoms	246
		7.2.7	Suicidality	247
		7.2.8	Anxiety symptoms	248
		7.2.9	Deployment and non-deployment traumatic exposures	249
		7.2.10	Drug use in the Transitioned ADF	250
		7.2.11	Implications of the dimensional data analyses	252
	7.3	The Tran	sitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community	253
	7.4	Strength	s and limitations of the study	254
		7.4.1	Limitations and caveats	254
		7.4.2	Strengths of the study	256
	7.5	Implicati	ons and future directions	257
	7.6	Conclusio	on	262
Annex A	Mental H	lealth and	Wellbeing Transition Study method	265
Annex B	Detailed	tables		313
Acronym	IS			323
Glossary	of terms			325
Referenc	es			339

Tables

Table 2.1	Survey response rates, by Service for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF	27
Table 2.2	Unweighted demographic characteristics of responders, by Transitioned ADF and Regular ADF	30
Table 2.3	CIDI response rates for Transitioned ADF, by Service, sex, rank and MEC status	31
Table 2.4	Stratification characteristics of entire Transitioned ADF CIDI sample	35
Table 3.1	Weighted demographic characteristics in the Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF	44
Table 3.2	Weighted Service characteristics in the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF	46
Table 3.3	Weighted transition characteristics in the Transitioned ADF	47
Table 3.4	Weighted civilian employment and DVA support in the Transitioned ADF	49
Table 3.5	Weighted ESO engagement and incarcerations in Transitioned ADF	50
Table 4.1	Estimated prevalence of lifetime ICD-10 anxiety, affective, alcohol and any disorder in Transitioned ADF	54
Table 4.2	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety, affective, alcohol and any disorder, and PTSD in Transitioned ADF	
Table 4.3	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders	56

Table 4.4	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders, by transition status	58
Table 4.5	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by sex	59
Table 4.6	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and age	61
Table 4.7	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members (Navy, Army and Air Force)	63
Table 4.8	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and rank at transition	64
Table 4.9	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in the ADF, by anxiety disorder type and deployment status	66
Table 4.10	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by years of service in the Regular ADF	68
Table 4.11	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and years since transition	71
Table 4.12	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and reason for discharge	73
Table 4.13	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and DVA status	75
Table 4.14	Estimated prevalence of lifetime trauma exposure in Transitioned ADF members	78
Table 4.15	Estimated prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder from specific event types in Transitioned ADF	80
Table 4.16	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF	84
Table 4.17	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and transition status	84
Table 4.18	Estimated prevalence of 12-month affective disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by affective disorder type and sex	85
Table 4.19	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and age	87
Table 4.20	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, by Service at time of transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF	88
Table 4.21	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, by rank at time of transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF	90
Table 4.22	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and deployment status	91
Table 4.23	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and years of service in Regular ADF	94
Table 4.24	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and years since transition	95

Table 4.25	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and reason for discharge	96
Table 4.26	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and DVA status	98
Table 4.27	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders	100
Table 4.28	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in	
	Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservist and Active Reservist)	101
Table 4.29	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and sex	102
Table 4.30	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and age	104
Table 4.31	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type (Navy, Army and Air Force)	106
Table 4.32	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and ADF rank/rank at time of transition from service in Regular ADF	107
Table 4.33	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF, by alcohol disorder type and deployment status	108
Table 4.34	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders, by years of servicer in the Regular ADF*	110
Table 4.35	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and years since transition	112
Table 4.36	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and reason for discharge	113
Table 4.37	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and DVA status	
Table 4.38	Estimated prevalence n (%) of single and comorbid affective, anxiety (excluding PTSD), PTSD and alcohol disorder in the Transitioned ADF in the last 12 months, using ICD-10 criteria	
Table 4.39	Estimated prevalence of comorbidity for the subgroups of the Transitioned ADF	118
Table 4.40	Self-reported suicidal ideation, and suicide plans and attempts in the Transitioned ADF	120
Table 4.41	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists, and Active Reservists)	121
Table 4.42	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by sex	122
Table 4.43	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by age	124
Table 4.44	Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by Service at transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF (Navy, Army, Air Force)	126
Table 4.45	Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by rank at transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF	128
Table 4.46	Estimated prevalence of 12-month suicidality in the Transitioned ADF by deployment status	129

Table 4.48 Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by number of years since from the Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF	
Table 4.49 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF membrane medical versus other reason for discharge	
Table 4.50 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF membratement status	
Table 5.1Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 201ADF in each of the four K10 scoring bands for psychological di	0
Table 5.2Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF scoring in each of bands for psychological distress, by transition status	
Table 5.3Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members in each y transition, scoring in each of the four K10 bands for psycholog	•
Table 5.4Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 201ADF members in each of the four PCL bands for posttraumatic	-
Table 5.5Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF scoring in each of bands for posttraumatic stress, by transition status	
Table 5.6Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members scoring i the four PCL bands for posttraumatic stress, by years since tra	
Table 5.7Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 201ADF members in each of the four AUDIT scoring bands for pro alcohol use	blem
Table 5.8Estimated proportions of members of Transitioned ADF, and 22015 Regular ADF, by AUDIT, for frequency of alcohol consum	
Table 5.9Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 201ADF, by number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a transitioned ADF.	-
Table 5.10 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 201 ADF with self-reported drinking problem	
Table 5.11 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 201 ADF who anticipate difficulty reducing their alcohol intake over three months Second	er the next
Table 5.12 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, using AUDIT scori for problem alcohol use, by transition status	-
Table 5.13 Estimated Proportion of Transitioned ADF members scoring in four AUDIT scoring bands for problem alcohol use, by years sin transition	nce
Table 5.14 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, 2010 and 2015 Rein each PHQ-9 scoring band for depressive symptoms	egular ADF
Table 5.15 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF for PHQ-9 scoring depressive symptoms by transition status	bands for
Table 5.16 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members in PHQ-5 bands for depressive symptoms, by years since transition	9 scoring
Table 5.17 Estimated proportions of anger symptoms among Transitione 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by symptoms	d ADF, and
Table 5.18 Estimated proportions of anger symptoms in Transitioned ADI transition status	F, by

Table 5.19	Estimated proportions of anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition	178
Table 5.20	Estimated proportions of suicidality in Transitioned ADF and entire 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF	180
Table 5.21	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF who have used drugs, by transition status	182
Table 5.22	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF reporting 12-month drug use, by years since transition	184
Table 5.23	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF and entire 2015 Regular ADF for GAD-7 scoring bands for generalised anxiety disorder symptoms	187
Table 5.24	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF for GAD-7 scoring bands, by transition status	188
Table 5.25	Proportion of Transitioned ADF in each of the GAD-7 scoring bands for GAD symptoms, by years since transition	189
Table 5.26	Estimated prevalence of deployment exposures in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF	192
Table 5.27	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF who have experienced lifetime trauma	196
Table 6.1	Estimated prevalence of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community using K10 scoring bands	203
Table 6.2	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the K10 scoring bands for psychological distress, by sex	205
Table 6.3	Estimated prevalence of Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the K10 scoring bands for psychological distress, by age	206
Table 6.4	Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months	210
Table 6.5	Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to Australian Community	
Table 6.6	Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months, bu core	710
Table 6.7	months, by sex Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by sex	
Table 6.8	Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months, by age	217
Table 6.9	Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by age	219
Table A.1	Commissioned reports	
Table A.2	Survey response rates by Service, sex, rank and medical fitness for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF	
Table A.3	Unweighted demographic characteristics of responders by Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF	

Table A.4	CIDI response rates for stratified Transitioned ADF by Service, sex, rank and MEC status	274
Table A.5	Demographic characteristics of stratified Transitioned ADF CIDI responders	275
Table A.6	CIDI response rates for the MHPWS group, by Service, sex, rank and Medical Employment Classification status	276
Table A.7	CIDI response rates for the Combat Zone group, by Service, sex, rank and Medical Employment Classification status	277
Table A.8	Stratification characteristics of Transitioned ADF CIDI sample	298
Table A.9	Counts of categories by source	302
Table A.10	Counts of categories by service type	302
Table B.1	Estimated prevalence of lifetime and 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorder in Transitioned ADF using the ABS definition	313
Table B.2	Regression coefficients comparing mean DAR-5 anger in Transitioned vs 2015 Regular ADF	313
Table B.3	A comparison of DAR-5 anger in 2015 Regular ADF vs 2010 Regular ADF	313
Table B.4	Odds ratios comparing 12month suicidal ideation, plans and attempts in Transitioned ADF who were Ex-Serving, Inactive or Active Reservists	314
Table B.5	Odds ratio comparing proportion of Transitioned ADF endorsing suicide question 1: felt life was not worth living for each year since transition (compared to 0: 1–11 months post transition)	315
Table B.6	Odds ratio comparing proportion of Transitioned ADF endorsing suicide question 2: felt so low thought about committing suicide for each year since transition (compared to 0: 1- 11 months post transition)	
Table B.7	Odds ratio comparing proportion of Transitioned ADF endorsing suicide question 3: made a suicide plan for each year since transition (compared to 0: 1–11 months post transition)	
Table B.8	Odds ratio comparing proportion of Transitioned ADF endorsing yes to suicide questions 2, 3, 4 (any suicidality) for each year since transition (compared to 0: 1–11 months post transition)	
Table B.9	Odds ratios comparing 12-month suicidal ideation, plans and attempts in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF	
Table B.10	Odds ratios comparing 12-month, and lifetime drug use in transitioned ADF who were Ex-Serving, Inactive or Active Reservists	
Table B.11	A comparison of 12-month suicidal ideation, plans and attempts in 2015 ADF and 2010 ADF	317
Table B.12	A Comparison of the proportion of Transitioned ADF versus 2015 ADF reporting each lifetime deployment exposure type	317
Table B.13	A comparison of the proportion of Transitioned ADF versus 2015 ADF reporting each lifetime trauma type	318
Table B.14	Strata description MilHOP Regular ADF	319
Table B.15	Strata description mon-MiLHOP Regular ADF	320
Table B.16	Strata description Transitioned ADF	
Table B.17	Weighting table	322

Figures

Figure 2.1	Survey response rates for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF	28
Figure 4.1	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorder, by transition status	57
Figure 4.2	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by sex	60
Figure 4.3	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and age	62
Figure 4.4	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members (Navy, Army and Air Force)	64
Figure 4.5	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and rank at transition	65
Figure 4.6	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in the ADF, by anxiety disorder type and deployment status	66
Figure 4.7	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by years of service in the Regular ADF	69
Figure 4.8	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and years since transition	72
Figure 4.9	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and reason for discharge	74
Figure 4.10	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and DVA status	76
Figure 4.11	Estimated prevalence of lifetime trauma exposure in Transitioned ADF members	79
Figure 4.12	Estimated prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder from specific event types in Transitioned ADF	81
Figure 4.13	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and transition status	85
Figure 4.14	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by affective disorder type and sex	86
Figure 4.15	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and age	88
Figure 4.16	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, by Service at time of transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF	89
Figure 4.17	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, by rank at time of transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF	90
Figure 4.18	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and deployment status	91
Figure 4.19	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and years of service in Regular ADF	92
Figure 4.20	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and years since transition	

Figure 4.21	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and reason for discharge	97
Figure 4.22	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and DVA status	
Figure 4.23	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservist and Active Reservist)	101
Figure 4.24	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and sex	103
Figure 4.25	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and age	105
Figure 4.26	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type (Navy, Army and Air Force)	106
Figure 4.27	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and ADF rank/rank at time of transition from service in Regular ADF	107
Figure 4.28	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF, by alcohol disorder type and deployment status	
Figure 4.29	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and years of service in Regular ADF	111
Figure 4.30	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and years since transition	113
Figure 4.31	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and reason for discharge	114
Figure 4.32	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and DVA status	115
Figure 4.33	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists and Active Reservists)	122
Figure 4.34	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by sex	123
Figure 4.35	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by age	125
Figure 4.36	Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by Service at transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF (Navy, Army and Air Force)	127
Figure 4.37	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by rank at transition	129
Figure 4.38	Estimated prevalence of 12-month suicidality in the Transitioned ADF, by deployment status	130
Figure 4.39	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by years of service in Regular ADF	132
Figure 4.40	Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by number of years since transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF	134
Figure 4.41	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by medical vs other reason for discharge	135

Figure 4.42	Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by DVA status	137
Figure 5.1	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF in each of the four K10 scoring bands for psychological distress	146
Figure 5.2	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF scoring in each of the K10 bands for psychological distress, by transition status	
Figure 5.3	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members in each year of transition, scoring in each of the four K10 bands for psychological distress	149
Figure 5.4	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members in each of the four PCL scoring bands for posttraumatic stress	152
Figure 5.5	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF scoring in each of the PCL bands for posttraumatic stress, by transition status	153
Figure 5.6	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members scoring in each of the four PCL bands for posttraumatic stress, by years since transition	155
Figure 5.7	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members in each of the four AUDIT scoring bands for problem alcohol use	158
Figure 5.8	Estimated proportions of members of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by AUDIT, for frequency of alcohol consumption	
Figure 5.9	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a typical day	161
Figure 5.10	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF with self-reported drinking problem	162
Figure 5.11	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF who anticipate difficulty reducing their alcohol intake over the next three months	164
Figure 5.12	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, using AUDIT scoring bands, for problem alcohol use, by transition status	
Figure 5.13	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, scoring in each of the four AUDIT scoring bands, for problem alcohol use, by years since transition	
Figure 5.14	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF in each PHQ-9 scoring band for depressive symptoms	
Figure 5.15	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF for PHQ-9 scoring bands for depressive symptoms by transition status	171
Figure 5.16	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members in PHQ-9 scoring bands for depressive symptoms, by years since transition	173
Figure 5.17	Estimated proportions of anger symptoms among Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by symptoms	175
Figure 5.18	Estimated proportions of anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by transition status	176
Figure 5.19	Estimated proportions of anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition	177
Figure 5.20	Estimated proportions of suicidality in Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF	180
Figure 5.21	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF who have used drugs, by transition status	183

Figure 5.22	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF reporting 12-month drug use, by years since transition	185
Figure 5.23	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF and entire 2015 Regular ADF for GAD-7 scoring bands for generalised anxiety disorder symptoms	187
Figure 5.24	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF for GAD-7 scoring bands, by transition status	188
Figure 5.25	Proportion of Transitioned ADF in each of the GAD-7 scoring bands for GAD symptoms, by years since transition	190
Figure 5.26	Estimated prevalence of deployment exposures in Transitioned ADF, and 2015 Regular ADF	193
Figure 5.27	Estimated proportion of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF who have experienced lifetime trauma	197
Figure 6.1	Estimated prevalence of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community using K10 scoring bands	203
Figure 6.2	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the K10 scoring bands for psychological distress, by sex	204
Figure 6.3	Estimated prevalence of psychological distress in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community using the K10 scoring bands, by age	207
Figure 6.4	Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months	
Figure 6.5	Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to Australian Community	212
Figure 6.6	Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to Australian Community in the last 12 months, by sex	
Figure 6.7	Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by sex	215
Figure 6.8	Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months, by age	218
Figure 6.9	Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community by age	220
Figure A.1	Survey response rates for Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF	

Acknowledgments

Study participants

First and foremost, we acknowledge all current and ex-serving ADF personnel who generously gave their time to complete the study. This research was only made possible by their efforts and commitment to the study. Other key individuals include:

Principal Investigator

Dr Miranda Van Hooff (Lead), Director of Research, Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Investigators

Dr Ellie Lawrence-Wood, Senior Research Fellow, Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Dr Stephanie Hodson, National Manager, Veterans and Veterans Families Counselling Service, Department of Veterans' Affairs.

COL Nicole Sadler (Reservist), Senior Specialist, Military and High Risk Organisations, Phoenix Australia, Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health, University of Melbourne.

Ms Helen Benassi, Mental Health, Rehabilitation and Psychology Branch, Joint Health Command, Department of Defence; PhD candidate, Australian National University.

Professor Alexander McFarlane, Professor of Psychiatry, Head of Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Lead statistician

Dr Craig Hansen, Senior Statistician and Epidemiologist, Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Statistician

Dr Blair Grace, Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide.

Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Scientific Advisory Committee

RADM Jenny Firman (co-chair), Dr Ian Gardner (co-chair), Professor Ian Hickie, Professor Malcolm Battersby, Professor Mark Creamer, Professor Peter Butterworth, Professor Lyndall Strazdins, Dr Paul Jelfs, Dr Duncan Wallace, GPCAPT Lisa Jackson Pulver, Professor Tim Driscoll, Professor Kathy Griffiths, Professor Beverley Raphael, Dr Graeme Killer.

Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies, University of Adelaide

Mr Roger Glenny, Ms Maria Abraham, Ms Jenelle Baur, Ms Ashleigh Kenny, Ms Marie Iannos, Dr Jodie Avery, Dr Amelia Searle, Dr Elizabeth Saccone, Ms Jane Cocks, Mr Jeremy Hamlin, Ms Judy Bament, Ms Dianne Stewart.

Hunter Valley Foundation

Ms Shanti Ramanathan, Mr David Shellard, Dr Clare Hogue, Ms Phyllis Hartung, Mr Russ Redford and the team of CIDI interviewers.

Nexview Systems

Mr Trevor Moyle, Ms Hong Yan.

Australian Institute of Family Studies

Dr Galina Daraganova, Dr Jacquie Harvey.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare

Mr Phil Anderson, Mr Nick Von Sanden, Mr Richard Solon, Mr Tenniel Guiver.

Australian Bureau of Statistics

Mr David Haynes, Ms Beatrix Forrest, Ms Michelle Ducat and staff from the Health and Disability Branch, Mr Barry Tynan and staff from the Communications and Dissemination Branch.

Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Management Team

Ms Kyleigh Heggie, Ms Karen Barker, Dr Loretta Poerio, Ms Melissa Preston, Dr Carmel Anderson, Mr Tim Cummins, Ms Olivia Mahn, Ms Rachel McNab, Mr Christian Callisen, Department of Veterans' Affairs.

COL Laura Sinclair, Ms Jess Styles, Ms Kanny Tait, Department of Defence.

For their assistance in developing the Study Roll: Mr Mark Watson and Ms Megan MacDonald, Department of Veterans' Affairs, and Ms Carolina Casetta and Warrant Officer Class One Iain Lewington, Joint Health Command, Department of Defence.

Other key organisations

Australia Post.

Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme an overview



The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme (Programme) is the most comprehensive study undertaken in Australia that examines the impact of military service on the mental, physical and social health of:

- serving and ex-serving Australian Defence Force (ADF) members including those who have been deployed in contemporary conflicts, and
- their families.

This research further extends and builds on the findings of the world-leading research conducted with current serving members of the ADF in the 2010 Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP).

This current research, conducted in 2015, arises from the collaborative partnership between the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA) and Department of Defence (Defence). It aims to implement the Government's goal of ensuring that current and future policy, programs and services are responsive to the current and emerging health and wellbeing needs of serving and ex-serving ADF members and their families before, during and after transition from military life.

Ten objectives were developed to guide the Programme. The objectives are being realised through three studies comprising eight reports: the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study (five reports and two papers), the Impact of Combat Study (one report), the Family Wellbeing Study (one report) and the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Key Findings Report, which summarises the research, as the diagram above shows. The table below shows which reports deliver on the objectives. This report, the *Mental Health Prevalence Report*, addresses the first two objectives, which are to:

1. Determine the prevalence of mental disorders amongst ADF members who have transitioned from Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014.

Programme objectives	Corresponding reports and papers
 Determine the prevalence of mental disorders among ADF members who have transitioned from Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014. Examine self-reported mental health status of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. 	Mental Health Prevalence Report
 Assess pathways to care for Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, including those with a probable 30-day mental disorder. 	Pathways to Care Report
 Examine the physical health status of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. 	Physical Health Status Report
Investigate technology and its utility for health and mental health programmes including implications for future health service delivery.	Technology Use and Wellbeing Report
 Conduct predictive modelling of the trajectory of mental health symptoms/disorders of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, removing the need to rely on estimated rates. 	Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report
 Investigate the mental health and wellbeing of currently serving 2015 Ab initio Reservists. 	The Health and Wellbeing of ADF Reservists Paper
 Examine the factors that contribute to the wellbeing of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. 	Psychosocial Predictors of Health Paper
 Follow up on the mental, physical and neurocognitive health and wellbeing of participants who deployed to the Middle East Area of Operations between 2010 and 2012. 	Impact of Combat Report
 Investigate the impact of ADF service on the health and wellbeing of the families of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. 	Family Wellbeing Report
All objectives	Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Key Findings Report

2. Examine the self-reported mental health status of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.
Two eminent Australian research institutions, one specialising in trauma and the other in families, are leading the research programme. The Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies at the University of Adelaide is conducting the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study and the Impact of Combat Study, and the Australian Institute of Family Studies is conducting the Family and Wellbeing Study.

Their research expertise is enhanced through partner institutions from Monash University, the University of New South Wales, Phoenix Australia – Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health and, until June 2016, the Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre, the work of which is being continued through Innowell.

Through surveys and interviews, the researchers engaged with a range of DVA clients and ADF members including:

- ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (including Ex-Serving, Active and Inactive Reservists)
- a random sample of Regular ADF members serving in 2015
- a sample of Ab initio Reservists serving in 2015 (who have never been full-time ADF members)
- 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF members who participated in MilHOP
- family members nominated by the above.

DVA and Defence thank the current and ex-serving ADF members and their families who participated in this research, for sharing your experiences and insights. Your efforts will help inform and assist the ways you, your colleagues, friends and families, as well as those who come after you, can best be supported during and after a military career.

1 Introduction

- Approximately 5000 or 9% of serving men and women transition out of the Regular Australian Defence Force (ADF) each year. This represents a significant number of Transitioned ADF members who are in the critical early stages of adjusting to civilian life and reintegrating into their community.
- While international literature estimates that 60–75% of transitioned military members report an easy adjustment to civilian life, others, especially those who developed mental health symptoms or disorders before being discharged, may struggle.
- The transition period from military to civilian life is quickly becoming recognised as one of the most significant and stressful periods in the life of military members worldwide. This is due to potential changes in identity, community, residence, social networks, status, family role, occupation, finances, routines, responsibilities, supports and culture.
- Changes brought about by transition can result in the development of psychosocial adjustment issues, ranging from employment difficulties and family and/or relationship conflict to mental health problems, substance abuse problems and criminal offending.
- Currently, there is very little systematic research about the mental health and wellbeing of representative cohorts of transitioned military members, with most studies focusing on cohorts from specific deployments or those seeking treatment or compensation from the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA) or the international equivalent.
- In Australia, only one in 10 ADF members who recently transitioned out of the ADF chose to (or was able to) access veteran healthcare services; therefore, administrative data alone cannot provide an accurate snapshot of the health of the population.
- Consequently, a population- or cohort-based approach is paramount to establishing accurate prevalence estimates of mental disorders in Transitioned ADF members in Australia.
- The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme especially the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study – is the first attempt in Australia to establish the prevalence of mental disorders in a representative cohort of ADF members who recently (between 2010 and 2014) transitioned out of the Regular ADF.
- In addition to examining the differences between the mental health of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, this report will also identify the key demographic, Service and transition factors that are important influences on mental health in the Transitioned ADF.

Glossary: refer to the 'Glossary of terms' for definitions of key terms in this section.

1.1 Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study

This report presents the findings from Study 1 of the Programme: The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study. The main objective of this study is to determine the prevalence of mental disorders among Transitioned ADF members in the first five years after they transitioned from regular service. The study focuses on those who transitioned between 2010 and 2014, exploring the factors that contribute to the mental health and wellbeing of this cohort.

The report uses self-reported mental health measures to compare levels of mental health symptomatology in ADF members who have transitioned from the Regular ADF (Transitioned ADF) to representative cohorts of the Regular ADF in 2015 (2015 Regular ADF) and in 2010 (2010 Regular ADF). It also compares these cohorts to the Australian Community, using data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) (ABS, 2010).

1.2 Background to this report

There is a substantial body of Australian and international research into the impact of service on military members across the military career cycle, particularly in relation to specific deployments (Crum-Cianflone et al., 2016; Fear et al., 2010; Thomas et al., 2010). Much of this research has included discharged or ex-serving members and has consistently highlighted the higher rates of disorder in this subpopulation compared to those who remain in service (Hatch et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2013; Pinder et al., 2012b; Villatte et al., 2015). This has resulted in an emerging and growing interest in the mental, physical and social health and wellbeing of former serving military members – not just those who have previously deployed – and the associated risks and protective factors for disorders and other poor outcomes in this population (Shields et al., 2016).

The following literature review outlines ADF and international research on the mental health of former serving military members as well as gaps, inconsistencies and definitional issues that challenge the scientific knowledge in this field.

1.2.1 Mental health in the Australian Defence Force

In Australia, military service is held in high esteem. It is recognised that it is very demanding on those who serve, and can involve exposure to extreme physical, psychological and mental stressors (Dobson et al., 2012; Forces in Mind Trust, 2013). Currently, approximately 5000 serving men and women (9%) transition out of the Regular ADF each year (Australian Government Department of Defence, 2016). For example, between 2010 and 2014, more than 24,000 ADF members discharged completely or transitioned into the Reserves. This represents a significant number of Transitioned ADF members who are in the critical early stages of transitioning to civilian life and reintegrating into the community. Importantly, these individuals are in a range of age groups, with those transitioning into retirement representing only a

small proportion. Instead, with an average length of military service of 10 years, most service leavers transition with the aim of entering civilian occupations. Surprisingly, there is very little systematic research into the mental health and wellbeing of transitioning ADF members after they leave the ADF. This is despite widespread concern in the ex-serving and broader community, and acknowledgment that the transition and reintegration into civilian life is also a significant stressor (Forces in Mind Trust, 2013; Pease et al., 2016).

Defence provides resilience, education, and early intervention and treatment programs to support the mental health of ADF members. This support is provided through a stepped model of care. This model focuses on building awareness of maintaining good mental health, upskilling members to identify and manage their own or peers' mental health concerns, and providing evidence-based treatment and rehabilitation (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017).

As set out in the Veteran Mental Health Strategy: A Ten Year Framework – 2013-2023, DVA provides programs to maintain and enhance the health and wellbeing of ex-serving members and their dependants. To achieve this, DVA has a system of healthcare and social support services that promote prevention, early intervention and treatment. This includes access to the Veterans and Veterans Families Counselling Service (VVCS), a community-based mental health service available to both serving and ex-serving members and their families. Importantly, many of these mental health supports can be accessed without a DVA determination on a compensation claim (Department of Veterans Affairs, 2016).

Eligible veterans with an accepted disability are given either a DVA White Card – for treatment of disabilities that are accepted as service-related – or a DVA Gold Card – entitling the holder to access services for all clinically necessary healthcare needs, and all health conditions, whether or not they are related to war service (Department of Veterans Affairs, 2017). Transitioned members who do not apply or are not eligible receive health care through either private health insurance or Medicare. The *Pathways to Care Report* provides more detail about services provided by each department.

1.2.2 Mental health in the current Australian Defence Force

A comprehensive examination of the mental health and wellbeing of a current serving ADF population was conducted through the Military Health Outcomes Programme (MilHOP). This program, conducted in 2010–2012, provided prevalence estimates of 12-month and lifetime diagnosable mental disorders in the Regular ADF in 2010 (2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (2010 MHPWS)) and an understanding of deployment-related health issues following deployment to the Middle East Area of Operations (MEAO) (MEAO Census and MEAO Prospective Health Study).

The 2010 MHPWS found that 22% of the 2010 Regular ADF met criteria for a mental disorder under the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10) in the previous 12 months (McFarlane et al., 2011). This rate was consistent with rates found in a matched Australian Community sample, but comprised a different profile of mental disorder, consistent with risks associated with military service. Rates of affective disorders were higher in the ADF (9.5%) than in the Australian Community (5.9%), and rates of alcohol disorder were lower (5.2% in the ADF and 8.3% in the Australian Community).

In relation to age, rates of depression and anxiety in the ADF, particularly in members aged 18–37, were significantly greater than in the Australian Community (McFarlane & Bryant, 2013; McFarlane et al., 2011), with 10.8% of ADF males in 2010 aged 18–27 having an affective disorder compared to 5.8% of the Australian Community. The rate further increased in the 28–37 age group, where 28.3% of ADF males had an affective disorder compared to 6.4% of the Australian Community. These differences in rates fell in the 38–47 age group, where 7.1% of ADF males had an affective disorder in contrast to 5.1% in the Australian Community (McFarlane et al., 2011). A similar pattern emerged for anxiety disorders. In the 18–27 age group, there was virtually no difference between the 2010 Regular ADF and the Australian Community. However, in the 28–37 age group, 19.8% of ADF members had an anxiety disorder compared to 11.3% of the Australian Community. In the 38–47 age group, rates of anxiety slightly increased to 12.5% in the Australian Community compared to 12.9% in the ADF – significantly lower than in the 28–37 age group (McFarlane et al., 2011).

The 2010 MHPWS also found higher rates of lifetime trauma in the ADF compared to the Australian Community, with 2010 Regular ADF members more likely to have experienced life-threatening motor vehicle or other accidents, and to have been exposed to natural and man-made disasters (Van Hooff et al., 2012). They were also more likely to have seen someone being badly injured or killed, and to have been mugged or subjected to violence. This illuminated the significant risks to future morbidity in the ADF arising not only from deployment-related traumatic stress, but also from traumatic stresses experienced when not on deployment and in their personal lives (Dedert et al., 2009; Searle et al., 2013).

Taken together, these results suggest the need to further examine the mental and physical health of Transitioned ADF members more closely. First, the presence of only a slight difference in rates of mental disorders between the ADF and the Australian Community in the 38–47 age group suggests that those who remain in the ADF are likely to be more resilient and to have completed earlier military service without developing significant symptoms. Moreover, these declining rates of mental disorder in the ADF suggest that those who developed mental disorders early in their career are likely to have left the ADF, meaning the morbidity related to their military service was

no longer visible in a cross-sectional population study. This result cannot simply be explained by the general propensity of rates of depression to drop with age, as the decline over time is significantly greater in the ADF than in the Australian Community (Slade et al., 2009). While DVA has visibility over current and former ADF members who are DVA clients, little is known about those who do not engage with DVA.

In addition, the increased rates of trauma exposure in the ADF indicate a general burden of trauma exposure in this population, which conveys long-term risk of mental disorder (Del Gaizo et al., 2011; Karam et al., 2014). When the 2010 MHPWS was conducted, it is probable that this risk had not fully manifested; however, with the passage of time, and through the effects of sensitisation (progressive amplification of responses brought about by repeated exposure to a stimulus), an increase in the emergence of symptoms and disorders is likely in this population.

1.2.3 Mental health in the Transitioned ADF

Currently, the prevalence of diagnosed mental disorder in a representative cohort of Transitioned ADF members is unknown. However, research provides insight into the long-term impacts of military service in Australian deployed cohorts, with strong evidence of increasing rates of mental disorder over time.

For example, the MEAO Census and MEAO Prospective Health Study examined the health status of more than 14,000 Regular ADF and ex-serving ADF members deployed to the MEAO between 2001 and 2009. However, data collection was limited to deployed ADF members. Results of this study identified poorer mental and general health among ADF members who had been discharged or transitioned into the Reserves compared to those who remained in service. Ex-serving ADF members (OR 6.9, 95% CI, 5.6, 8.6), Active Reservists (OR 2.5, 95% CI, 2.1, 2.9) and Inactive Reservists (OR 2.4, 95% CI, 2.0, 2.9) were significantly more likely to report more symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) than Regular ADF members. This pattern of significantly increased symptomatology in Ex-Serving, Active and Inactive Reservists compared to Regular ADF members was also observed for symptoms of major depressive disorder, alcohol misuse and suicidal ideation (Dobson et al., 2012). However, these ex-serving and transitioned ADF members comprised just one-fifth of the total MEAO Census sample; therefore, overall, they represent only a small proportion of the 5000 ADF members who transition from the Regular ADF every year.

A 10-year follow-up health study of Australian Gulf War veterans – conducted 10 years after a baseline study in 2000–2002 – produced similar findings. x-serving members accounted for a high proportion of the 715 veterans (five in six were no longer serving), who were compared to a matched group of 675 participants (Sim et al., 2015). In this study, using the World Mental Health Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization Composite International Diagnostic Interview – version 3.0 (CIDI), 7.3% of

Gulf War veterans and 2.8% of the matched comparison group met criteria for 12month PTSD 10 years after their initial assessment. Since the baseline study, new (incident) cases of PTSD were more likely to occur in Gulf War veterans than in the comparison group. In addition, the pattern of PTSD was more likely to persist and less likely to remit, with a four-fold increase in 12-month PTSD in Gulf War veterans over the 10-year follow-up period.

Additionally, in both groups, the prevalence of 12-month probable alcohol disorder approximately doubled in the 10-year period (from 3.1% to 6.3% for Gulf War veterans and 1.6% to 2.9% for the comparison group), and suicidal ideation and plans increased by 40% to 144% respectively (Sim et al., 2015).

Finally, a recent Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) report into suicide among in serving and ex-serving members examined the number of suicides of current, reserve and ex-serving ADF members between 2002 and 2014. Although suicide rates were 53% lower among ADF males serving full time and 46% lower among ADF male Reservists, the suicide rate for ex-serving ADF males was 13% higher than for males in the Australian population. There were significantly elevated rates of suicide in exserving men aged 18–24 (1.9 times higher) and 25–29 (1.5 times higher) than among men in the Australian Community. In 2002–2014, suicides were recorded for 84 current full-time serving ADF members, 66 ADF reserve members and 142 ex-serving ADF members (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2016).

1.2.4 Impact of transition from full-time military service: International literature

Transition from military service is an emerging field of international research and a relatively new concept in our understanding of the mental health and wellbeing of military members (Shields et al., 2016). There remains a lack of consensus on the meaning, definition and terminology used to describe the transition process in different countries (Ray & Heaslip, 2011). The literature considers various transition periods, ranging from up to six months before release from service (typically referred to as the peri-release period) until approximately five years after release (Pedlar & Thompson, 2016; Shields et al., 2016), with no standard start or end to transition (Pedlar & Thompson, 2016). The five-year post-service time frame is one of the only relatively consistent features of early transition across studies. Similarly, there is worldwide variation in how service leavers, veterans and ex-serving members are defined (Burdett et al., 2013; Commonwealth of Australia, 2013). This makes it particularly difficult to directly compare research findings of different countries, which, in turn, impedes our understanding of the concept of transition (Shields et al., 2016).

Despite this lack of consensus around theoretical framework, definition and terminology, the period of transition from military to civilian life is quickly becoming recognised as one of the most significant and stressful transitions in the life course of

military members worldwide. Many service leavers make the transition from military service with relative ease, with an estimated 60% to 75% internationally reporting an easy adjustment to civilian life (Pew Research Center, 2011; Thompson et al., 2011a; Van Til et al., 2014a). However, others, particularly those who developed mental health symptoms or disorders before discharge, may struggle with the adjustment to civilian life (Coll et al., 2011; Department of Veterans Affairs, 2016; Institute of Medicine, 2013; Iversen et al., 2005a; Kukla et al., 2015; Pease et al., 2016; Sayer et al., 2014; Tanielian & Jaycox, 2008). The transition period brings significant changes in identity, community, residence, social networks, status, family roles, occupation, finances, routines, responsibilities, supports and culture (Demers, 2011; Sayer et al., 2014; Sayer et al., 2010; Hatch et al., 2013; Harvey et al., 2011). These changes have the potential to manifest in the development of psychosocial adjustment issues. These can range from employment difficulties to family and/or relationship conflict, mental health and substance abuse problems and criminal offending. Obstacles and stress in multiple domains also place individuals at significant risk of poor outcomes (Pedlar & Thompson, 2016; Shields et al., 2016; Bergman et al., 2014; Castro & Kintzle, 2014; Coll et al., 2011; Pease et al., 2016; Burdett et al., 2013; Wainwright et al., 2016).

Additionally, during the transition process individuals also actively re-establish or connect with civilian healthcare and other service providers that are largely unknown to them, making it challenging to access appropriate care. These factors make this initial transition period a critical time for optimising the physical, mental and social health and wellbeing of transitioned military members. While it is recognised that, as with all life transitions, some degree of struggle is normal, the normative course of adaptation during the transition period remains poorly understood (Shields et al., 2016).

Similar to the Australian experience, international research has mainly focused on the impact of service on military members in specific deployments (for example, Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) and Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF)). While a number of these studies include current and Ex-Serving contingents, comprehensive research studies on representative cohorts of transitioned military populations remain scarce, with existing studies plagued by conflicting results, largely due to differences in sampling and research methodologies.

For example, a number of studies reported that the rates of PTSD – with and without comorbid depression and self-harm/attempted suicide – among transitioned members were almost double those of current serving members (Hatch et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2013; Pinder et al., 2012a). However, other studies report the prevalence of mental disorders as similar across both groups (Fear et al., 2009) or greater in current serving compared to transitioned members, or they report very specific differences in outcomes between the two groups (Villatte et al., 2015). For instance, Villatte (2015)

compared the characteristics of non-fatal suicide attempts in transitioned (n = 746) and current serving members (n = 1013) receiving treatment, in a pooled data analysis of six randomised controlled trials examining suicide interventions among members of the military. In this study, although current serving members were more likely than those who had transitioned to report a suicide attempt in their lifetime, among those who attempted suicide, transitioned members made a greater number of attempts. Interestingly, among transitioned members, the majority of first attempts typically occurred after military separation, with only 22% taking place before military enrolment and 21% occurring during active service (Villatte et al., 2015). This provides strong evidence for the overwhelming challenges some members of the military experience while reintegrating into civilian life.

Other studies monitoring changes in symptoms over time (during service and postservice) have reported varying patterns of symptom presentation over the course of a military career. For example, Golub & Bennett (2014) examined substance use patterns (during service and post-service) in 269 transitioned OIF/OEF military members who had discharged from service to low-income minority neighbourhoods within the previous two years. Interestingly, this study found alcohol use increased during military service, decreased dramatically on deployment, and then returned to pre-military levels after separation from the military. The finding that alcohol use, especially heavy use, declined after separation was consistent with the idea that some individuals participated in a drinking culture while in the military and left it behind after separation. A recent review of the issues faced by transitioning ex-service members in the UK supported this result, suggesting there is a culture of hazardous drinking in the UK military that is of concern, particularly for those who maintain military social networks (St George's House, 2014). However, it is important to note that differences in military cultures and attitudes towards drinking in different countries may invariably impact the prevalence of alcohol disorder in different military populations (Sundin et al., 2014).

Alcohol misuse, together with depressive and other anxiety disorders, has been reported as one of the primary issues for current serving members of the military in the United Kingdom, and is more prevalent than PTSD (Fear et al., 2009). Members of the UK military report considerably higher rates of alcohol misuse than the general population. It is also reported to be higher than levels in the US and Australian militaries (King's Centre for Military Health Research Academic Department of Military Mental Health (KCMHR), 2014; Sundin et al., 2014). This is likely to be reflected in the prevalence of alcohol misuse and mental disorders in those who have transitioned from military service in each of these countries; however, the direction of this relationship (particularly in Australia) is yet to be determined. Currently, alcohol misuse appears to be the US military's primary substance use concern, among both current and ex-serving US members of the military (Golub & Bennett, 2014). Of interest is the relationship between alcohol misuse and mental disorders in Transitioned ADF members, which will be addressed later in this report. Hourani (2012) conducted a longitudinal survey of 475 combat-exposed Marines and examined their mental health before they left the military and six months after returning to civilian life. Overall, they reported a significant decrease in anxiety, depression and PTSD symptoms from pre-transition to six months post-transition. However, it was important to note that a substantial proportion of respondents also met the criteria for a new mental health problem (10% for PTSD and 13% for an anxiety disorder) after separating from military service.

Finally, the prevalence of mental disorders in transitioned military members is largely influenced by the samples and instruments used (including the cut-off points to define caseness) to generate the estimates (Thomas et al., 2010). Of the limited number of studies available, the majority focus on individuals seeking treatment or compensation from DVA or the international equivalent (for example, Pickett et al., 2015; Ramchand et al., 2015). This is mainly because these individuals are easier to identify and trace once they leave the organised structure of the military (Burdett et al., 2014). Studies of this type report rates of any mental disorder at approximately 25%, with PTSD at 13% to 39%, anxiety disorder at 40%, depression at 17.4% to 41%, and substance use disorders at 6% to 38%. The rates depend on a number of factors including deployment history, country of service, time frame of assessment (current/lifetime), and time since separation from service (Dedert et al., 2009; Fulton et al., 2015; Sayer et al., 2010; Seal et al., 2007). However, these studies have limited generalisability beyond treatment seekers, and are likely to result in inflated prevalence estimates due to most of these individuals being entitled to treatment for a service-related physical or mental health condition (Thompson et al., 2011b).

1.2.5 Mental health in transitioned Canadian Forces

To date, a Canadian study is the only large-scale population-based study to examine a cohort of transitioned military members. The 2010 Survey on Transition to Civilian Life (STCL) was a national telephone survey that examined the health and wellbeing of 3154 Canadian Regular Force members after they transitioned to civilian life. All members had transitioned out of regular service between 1998 and 2007, and were being assessed between two and 12 years after leaving military service. In this study, mental health conditions were assessed using a checklist of self-reported diagnosed mental health conditions (including mood disorder, anxiety disorder and PTSD) that had lasted six months or more, a single-item measure of self-rated mental health, and the Mental Component Summary score of the SF-12.

Results of this study showed that most veterans (67%) assessed their mental health as 'very good' or 'excellent' on a self-rated perceived mental health measure. Regarding

specific mental disorders, a single item asked about the presence of mental disorders (including depression) diagnosed by a health professional.

Overall, 20% of respondents to the STCL reported either depression or anxiety, and this rate was greater in those accessing Veterans Affairs Canada (VAC) (52%).

Other mood disorders (mania, dysthymia or bipolar disorder) were reported among only 3% of the survey population, and, again, this was higher for VAC clients (9%) (Thompson et al., 2011a). The rate for self-reported (non-PTSD) anxiety disorders was 10% for the survey population, which was higher than in the Canadian general population (5%). Similar to findings for other mental disorders, the rates for anxiety disorders were elevated in VAC clients (30%), indicating that most who had anxiety were already VAC clients (Thompson et al., 2011a). Finally, 11% of the total study population reported having PTSD, with a rate of 43% for VAC clients. Too few non-VAC clients reported PTSD to calculate a reliable rate (Thompson et al., 2013; Thompson et al., 2011a). The prevalence of self-reported heavy drinking was 25.6%, which is comparable to the general population (Thompson et al., 2011a).

The STCL also asked respondents about lifetime suicidal thoughts, suicide ideation and suicide attempts in the last 12 months. For the sample of transitioned members, 6% had suicidal ideation in the last 12 months, with the rates highest among VAC clients (16%), and comparably lower in non-clients (4%). Of the total survey population, 18% had seriously considered committing suicide at some time in their lives, and this rate was higher in VAC clients (40%) (Thompson et al., 2011a). Suicidal ideation was much more common than suicide attempt, which, in turn, was more common than suicide. Very few respondents had attempted suicide in the last 12 months (1%). The estimated rate for suicide attempts at some time in their life for the total STCL population was 6%, which again was highest in VAC clients (14%). As in most civilian, and military and veteran studies, women were more likely to report suicidal ideation than men (Thompson et al., 2011a).

The Life After Service Survey (LASS 2013) extended the STCL and examined 2611 Canadian Regular Force members who transitioned between 1998 and 2012, as well as Reservists who transitioned between 2003 and 2012 (Thompson et al., 2015; Thompson et al., 2014; Van Til et al., 2014a; Van Til et al., 2014b). The sample included the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) as an additional measure of distress in the previous month and the Primary Care PTSD (PC-PTSD) symptom screen (a measure of probable PTSD in the previous month), using DSM-V criteria cut-off scores (Thompson et al., 2015; Thompson et al., 2014).

Similar to the findings in the STCL study, just over one-third of the Regular Force members who had transitioned were VAC clients – and they had poorer mental health than Reservists. Of the Regular Force members who transitioned, 24% had one or more

of the self-reported diagnosed mental health conditions. Self-reported mood disorders were almost three times more prevalent among the Regular Force members who had transitioned than in the general Canadian population, with prevalence of 24% for Regular Force members and 17% for Reservists compared to 6.3% in the general population.

The majority of Regular Force members who had transitioned (79%) showed low levels of psychological distress. On the K10 measure of psychological distress in the previous month, 13% of Regular Force veterans had moderate or severe levels of psychological distress (7% and 5% respectively). The prevalence of self-reported diagnosed PTSD for Regular Force members who had transitioned was 13% and the rate of suicidal ideation in the previous year was 7% (6–8%) (Thompson et al., 2015; Van Til et al., 2014a). Of the transitioned groups, Transitioned Reservists, particularly those with part-time or temporary full-time service – as opposed to those with full-time service in support of deployed operations, domestically or internationally – had the least difficulty adjusting to civilian life.

It was interesting to note that in the LASS 2013, of the 13% of transitioned Regular Force members with self-reported diagnosed PTSD, 38% did not meet the screening criteria for probable PTSD as measured by the PC-PTSD (Thompson et al., 2015). This suggests that about one-third with a diagnosis of PTSD were not highly symptomatic in the month before the survey. Conversely, 42% of Transitioned Regular Force members who screened positive for PTSD in the previous month did not have a self-reported diagnosis of PTSD, and may have been captured after being undiagnosed and/or having subthreshold mental health problems. This suggests an unmet need for recognition and diagnosis of PTSD in ex-serving members who are not seeking treatment and are living in the community (Thompson et al., 2015).

1.2.6 Risk and protective factors

Despite the lack of direct comparability of studies undertaken in different countries, there is an emerging profile of transitioned members of the military who have particularly poor mental health. This profile is comprised of a number of distinct risk and protective factors known to influence mental health during and after the transition period. These include pre-enlistment factors (childhood and non-military trauma and adversity), socio-demographic characteristics (age, sex and educational level), military and service-related factors (rank, Service, years of service, service-related mental and physical health problems) and transition factors (reason for transition, years since transition) (MacLean et al., 2014).

The Canadian military study by Thompson (2013) also examined the link between the health-related quality of life of members and a number of socio-demographic and transition factors. In this study, poorer mental and physical health was observed in

transitioned members who were middle-aged; lower in rank; widowed, separated or divorced; or unemployed, earning a low income or dissatisfied with their financial situation; had 10–19 years of service; were living in conditions that made it difficult to maintain physical and mental health; had a disability; had low social support; or who were medically discharged. A significant feature of the findings was that those with living conditions that made it difficult to adjust and maintain mental health tended to be concentrated among 'treatment-seeking' VAC clients (Thompson et al., 2015; Van Til et al., 2014a).

In the UK context, Hatch (2013) compared 1753 service leavers with 6511 regular serving members included in a representative cohort study of UK armed forces. In this study, service leavers were more likely than service members to report common mental disorders (assessed by the 12-item General Health Questionnaire), less social participation outside work and general disengagement with military social contacts. Interestingly, the failure to form and participate in social networks outside the Armed Forces appeared to have a differential impact on mental health, with the maintenance of *military-specific* social networks being associated with adverse psychological consequences, with the risk for common mental disorders also being partially explained by the social disengagement reported in this group. Pinder (2012b) reported that self-harm and suicide attempts were associated with being younger, experiencing greater childhood adversity and undertaking a shorter term of service, in a sample of UK current and ex-serving members of the military (Pinder et al., 2012b).

Hourani (2012) examined 475 US combat-exposed marines six months after they transitioned to civilian life, and revealed similar risk and protective factors for those meeting screening criteria for mental health problems (depression, anxiety and PTSD) and functional impairment. In this study, primary risk factors included experiencing higher levels of pre-separation combat exposure and post-separation stress across multiple life domains. The marines were also more likely to report a reason other than retirement or expiry of service for leaving the military. In this study, protective factors included having higher scores for pre-separation resilience and perceived social support at follow-up. Consistent with the Canadian research, reintegration difficulties were higher among US veterans who served in OIF, OEF or Operation New Dawn and who were VA health care users (62%), than for those who did not use VA (45%).

Overall, veterans identified as VA users had poorer mental health and greater reintegration difficulty and alcohol misuse than non-VA users (62% versus 45%) (Sayer et al., 2015).

The number of readjustment stressors was reported to closely correlate with psychiatric problems and a significant risk factor for suicide in a study of 233,803 members who had left the UK Armed Forces (1996–2005). In this study, the odds of

suicidal ideation among a psychiatrically impaired sub-sample with a high number of stressors was 4.3 times that of no-stressor group. After adjusting for individual mental health conditions, the odds of suicidal ideation among those experiencing the highest number of stressors were 5.4 times that of veterans experiencing no readjustment stressors (Kapur et al., 2009). Other post-service stressors known to be associated with poor outcomes included relationship and family conflict, separation and divorce, financial stress, unemployment and reliance on maladaptive coping strategies such as alcohol misuse (Golub & Bennett, 2014; Hoggatt et al., 2015).

Similar to what has been observed for current serving military members, other stressors experienced before and during service may also contribute to the risk of developing mental health problems for some ex-serving members in the transition period. This includes pre-enlistment or childhood adversity, such as childhood physical abuse, physical assault, social adversity and non-military related accidents or disasters (Dedert et al., 2009; Iversen et al., 2007; KCMHR, 2014; Clancy et al., 2006; van Staden et al., 2007), as well as combat exposure and physical assault occurring during military service (Clancy et al., 2006). Other non-service related lifetime traumas, including adult sexual trauma and physical assault after military service, are also associated with PTSD symptoms in particular (Clancy et al., 2006), as are a number of trauma types (Wisco et al., 2014).

Finally, while evidence is emerging internationally that experiences on deployment may be associated with adverse mental health outcomes (Interian et al., 2012; Institute of Medicine (IOM), 2013; Iversen et al., 2005a), how this plays out in the years after transition is less clear. It is hypothesised that the *healthy worker effect* means those members remaining in service longer are likely to be healthier. If this is the case, it is logical that those members with fewer years of service before transition may well have poorer mental health outcomes.

Evidence from the United Kingdom supports this notion, with several studies now pointing to early service leavers (ESL) (generally defined as those who leave before completing their minimum 3–4.5 years of service) and those who leave at short notice with little time to plan the transition to civilian life (that is, those whose military career was cut short due to redundancy, or medical or disciplinary discharge) may be at particular risk (Buckman et al., 2013; KCMHR, 2010; van Staden et al., 2007).

For example, a sample of 874 service leavers found that common mental disorders were more prevalent among ESLs than non-ESLs (45.6% versus 26.5%) (Buckman et al., 2013). Giebel's 2014 study of 952 treatment-seeking UK veterans receiving psychological therapy reported higher levels of anxiety disorder (9%) and depression (30.8%) in ESLs than in non-ESLs (5.3% and 24.2% respectively). Similarly, whether the

transition process is perceived as a positive or negative life event can also significantly impact mental health outcomes (van Staden et al., 2007).

1.3 Aims, definitions, structure and scope

The Australian and international literature highlights the need for comprehensive research on the mental health and wellbeing of members who have transitioned from full-time service, including examining protective and risk factors. It is only through understanding that targeted policy and programs can be developed to meet the needs of individuals in each stage of their military career.

The MilHOP program provided valuable information for developing policy and programs within DVA and Defence. For example, the finding that non-operational service can involve significant risk to ADF members led to new Defence policy initiatives to increase access to mental health services for *all* ADF members. Within DVA, the eligibility criteria for members and families to access VVCS was expanded to include more types of non-operational service; for example, border protection, training accidents and disaster relief. Importantly, members with more than three years of peacetime service became eligible to access health care for PTSD, depression, anxiety and substance use disorders without the need to submit a claim. Importantly, the MilHOP studies provided a framework for future research, which has been a significant driver for this Programme.

The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study aims to examine the prevalence of mental disorders and self-reported mental health and wellbeing in the first five years after transition, as this is a critical period to target for early intervention. Importantly, an understanding of the difference between mental health and wellbeing in those currently serving, those who have transitioned to the Reserves and those discharged and in the community is needed to start examining protective and risk factors in the Australian context.

1.3.1 Aims of this report

The primary aims of the Mental Health Prevalence Report were to:

- provide population-based prevalence estimates of mental disorders and selfreported suicidality among ADF members who transitioned out of full-time regular service in the five-year period between January 2010 and December 2014
- explore a range of potential demographic, service-related and transition-related predictors of mental health outcomes among Transitioned ADF members

- compare the self-reported mental health and wellbeing of Transitioned ADF with the 2015 Regular ADF, including a further comparison between the 2015 Regular ADF with those serving in 2010
- compare the self-reported mental health and wellbeing of Transitioned ADF against a matched Australian Community sample.

1.3.2 Structure of this report

This report, therefore, will provide a comprehensive, high-level overview of the mental health and wellbeing of Transitioned ADF, as well as a comparison of the Transitioned ADF with other key groups of interest including the 2015 Regular ADF and the Australian Community. It will identify the key demographic, service and transition factors that are of importance in influencing mental health in the Transitioned ADF, thereby providing a framework for further detailed analyses. It will also highlight the key priority areas for further DVA and ADF policy and research attention.

1.3.3 Defining transition from regular military service

This Programme targeted transition across a five-year time frame (January 2010 to December 2014), commencing *after* leaving full-time Regular ADF service and not including the peri-transition period. In Australia, when an ADF member leaves full-time regular service, they either are discharged completely (if they are involuntarily discharged; that is, on medical or administrative grounds) or transfer into the Active or Inactive Reserves. Therefore, the term 'Transitioned ADF' is used to denote all regular service leavers, including Ex-Serving ADF members and Active (minimum requirement of 20 days' service per year and ongoing training) and Inactive/Standby Reserves (no minimum requirement and no training obligation). As such, Active Reservists are generally those most engaged with Defence, and ex-serving members are least engaged, so the impact of this level of continued engagement will also be examined.

1.3.4 Scope of this report

This report will address the following 10 questions:

- What is the socio-demographic profile of Transitioned ADF members and is this different to the 2015 Regular ADF?
- What are the circumstances surrounding transition? (Why and how do ADF members leave the ADF and how engaged do they remain following transition?)
- What is the prevalence of lifetime and 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, anxiety disorders and alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members?

- What demographic, service-related and transition-related factors are associated with 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, anxiety disorders and alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members?
- What is the degree of comorbidity between ICD-10 anxiety (excl. PTSD) disorders, affective disorders, alcohol disorders and PTSD in Transitioned ADF members?
- How does the overall self-reported mental health (i.e. depression, PTSD, other anxiety disorders, suicidal ideation, alcohol consumption, anger) of Transitioned ADF members differ from 2015 Regular ADF members?
- How does the overall self-reported mental health of the 2015 Regular ADF differ from the self-reported mental health of the 2010 Regular ADF?
- Is there a difference in the self-reported mental health and ICD-10 mental disorder of Transitioned ADF who have discharged completely and those who remain in the Active or Inactive Reserves?
- Is there an association between self-reported mental health and ICD-10 mental disorders and years since transition from Regular ADF service in Transitioned ADF members?
- How does the overall self-reported mental health of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF differ from the Australian Community?

1.3.5 Outline and interpretation of this report

This report begins with a short summary of the methodology specific to this report. Chapter 3 describes the demographic characteristics of the populations included in the subsequent analyses: the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, followed by a summary of key circumstances surrounding transition for the Transitioned ADF only. This provides the contextual background for the remainder of the report.

Chapter 4 focuses on the Transitioned ADF, presenting weighted estimates of lifetime and 12-month rates of ICD-10 mental disorders, as well as self-reported suicidality. A range of further detailed analyses then focuses on 12-month mental disorders and suicidality, summarising the distribution of mental disorders and suicidality according to key demographic, service and transition factors of interest. Acknowledging specific interest in rates of PTSD in this population, it includes an additional focused analysis of PTSD and lifetime trauma. This chapter concludes with an examination of mental disorder comorbidity.

Chapter 5 considers the Transitioned ADF in comparison to a 2015 Regular ADF population. It also compares the 2015 Regular ADF study results with the 2010 MHPWS, focusing on self-reported mental health and wellbeing outcomes.

Finally, chapter 6 compares the Transitioned ADF with a matched Australian Community sample. This chapter aims to benchmark the Transitioned ADF against the Australian Community, with the choice of outcome variables restricted to self-reported psychological distress and alcohol consumption, to ensure that only the most recent and relevant data available in the Australian context is used.

The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorders and self-reported mental health symptoms for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF are population-weighted estimates. As such, they represent population-level outcomes based on the responses of the proportion of the population that completed the measure in question. Weighting was based on the demographic characteristics of sex, rank, Service and medical fitness. Therefore, the accuracy of the weighted estimates is limited to the extent that these characteristics together are associated with the outcomes of interest. Further information on the weighting process is provided in chapter 2.

Where the mental health and wellbeing of the 2015 Regular ADF are compared against the 2010 Regular ADF, this represents a direct numerical comparison and does not include tests of statistical significance. As these two samples cannot be considered independently, between-group differences should be interpreted with caution, noting that some members of the 2015 Regular ADF sample are also represented in the 2010 Regular ADF sample. The issue of individual change in symptoms and disorder over time in this group will be addressed in the future longitudinal report.

This report will provide a comprehensive overview of the mental health of recently Transitioned ADF members, including potential risk and protective factors associated with mental disorder and symptoms. It will contextualise these against the health of 2015 Regular ADF members and the Australian Community. The report concludes with a discussion and summary of findings, including the strengths and limitations of the study, the key implications and directions for future research.

How to interpret and discuss the findings in this report

Weighted prevalence estimates

- Where the report talks about prevalence estimates of mental disorder and symptoms, it is
 referring to the <u>estimated</u> rates of a particular outcome within the entire population. It is
 important to understand that these are estimates. These estimates represent the
 proportion of cases we would predict to observe in the entire population, based on the
 proportion of actual cases detected in the subpopulation who completed the outcome
 measure (the CIDI for mental disorder estimates, the survey for symptom estimates).
- When considering prevalence estimates, the <u>estimated proportions</u> are more informative than the <u>estimated numbers</u>.

- While results in this report were weighted to be representative of the total population, this weighting was performed on the basis of four key variables: **sex**, **rank**, **Service** (Navy, Army or Air Force) and **medical fitness**. This assumes a general consistency across individuals with each combination of these characteristics (strata), and does not account for individual differences, or other factors that may influence the outcomes of interest.
- The relatively low response rates observed in the study mean that the weighted estimates presented may have a lower level of accuracy, with estimates more highly dependent on the characteristics used for weighting.
- The estimates for subpopulations (strata) with higher response rates can be considered more accurately representative of those subpopulations than those with lower response rates.
- The subpopulations used for weighting in this report (strata) are presented in Table D14. This table shows how many individuals within the population each responder represents for each strata. The higher this number, the more caution should be applied in interpreting the associated estimates.
- In the case of diagnosable mental disorder:
 - In this report, all lifetime and 12-month mental disorder prevalence rates were calculated using ICD-10 scoring, and as such provide a more inclusive measure of mental disorder than DSM 5.
 - Where mental disorder cases were detected among a proportion of study participants who completed the CIDI, the characteristics of this subpopulation were used as a basis for estimating the likelihood of disorder caseness in the broader study population who share those characteristics (through statistical weighting).
 - The proportion of the subpopulation who have the disorder may be somewhat higher or lower than, or may be the same as, the proportion of the total population estimated to have that disorder.
 - It is important when reading these estimates to keep in mind that the actual number of cases, for CIDI disorder, will be significantly lower than the total number of cases estimated to occur in the entire population, as the raw numbers reflect only the number of individuals invited to complete an interview.
 - A two-phase weighting process was used to derive the prevalence estimates of diagnosable mental disorder. Stage 1 weighting accounted for the nonrepresentativeness of the sample invited to complete a diagnostic interview, while Stage 2 weighting adjusted the weights to be representative of the characteristics of the total population (see Table D17 for the number of disorder cases detected and estimated at each stage).
 - Where a mental disorder is relatively rare (e.g., bipolar affective disorder), and is
 detected at a high rate among individuals who share characteristics with a large
 proportion of the population (e.g., Other Ranks), the estimated proportion of the

entire population predicted to have that disorder should be greater than the proportion of cases detected.

- Where a disorder is relatively common, and is detected at a high rate among those who share characteristics with a small proportion of the population, the estimated proportion of the total population predicted to have that disorder should be lower than the proportion of cases detected.
- Therefore, to interpret the precision or imprecision of a given estimate, readers might consider additional information supplied with the estimates, such as confidence intervals.

Confidence intervals: these represent the possible range of values within which the presented estimate falls. Where the value of interest is a prevalence estimate, the confidence intervals show the range of error of the estimate. In general, confidence intervals that are very close to the estimate value reflect the precision of the estimate, while those that are very wide reflect estimate imprecision. Where there are wide confidence intervals, associated estimates should be interpreted cautiously, with the upper and lower limits considered the top and bottom range of possible precise values.

Standard errors: like confidence intervals, standard errors indicate the range of error in an average score that is presented.

Between-group comparisons: when comparing prevalence estimates between groups, the overlap in confidence intervals provides an indication of between-group differences. Where there is significant overlap, any apparent difference in estimates is more likely to reflect measurement or estimate error.

In general, the smaller the subpopulation of interest, the greater the error. So, where a stratification variable has a very small number in some categories, estimates are likely to have large associated confidence intervals or standard errors.

Odds ratios (ORs): when estimating the prevalence of a specific health outcome, there can be differences in the prevalence rates between two groups (for example, 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF) due to differences in factors other than transition status – such as sex, age, Service or rank – across the comparison groups, particularly if these other factors are associated with the health outcome. If this is the case, these factors are potentially confounders, and one method of reducing confounding is to employ a logistic regression model that controls (for example, adjusts) for these factors. The statistical output from a logistic regression model is an odds ratio (OR). An OR denotes the odds of a particular group (for example, 2015 Regular ADF) having a specific health outcome compared to a reference group (for example, 2015 Regular ADF).

An OR of greater than one indicates increased odds of having a particular health outcome compared to the reference group, and an OR of less than one suggests less likelihood of having a particular health outcome. For example, an OR of 1.7 for the Transitioned ADF (compared to 2015 Regular ADF) suggests that members of the Transitioned ADF have 70% increased odds of having that particular health outcome. Conversely, an OR of 0.7 suggests that Transitioned ADF members are 30% less likely than 2015 Regular ADF members to have a particular health

outcome. When an OR is greater than two, we can then say that Transitioned ADF members are twice as likely as 2015 Regular ADF to have a particular health outcome. Similarly, if the OR is greater than three, they would be three times as likely to have a particular health outcome, and so forth.

Significance: where a between-group difference is discussed as significant in the text, this means that the difference between groups was statistically tested, adjusting for sex, age and Service, and the associated confidence intervals had no overlap between groups.

Comparison between the 2015 Regular ADF and the 2010 Regular ADF: weighted estimates for the 2015 Regular ADF are presented alongside weighted estimates for the 2010 Regular ADF, which are directly reproduced from those presented in the 2010 MHPWS report. As such, only simple mean or proportion comparisons are made, with no statistical comparisons between these groups. Any observed differences should be interpreted with caution.

Comparison between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community: weighted estimates of mental health outcomes for the Australian Community were standardised on the basis of sex, employment status and age. These estimates are presented in these categories, alongside those for the Transitioned ADF.

These standardised rates are not the true rates in the ABS population, but are hypothetical rates that would have been observed if the Australian Community population had the same age, sex and employment distribution as the Transitioned ADF population. This standardised rate takes into account any differences in the age, sex and employment structure of the two populations. Thus, when comparing the two populations using standardised rates, any remaining differences between them cannot be attributed to confounding by these three demographic factors.

Further caveats to be considered when reading and discussing the <u>findings from this study</u>:

- The overall response rate for the study was low, particularly among the Transitioned ADF.
 While responder data were able to be statistically weighted up to the total population, the lower the number of responders, the less accurate the resulting weighted population estimates are likely to be.
- Response rate data show some subpopulations had substantially lower response rates, which affects the accuracy of associated estimates. In particular, among the ranks, Officers and Non-Commissioned Officers were over-represented among responders, while Other Ranks were highly under-represented, despite accounting for the largest proportion of the total population. As such, any estimates, when stratified by rank, should be interpreted with a degree of caution.
- A large proportion of this study reports on self-report measures, which are subject to
 potential biases, including recall bias, and other response biases. The collection of
 diagnostic mental disorder data allows for corroboration of findings however, these
 potential biases should be noted.

Chapter 4

- In this chapter, all lifetime and 12-month mental disorder prevalence rates were calculated using ICD-10 scoring, and, as such, provide a more inclusive measure of mental disorder.
- Mental disorder prevalence estimates were calculated using data from a subset of participants, and while efforts were made to ensure they were representative of the broader population, biases in responders was still present. See Annex A for detail regarding how potential responder and selection biases were statistically addressed.
- Where between-group or category comparisons were made, these were statistically adjusted for sex, age and Service. This means that any resulting difference between groups is the difference that would be present if both groups were of equivalent sex, age and Service.
- Suicidality prevalence estimates were based on self-report survey data.

Chapter 5

- In this chapter, weighted estimates of self-reported mental health outcomes are reported for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. These rates are statistically compared.
- The 2010 Regular ADF refers to the population included in the 2010 MHPWS, and results included in this chapter are reproduced directly from the MHPWS report. Weighted estimates of self-reported mental health outcomes for the 2015 Regular ADF are compared to these results, using simple mean or proportion comparisons.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

2 Methodology

Study design

• The study used a two-phase design. In Phase 1, participants were screened for mental health problems using a 60-minute self-report questionnaire. In Phase 2, Transitioned ADF members were selected to participate in a one-hour diagnostic telephone interview using the World Mental Health Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization Composite International Diagnostic Interview – version 3.0 (CIDI). Selection for this interview was based on strata derived from rank, sex, Service and scores on the Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist (PCL) and the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT).

Study populations

- The Transitioned ADF population comprised 24,932 ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (includes Active and Inactive Reservists and Ex-Serving ADF members).
- The 2015 Regular ADF population comprised the entire Regular serving ADF population in 2015 (N = 52,500).
- Two population comparison groups were used:
 - 2010 Regular ADF includes results drawn from the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS) report and represents the entire Regular ADF in 2010
 - the Australian Community (2014–2015) socio-demographically matched data were drawn from the 2014–2015 Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) National Health Survey (NHS) data.

Survey completion rate

• Of those invited, 18% (n = 4326) of the Transitioned ADF population and 42.3% (n = 8480) of the 2015 Regular ADF population completed the survey.

CIDI completion rate

 In the Transitioned ADF, 1807 participants were selected for an interview and 1049 Transitioned ADF members completed a CIDI interview.

Weighting

• All survey data for the Transitioned ADF was weighted using distinct strata for sex, Service, rank and medical fitness.

- All survey data for the 2015 Regular ADF was weighted using distinct strata for sex, Service, rank, medical fitness, and whether the individual completed a study as part of MilHOP.
- CIDI weights were derived for the Transitioned ADF, based on strata including band (cut-offs were based on PCL and AUDIT), sex and Service. Post-stratification by the variables of sex, Service and rank was used to adjust the weights so that the known population totals were reproduced by the estimates, and to correct for differential non-response by rank.

Analysis

- All analyses were conducted in Stata version 13.1 or SAS version 9.2, and used weighted estimates of totals, means and proportions.
- All regressions included the co-variates for age, sex, Service and rank.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

Chapter 2 outlines the methodology for this report. For the full methodology, including a comprehensive description of all measures used in the survey, refer to Annex A.

2.1 Study design

Prevalence estimates for mental disorders in the Transitioned ADF, as categorised by the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems -10th Revision (ICD-10), were obtained using a two-phase study design. This is a wellaccepted approach to epidemiological research (Salim & Welsh, 2009) and was used in the 2010 MHPWS (McFarlane et al., 2011). In Phase 1 of the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study, Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members were screened for mental health problems, psychological distress, physical health problems, wellbeing factors, pathways to care and occupational exposures using a 60-minute selfreport questionnaire, which was completed online or in hard copy. Each participant received a slightly different questionnaire, which was relevant to their current ADF status – Transitioned ADF, 2015 Regular ADF or Ab initio Reservist – and regarding demographics, service and deployment history. However, the core-validated measures of psychological and physical health remained the same, and, where possible, replicated the measures previously administered as part of the 2010 MHPWS. This component of the design is critical to making longitudinal comparisons across time, and highlights the importance of using a consistent approach to research design for military and veteran populations over time.

In Phase 2, a sub-sample of Transitioned ADF members surveyed in Phase 1 were selected to participate in a one-hour diagnostic telephone interview using the CIDI (Kessler & Ustun, 2004). This interview was the same as that conducted in 2010, and assessed mental disorders based on the definitions and criteria of two classification

systems: the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV) and the ICD-10 (World Health Organization, 1994). For this report, ICD-10 diagnostic criteria were reported to be consistent with the 2010 MHPWS and the 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing (NSMHW) conducted by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008).

This instrument was chosen because it is widely used in epidemiological surveys worldwide and is fully structured. The Hunter Research Foundation conducted the interviews. All interviewers were trained in the computer-assisted personal interview version of CIDI and had experience working with veterans. Further details of the self-report survey measures and the 12-month and lifetime ICD-10 mental disorders examined using the CIDI are provided in section 2.7.

2.2 Samples

This report uses two of the Programme's six overlapping samples (a detailed description of all six samples used in the broader Programme can be seen in section A.3 of Annex A: Methodology).

Sample 1: Transitioned ADF. This sample comprised all ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014, and included those who transitioned into the Active and Inactive Reserves as well as those who had discharged completely from the Regular ADF (Ex-Serving). All individuals were given the opportunity to opt out of being invited to participate in the research.

Sample 2: 2015 Regular ADF. This sample comprised three separate groups of 2015 Regular ADF members in 2015 who were invited to participate in the study: (1) those who participated in the 2010 MHPWS and were in the 2015 Regular ADF; (2) those who participated in the Middle East Area of Operations (MEAO) Prospective Health Study between 2010 and 2012 and were in the 2015 Regular ADF; and (3) a stratified random sample of 2015 Regular ADF members who were not part of the 2010 MHPWS or the MEAO Prospective Health Study. The combined results from these three groups were weighted to be representative of the 2015 Regular ADF.

Of the Transitioned ADF population of 24,932, 96.2% (23,974) were invited to participate. Those not invited represented individuals who may have opted out of the study or did not have any usable contact information. Of the 2015 Regular ADF, 38% (20,031) of the entire population (52,500) were invited to participate.

The samples were taken from the Military and Veteran Research Study Roll (Study Roll) generated for the Programme and held at the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). The Study Roll was generated from members' data from Defence, contact data from DVA and contact details from ComSuper, and cross-referenced

against the National Death Index. For all individuals in the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, basic demographic characteristics to be used in weighting were held by the AIHW until the end of the data collection. These data were then provided to researchers in either identified or de-identified form, depending on participation and consent status.

2.2.1 Population comparison samples

2010 Regular ADF. Results drawn from the 2010 MHPWS report were directly imputed into this report to provide an indication of the change in self-reported mental health between the 2010 Regular ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. These results should be interpreted with caution due to the overlapping nature of these two populations.

The Australian Community (2014–2015). To enable comparison of estimates in the Transitioned ADF with an Australian Community population, direct standardisation was applied to estimates in the 2014–2015 ABS National Health Survey data. The NHS is the most recent in a series of Australia-wide ABS health surveys, assessing various aspects of the health of Australians, including long-term health conditions, health risk factors and health service use. The NHS data were restricted to those aged 18–71 (consistent with the Transitioned ADF). The NHS data were standardised by sex, employment status (employed or not) and age category (18–27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57 and 58+), and estimates were generated on the outcomes of interest. Standard errors for the NHS data were estimated using the replication weights provided in the NHS data file.

2.3 Response rates

2.3.1 Survey responders

Table 2.1 and Figure 2.1 show the total populations for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF; the number from each population invited to participate in the study; and the proportion of those invited who responded.

Of the Transitioned ADF population of 24,932, 96% (23,974) were invited to participate. Those not invited represented those individuals who may have opted out of the study or did not have any usable contact information. Thirty-eight per cent (20,031) of the 2015 Regular ADF population (52,500) were invited to participate. The sample of 2015 Regular ADF invited to participate included a stratified random sample of 5040 full-time members in 2015 as well as those who had participated in the Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP) between 2010 and 2012 and who were still serving in 2015. Of those invited, 18% (n = 4326) of the Transitioned ADF population and 42.3% (n = 8480) of the 2015 ADF population completed the survey.

	Transitioned ADF N = 24,932			2015 Regular ADF N = 52,500				
	Population	Invited	Responders	Response rate (%)	Population	Invited	Responders	Response rate (%)
Service								
Navy	5671	5495	863	15.7	13,282	5113	2040	39.9
Army	15,038	14,465	2463	17.0	25,798	8067	3500	43.4
Air Force	4223	4014	1000	24.9	13,420	6851	2940	42.9
Sex								
Male	21,671	20,713	3646	17.6	47,645	15,176	6693	44.1
Female	3261	3261	380	20.9	4855	4855	1787	36.8
Rank								
OFFR	4063	3939	1259	32.0	13,444	7847	3538	45.1
NCO	7866	7393	2097	28.4	17,491	9117	4336	47.6
Other Ranks	13,003	12,642	970	7.7	21,565	3067	606	19.7
Medical fitness								
Fit	18,273	17,525	2981	17.0	46,022	17,097	7116	41.6
Unfit	6659	6449	1345	20.9	6478	2934	1364	46.5
Total	24,932	23,974	4326	18.0	52,500	20,031	8480	42.3

Table 2.1 Survey response rates, by Service for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF

Notes: Unweighted data Response rates presented in the table above are calculated as the proportion of those invited to participate in the study OFFR: Officer, NCO: Non-Commissioned Officer

Figure 2.1 Survey response rates for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF



Figure 2.1 summarises the breakdown of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members who provided enough data to be included in the survey.

Table 2.2 presents the unweighted demographic characteristics of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF survey respondents.

The characteristics of survey respondents were as follows:

Age – Transitioned ADF survey responders (mean age 41.9 (SE 0.1)) were of a similar age to the 2015 Regular ADF responders (mean age 41.1 (SE 0.1)).

Sex – Consistent with the Transitioned ADF population, the sample was predominantly male, with transitioned females significantly more likely to respond than transitioned males. In the 2015 Regular ADF, females were less likely to respond than males.

Rank – Survey responders from the Transitioned ADF comprised 29.1% Officers, 48.5% Non-Commissioned Officers and 22.4% Other Ranks. In the 2015 Regular ADF, there was a similar distribution, with 41.7% Officers, 51.1% Non-Commissioned Officers and 7.2% Other Ranks. The Transitioned ADF population had significantly lower response rates for Officers and Non-Commissioned Officers, but significantly higher response rates in Other Ranks compared to the 2015 Regular ADF. In both groups, the lower ranks were the poorest responders.

Service – In the Transitioned ADF, 19.9% of survey responders were Navy, 56.9% were Army and 23.1% were Air Force. However, for the 2015 Regular ADF, 34.7% of survey responders were Navy, 41.3% were Army and 24.1% were Air Force. When response rates in the different services were compared, Transitioned Air Force members were most likely to respond, whereas Transitioned Army and Navy members were least likely to respond. In the 2015 Regular ADF, Army had the highest response rate at 41.3%.

Medical fitness – Not surprisingly, Transitioned ADF were significantly more likely to be unfit on transition from Regular ADF (31.1%) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF population (16.1%). Transitioned ADF who were unfit had a response rate of 20.9% compared to 46.5% in the 2015 Regular ADF.

	Transitioned ADF n = 4326			2015 Regular ADF n = 8480		
	n	%	95% CI	n	%	95% CI
Age (M, SE)	41.9	0.2		41.1	0.1	
Age group						
18–27	471	10.9	(10.0, 11.9)	602	7.1	(6.6, 7.7)
28–37	1262	29.2	(27.8, 30.5)	2484	29.3	(28.3, 30.3)
38–47	1119	25.9	(24.6, 27.2)	2976	35.1	(34.1, 36.1)
48–57	871	20.1	(19.0, 21.4)	2069	24.4	(23.5, 25.3)
58+	548	12.7	(11.7, 13.7)	201	2.4	(2.1, 2.7)
Sex						
Male	3646	84.3	(83.2, 85.3)	6693	78.9	(78.0, 79.8)
Female	680	15.7	(14.7, 16.8)	1787	21.1	(20.2, 22.0)
Rank						
OFFR	1259	29.1	(27.8, 30.5)	3538	41.7	(40.7, 42.8)
NCO	2097	48.5	(47.0, 50.0)	4336	51.1	(50.1, 52.2)
Other Ranks	970	22.4	(21.2, 23.7)	606	7.2	(6.6, 7.7)
Service						
Navy	863	19.9	(18.8, 21.2)	2940	34.7	(33.7, 35.7)
Army	2463	56.9	(55.5, 58.4)	3500	41.3	(40.2, 42.3)
Air Force	1000	23.1	(21.9, 24.4)	2040	24.1	(23.2, 25.0)
Medical fitness						
Fit	2981	68.9	(67.5, 70.3)	7116	83.9	(83.1, 84.7)
Unfit	1345	31.1	(29.7, 32.5)	1364	16.1	(15.3, 16.9)

Table 2.2 Unweighted demographic characteristics of responders, by Transitioned ADF and Regular ADF

Response Rate Denominator: those who were invited and responded to the survey. Notes: Unweighted data; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

2.3.2 Composite International Diagnostic Interview responders

A total of 1807 Transitioned ADF members who completed a self-report survey and provided appropriate consent were selected to participate in the CIDI telephone interview. Phase 1 of selection was based on whether the participant consented to be contacted for a telephone interview about their mental health. Phase 2 of selection for the CIDI was determined according to screening scores, which are described in more detail in section 2.5.

	Transitioned ADF CIDI n = 1807 (selected); n = 1049 (responded)					
	Population	Selected	Responders	Response rate (%)		
Sex						
Male	21,671	1511	901	59.6		
Female	3261	284	142	50.0		
Missing		12	6	50.0		
Rank						
OFFR	4063	566	364	64.3		
NCO	7866	914	546	59.7		
Other Ranks	13,003	326	139	42.6		
Missing		1	0	0		
Service						
Navy	5671	357	198	55.5		
Army	15,038	1029	586	56.9		
Air Force	4223	421	265	62.9		
Medical fitness						
Fit	18,273	1185	711	60.0		
Unfit	6659	610	332	54.4		
Missing		12	6	50.0		
Total	24,932	1807	1049	58.1		

Table 2.3	CIDI response rates for Transitioned ADF, by Service, sex, rank and MEC status
	Cibi response rates for transitioned Abr, by Service, sex, rank and will status

Response Rate Denominator: Transitioned ADF Invited to participate in the CIDI interview Notes: Unweighted data

The characteristics of Transitioned CIDI respondents were as follows:

Sex – Consistent with the Transitioned ADF population, the CIDI sample was predominantly male; however, transitioned females (50% of those invited) were less likely to complete a CIDI interview than transitioned males (59.6%).

Rank – CIDI responders comprised 34.7% Officers, 52.0% Non-Commissioned Officers and 13.3% Other Ranks. ADF members in Other Ranks had a significantly lower response rate (42.6%) compared to around 60% for those invited Non-Commissioned Officers and Officers who responded. **Service** – Of CIDI responders, 18.9% were from the Navy, 55.9% the Army and 25.3% the Air Force. There was no significant difference between CIDI responders and non-responders in relation to Service.

Medical fitness – Transitioned ADF who were unfit on transition from Regular ADF comprised 31.6% of CIDI responders.

2.4 Statistical analysis

Analyses were conducted in Stata version 13.1 or SAS version 9.2. All analyses were conducted using weighted estimates of totals, means and proportions, except where specified otherwise. Standard errors were estimated using linearisation, except where specified otherwise.

Subgroup analyses were conducted on each of the 12-month ICD-10 mental disorders using the following demographic and deployment history predictors: sex (male, female), age (18–27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57, 58+), 2015 Regular ADF service or Service at transition (Navy, Army, Air Force), 2015 Regular ADF rank or rank on transition (OFFR, NCO, Other Ranks), years of service in the Regular ADF (< 3 months, 3 months – 3.9 years, and 4–7.9, 8–11.9, 12–15.9, 16–19.9, 20+ years) and deployment status (ever deployed, never deployed). For the Transitioned ADF, specific transition factors were included: transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservist, Active Reservist), reason for discharge (medical discharge, other reason), years since transition (0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5) and DVA client status (DVA client, not a DVA client).

Comparisons between the prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders among subgroups were analysed using weighted logistic regressions. All regressions involved the variables of age, sex, Service and rank. Comparisons between the prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorder classes (affective disorders, anxiety disorders, alcohol disorders) among subgroups were analysed using a weighted multinomial logistic regression, with the number of disorder classes as the outcome. The regression involved the co-variates of age, sex, Service and rank. Comparisons between the prevalence of self-reported suicidal behaviour among subgroups were analysed using weighted logistic regressions. All regressions included the co-variates of age, sex, Service and rank.

For the self-report measures, the proportion (n (%)) of ADF members in each subgroup is presented. Comparisons between the mean total scores among subgroups were also analysed where appropriate, using weighted multiple linear regressions. All regressions included the co-variates of age, sex, Service and rank. Comparisons between the prevalence of self-reported alcohol consumption and problems with drinking were analysed using weighted logistic regressions. A proportional odds model was considered for analysis; however, since the main assumption of this approach was

violated, the ordinal response was dichotomised by means of several cut-offs. All regressions included the co-variates of age, sex, Service and rank.

To compare the mental health and wellbeing of the 2015 Regular ADF with the 2010 Regular ADF, a direct numerical comparison was performed. This did not include standardisation or tests of statistical significance. As these two samples cannot be considered independent, between-group differences should be interpreted with caution, noting that some members of the 2015 Regular ADF sample are also represented in the 2010 Regular ADF sample. The issue of individual change in symptoms and disorder over time in this group will be addressed in the future *Changes over time: a longitudinal perspective*.

To compare estimates in the Transitioned ADF with the Australian Community, direct standardisation was applied to estimates within the 2014–15 ABS NHS. The NHS data were restricted to those aged 18–71 (consistent with the Programme transition population). The data were standardised by sex, employment status (employed or not) and age category (18–27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57 and 58+). Standard errors for the NHS data were estimated using the replication weights provided in the NHS data file.

2.5 Stratification procedure

In Phase 2 of the research, 1807 Transitioned ADF members were invited to participate in a one-hour telephone interview using the CIDI (Kessler & Ustun, 2004). In addition to two subgroups of Transitioned ADF within Sample 5 (Combat Zone) and Sample 6 (MHPWS) who were all eligible to complete a CIDI (refer to the full methodology in Annex A for a description of these samples), CIDI invitations preferenced groups accounting for the smallest proportion of the actual population (e.g., females) and those with high scores on the PCL and AUDIT in order to increase the representativeness of the sample and optimise the ability to capture low-prevalence mental disorders.

As such, these participants were selected for a CIDI interview based on rank, sex, Service and scores on the PCL and AUDIT, with screening scores on the PCL and AUDIT categorised into the following three bands:

- Band 3 = PCL > 27, AUDIT > 9
- Band 2 = PCL 21–27, AUDIT 7–9
- Band 1 = PCL < =20, AUDIT < =6.

Using the method proposed by Salim & Welsh (2009), the stratification procedure aimed to oversample those respondents in Band 3 (greatest likelihood of disorder). A smaller proportion from bands 2 and 1 were also sampled, to control for the possibility of over-inflated mental disorder estimates. Transitioned ADF within samples 5 and 6

were also allocated a band, as can be seen in Table 2.4, to ensure that these participants were also accounted for during sampling.

Based on the predicted proportions of Transitioned ADF survey responders who would score in each band on the PCL and AUDIT according to the population characteristics of sex, rank and Service, the following stratification algorithm was used to generate lists of eligible CIDI participants from among Transitioned ADF survey completers who consented to complete a CIDI:

- 1. Band 3
- 2. Female band 2
- 3. Female band 1
- 4. Male Navy band 2
- 5. Male Navy band 3
- 6. Male Army band 3
- 7. Male Army band 1
- 8. Male RAAF band 2.

Table 2.4 shows the final distribution of eligible Transitioned ADF across the strata used for selection into the CIDI, and the number who responded. Of the 1049 Transitioned ADF who completed a CIDI, 47.1% were in band 3, 21.4% in band 2 and 24.6% in band 1. The final sample comprised 55.4% Army, 18.9% Navy and 25.2% Air Force, with the majority of respondents being male (85.9%). A total of 78 CIDI responders were missing band, sex or Service, and were excluded from the final weighted population.
				Transitioned A	ADF CIDI				
	No ba	and*	Ba	and 1	Band 2		E	Band 3	
	Invited (n = 110)	Completed (n = 72)	Invited (n = 408)	Completed (n = 258)	Invited (n = 335)	Completed (n = 225)	Invited (n = 954)	Completed (n = 494)	
Navy									
Male	20	8	73	43	57	41	140	71	
Female	1	1	17	10	8	4	40	20	
Army									
Male	52	37	152	94	155	109	515	272	
Female	15	10	35	19	31	15	66	25	
Air Force									
Male	17	13	104	77	74	50	152	86	
Female	4	3	25	14	8	5	34	16	
Missing	1	-	2	1	2	1	7	4	

Table 2.4 Stratification characteristics of entire Transitioned ADF CIDI sample

*Includes Combat Zone and MHPWS participants who were invited to participate but were not stratified

2.6 Weighting

The statistical weighting process used in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study replicated that used in the 2010 MHPWS, and allowed for the inference of results for the Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF populations. The following two types of weights were used in the study:

- Survey responder weights were used to correct for differential non-response on the survey for both Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members.
- Two-phase CIDI responder weights, which compensated for both differential nonresponse on the survey, and for the over- or under-sampling of specific cases who went on to be interviewed with the CIDI. These weights apply to the Transitioned ADF only, and were used to generate 12-month and lifetime ICD-10 mental disorder prevalence estimates for the entire Transitioned ADF.

The weighting procedure involves allocating a representative value or 'weight' to the data for each responder, based on key variables that are known for the entire population (for responders and non-responders). This weight indicates how many individuals in the entire population are represented by each actual responder. Weighting data allows for inference of results for an entire population – in this case, the Transitioned ADF – by assigning a representative value in the data to each 'actual' case (responder) in the data. If a case has a weight of 4, it means that case counts in the data as 4 identical cases.

By using known characteristics of each individual within the population (in this case, age, sex, rank and medical fitness), the weight assigned to responders indicates how many 'like' individuals in the entire population (based on those characteristics) each responder represents. Weighting is used to correct for differential non-response and to account for systematic biases that may be present in study responders (for example, oversampling of high scorers for CIDI). Both types of weights were used in this study.

These two types of weights were combined to give each responder a single weight within the data. This methodology provides representative weights for the population, improving the accuracy of the estimated data, and requires that every individual within the population has actual data on the key variables that determine representativeness.

The Transitioned ADF weights were derived from the distinct strata of sex, Service, rank and medical fitness, a dichotomous variable derived from Medical Employment Classification (MEC) status. Of the total Transitioned ADF population, 313 (1.3%) had missing information on the strata variables, and therefore the final weighted population for analyses was 24,932.

The 2015 Regular ADF weights were derived from the distinct strata of sex, Service, rank, medical fitness, and whether the individual participated in MilHOP. This additional stratification variable was included to account for the targeted sampling of the MilHOP cohort, which was then over-represented within the current serving responders. To reduce this bias, a MilHOP flag variable (yes/no = 1/0) was created and used in the weighting process. There were 192 (0.4%) 2015 Regular ADF with missing information on the strata variables, reducing the final weighted population for analysis to 52,500. Tables B.14, B.15 and B.16 present the study population and responders within each stratum used for weighting, and show approximately how many persons each study responder represents within each subpopulation.

2.6.1 Estimates from survey

To maximise the data available for analysis, *survey* weights were calculated for each section of the survey. This addressed the issue of differential responses to various sections of the survey, whereby individuals potentially completed some but not all parts of the survey. A 'survey section responder' was defined as anyone who answered at least one question in a specific section of the survey. There were 29 section responder weight variables. For analysis, the weights used were always for the primary outcome variable of interest.

2.6.2 Estimates from the Composite International Diagnostic Interview

CIDI weights were derived for the Transitioned ADF based on strata including band (cut-offs based on PCL and AUDIT), sex and Service. These strata were used to weight the CIDI responses to the entire population. Within each stratum, the weight was calculated as the population size, divided by the number of CIDI respondents from the stratum. As there was no band for non-respondents, the population size within each stratum was estimated by multiplying the known sex by Service population total by the observed proportion belonging to the band of interest in the corresponding stratum. A finite population correction was also applied to adjust the variance estimates for the reasonably large sampling fraction within each stratum.

Post-stratification by the variables of sex, Service and rank was used to adjust the weights so that the known population totals were reproduced by the estimates, and to correct for differential non-response by rank.

2.7 Measures used in this report

2.7.1 Self-report survey

The following measures were used in the self-report survey to examine mental health symptoms:

- Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) (Kessler et al., 2002) to measure psychological distress
- Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist civilian version (PCL-C) (Weathers, 1993) to examine symptoms of posttraumatic stress
- Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) (Saunders et al., 1993) to examine at-risk patterns of drinking
- Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) to examine depressive symptoms (Kroenke et al., 2001)
- Dimensions of Anger Reactions Scale (DAR-5) (Forbes et al., 2004) to assess anger frequency, intensity and duration, and its perceived negative impact on social relationships
- Five items examining suicidal ideation and behaviour adapted from the NSMHW (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008)
- Items from the 2013 National Drug Strategy Household Survey (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2011) to examine 12-month and lifetime drug use in Transitioned ADF only
- Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7-item Scale (GAD-7) to examine symptoms of generalised anxiety disorder (GAD) (Spitzer, 2006)
- Deployment exposure items drawn from the MEAO Census (Dobson et al., 2012)
- Self-report lifetime trauma exposure questions drawn from the PTSD module of the CIDI (Haro et al., 2006). Participants were provided with a list of 27 traumatic events and were asked to identify which of these events they had experienced during their lifetime. Participants were then required to indicate which of the events they indicated 'yes' to was their worst event.

2.7.2 Composite International Diagnostic Interview

The following lifetime and 12-month ICD-10 mental disorders were examined for Transitioned ADF members using the CIDI:

- ICD-10 anxiety disorders:
 - panic attack
 - panic disorder
 - agoraphobia
 - social phobia
 - specific phobia
 - generalised anxiety disorder (GAD)
 - obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD)
 - posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD)
- ICD-10 affective disorders:
 - depressive episodes
 - dysthymia
 - bipolar affective disorder
- ICD-10 alcohol disorders:
 - alcohol harmful use
 - alcohol dependence.

In this report, individual ICD-10 disorder prevalence estimates are presented with hierarchy rules, which are applied to be consistent with Australian national rates. Lifetime exposure to trauma was also examined as part of the PTSD module of the CIDI (Kessler & Ustun, 2004). All 'criteria A' events listed in the CIDI were examined.

This range of mental disorders is the same as that presented by the 2007 NSMHW (Slade et al., 2007) and included in the 2010 MHPWS (McFarlane et al., 2011).

For the full methodology, including a comprehensive description of all measures used in the survey, refer to Annex A.

3 Demographic characteristics in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

Transitioned ADF

- More than half of Transitioned ADF members remained in the ADF as Reservists (55.8%). Of these, 25.7% were Active Reservists.
- The majority of Transitioned ADF members had left full-time service between one and three years prior, with the smallest proportion leaving less than 12 months prior.
- The most commonly reported reason for leaving was 'own request', which was the case for more than 60% of the Transitioned ADF.
- Just over one-fifth of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have been medically discharged.
- The most commonly reported reasons for transition were 'impact of service life on family' (10.2%), 'better employment prospects in civilian life' (7.2%), 'mental health problems' (6.5%) and 'physical health problems' (4.3%).
- Almost two-thirds of the Transitioned ADF reported being engaged in civilian employment (62.8%). For those individuals, the most common industries of employment were government administration and Defence (16.8%), mining (9.9%), construction (8.8%) and transport and storage (8.6%).
- A considerable proportion of the Transitioned ADF reported a period of three months or longer in which they were unemployed (43.7%) since transitioning from the Regular ADF.
- More than 43% of Transitioned ADF members reported accessing DVA-funded treatment through either a DVA White Card (39.4%) or DVA Gold Card (4.2%).
- Among the Transitioned ADF, approximately one in five reported joining an ex-service organisation.
- Among the Transitioned ADF, 2.9% reporting having been arrested, convicted (2.1%) or imprisoned (0.07%) since transition.

Transitioned ADF compared to 2015 Regular ADF

- Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF were equally likely to be aged 18–27. However, compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, there were more Transitioned ADF aged over 58.
- There were more females among the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.

- Transitioned ADF members were less likely to be 'in a relationship but not living together' compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.
- Just over 40% of the Transitioned ADF and 36% of the 2015 Regular ADF reported having a diploma or university qualification.
- There were no significant differences in housing stability between the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, with more than 93% estimated to have been in stable housing in the previous two months.
- Transitioned ADF members were more likely to come from the lower ranks compared to 2015 Regular ADF members.
- A greater proportion of the Transitioned ADF were from the Army compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.
- Twice as many members of the Transitioned ADF were classified as medically unfit compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.
- Transitioned ADF members were more likely to report having less than eight years of service compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

Chapter 3 provides a detailed summary of the demographic characteristics of the Transitioned ADF, including an examination of the differences between Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members. Outcomes are weighted up to the entire population, using the technique described in chapter 2. As such, they represent weighted estimates of these characteristics within the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF.

3.1 Demographic characteristics of the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

Table 3.1 describes the demographic characteristics of the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.

The age distribution across the two groups was significantly different with the Transitioned ADF having more elderly (58+ age group) and fewer middle-aged (38–47 age group) members based on 95% confidence intervals, while the younger age groups were similar for the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF. There were more females among the Transitioned ADF (13.1% vs. 9.2% 2015 Regular ADF). Based on 95% confidence intervals there was no significant difference between the two groups for 'Not in a relationship' or 'In a relationship and living together', however Transitioned ADF members were significantly less likely to be 'In a relationship not living together'. There were differences in the highest education categories, with Transitioned ADF being significantly more likely to have a diploma (20.9% vs 14.8%) and significantly less likely to have a university qualification than the 2015 Regular ADF (20.4% vs 22.9%). There were no differences in whether the respondents reported having stable housing over the past two months.

Table 3.2 describes the service characteristics of the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF. In the Transitioned ADF there were fewer Officers (16.3% Transitioned ADF vs 25.6% 2015 Regular ADF) and more Other Ranks (52.2% Transitioned ADF vs 41.1% 2015 Regular ADF) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF. The Service distribution also significantly varied between the two groups with more Army and fewer Air Force members in the Transitioned ADF. Significantly more Transitioned ADF members were classified as being medically 'unfit' (26.7%) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF (12.3%).

3.2 Demographic characteristics of the Transitioned ADF

As seen in Table 3.3, 25.7% of Transitioned ADF members have remained in the ADF as Active Reservists. Regardless of Reservist status, the majority reported transitioning between one and three years previously. The most common type of discharge/resignation reported was 'own request', which was the case for more than half of the Transitioned ADF (53.7%; with this percentage increasing to over 60% when including 'end of fixed period' (2.1%) and 'end of initial enlistment period' (5.2%)). The second most common type of discharge was 'medical discharge' with approximately one-fifth (20.4%) of Transitioned ADF reporting this type of discharge. The most commonly reported reasons for transition were 'impact of service life on family' (10.2%), 'better employment prospects in civilian life' (7.2%), 'mental health problems' (6.5%) and 'physical health problems' (4.3%). A large proportion of Transitioned ADF members did not report their main reason for transition (39.5%).

	Transitioned ADF N = 24,932				2015 Regular ADF N = 52,500	
	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)
Age group ^a						
18–27	471	5195	20.8 (19.3, 22.5)	602	10,319	19.7 (16.4, 23.3)
28–37	1262	8808	35.3 (33.6, 37.1)	2484	17,472	33.3 (29.9, 36.9)
38–47	1119	5215	20.9 (19.7, 22.2)	2976	14,185	27.0 (24.5, 29.7)
48–57	871	3389	13.6 (12.8, 14.5)	2069	8019	15.3 (14.3, 16.4)
58+	548	1937	7.8 (7.2, 8.4)	201	721	1.4 (1.1, 1.7)
Sex*						
Male	3646	21,671	86.9	6693	47,645	90.8
Female	680	3261	13.1	1787	4855	9.2
Relationship status						
In a relationship and living together	3121	16,453	65.9 (64.2, 67.7)	5964	33,433	63.7 (60.1, 67.2)
In a relationship but not living together	301	2182	8.8 (7.7, 9.9)	1100	8294	15.8 (13.1, 18.9)
Not in a relationship	821	5738	23.0 (21.5, 24.7)	1263	9847	18.8 (15.9, 22.0)
Education						
Primary/secondary school	1007	7062	28.3 (26.7, 30.0)	1996	15,269	29.1 (25.8, 32.6)
Certificate	975	7200	28.9 (27.2, 30.6)	1723	16,508	31.4 (28.1, 35.0)
Diploma	1063	5229	20.9 (19.7, 22.3)	1601	7787	14.8 (13.0, 16.9)
University	1221	5078	20.4 (19.3, 21.5)	3015	12,025	22.9 (21.6, 24.2)
Employment status						
Full/part-time paid work	2909	17,063	68.4 (66.8, 70.0)	8480	52,500	100.0
Unpaid work	151	777	3.1 (2.6, 3.7)	-	-	-
Unemployed/looking for work	199	1289	5.2 (4.4, 6.1)	-	-	-
Unemployed – sickness allowance/disability support pension	412	2224	8.9 (8.1, 9.9)	-	-	-

Table 3.1 Weighted demographic characteristics in the Transitioned and 2015 Regular ADF

	Transitioned ADF N = 24,932					
	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)
Student	206	1728	6.9 (5.9, 8.1)	-	-	-
Retired	377	1373	5.5 (5.0, 6.0)	-	-	-
Main source of income						
Wage/salary/own business/partnership	2590	16,024	64.3 (62.7, 65.8)	8480	52,500	100.0
Age pension	263	911	3.7 (3.3, 4.1)	-	-	-
Invalidity service pension	262	1322	5.3 (4.7, 6.0)	-	-	-
VEA/SRCA/MRCA compensation	195	1114	4.5 (3.8, 5.2)	-	-	-
Dividends/interest/investments	27	153	0.6 (0.4, 0.9)	-	-	-
Other pension/benefit/allowance	183	1342	5.4 (4.6, 6.4)	-	-	-
Superannuation	404	1590	6.4 (5.8, 7.0)			
Other	301	1795	7.2 (6.3, 8.2)	-	-	-
Stable housing						
No	129	852	3.4 (2.8, 4.2)	233	2287	4.4 (2.9, 6.4)
Yes	4089	23378	93.8 (92.8, 94.6)	8043	48,851	93.1 (90.7, 94.9)

Missing: 2015 Regular ADF: Age group: 148 (3.4%), Relationship status 153 (1.7%), Education 145 (1.7%), Stable housing 204 (2.6%) Transitioned ADF: Age group: 55 (1.6%), Relationship status 83 (2.2%), Education 60 (1.5%), Employment 72 (1.9%), Main income 101 (2.7%), Stable housing 108 (2.8%) Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

*No CIs are provided for Sex, Rank, Service and Medical fitness as these variables were used to create strata for weighting.

	Transitioned ADF N = 24,932			2015 Regular ADF N = 52,500		
	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)
Rank ^{a,*}						
OFFR	1259	4063	16.3	3538	13,444	25.6
NCO	2097	7866	31.6	4336	17,491	33.3
Other Ranks	970	13,003	52.2	606	21,565	41.1
Service ^{a*}						
Navy	863	5671	22.8 (22.8, 22.8)	2040	13,282	25.3
Army	2463	15,038	60.3 (60.3, 60.3)	3500	25,798	49.1
Air Force	1000	4223	16.9 (16.9, 16.9)	2940	13,420	25.6
Medical fitness*						
Fit	2981	18,273	73.3	7116	46,022	87.7
Unfit	1345	6659	26.7	1364	6478	12.3
Time in Regular ADF						
1 months – 3.9 years	316	2934	11.8 (10.5, 13.1)	263	6141	11.7 (8.9, 15.1)
4–7.9 years	966	9015	36.2 (34.5, 37.9)	840	9710	18.5 (15.4, 22.0)
8–11.9 years	613	3295	13.2 (12.1, 14.4)	1436	10,362	19.7 (16.9, 22.9)
12–15.9 years	478	2086	8.4 (7.6, 9.2)	1389	7568	14.4 (12.4, 16.8)
16–19.9 years	265	967	3.9 (3.5, 4.3)	994	4143	7.9 (7.1, 8.8)
20+ years	1580	5772	23.2 (22.4, 23.9)	3413	13,651	26.0 (24.4, 27.7)

Table 3.2 Weighted Service characteristics in the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

* Either 2015 Regular ADF or on discharge from Regular ADF service Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Missing: 2015 Regular ADF: Time in Regular ADF: 145 (1.7%) Transitioned: Time in Regular ADF: 108 (3.4%) *No CIs are provided for Sex, Rank, Service and Medical fitness as these variables were used to create strata for weighting.

		Transitioned ADF N = 24,932				
Characteristic	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)			
Serving status						
Ex-Serving	1675	10,902	43.3 (42.1, 45.4)			
Reservist						
Active Reservist	1398	6398	25.7 (24.4, 26.9)			
Inactive Reservist	1232	7502	30.1 (28.5, 31.8)			
Years since transition						
0	376	1945	7.8 (6.9, 8.8			
1	852	4874	19.6 (18.2, 21.0			
2	810	4944	19.8 (18.4, 21.3			
3	876	5233	20.9 (19.5, 22.5			
4	663	3582	14.4 (13.2, 15.6			
5+	503	2785	11.2 (10.1, 12.3			
Type of discharge/resignation						
Compulsory age	177	612	2.5 (2.2, 2.8			
Own request	2408	13,383	53.7 (52.0, 55.3			
Unsuitable for further training	45	485	1.9 (1.4, 2.7			
End of fixed period	80	532	2.1 (1.6, 2.8			
End of initial enlistment period/return of service obligation	113	1293	5.2 (4.3, 6.3			
Limited tenured appointment (Officers)	22	85	0.3 (0.2, 0.6			
Not offered re-engagement	9	83	0.3 (0.2, 0.7			
Accepted voluntary redundancy	150	533	2.1 (1.9, 2.5			
Compassionate grounds	26	150	0.6 (0.4, 0.9			
Non-voluntary discharge – administrative	77	757	3.0 (2.4, 3.9			
Medical discharge	911	5082	20.4 (19.4, 21.4			
Other	208	1242	4.9 (4.2, 5.9			
Main reason for transition						
Better employment prospects in civilian life	285	1800	7.2 (6.3, 8.3			
Lack of promotion prospects	127	688	2.8 (2.2, 3.4			
Inability to plan life outside of work	82	646	2.6 (2.0, 3.3			
Impact of service life on family	457	2546	10.2 (9.2, 11.3			
Pressure from family	46	228	0.9 (0.7, 1.3			
Didn't want to be away from home	101	586	2.4 (1.9, 2.9			
Pregnancy	7	39	0.2 (0.1, 0.4			
Posting issues (i.e. unhappy with location or nature of postings)	224	1061	4.3 (3.7, 4.9			
Too many deployments	4	14	0.1 (0.0, 0.1			
Not enough deployments	41	341	1.4 (0.9, 1.9			
Because of my experiences on deployment	44	336	1.4 (0.9, 1.9			
Work not exciting or challenging enough	93	724	2.9 (2.3, 3.7			
Dissatisfaction with pay	31	168	0.7 (0.4, 1.0			
Personal experience of harassment/ bullying/discrimination in the ADF	157	916	3.7 (3.1, 4.4			

Table 3.3 Weighted transition characteristics in the Transitioned ADF

	Transitioned ADF N = 24,932		
Characteristic	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)
Personal experience of violence in the ADF	5	40	0.2 (0.1, 0.4)
Disciplinary action or criminal offence	8	74	0.3 (0.1, 0.7)
My service was terminated	106	677	2.7 (2.2, 3.4)
Physical health problems	178	1079	4.3 (3.6, 5.2)
Mental health problems	281	1616	6.5 (5.7, 7.4)
Other	178	1079	4.3 (3.6, 5.2)

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Missing: Years since transition: 246 (6.3%), Type of discharge: 100 (2.8%), Main reason 1776 (39.5%)

Table 3.4 summarises employment and DVA support characteristics for Transitioned ADF members. Almost two-thirds of Transitioned ADF members reported being engaged in civilian employment (62.8%). For those individuals, the most common industries of employment were government administration and Defence (16.8%), mining (9.9%), construction (8.8%), and transport and storage (8.6%). Industry of employment was not reported for 1.3%. A considerable proportion of the Transitioned ADF reported a period of three months or longer in which they were unemployed (43.7%) since transitioning from the Regular ADF. More than 43% of Transitioned ADF members reported accessing DVA-funded treatment through either a DVA White Card (39.4%) or DVA Gold Card (4.2%).

As shown in Table 3.5, approximately 20% of the Transitioned ADF reported joining an ex-service organisation or voluntary group. A small proportion of the Transitioned ADF reported had been arrested (2.9%), convicted (2.1%) or imprisoned (0.1%) since transitioning from Regular ADF service.

		Transitioned ADF N = 24,932	
Characteristic	n	Weighted n	% (95% Cl)
Civilian employment			
Employed	2516	15,664	62.8 (61.2, 64.4)
Not employed	1735	8771	35.2 (33.6, 36.8
Hours worked in past week ^a			
0–20	250	1652	10.6 (9.1, 12.2
21–40	1199	7311	46.7 (44.3, 49.1
41–60	790	4949	31.6 (29.4, 33.9
61–80	94	576	3.7 (2.9, 4.7
80 plus	112	790	5.0 (4.0, 6.3
Civilian employment industry ^a			
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	53	380	2.4 (1.7, 3.4
Mining	221	1557	9.9 (8.5, 11.6
Manufacturing	92	751	4.8 (3.8, 6.1
Electricity, gas and water supply	71	504	3.2 (2.4, 4.2
Construction	162	1375	8.8 (7.4, 10.4
Wholesale trade	23	188	1.2 (0.8, 1.9
Retail trade	116	1058	6.8 (5.5, 8.3
Accommodation, cafes and restaurants	54	420	2.7 (1.9, 3.7
Transport and storage	230	1340	8.6 (7.3, 9.9
Communication services	96	666	4.3 (3.4, 5.4
Finance and insurance	35	216	1.4 (0.9, 2.1
Property and business services	63	407	2.6 (1.9, 3.5
Government administration and Defence	589	2637	16.8 (15.4, 18.4
Education	119	598	3.8 (3.1, 4.8
Health and community services	226	1210	7.7 (6.6, 9.0
Cultural and recreational services	30	201	1.3 (0.8, 1.9
Personal and other services	149	908	5.8 (4.8, 7.0
Emergency services	153	1044	6.7 (5.5, 8.1
Unemployment: at least 3-month period since transition			
Yes	1762	10,906	43.7 (42.0, 45.5
No	2455	13,359	53.6 (51.8, 55.3
DVA support since transition			
Treatment support (White or Gold Card)	1773	10,879	43.6 (41.8, 45.5
White Card	1565	9834	39.4 (37.6, 41.3
Gold Card	211	1057	4.2 (3.6, 4.9

Table 3.4 Weighted civilian employment and DVA support in the Transitioned ADF

a: Proportion of Employed Transition ADF only Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Missing: Civilian employment: 75 (2.0%), Hours worked 71 (2.5%), Industry 34 (1.3%), Unemployment 109 (2.7%)

	Transitioned ADF N = 24,932		
Characteristic	n	Weighted n	% (95% CI)
No. of ex-service organisations joined			
None	2358	17,359	69.6 (67.7, 71.5)
1	834	5060	20.3 (18.8, 21.9)
2	228	1347	5.4 (4.6, 6.3)
3	63	374	1.5 (1.1, 2.0)
4	17	82	0.3 (0.2, 0.6)
5 plus	11	47	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)
No. of other voluntary groups joined			
None	2204	16,202	64.9 (63.0, 66.9)
1	732	4610	18.5 (17.0, 20.1)
2	345	1961	7.9 (6.9, 8.9)
3	133	854	3.4 (2.8, 4.3)
4	36	208	0.8 (0.6, 1.2)
5 plus	27	160	0.6 (0.4, 1.1)
Criminal behaviour since transition			
Arrested	72	746	2.9 (2.3, 3.9)
Convicted	47	516	2.1 (1.5, 2.9)

Table 3.5 Weighted ESO engagement and incarcerations in Transitioned ADF

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Missing: Ex-service organisations: 60 (2.7%), other organisations 94 (3.8%)

4 Estimated prevalence of mental disorders

- Almost three in four Transitioned ADF members are estimated to have met criteria for an International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10) mental disorder in their lifetime.
- Almost one in two Transitioned ADF members are estimated to have met criteria for an ICD-10 mental disorder in the last 12 months.
- Alcohol (47.5%) and anxiety disorders (46.1%) were the most common lifetime disorder classes.
- Just under one-quarter of Transitioned ADF members were estimated to have met ICD-10 criteria for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in their lifetime (24.9%), and just under one in five met the criteria in the last 12 months (17.7%).
- Lifetime and 12-month rates of anxiety disorders were similar.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

The following chapter describes the estimated prevalence of lifetime and 12-month ICD-10 mental disorders among ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF). Transitioned ADF members are grouped into three groups that broadly represents their level of continued association and contact with Defence:

- Ex-Serving: individuals who were a Regular (full-time) ADF member prior to 2010, who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 and who no longer remain engaged with Defence in a Reservist role. These individuals are classified as discharged from Defence. Discharge may have occurred for medical or administrative reasons, or they may have reached compulsory retirement age.
- Active Reservists: individuals who were a Regular ADF member before 2010 but who have now transitioned into an Active Reservist position. As an Active Reservist they are required to complete a minimum number of service days per year.
- Inactive Reservists: Regular ADF members before 2010 but who have now transitioned into the Inactive Reserves. They represent a latent capability that Service Chiefs can call upon as required to provide voluntary service. Defence may call upon them to perform a specific task.

This chapter provides prevalence estimates for three classes of ICD-10 mental disorder – anxiety disorder, affective disorder and alcohol disorder – as well as providing a detailed analysis of PTSD as a distinct disorder. PTSD is presented separately due to the strong relationship between the risks of military service and PTSD, and ongoing community concern, and to provide greater clarity about how it differs from other anxiety disorders. Within the ICD-10 classification system, PTSD is still classed with anxiety disorders, unlike recent changes in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition* (DSM-5), where PTSD is now a separate category (McFarlane, 2014).

Accordingly, the class 'any anxiety disorder' is defined in this report in two ways:

- Anxiety disorder: the most inclusive definition of this class of disorder and includes all of the individual ICD-10 anxiety disorders assessed and presented throughout the report (that is, panic attack, panic disorder, agoraphobia, social phobia, specific phobia, GAD, OCD and PTSD)
- Anxiety disorder (excluding PTSD): this variable is scored in the same way as above but excludes PTSD. This definition is included to provide greater clarity in relation to how the prevalence of the remaining anxiety disorders differs in relation to that of PTSD, which we already know has a strong relationship with military service.

As a key goal of this study is to inform service delivery, the prevalence of mental disorder comorbidity in this population is provided, as well as an overview of the prevalence of suicidality.

In addition to reporting estimated prevalence in the entire population, this section also compares the estimated prevalence of mental disorder, comorbidity and suicidality, using a range of key variables with a known or suspected association with mental disorder. Grouping factors were chosen following extensive consultation with DVA and Defence on the types of factors hypothesised to moderate or predict rates of mental disorder in the Transitioned ADF:

- Demographic factors:
 - sex: male, female
 - age: 18–27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57, 58+
- Service factors:
 - Service: Navy, Army, Air Force
 - rank: Commissioned Officer (OFFR), Non-Commissioned Officer (NCO), Other Ranks (OR)

- deployment status:
 - Never deployed individuals who did not endorse any of the listed deployments in the self-report survey AND did not endorse any of the deployment exposures
 - Deployed Individuals who endorsed one or more of the listed deployments in the self-report survey OR endorsed one or more of the deployment exposures
- years of service in the Regular ADF subgrouped as follows: 3 months 3.9 years, 4–7.9 years, 8–11.9 years, 12–15.9 years, 16–19.9 years and > 20 years.
- Transition factors:
 - years since transition: 0 (less than 1 year), 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 years
 - type of discharge: medical discharge (an involuntary termination of the client's employment by the ADF on the grounds of permanent or at least longterm unfitness to serve, or unfitness for deployment to operational (warlike) service, or non-medical discharge
 - DVA client status: DVA client/non-DVA client (this was taken from an indicator on the Military and Veteran Research Study Roll). DVA clients included those receiving a fortnightly payment, treatment card holders, and those who have had their illness or injury liability claim accepted as service-related.

All tests of statistical significance (odds ratios) in this chapter are adjusted for age, sex, Service and rank.

Table 4.1 and Table 4.2 show the lifetime and 12-month estimated prevalence of ICD-10 anxiety disorders, affective disorders, alcohol disorder and PTSD. Almost three in four Transitioned ADF members are estimated to have met criteria for any ICD-10 mental disorder in their lifetime, with just under 50% estimated to have met criteria in the last 12 months. Alcohol disorders (47.5%) and anxiety disorders (46.1%) were the most prevalent lifetime disorder classes, with lower rates of affective disorders (39.6%). Just under one-quarter of Transitioned ADF members were estimated to have met ICD-10 criteria for PTSD in their lifetime (24.9%), and just under one in five in the last 12 months (17.7%). While the estimated prevalence of 12-month alcohol disorder was substantially lower than lifetime rates, which would generally be expected, the differences between 12-month and lifetime rates of anxiety disorders, affective disorders, and PTSD specifically, were noticeably less. Interestingly, the proportion of Transitioned ADF with 12-month PTSD (17.7%) is only slightly lower than the proportion with another type of anxiety disorder (19.3%).

Table 4.1 Estimated prevalence of lifetime ICD-10 anxiety, affective, alcohol and any disorder in Transitioned ADF

	Transitioned ADF (N = 24,932)		
Lifetime ICD-10 disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Anxiety disorder	11,378	46.1	41.4, 50.9
Anxiety disorder (excluding PTSD)	7976	31.9	27.7, 36.6
Anxiety disorder (ABS)	10,421	41.8	37.1, 46.6
Affective disorder	9769	39.6	35.0, 44.4
Alcohol disorder	11,714	47.5	42.8, 52.2
PTSD	6134	24.9	20.9, 29.3
Any disorder	18,435	74.7	70.5, 78.5

Notes:

A description of each of the ICD-10 disorder classes is provided in the glossary 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table 4.2 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety, affective, alcohol and any disorder, and PTSD in Transitioned ADF

	Transitioned ADF (N = 24,932)				
12-month ICD-10 disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Anxiety disorder	9232	37.0	32.6, 41.7		
Anxiety disorder (excluding PTSD)	4822	19.3	15.8, 23.5		
Anxiety disorder (ABS)	7694	30.9	26.6, 35.5		
Affective disorder	5755	23.1	19.2, 27.5		
Alcohol disorder	3219	12.9	9.8, 16.9		
Posttraumatic stress disorder	4408	17.7	14.5, 21.3		
Any disorder	11,558	46.4	41.7, 51.1		

Notes:

A description of each of the ICD-10 disorder classes is provided in the glossary

95% CI: 95% confidence interval

4.1 Estimated prevalence of anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF

- Anxiety disorders were the most common class of 12-month mental disorder among the Transitioned ADF, with over one in three (37.0%) meeting criteria for an anxiety disorder in the last 12 months.
- PTSD (17.7%), panic attacks (17.0%), agoraphobia (11.9%) and social phobia (11.0%) were the most common types of anxiety disorders in the Transitioned ADF.
- Ex-serving members had significantly greater rates of anxiety disorders compared to Inactive and Active Reservists.
- Transitioned Army and Air Force members were more likely to have met criteria for PTSD compared to Transitioned Navy members.
- Anxiety disorders were greater for Transitioned Non-Commissioned Officers compared to Transitioned Officers.

- PTSD was the most prevalent condition among those who had been deployed during their service career, followed by panic attacks and agoraphobia.
- Anxiety disorders were most commonly observed in Transitioned ADF members who were medically discharged and who were DVA clients.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

The following section summarises the estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders among ADF members in the first five years post-transition (among those transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014). The section includes associated predictors such as demographics (sex, age); rank; years of service; deployment status) and transition (transition status, years since transition, type of discharge). The association between anxiety disorder and DVA status is also outlined. As PTSD is particularly relevant to the military population, the section also examines the relationship between trauma exposure and PTSD.

The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study examined eight types of anxiety disorders:

- Panic attack: sudden onset of extreme fear or anxiety, often accompanied by palpitations, chest pain, choking sensations, dizziness and sometimes feelings of unreality, fear of dying, losing control or going mad
- Panic disorder: regular panic attacks that are unpredictable in nature
- Agoraphobia: marked fear or avoidance of situations such as crowds, public places, travelling alone or travelling away from home, which is accompanied by palpitations, sweating, shaking, or dry mouth as well as other anxiety symptoms such as chest pain, choking sensations, dizziness and sometimes feelings of unreality, fear of dying, losing control or going mad
- Social phobia: marked fear or avoidance of being the centre of attention or being in situations where it is possible to behave in a humiliating or embarrassing way, accompanied by anxiety symptoms, as well as blushing, fear of vomiting, or fear of defecation or micturition.
- **Specific phobia:** marked fear or avoidance of a specific object or situation such as animals, birds, insects, heights, thunder, flying, small enclosed spaces, the sight of blood or injury, injections, dentists or hospitals, and accompanied by anxiety symptoms as described in 'Agoraphobia'.
- Generalised anxiety disorder (GAD): generalised and persistent worry, anxiety or apprehension about everyday events and activities, lasting a minimum of six

months that is accompanied by anxiety symptoms as described in 'Agoraphobia'. Other symptoms may include symptoms of tension, such as the inability to relax and muscle tension, and other non-specific symptoms, such as irritability and difficulty in concentrating.

- **Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD)**: characterised by obsessional thoughts (ideas, images, impulses) or compulsive acts (ritualised behaviour). These thoughts and acts are often distressing and typically cannot be avoided, despite the sufferer recognising their ineffectiveness
- Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD): stress reaction to an exceptionally threatening or traumatic event that would cause pervasive distress in almost anyone. Symptoms are categorised into three groups: re-experiencing memories or flashbacks, avoidance symptoms, and either hyperarousal (increased arousal and sensitivity to cues) or inability to recall important parts of the experience.

4.1.1 Transitioned ADF population

Table 4.3 summarises the estimated 12-month prevalence of ICD-10 anxiety disorders in the Transitioned ADF. This was the most common class of mental disorder in the Transitioned ADF, with 37.0% (95% CI 32.6, 41.7) meeting criteria for an anxiety disorder in the 12 months before interview. PTSD (17.7%, 95% CI 14.5, 21.3), panic attacks (17.0%, 95% CI 13.8, 20.8), agoraphobia (11.9%, 95% CI 9.1, 15.5) and social phobia (11.0%, 95% CI 8.4, 14.3) were the most common anxiety disorders in this population.

		Transitioned ADF (N = 24,932)	
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Panic attack	4244	17.0	13.8, 20.8
Panic disorder	1344	5.4	3.6, 8.0
Agoraphobia	2975	11.9	9.1, 15.5
Social phobia	2738	11.0	8.4, 14.3
Specific phobia	1936	7.8	5.8, 10.3
Generalised anxiety disorder	917	3.7	2.2, 6.0
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	1029	4.1	2.6, 6.6
Posttraumatic stress disorder	4408	17.7	14.5, 21.3
Any anxiety disorder	9232	37.0	32.6, 41.7

Table 4.3 Estima	ated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders
------------------	--

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Transition status

Table 4.4 and Figure 4.1 summarise 12-month anxiety disorder by transition status. Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF members had significantly greater estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders compared to both Inactive Reservists (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.4 3.8) and Active Reservists (OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.0, 2.9). Except for OCD, where there were no significant differences between the groups, all other anxiety disorders were higher among Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF members. Compared to both Inactive and Active Reservists, Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF members were more significantly more likely to have met criteria for panic attacks (vs Inactive: OR 4.4, 95% CI 2.2, 8.5; vs Active: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.1, 4.2); agoraphobia (vs Inactive: OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.4, 7.2; vs Active: OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.2, 7.9); social phobia (vs Inactive: OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.1, 7.1; vs Active: OR 5.5, 95% CI 2.9, 10.5); and specific phobia (vs Inactive: OR 5.9, 95% CI 3.1, 11.5; vs Active: OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.5, 6.7) in the past 12 months. Compared to Inactive Reservists, Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF members were nearly four times more likely to have a 12-month panic disorder (OR 3.8, 95% CI 1.7, 8.5), five times more likely to meet criteria for GAD (OR 5.0, 95% CI 1.9, 13.7) and twice as likely to meet criteria for 12-month PTSD (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.1, 3.9).



Figure 4.1 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorder, by transition status

Panic attack: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 4.4, 95% CI 2.2, 8.5; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.1, 4.2

Panic disorder: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 3.8, 95% CI 1.7, 8.5

Agoraphobia: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.4, 7.2; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.2, 7.9

Social phobia: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.1, 7.1; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 5.5, 95% CI 2.9, 10.5

Specific phobia: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 5.9, 95% CI 3.1, 11.5; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.5, 6.7

PTSD: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.1, 3.9

Any anxiety disorder: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.4, 3.8; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.0, 2.9. Note: Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists and Active Reservists

GAD: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 5.0, 95% CI 1.9, 13.7

Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders, by transition status Table 4.4

	Transition status												
		Ex-Serving (n = 11,440)			Inactive Reservists (n = 6447)	3	Active Reservists (n = 6968)						
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI				
Panic attack ^a	2688	23.5	17.7, 30.4	658	10.2	7.1, 14.5	913	13.1	8.4, 19.7				
Panic disorder ^b	892	7.8	4.5, 13.2	148	2.3	1.3, 4.2	314	4.5	2.2, 9.1				
Agoraphobia ^c	2082	18.2	13.1, 24.7	426	6.6	3.3, 12.6	474	6.8	3.4, 13.1				
Social phobia ^d	1819	15.9	11.1, 22.2	638	9.9	6.1, 15.7	244	3.5	2.1, 5.8				
Specific phobia ^e	1373	12.0	8.3, 17.0	168	2.6	1.5, 4.5	425	6.1	3.5, 10.6				
Generalised anxiety disorder ^f	709	6.2	3.5, 10.8	77	1.2	0.5, 2.8	139	2.0	0.4, 8.6				
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	332	2.9	1.4, 6.0	309	4.8	2.1, 10.5	383	5.5	2.3, 12.7				
Posttraumatic stress disorderg	2437	21.3	16.0, 27.8	1006	15.6	11.1, 21.5	948	13.6	8.7, 20.6				
Any anxiety disorder ^h	5102	44.6	37.2, 52.2	1902	29.5	22.5, 37.5	2223	31.9	24.9, 39.9				

^a Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 4.4, 95% CI 2.2, 8.5; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.1, 4.2

^a Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 4.4, 95% CI 2.2, 8.5; EX-Serving vs Active: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.1, 4.2
 ^b Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 3.8, 95% CI 1.4, 7.2; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.2, 7.9
 ^c Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.1, 7.1; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 5.5, 95% CI 2.9, 10.5
 ^e Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 5.9, 95% CI 3.1, 11.5; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.5, 6.7
 ^f Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.1, 3.9
 ^h Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.4, 3.8; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.0, 2.9

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

4.1.2 Demographic factors

Sex

Overall, compared to males, females tended to have slightly higher estimated rates of 12-month anxiety disorders (41.9% vs 36.3%) including panic attacks (22.8% vs 16.2%), social phobia (14.9% vs 10.4%) and PTSD (24.8% vs 16.6%). In contrast, males had slightly higher rates of panic disorder (5.7% vs 3.0%) and agoraphobia (12.5% vs 7.9%). However, these differences were not statistically significant (Table 4.5 and Figure 4.2).

Age

Table 4.6 and Figure 4.3 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month anxiety disorders, by age. Overall, there was little difference in the prevalence of anxiety disorders between the different age groups. The lowest reported prevalence for anxiety disorders was in the 48–57 age group (34.3%), with the 38–47 age group reporting the highest prevalence. In terms of the individual anxiety disorder types, Transitioned ADF members in the 28–37 age group reported the highest prevalence of panic disorder and social phobia. In contrast, panic attacks, agoraphobia and GAD were most prevalent in the 38–47 age group; specific phobia was most prevalent in the 48–57 age group; PTSD was most prevalent in the 58+ age group; and OCD was most prevalent in the 18–27 age group. Statistical tests showed no linear effect for age. The only disorder that showed a significant difference in prevalence by age was OCD, with rates among those aged 28–37 (0.8%, 95% CI 0.4, 1.9) significantly lower than for those aged 18–27 (10.8%, 95% CI 4.6, 23.3) (OR 0.1, 95% CI 0.0, 0.3).

	Sex											
	I	Male (n = 21,671)	Female (n = 3261)								
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI						
Panic attack	3500	16.2	12.7, 20.4	744	22.8	16.4, 30.9						
Panic disorder	1246	5.7	3.7, 8.8	98	3.0	1.4, 6.1						
Agoraphobia	2718	12.5	9.4, 16.5	257	7.9	3.3, 17.7						
Social phobia	2253	10.4	7.5, 14.3	485	14.9	11.9, 18.4						
Specific phobia	1651	7.6	5.5, 10.4	285	8.7	4.7, 15.7						
Generalised anxiety disorder	815	3.8	2.2, 6.5	102	3.1	1.5, 6.4						
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	894	4.1	2.5, 6.8	135	4.1	1.3, 12.1						
Posttraumatic stress disorder	3598	16.6	13.2, 20.7	810	24.8	18.2, 32.8						
Any anxiety disorder	7865	36.3	31.5, 41.4	1367	41.9	32.3, 52.2						

 Table 4.5
 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by sex

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval



Figure 4.2 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by sex

								Age							
ICD-10	18–27 (n = 5195)			28–	37 (n = 88	08)	38–	38–47 (n = 5215)			-57 (n = 33	89)	58+ (n = 1937)		
anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Panic attack	796	15.3	7.4, 28.9	1369	15.5	9.5, 24.4	907	17.4	12.4, 23.9	584	17.2	12.9, 22.5	300	15.5	8.7, 26.1
Panic disorder	250	4.8	1.3, 16.5	616	7.0	3.2, 14.5	261	5.0	3.1, 7.9	171	5.0	3.1, 8.1	69	3.6	1.8, 7.1
Agoraphobia	507	9.8	3.8, 23.1	1085	12.3	7.0, 20.7	862	16.6	10.7, 24.8	366	10.8	7.4, 15.5	180	9.3	4.3, 18.9
Social phobia	551	10.6	4.4, 23.2	1047	11.9	6.6, 20.4	579	11.1	6.9, 17.4	321	9.5	6.3, 14.0	68	3.5	1.7, 7.1
Specific phobia	139	2.7	0.7, 9.5	625	7.1	3.3, 14.4	478	9.2	5.3, 15.5	430	12.7	9.0, 17.6	181	9.4	6.2, 13.8
Generalised anxiety disorder	0	0.0	0.0, 0.0	346	3.9	1.5, 10.1	443	8.5	3.9, 17.3	124	3.7	1.9, 7.1	25	1.3	0.4, 3.8
Obsessive- compulsive disorder ^a	558	10.8	4.6, 23.3	72	0.8	0.4, 1.9	127	2.4	1.3, 4.6	130	3.9	1.9, 7.4	122	6.3	2.1, 17.4
Posttraumatic stress disorder	711	13.7	6.6, 26.2	1499	17.0	10.7, 26.0	894	17.2	11.7, 24.4	613	18.1	13.7, 23.5	360	18.6	12.4, 26.9
Any anxiety disorder	1885	36.3	23.9, 50.7	3219	36.6	27.5, 46.7	1962	37.6	29.2, 46.8	1161	34.3	28.3, 40.7	707	36.5	28.5, 45.3

Table 4.6 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and age

* 28–37 age group vs 18–27 age group: OR 0.1, 95% Cl 0.0, 0.3 Note: 95% Cl: 95% confidence interval





Obsessive-compulsive disorder: 28-37 age group vs 18-27 age group: OR 0.1, 95% CI 0.0, 0.3

4.1.3 Service factors

Service

When the individual Services were considered (Table 4.7, Figure 4.4), Transitioned Army and Air Force members showed no significant differences in the prevalence of anxiety disorder. Looking at specific diagnoses, compared to Transitioned Navy members, Transitioned Army (OR 2.6, 95% Cl 1.6, 4.2) and Air Force (OR 1.6, 95% Cl 0.9, 3.1) members were significantly more likely to have meet criteria for 12-month PTSD.

Rank

Table 4.8 and Figure 4.5 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month anxiety disorders, by rank at time of transition. The likelihood of having any 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorder was greater for Non-Commissioned Officers compared to Officers (OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.2, 2.2). When examining the individual anxiety disorders, Non-Commissioned Officers had higher rates of panic attacks (OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.1, 2.6), agoraphobia (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.5, 4.4), social phobia (OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.1, 3.3), OCD (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.0, 5.4) and PTSD (OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.0, 2.1) compared with Officers. There were no significant differences between the ranks for panic disorder, specific phobia and generalised anxiety disorder. Similarly, Other Ranks showed no significant differences when compared with Officers or Non-Commissioned Officers.

		Service at transition										
	Navy (n = 5671)					,038)	Air Force (n = 4223)					
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI			
Panic attack	859	15.1	9.2, 24.0	2485	16.5	12.3, 21.8	901	21.3	15.9, 27.9			
Panic disorder	353	6.2	2.7, 13.8	847	5.6	3.3, 9.4	144	3.4	2.0, 5.8			
Agoraphobia	661	11.7	6.6, 19.7	1977	13.1	9.2, 18.4	337	8.0	4.7, 13.3			
Social phobia	596	10.5	5.8, 18.2	1404	9.3	6.0, 14.2	739	17.5	12.4, 24.2			
Specific phobia	462	8.2	4.3, 15.0	1156	7.7	5.2, 11.3	318	7.5	5.2, 10.7			
Generalised anxiety disorder	252	4.4	1.9, 10.2	477	3.2	1.5, 6.7	189	4.5	1.9, 10.1			
Obsessive- compulsive disorder	151	2.7	0.7, 9.6	686	4.6	2.5, 8.2	192	4.5	2.0, 10.2			
Posttraumatic stress disorder ^a	532	9.4	6.6, 13.1	3022	20.1	15.3, 25.9	854	20.2	15.3, 26.3			
Any anxiety disorder	1856	32.7	24.3, 42.5	5755	38.3	32.1, 44.8	1621	38.4	31.3, 46.0			

Table 4.7 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members (Navy, Army and Air Force)

^a Army vs Navy: OR 2.6, 95% Cl 1.6, 4.2; Air Force vs Navy: OR 1.6, 95% Cl 0.9, 3.1. Note: 95% Cl: 95% confidence interval



Figure 4.4 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members (Navy, Army and Air Force)

PTSD: Army vs Navy: OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.6, 4.2; Air Force vs Navy: OR 1.6, 95% CI 0.9, 3.1.

	Rank at transition													
	OFF	R (n = 40)63)	NC	O (n = 78	366)	Other R	anks (n =	13,003)					
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI					
Panic attack ^a	477	11.7	8.7, 15.6	1472	18.7	15.5, 22.3	2296	17.7	12.2, 24.8					
Panic disorder	207	5.1	3.2, 8.0	421	5.3	3.7, 7.6	716	5.5	2.7, 11.0					
Agoraphobia ^b	237	5.8	3.8, 8.9	1129	14.4	11.5, 17.8	1609	12.4	7.7, 19.3					
Social phobia ^c	224	5.5	3.5, 8.5	823	10.5	8.0, 13.6	1691	13.0	8.5, 19.3					
Specific phobia	362	8.9	6.3, 12.4	945	12.0	9.4, 15.2	629	4.8	2.2, 10.2					
Generalised anxiety disorder	112	2.7	1.4, 5.2	307	3.9	2.5, 6.1	499	3.8	1.6, 8.8					
Obsessive- compulsive disorder ^d	84	2.1	1.0, 4.2	354	4.5	3.0, 6.7	591	4.5	2.1, 9.7					
Posttraumatic stress disorder ^e	608	15.0	11.6, 19.1	1559	19.8	16.6, 23.5	2242	17.2	12.0, 24.2					
Any anxiety disorder ^f	1203	29.6	25.0, 34.6	3181	40.5	36.3, 44.8	4848	37.3	29.5, 45.8					

Table 4.8 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and rank at transition

^a NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.1, 2.6

^b NCO vs OFFR: OR 2.6, 95% Cl 1.5, 4.4

° NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.1, 3.3

^d NCO vs OFFR: OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.0, 5.4 ^e NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.0, 2.1

^fNCO vs OFFR: OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.2, 2.2

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.5 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and rank at transition



Panic attacks: NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.7, 95% Cl 1.1, 2.6 Agoraphobia: NCO vs OFFR: OR 2.6, 95% Cl 1.5, 4.4 Social phobia: NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.9, 95% Cl 1.1, 3.3 Obsessive-compulsive disorder: NCO vs OFFR: OR 2.3, 95% Cl 1.0, 5.4 PTSD: NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.5, 95% Cl 1.0, 2.1 Any anxiety disorder: NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.6, 95% Cl 1.2, 2.2

Deployment

When the effects of deployment were examined (Table 4.9 and Figure 4.6), Transitioned ADF members who had ever been deployed were more likely to meet criteria for 'any anxiety disorder' than those who had never been deployed (OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.0, 3.8). Similarly, although a pattern showed that Transitioned ADF members who had ever been deployed were more likely to meet criteria for all individual anxiety disorders, OCD and PTSD were significantly more prevalent in the 'ever deployed' versus the 'never deployed' group. Those who had ever been deployed were over 12 times more likely to meet criteria for OCD (OR 12.9, 95% CI 2.7, 62.5) and over seven times more likely to meet criteria for PTSD (OR 7.5, 95% CI 2.6, 21.1) compared to those who had never been deployed. The wide confidence interval for the estimate for OCD in particular should be noted, and this result interpreted with caution.

Table 4.9	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in the ADF, by
	anxiety disorder type and deployment status

	Deployment status											
	Ever	deployed (n = 20),087)	Never deployed (n = 4885)								
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI						
Panic attack	3133	16.6	13.2, 20.8	788	14.1	7.1, 26.0						
Panic disorder	1044	5.5	3.6, 8.3	282	5.1	1.5, 16.1						
Agoraphobia	2400	12.7	9.6, 16.7	518	9.3	3.8, 20.9						
Social phobia	2139	11.4	8.3, 15.4	261	4.7	1.4, 14.2						
Specific phobia	1579	8.4	6.2, 11.2	320	5.7	2.2, 14.1						
Generalised anxiety disorder	755	4.0	2.4, 6.7	143	2.6	0.4, 13.6						
Obsessive-compulsive disorder ^a	951	5.1	3.1, 8.2	34	0.6	0.2, 2.4						
Posttraumatic stress disorder ^b	3782	20.1	16.2, 24.5	196	3.5	1.3, 9.0						
Any anxiety disorder ^c	7370	39.1	34.2, 44.3	1405	25.1	15.7, 37.7						

^a Ever vs Never: OR 12.9, 95% CI 2.7, 62.5

^b Ever vs Never: OR 7.5, 95% Cl 2.6, 21.1

° Ever vs Never: OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.0, 3.8

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.6 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in the ADF, by anxiety disorder type and deployment status



^a OCD: OR 12.9, 95% CI 2.7, 62.5

^b PTSD: OR 7.5, 95% CI 2.6, 21.1

^c Any anxiety disorder: OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.0, 3.8

Years of service

When the impact of years of service in the Regular ADF was considered (Table 4.10 and Figure 4.7), there was an overall trend for estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders to decrease with increasing service length, with the highest rates among those with less than four years of service (41.7%, 95% Cl 23.0, 63.2) and the lowest among those with 12–15.9 years of service (25.2%, 95% Cl 17.4, 35.2). However, for some conditions, the differences in estimated rates across years of service were more striking. For PTSD, while estimated 12-month prevalence was reasonably evenly distributed among the different lengths of service (as can be seen in Figure 4.7), it was highest among those who had served between four and 7.9 years (21.2%, 95% Cl 14.2, 30.4).

Interestingly, estimated rates of panic attacks and panic disorder were highest among those who had served for under four years (26.7%, 95% Cl 11.9, 49.6 and 19.1%, 95% Cl 7.0, 42.3 respectively). While there was no statistically significant linear relationship between years of service and estimated rates of 12-month anxiety disorders, when compared against those with between four and 7.9 years of service (the largest subpopulation), those with under four years of Regular service were five times more likely to meet the criteria for panic disorder (OR 5.3, 95% Cl 1.2, 24.4), those with eight to 11.9 years of service were 90% less likely to meet the criteria OCD (OR 0.1, 95% Cl 0.0, 0.6), and those with between 12 and 15.9 years of service were 60% less likely to meet the criteria for panic attacks (OR 0.4, 95% Cl 0.2, 0.9) and 70% less likely to meet the criteria for PTSD (OR 0.3, 95% Cl 0.2, 0.7). Those with 16 to 19.9 and more than 20 years of service were also 60% less likely to meet the criteria for PTSD when compared to those with between four and 7.9 years of service (OR 0.4, 95% Cl 0.2, 0.9, and OR 0.4, 95% Cl 0.2, 0.9, respectively).

								Years of	service in	n Regular ADF								
ICD-10	3 months – 3.9 years (n = 2413)		ears	4–7.9 yea	ars (n = 9	015)	8–11.9 yea	ars (n = 3	295)	12–15.9 years (n = 2086) 16–19.9 years (n = 967)			= 967)	> 20 years (n = 5772)				
anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl
Panic attack ^a	644	26.7	11.9, 49.6	1478	16.4	10.4, 25.0	369	11.2	5.7, 21.0	219	10.5	6.1, 17.4	196	20. 3	12.4, 31.4	843	14. 6	11.7, 18.1
Panic disorder ^b	461	19.1	7.0, 42.3	433	4.8	2.0, 11.3	72	2.2	0.8, 5.7	46	2.2	0.7, 6.6	56	5.8	2.2, 14.2	323	5.6	3.9, 7.9
Agoraphobia	333	13.8	4.2, 36.6	1316	14.6	8.7, 23.3	297	9.0	4.0, 18.9	194	9.3	5.0, 16.5	138	14. 3	7.8, 24.7	664	11. 5	8.4, 15.6
Social phobia	166	6.9	1.2, 30.8	1145	12.7	7.4, 20.9	432	13.1	5.8, 27.2	196	9.4	5.1, 16.8	113	11. 7	6.0, 21.7	427	7.4	5.3, 10.3
Specific phobia	63	2.6	0.8, 7.8	577	6.4	2.9, 13.4	313	9.5	4.0, 20.6	136	6.5	3.4, 12.3	149	15. 4	8.7, 25.8	595	10. 3	7.9, 13.4
Generalised anxiety disorder	166	6.9	1.2, 30.7	234	2.6	0.8, 7.8	92	2.8	1.1, 6.9	81	3.9	1.6, 9.1	23	2.4	0.6, 9.2	300	5.2	2.5, 10.4
Obsessive- compulsive disorder	104	4.3	0.7, 22.6	577	6.4	2.9, 13.3	33	1.0	0.3, 3.8	58	2.8	1.1, 7.3	27	2.8	0.7, 10.2	219	3.8	2.4, 5.9
Posttraumati c stress disorder	275	11.4	3.8, 29.6	1911	21.2	14.2, 30.4	445	13.5	7.1, 24.2	252	12.1	7.3, 19.4	145	15. 0	8.5, 25.3	999	17. 3	14.2, 21.0
Any anxiety disorder	1006	41.7	23.0, 63.2	3354	37.2	28.2, 47.2	1358	41.2	28.3, 55.5	526	25.2	17.4, 35.2	362	37. 4	26.5, 49.9	2049	35. 5	30.9, 40.4

Table 4.10 Estimated prev	alence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by years of service in the Regular ADF
---------------------------	---

Panic disorder: < 4 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 5.3, 95% Cl 1.2, 24.4 Obsessive-compulsive disorder: 8–11.9 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 0.1, 95% Cl 0.0, 0.6 Panic attacks: 12–15.9 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 0.4, 95% Cl 0.2, 0.9 Posttraumatic stress disorder: 12–15.9 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 0.3, 95% Cl 0.2, 0.7; 16–19.9 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 0.4, 95% Cl 0.2, 0.9; 20+ years vs 4–7.9 OR 0.4, 95% Cl 0.2, 0.9 Note: 95% Cl: 95% confidence interval



Figure 4.7 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by years of service in the Regular ADF

Panic disorder: < 4 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 5.3, 95% CI 1.2, 24.4; Obsessive-compulsive disorder: 8–11.9 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 0.1, 95% CI 0.0, 0.6; Panic attacks: 12–15.9 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 0.4, 95% CI 0.2, 0.9; Posttraumatic stress disorder: 12–15.9 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 0.3, 95% CI 0.2, 0.7; 16–19.9 years vs 4–7.9 years OR 0.4, 95% CI 0.2, 0.9; 20+ years vs 4–7.9 OR 0.4, 95% CI 0.2, 0.9

4.1.4 Transition factors

Years since transition

Table 4.11 and Figure 4.8 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month anxiety disorders, by years since transition from the Regular ADF. For most anxiety disorder types, there was a notable increase one and two years post-transition. Specifically, compared to ADF members who had transitioned less than 12 months prior (year 0), those who had transitioned one year ago were two times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month panic attacks (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.0, 4.6), more than four times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month agoraphobia (OR 4.5, 95% Cl 1.6, 11.4), three times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month specific phobia (OR 3.0, 95% CI 1.1, 8.3), and just over four times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month generalised anxiety disorder (OR 4.2, 95% CI 1.0, 18.1). Indicating that the elevation in estimated rates of specific phobia and agoraphobia was relatively stable for another year following this increase, those two years post-transition were three times more likely to meet criteria for 12month agoraphobia (OR 3.3, 95% CI 1.2, 9.0) and two-and-a-half times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month specific phobia (OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.0, 6.8) compared to those less than one year post-transition. Interestingly, at two years post transition there was an increase in estimated PTSD prevalence (20.7%, 95% CI 13.2, 31.0), with rates two times higher among this group compared to those less than one year post transition (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.0, 4.6). Finally, there appears to be a second peak in the estimated prevalence of generalised anxiety disorder at four years post transition, with rates more than four times higher at this point compared to those under one year posttransition (OR 4.5, 95% CI 1.0, 20.6).

Reason for discharge

Table 4.12 and Figure 4.9 summarise the estimated prevalence of 12-month anxiety disorder, by reason for discharge. Estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders were significantly greater for Transitioned ADF members who were medically discharged (51.3%, 95% CI 41.4, 61.2) compared to those with another type of discharge (30.3%, 95% CI 25.4, 35.7) (OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.5, 4.1). Specifically, those with a medical discharge were nearly two-and-a-half times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month panic attacks (OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.3, 4.3), three times more likely to meet criteria for panic disorder (OR 3.0, 95% CI 1.2, 7.5), over three times more likely to meet criteria for panic disorder (OR 3.0, 95% CI 1.2, 7.5), over three times more likely to meet criteria for specific phobia (OR 6.2, 95% CI 2.8, 13.7), 7.7 times more likely to meet criteria for specific phobia (OR 7.7, 95% CI 4.7, 12.7), four times more likely to meet criteria for generalised anxiety disorder (OR 4.3, 95% CI 1.5, 12.8) and nearly two times more likely to meet criteria for PTSD (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.0, 3.1).
								Y	ears since	e transition								
	0 (n	= 1945)		1 (n = 4874)			2 (n	= 4944)		3 (n = 5233)			4 (n	= 3582)		5 (n	= 2785)	
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl	Weighted n	%	95% Cl
Panic attack ^a	253	13.0	7.8, 21.0	1131	23.2	15.0, 34.1	934	18.9	11.6, 29.3	633	12.1	7.3, 19.5	562	15.7	8.5, 27.3	532	19.1	12.5, 28.2
Panic disorder	113	5.8	2.8, 11.5	322	6.6	3.3, 12.7	282	5.7	1.9, 15.7	178	3.4	1.1, 10.2	287	8.0	3.1, 19.2	70	2.5	1.1, 5.5
Agoraphobia⁵	99	5.1	2.4, 10.5	853	17.5	10.3, 28.2	717	14.5	8.2, 24.4	455	8.7	4.5, 16.1	401	11.2	5.2, 22.3	259	9.3	4.0, 19.9
Social phobia	254	13.0	5.2, 28.8	833	17.1	9.7, 28.2	499	10.1	5.4, 18.1	445	8.5	4.1, 17.0	150	4.2	2.1, 8.3	384	13.8	10.0, 18.7
Specific phobia ^c	103	5.3	2.4, 11.3	590	12.1	6.2, 22.3	499	10.1	5.6, 17.3	199	3.8	2.2, 6.3	337	9.4	4.8, 17.7	156	5.6	3.2, 9.8
Generalised anxiety disorder ^d	39	2.0	0.6, 6.0	366	7.5	3.1, 17.1	143	2.9	1.6, 5.4	58	1.1	0.4, 3.5	308	8.6	3.2, 21.2	25	0.9	0.2, 3.3
Obsessive- compulsive disorder	146	7.5	2.6, 19.6	141	2.9	0.6, 12.9	282	5.7	2.2, 13.9	277	5.3	2.0, 13.0	86	2.4	1.0, 5.9	50	1.8	0.7, 4.8
Posttraumatic stress disorder ^e	222	11.4	6.8, 18.6	936	19.2	11.9, 29.3	1023	20.7	13.2, 31.0	785	15.0	9.2, 23.6	541	15.1	9.0, 24.3	666	23.9	15.5, 35.0
Any anxiety disorder	669	34.4	22.4, 48.7	2154	44.2	33.9, 55.0	1963	39.7	29.5, 50.8	1622	31.0	22.6, 31.0	1336	37.3	26.3, 49.9	1022	36.7	26.1, 48.7

Table 4.11 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and years since transition

^a 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 2.1, 95% Cl 1.0, 4.6 ^b 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 1.6, 11.4; 2 years vs < 1 year: OR 3.3, 95% Cl 1.2, 9.0 ^c 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 3.0, 95% Cl 1.1, 8.3; 2 years vs < 1 year: OR 2.5, 95% Cl 1.0, 6.8 ^d 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 4.2, 95% Cl 1.0, 18.1; 4 years vs < 1 year: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 1.0, 20.6 ^e 2 years vs < 1 year: OR 2.1, 95% Cl 1.0, 4.6 Note: 95% Cl 95% confidence interval



Figure 4.8 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and years since transition

Panic attack: 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 2.1, 95% Cl 1.0, 4.6; Agoraphobia: 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 1.6, 11.4; 2 years vs < 1 year: OR 3.3, 95% Cl 1.2, 9.0; Specific Phobia: 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 3.0, 95% Cl 1.1, 8.3; 2 years vs < 1 year: OR 2.5, 95% Cl 1.0, 6.8; GAD: 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 4.2, 95% Cl 1.0, 18.1; 4 years vs < 1 year: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 1.0, 20.6; PTSD: 2 years vs < 1 year: OR 2.1, 95% Cl 1.0, 4.6

		Reason for discharge										
	N	ledical (n = 508)	2)	Other (n = 19,154)								
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI						
Panic attack ^a	1284	25.3	17.8, 34.5	2444	12.8	9.4, 17.1						
Panic disorder ^b	495	9.7	5.1, 17.9	743	3.9	2.3, 6.4						
Agoraphobia ^c	1119	22.0	14.9, 31.2	1491	7.8	5.2, 11.4						
Social phobia ^d	1123	22.1	15.0, 31.3	948	5.0	3.0, 8.0						
Specific phobia ^e	949	18.7	12.3, 27.3	721	3.8	2.8, 5.0						
Generalised anxiety disorder ^f	429	8.5	4.2, 16.4	378	2.0	1.0, 3.8						
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	201	4.0	1.6, 9.3	823	4.3	2.4, 7.5						
Posttraumatic stress disorder ^g	1171	23.0	16.3, 31.6	2800	14.6	11.1, 19.0						
Any anxiety disorder ^h	2608	51.3	41.4, 61.2	5800	30.3	25.4, 35.7						

Table 4.12 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and reason for discharge

^a Medical vs Other: OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.3, 4.3

^b Medical vs Other: OR 3.0, 95% Cl 1.2, 7.5 ^c Medical vs Other: OR 3.3, 95% Cl 1.6, 6.7

^d Medical vs Other: OR 3.3, 95% Cl 1.6, 6.7

^e Medical vs Other: OR 7.7, 95% CI 4.7, 12.7

^fMedical vs Other: OR 4.3, 95% CI 1.5, 12.8

9 Medical vs Other: OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.0, 3.1

^h Medical vs Other: OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.5, 4.1



Figure 4.9 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and reason for discharge

Panic attacks: Medical vs Other: OR 2.4, 95% Cl 1.3, 4.3 Panic disorder: Medical vs Other: OR 3.0, 95% Cl 1.2, 7.5 Agoraphobia: Medical vs Other: OR 3.3, 95% Cl 1.6, 6.7 Social phobia: Medical vs Other: OR 6.2, 95% Cl 2.8, 13.7 Specific phobia: Medical vs Other: 7.7, 95% Cl 2.8, 13.7 GAD: Medical vs Other: 4.3, 95% Cl 1.5, 12.8 PTSD: Medical versus Other: OR 1.8, 95% Cl 1.0, 3.1 Any anxiety disorder: Medical vs Other: OR 2.5, 95% Cl 1.5, 4.1

DVA status

The estimated prevalence of 12-month anxiety disorders, by DVA client status, are presented in Table 4.13 and Figure 4.10. A significantly higher estimated prevalence of 'any anxiety disorder' was reported in DVA clients (45.3%, 95% CI 39.4, 51.3) compared to non-DVA clients (22.3%, 95% CI 16.4, 29.5) (OR 3.1, 95% CI, 1.9, 4.9). DVA clients were nearly three times more likely to meet criteria for panic attacks (OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.5, 5.5), 4.5 times more likely to meet criteria for agoraphobia (OR 4.5, 95% CI 2.0, 10.0), more than four times more likely to meet criteria for social phobia (OR 4.4, 95% CI 1.6, 11.6), 3.5 times more likely to meet criteria for specific phobia (OR 3.5, 95% CI 1.6, 7.9), more than 12 times more likely to meet criteria for GAD (OR 12.3, 95% CI 3.8, 39.1), and more than three times more likely to meet criteria for PTSD (OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.6, 6.0). The only two disorders that were not significantly more prevalent in DVA clients were panic disorder and OCD.

Table 4.13	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF
	members, by anxiety disorder type and DVA status

			DVA	client				
		No (n = 15,605)		Yes (n = 8774)				
ICD-10 anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Panic attack ^a	1389	8.9	5.2, 14.6	1851	21.1	16.5, 26.5		
Panic disorder	562	3.6	1.7, 7.5	579	6.6	4.0, 10.7		
Agoraphobia ^b	749	4.8	2.4, 9.2	1509	17.2	12.8, 22.6		
Social phobia ^c	640	4.1	1.8, 9.3	1211	13.8	9.9, 18.9		
Specific phobia ^d	484	3.1	1.5, 6.1	956	10.9	7.9, 14.9		
Generalised anxiety disorder ^e	78	0.5	0.2, 1.3	509	5.8	3.4, 9.7		
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	281	1.8	0.6, 5.3	430	4.9	2.8, 8.4		
Posttraumatic stress disorder ^f	1326	8.5	5.0, 14.1	1983	22.6	18.0, 28.0		
Any anxiety disorderg	3480	22.3	16.4, 29.5	3975	45.3	39.4, 51.3		

^a DVA client vs not: OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.5, 5.5

^b DVA client vs not: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 2.0, 10.0

° DVA client vs not: OR 4.4, 95% CI 1.6, 11.6

^d DVA client vs not: OR 3.5, 95% Cl 1.6, 7.9 ^e DVA client vs not: OR 12.3, 95% Cl 3.8, 39.1

⁶ DVA client vs not: OR 12.3, 95% CI 3.8, 39. ^f DVA client vs not: OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.6, 6.0

⁹ DVA client vs not: OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.0, 0.0



Figure 4.10 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by anxiety disorder type and DVA status

Panic attack: DVA Client vs not: OR 2.9, 95% Cl 1.5, 5.5 Agoraphobia: DVA Client vs not: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 2.0, 10.0 Social phobia: DVA Client vs not: OR 4.4, 95% Cl 1.6, 1.6 Specific phobia: DVA Client vs not: OR 3.5, 95% Cl 1.6, 7.9 Generalised anxiety disorder: DVA Client vs not: OR 12.3, 95% Cl 3.8, 39.1 Posttraumatic stress disorder: DVA Client vs not: OR 3.1, 95% Cl 1.6, 6.0 Any anxiety disorder: DVA Client vs not: OR 3.1, 95% Cl 1.9, 4.9

4.1.5 Posttraumatic stress disorder

Posttraumatic stress disorder and trauma exposure in the Transitioned ADF

Tables 4.14 and 4.15, and Figures 4.11 and 4.12 examine the lifetime rates of trauma exposure in the Transitioned ADF as well as the proportion who develop PTSD. However, it is important to note that many individuals have had multiple trauma exposure; hence, the sum of the proportions for each trauma type exceeds 100%.

The most common traumatic experience in Transitioned ADF was seeing someone badly injured or killed, or unexpectedly seeing a dead body, with more than half of the Transitioned ADF being exposed to this event (57.7%, 95% CI 53.3, 62.2%). Also prevalent in this population were traumas likely to occur either during military service or on deployment, such as being exposed to a toxic chemical which could cause harm (43.1%, 95% CI 38.3, 48.0) being in combat (41.6%, 95% CI 37.3, 46.1), being a peacekeeper in a warzone or place of ongoing terror (33.5%, 95% CI 29.7, 37.7) and seeing atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies (22.3%, 95% CI 18.8, 26.2). It is obvious that these traumatic events can occur contemporaneously, and therefore may not be mutually exclusive.

Rates of non-interpersonal trauma in this population were high, with almost one in three reporting being in a life-threatening motor vehicle accident, 27.1% being exposed to a man-made disaster and 26.1% being involved in a major natural disaster. These rates may partly be accounted for by military service and humanitarian deployments.

Finally, lifetime rates of interpersonal trauma were also high, particularly for sexual assault and rape, which were experienced by 12.9% (95%, CI 10.4, 15.9) and 5.9% (95%, CI 3.9, 8.4) of Transitioned ADF members respectively.

Interestingly, events that are most prevalent in this population (Table 4.14) are not those most likely to result in PTSD (Table 4.15). For example, of the 57.7% of Transitioned ADF members who saw someone badly injured or killed, or unexpectedly saw a dead body, 22.6% developed PTSD. In contrast, the event most likely to lead to PTSD was an event that the participant did not want to talk about, with 41.3% of those reporting this event also meeting criteria for PTSD. This event was only experienced by 12.6% of the population. However, the fact that they did not want to talk about it is indicative that these individuals may have found this event too distressing to relive. The other three events that were associated with very high rates of PTSD were rape (38.6% of those exposed meeting criteria for PTSD) being beaten by a parent (37.9%, of those exposed meeting criteria for PTSD), and being kidnapped or held captive (35.5% of those exposed meeting criteria for PTSD).

Injuring or killing someone either accidentally or deliberately was associated with a similar rate of lifetime PTSD of approximately 33.0%. This was followed closely by other traumatic events (29.7%, 95% Cl 21.0, 40.0), seeing atrocities or carnage such as dead bodies (29.3%, 95% Cl 21.7, 38.1) and combat (27.8%, 95% Cl 21.6, 35.0).

	Transitioned A	DF 2015 (n = 24,9	32) CIDI
	Weighted n	%	(95% CI)
Combat (military or organised group)	10,269	41.6	37.3, 46.1
Peacekeeper (in a war zone or place of ongoing terror)	8274	33.5	29.7, 37.7
Unarmed civilian (in a place or war, revolution, military coup or invasion)	1651	6.7	4.5, 9.8
Lived as a civilian (in a place of ongoing terror for political, ethnic, religious or other reason)	863	3.5	2.3, 5.4
Refugee	111	0.5	0.1, 2.4
Kidnapped or held captive	191	0.8	0.5, 1.3
Exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause harm	10,627	43.1	38.3, 48.0
Life-threatening motor vehicle accident	7446	30.2	26.0, 34.7
Other life-threatening accident	4990	20.2	16.9, 24.1
Major natural disaster	6436	26.1	22.4, 30.1
Man-made disaster	6684	27.1	23.1, 31.5
Life-threatening illness	4069	16.5	13.6, 19.8
Beaten by parent	1517	6.2	4.2, 8.9
Beaten by spouse/romantic partner	893	3.6	2.2, 5.8
Badly beaten by anyone else	3651	14.8	11.8, 18.5
Mugged, held up, threatened with a weapon	7129	28.9	24.9, 33.3
Raped	1429	5.9	3.9, 8.4
Sexually assaulted	3193	12.9	10.4, 15.9
Stalked	1860	7.5	5.3, 10.6
Someone close died unexpectedly	10,437	42.3	37.7, 47.0
Child had life-threatening illness/injury	1660	6.7	5.2, 8.7
Someone close had traumatic experience	3046	12.3	9.6, 15.8
Witness fight or assault as a child	2371	9.6	7.3, 12.5
Saw someone badly injured/killed or unexpectedly saw a dead body	14,257	57.7	53.3, 62.2
Accidently injured/killed someone	1426	5.8	3.8, 8.7
Purposely injured/tortured/killed someone	2229	9.0	6.4, 12.6
Saw atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings	5492	22.3	18.8, 26.2
Other traumatic event	4183	16.9	13.8, 20.6
Other traumatic event they don't want to talk about	3108	12.6	9.8, 16.1

Table 4.14 Estimated prevalence of lifetime trauma exposure in Transitioned ADF members

Figure 4.11 Estimated prevalence of lifetime trauma exposure in Transitioned ADF members



Percentage

	Weighted n who experienced	2015 (n = 24,93	oportion of Transi 2) who met criteria reporting each tra	a for PTSD from
	traumatic event	Weighted n	%	(95% CI)
Combat (military or organised group)	10,269	2856	27.8	21.6, 35.0
Peacekeeper (in a war zone or place of ongoing terror)	8274	1446	17.5	13.2, 22.8
Unarmed civilian (in a place or war, revolution, military coup or invasion)	1651	283	17.1	8.7, 31.0
Lived as a civilian (in a place of ongoing terror for political, ethnic, religious or other reason)	863	172	19.9	8.0, 41.5
Refugee	111	0	0.0	0.0, 0.0
Kidnapped or held captive	191	68	35.5	15.9, 61.6
Exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause harm	10,627	2060	19.4	14.6, 25.3
Life-threatening automobile accident	7446	1334	17.9	12.4, 25.1
Other life-threatening accident	4990	1376	27.6	19.4, 37.6
Major natural disaster	6436	1301	20.2	14.7, 27.1
Man-made disaster	6684	1603	23.9	16.8, 33.1
Life-threatening illness	4069	897	22.1	14.8, 31.5
Beaten by parent	1517	576	37.9	21.0, 58.5
Beaten by spouse/romantic partner	893	223	25.0	11.5, 46.2
Badly beaten by anyone else	3651	954	26.1	16.8, 38.2
Mugged, held up, threatened with a weapon	7129	1766	24.8	17.8, 33.4
Raped	1429	552	38.6	22.4, 57.8
Sexually assaulted	3193	815	25.5	17.5, 35.7
Stalked	1860	340	18.3	11.2, 28.4
Someone close died unexpectedly	10,437	2258	21.6	16.6, 27.6
Child had life-threatening illness/injury	1660	433	26.1	15.5, 40.4
Someone close had traumatic experience	3046	610	20.0	11.8, 31.8
Witnessed fight or assault as a child	2371	474	19.9	11.8, 31.9
Saw someone badly injured/killed or unexpectedly saw a dead body	14,257	3218	22.6	17.8, 28.2
Accidently injured/killed someone	1426	473	33.2	17.0, 54.8
Purposely injured/tortured/killed someone	2229	716	32.1	18.1, 50.3
Saw atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings	5492	1606	29.3	21.7, 38.1
Other traumatic event	4183	1240	29.7	21.0, 40.0
Other traumatic event they don't want to talk about	3108	1285	41.3	29.1, 54.8

Table 4.15 Estimated prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder from specific event types in Transitioned ADF



Figure 4.12 Estimated prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder from specific event types in Transitioned ADF

Percentage

4.2 Estimated prevalence of affective disorders in Transitioned ADF

- One in five (23.1%) Transitioned ADF are estimated to have experienced an affective disorder in the last 12 months.
- The most common affective disorder type in Transitioned ADF was depressive episodes (11.2%).
- Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF reported higher rates of affective disorder (32.9%) compared to those who remained in the Active Reserves (12.5%) or Inactive Reserves (17.0%).
- Affective disorders were lowest in Transitioned ADF aged 58+ (10.8%). However, dysthymia was most commonly observed in the 38–47 age group (11.8%).
- Affective disorders were most commonly observed in Transitioned ADF members with fewer years of service, who were lower in rank, who had been medically discharged and who were DVA clients.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

The following section provides a summary of the estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders among ADF members in the first five years post-transition (transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014). It describes the associated demographic (sex, age), transition (transition status, years since transition, type of discharge) and Service (Service, rank, years of service, deployment status) predictors. The association between affective disorder and DVA status is also outlined.

The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study examined three types of affective disorder:

- **Depressive episodes** are a characteristic of a major depressive disorder and require that an individual has suffered from depressed mood lasting a minimum of two weeks, with associated symptoms or feelings of worthlessness, lack of appetite, difficulty with memory, reduced energy, low self-esteem, concentration problems and suicidal thoughts. Depressive episodes can be mild, moderate or severe. All three are included under the same heading. Hierarchy rules were applied to depressive episodes, such that a person could not have met criteria for a hypomanic or manic episode
- **Dysthymia** is a chronic or pervasive disturbance of mood lasting several years that is not sufficiently severe or in which the depressive episodes are not sufficiently prolonged to warrant a diagnosis of a depressive disorder. Hierarchy rules were applied to dysthymia, such that to have this mental disorder, a person could not have met criteria for a hypomanic or manic episode, and could not have reported episodes of severe or moderate depression within the first two years of dysthymia

- Bipolar Affective Disorder is associated with fluctuations of mood that are significantly disturbed. These fluctuations of mood are markedly elevated on some occasions (hypomania or mania) and can be markedly lowered on other occasions (depressive episodes). A diagnosis of bipolar affective disorder was applied in this study if the individuals met criteria for mania or hypomania in the last 12 months, as follows.
 - Hypomanic episodes last at least four consecutive days and are considered abnormal to the individual. These episodes are characterised by increased activity, talkativeness, elevated mood, disrupted concentration, decreased need for sleep and disrupted judgment that manifests as risk taking (for example, mild spending sprees). In a subgroup of people, these mental disorders are particularly characterised by irritability. To meet criteria for the 'with hierarchy' version, the person cannot have met criteria for an episode of mania.
 - Mania is similar to hypomania but is more severe in nature. Lasting slightly longer (a minimum of a week), these episodes often lead to severe interference with personal functioning. In addition to the symptoms outlined under hypomania, mania is often associated with feelings of grandiosity, marked sexual indiscretions and racing thoughts.

The following tables summarise the estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorder for the entire Transitioned ADF (Transitioned ADF), which is then separated by transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservist, Active Reservist) according to ICD-10 criteria. The criteria were based on interviews conducted using the World Mental Health Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization Composite International Diagnostic Interview – version 3.0 (CIDI).

4.2.1 Transitioned ADF population

Among Transitioned ADF, the overall estimated rate of 12-month affective disorders identified was 23.1% (95% CI 19.2, 27.5). This represents some 5755 individuals. The most prevalent affective disorder was depressive episodes (11.2%, 95% CI 8.6, 14.3). Bipolar affective disorder (which included individuals who had experienced either hypomanic or manic episodes in the previous 12 months) was similar in prevalence, with 9.8% of the Transitioned ADF meeting criteria for this disorder in the last 12 months (Table 4.16).

	Tr	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)									
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI								
Depressive episodes	2783	11.2	8.6, 14.3								
Dysthymia	1140	4.6	3.1, 6.7								
Bipolar affective disorder	2443	9.8	7.0, 13.5								
Any affective disorder	5755	23.1	19.2, 27.5								

Table 4.16 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

4.2.2 Transition status

The estimated prevalence of any ICD-10 affective disorder in the last 12 months was highest in Ex-Serving ADF members (32.9%, 95% CI 26.0, 40.5). The prevalence was significantly higher than rates for both Inactive Reservists (17.0%, 95% CI 11.2, 24.9) and Active Reservists (12.5% 95% CI 7.9, 19.2). Ex-Serving ADF members were just over two times more likely than Inactive Reservists (OR 2.2%, 95% CI 1.2, 4.0) and nearly three times more likely than Active Reservists (OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.5, 5.5) to have 'any 12-month affective disorder'. Regarding 12-month ICD-10 depressive episodes, Ex-Serving members were two times more likely than Inactive Reservists (OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.0, 4.1) and more than four times more likely than Active Reservists (OR 4.5, 95% CI 2.6, 8.0) to meet criteria. Inactive Reservists (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.1, 4.8). While rates of affective disorders were lower among individuals still engaged in Reserve Service in some form, the fact that more than 12% of Active Reservists (95% CI 7.9, 19.2) met criteria for an affective disorder in the preceding 12 months indicates a significant level of disorder in this group (Table 4.17 and Figure 4.13).

	Transition status*												
		x-Servin 1 = 11,44	•		ve Rese n = 6447		Active Reservists (n = 6968)						
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI					
Depressive episodes ^a	1876	16.4	11.7, 22.4	561	8.7	5.0, 14.6	327	4.7	3.0, 7.2				
Dysthymia	686	6.0	3.6, 9.8	206	3.2	1.3, 7.6	251	3.6	1.5, 8.7				
Bipolar affective disorder	1590	13.9	9.1, 20.7	464	7.2	3.4, 14.3	376	5.4	2.3, 12.2				
Any affective disorder ^b	3764	32.9	26.0, 40.5	1096	17.0	11.2, 24.9	871	12.5	7.9, 19.2				

 Table 4.17
 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and transition status

*n = 77 members were missing transition status, but were included in the population, and therefore for the purpose of this analysis are included as a non-responder

^a Ex-Serving vs Inactive Reservists: OR 2.0, 95% Cl 1.0, 4.1; Ex-Serving vs Active Reservists: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 2.6, 8.0; Inactive vs Active Reservists: OR 2.3, 95% Cl 1.1, 4.8

^b Ex-Serving vs Inactive Reservists: OR 2.2%, 95% CI 1.2, 4.0; Ex-Serving vs Active Reservists: OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.5, 5.5 Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.13 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and transition status



Depressive episodes: Ex-Serving vs Inactive Reservists: OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.0, 4.1; Ex-Serving vs Active Reservists: OR 4.5, 95% CI 2.6, 8.0; Inactive vs Active Reservists: OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.1, 4.8 Any affective disorder: Ex-Serving vs Inactive Reservists: OR 2.2%, 95% CI 1.2, 4.0; Ex-Serving vs Active Reservists: OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.5, 5.5

4.2.3 Demographic factors

Sex

Table 4.18 and Figure 4.14 show there were no statistically significant differences between males and females in the Transitioned ADF in the estimated prevalence of affective disorders.

Table 4.18 Estimated prevalence of 12-month affective disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by affective disorder type and sex

			Se	ex				
	Т	ransitioned male (n = 21,671)	es.	Transitioned females (n = 3261)				
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Depressive episodes	2241	10.3	7.7, 13.7	542	16.6	9.4, 27.7		
Dysthymia	972	4.5	2.8, 7.0	168	5.1	2.9, 9.0		
Bipolar affective disorder	2286	10.5	7.4, 14.8	157	4.8	1.6, 13.5		
Any affective disorder	5005	23.1	18.8, 28.0	750	23.0	14.7, 34.1		



Figure 4.14 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by affective disorder type and sex

Age

Table 4.19 and Figure 4.15 show the estimated rates of 12-month affective disorders by age categories. For affective disorders overall, rates were lowest among those aged 58+ (OR 10.8%, 95% CI 5.9, 18.9) and highest among the 38–47 age group (OR 29.8%, 95% CI 21.8, 39.4). The only significant overall decrease with age was for depressive episodes. When examining the individual categories, the estimated prevalence in the Transitioned ADF for individuals aged over 58 (OR 4.1%, 95% CI 2.3, 7.2) was significantly lower than for those aged 18–27 (OR 13.7%, 95% CI 6.7, 25.9; OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.1, 0.6 respectively).

								Age							
ICD-10	-10 18–27 (n = 5195)			28–37 (n = 8808)			38–47 (n = 5215)			48-	-57 (n = 3	389)	58+ (n = 1937)		
affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Depressive episodes ^a	711	13.7	6.7, 25.9	967	11.0	6.2, 18.8	751	14.4	9.5, 21.1	377	11.1	7.7, 15.9	79	4.1	2.3, 7.2
Dysthymia	20	0.4	0.1, 2.5	283	3.2	1.2, 8.3	616	11.8	6.4, 20.8	220	6.5	3.8, 10.7	22	1.2	0.4, 3.4
Bipolar affective disorder	723	13.9	6.5, 27.4	1022	11.6	6.4, 20.3	418	8.0	3.9, 15.7	230	6.8	3.1, 14.3	121	6.2	2.3, 15.8
Any affective disorder	1435	27.6	16.8, 41.9	2111	24.0	16.3, 33.8	1554	29.8	21.8, 39.4	642	18.9	13.5, 25.9	208	10.8	5.9, 18.9

Table 4.19 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and age

^a 58+ versus 18–27: OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.1, 0.6 Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval



Figure 4.15 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and age

Depressive episodes: 58+ versus 18-27: OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.1, 0.6

4.2.4 Service factors

Service

When the individual Services were considered (Table 4.20 and Figure 4.16), there were no significant differences in the prevalence of any of the individual ICD-10 affective disorders.

	Service at transition												
	Nav	71)	Army	(n = 15,	038)	Air Force (n = 4223)							
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI				
Depressive episodes	758	13.4	7.8, 22.1	1473	9.8	6.8, 13.9	551	13.1	8.0, 20.6				
Dysthymia	338	6.0	3.0, 11.5	454	3.0	1.5, 5.9	348	8.2	4.1, 15.7				
Bipolar affective disorder	386	6.8	2.9, 15.0	1847	12.3	8.2, 17.9	209	5.0	2.3, 10.5				
Any affective disorder	1309	23.1	15.5, 32.9	3577	23.8	18.5, 30.0	869	20.6	14.4, 28.6				

Table 4.20 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, by Service at time of transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF

Figure 4.16 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, by Service at time of transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF



Rank

The estimated prevalence of 'any 12-month ICD-10 affective disorder' was highest among Transitioned ADF members with a lower rank upon transition (28.0%, 95% CI 21.1, 36.2). Compared to Officers, Other Ranks were 2.4 times more likely to meet criteria for 'any 12-month affective disorder' (OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.3, 4.6) and more than four times more likely to meet criteria for bipolar affective disorder (OR 4.5, 95% CI 1.6, 13.3). Other Ranks were also more likely to meet criteria for bipolar affective disorder compared to Non-Commissioned Officers (OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.1, 6.8) (Table 4.21 and Figure 4.17).

Compared to Officers, Non-Commissioned Officers were one-and-a-half times more likely to meet criteria for depressive episodes (OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.0, 2.6), and 1.7 times more likely to meet 12-month criteria for any affective disorder (OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.1, 2.5).

Table 4.21 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, by rank at time of transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF

	OFF	⁻ R (n = 406	53)	NC	O (n = 78	366)	Other Ranks (n = 13,003)			
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Depressive episodes ^a	348	8.6	6.0, 12.1	1034	13.1	10.4, 16.5	1401	10.8	6.6, 17.0	
Dysthymia	146	3.6	2.0, 6.3	461	5.9	4.0, 8.5	532	4.1	1.9, 8.6	
Bipolar affective disorder ^b	141	3.5	2.0, 6.0	447	5.7	4.0, 8.0	1855	14.3	9.2, 21.4	
Any affective disorder ^c	531	13.1	9.9, 17.1	1582	20.1	16.8, 23.9	3642	28.0	21.1, 36.2	

^a NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.0, 2.6

^b Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 4.5, 95% CI 1.6, 13.3; Other Ranks vs NCO: OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.1, 6.8

° Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.3, 4.6; NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.1, 2.5

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.17 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders, by rank at time of transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF



Depressive episodes: NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.6, 95% Cl 1.0, 2.6

Bipolar affective disorder: Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 1.6, 13.3; Other Ranks vs NCO: OR 2.8, 95% Cl 1.1, 6.8 Any affective disorder: Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 2.4, 95% Cl 1.3, 4.6; NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.7, 95% Cl 1.1, 2.5

Deployment

Table 4.22 and Figure 4.18 show the estimated prevalence of any 12-month ICD-10 affective disorder according to deployment status. Rates for each affective disorder and 'any affective disorder' were similar across the 'ever deployed' and 'never deployed' groups, except for dysthymia. Dysthymia was significantly more prevalent among those who been deployed during their career than those who had not (OR 7.3, 95% CI 1.6, 34.6). As dysthymia is a relatively low-prevalence mental disorder, the confidence intervals for this estimate are quite wide, and the result should be interpreted with caution.

Table 4.22 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and deployment status

			Deployme	ent status				
	Ever	deployed (n = 20	,087)	Never deployed (n = 4885)				
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Depressive episodes	2125	11.3	8.5, 14.8	634	11.3	5.4, 22.1		
Dysthymiaª	1043	5.5	3.6, 8.3	53	1.0	0.3, 3.0		
Bipolar affective disorder	1807	9.6	6.6, 13.8	618	11.1	4.8, 23.4		
Any affective disorder	4436	23.6	19.3, 28.5	1251	22.4	13.2, 35.3		

^a Ever vs Never Deployed: OR 7.3 95% CI 1.6, 34.6 Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





Dysthymia: Ever vs Never deployed: OR 7.3, 95% CI 1.6, 34.6

Years of service

Table 4.23 and Figure 4.19 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month affective disorders by years of service in the Regular ADF among members of the Transitioned ADF. Estimated rates of depressive episodes were highest among those with under four years of service (22.6%, 95% Cl 9.4, 45.1), while estimated rates of bipolar affective disorder were highest among those with 4–7.9 years of service (14.6%, 95% Cl 8.7, 23.5). The only significant finding was for dysthymia where those with 8–11.9 years of Regular service had significantly greater rates of 12-month dysthymia than those with under four years of Regular ADF service (OR 7.4, 95% Cl 1.3, 43.9). Again, as dysthymia is a relatively low-prevalence mental disorder, the confidence intervals for this estimate are quite wide, and the result should be interpreted with caution.

Figure 4.19 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and years of service in Regular ADF



Dysthymia: 8-11.9 vs < 4 years of Regular Service: OR 7.4, 95% CI 1.3, 43.9

4.2.5 Transition factors

Years since transition

Table 4.24 and Figure 4.20 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month affective disorders, by the number of years since transition in the Transitioned ADF. There were no significant impacts of years since transition on any of the individual affective disorder types.

Figure 4.20 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and years since transition



Reason for discharge

The estimated prevalence of 'any 12-month ICD-10 affective disorder' was significantly greater for Transitioned ADF members who were medically discharged (39.5%, 95% Cl 30.2, 49.6) compared to those who were discharged for another reason (17.4%, 95% Cl 13.2, 22.3; OR 2.8, 95% Cl 1.6, 4.9). Medically discharged Transitioned ADF members were also 2.4 times more likely to meet criteria for depressive episodes (OR 2.4, 95% Cl 1.2, 4.6), three times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month ICD-10 dysthymia (OR 3.2, 95% Cl 1.2, 8.3) and more than two times more likely to meet criteria for bipolar affective disorder (OR 2.4, 95% Cl 1.1, 5.2) (Table 4.25 and Figure 4.21).

Table 4.23 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and years of service in Regular ADF

		Years of service in Regular ADF								
	3 ma	nths – 3.9 years (n = 2413)	;		4–7.9 years (n = 9015)		8–11.9 years (n = 3295)			
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Depressive episodes	545	22.6	9.4, 45.1	838	9.3	5.2, 16.1	402	12.2	5.9, 23.4	
Dysthymiaª	41	1.7	0.4, 6.6	243	2.7	0.8, 8.6	310	9.4	4.3, 19.1	
Bipolar affective disorder	87	3.6	0.7, 16.2	1316	14.6	8.7, 23.5	376	11.4	4.5, 25.7	
Any affective disorder	635	26.3	12.0, 48.3	2371	26.3	18.5, 35.9	883	26.8	16.1, 41.0	

		Years of service in Regular ADF									
		12–15.9 years (n = 2086)			16–19.9 years (n = 967)		> 20 years (n = 5772)				
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Depressive episodes	261	12.5	6.2, 23.4	97	10.0	4.9, 19.5	664	11.5	8.4, 15.6		
Dysthymia ^a	127	6.1	1.8, 18.5	33	3.4	0.9, 12.3	352	6.1	3.6, 10.2		
Bipolar affective disorder	125	6.0	2.8, 12.5	76	7.9	3.6, 16.4	260	4.5	2.4, 8.3		
Any affective disorder	401	19.2	11.5, 30.3	193	20	12.1, 31.1	1074	18.6	14.3, 23.8		

^a 8–11.9 vs < 4 years of Regular Service: OR 7.4, 95% Cl 1.3, 43.9 Note: 95% Cl: 95% confidence interval

				Y	ears since transition	on					
		0 (n = 1945)			1 (n = 4874)			2 (n = 4944)			
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Depressive episodes	161	8.3	4.5, 14.8	677	13.9	8.7, 21.3	455	9.2	4.9, 16.7		
Dysthymia	72	3.7	1.5, 8.7	229	4.7	1.9, 11.3	237	4.8	2.2, 9.8		
Bipolar affective disorder	278	14.3	6.2, 29.6	721	14.8	7.7, 26.5	504	10.2	4.8, 20.4		
Any affective disorder	440	22.6	12.9, 36.5	1526	31.3	21.9, 42.5	974	19.7	12.2, 30.2		

Table 4.24 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and years since transition

				Y	ears since transition	on			
		3 (n = 5233) 4 (n = 3582) 5 (n =							
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Depressive episodes	581	11.1	6.0, 19.5	552	15.4	7.9, 27.7	312	11.2	5.0, 23.2
Dysthymia	152	2.9	0.8, 10.3	290	8.1	3.3, 18.4	159	5.7	2.2, 14.0
Bipolar affective disorder	314	6.0	2.3, 14.8	319	8.9	3.8, 19.8	281	10.1	3.8, 24.3
Any affective disorder	1015	19.4	12.1, 29.6	1032	28.8	18.4, 42.0	682	24.5	14.4, 38.6

			Reason for	r discharge					
		Medical (n = 5082) Other (n = 19,154)							
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI			
Depressive episodes ^a	925	18.2	12.1, 26.5	1670	8.7	6.1, 12.3			
Dysthymia ^b	462	9.1	5.1, 15.7	573	3.0	1.7, 5.3			
Bipolar affective disorder ^c	872	17.2	10.5, 26.9	1384	7.2	4.5, 11.4			
Any affective disorder ^d	2008	39.5	30.2, 49.6	3324	17.4	13.2, 22.3			

Table 4.25 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and reason for discharge

^a Medical discharge vs Other: OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.2, 4.6
 ^b Medical discharge vs Other: OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.2, 8.3
 ^c Medical discharge vs Other: OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.1, 5.2
 ^d Medical discharge vs Other: OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.6, 4.9
 Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.21 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and reason for discharge



Depressive episodes: Medical vs Other: OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.2, 4.6 Dysthymia: Medical vs Other: OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.2, 8.3 Bipolar affective disorder: Medical vs Other: OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.1, 5.2 Any affective disorder: Medical vs Other: OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.6, 4.9

DVA status

Table 4.26 and Figure 4.22 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month affective disorders for Transitioned ADF members who were DVA clients compared to those who were not. More than one-quarter of Transitioned ADF members who were DVA clients met criteria for 'any 12-month ICD-10 affective disorder' (28.4%, 95% CI 23.1, 24.4) compared to 16.6% (95% CI 11.1, 24.0) of those who were not DVA clients (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.3, 4.0). Interestingly, there were no significant differences between these two groups in rates of 12-month bipolar affective disorder, with 10.2% of DVA clients and 10.0% who were not DVA clients meeting criteria. However, DVA clients were nearly three times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month ICD-10 depressive episodes (OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.4, 5.7) and over five times more likely to meet criteria for 12-month ICD-10 dysthymia (OR 5.6, 95% CI 1.5, 21.0).

Table 4.26Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned
ADF, by affective disorder type and DVA status

			DVA	client				
		No (n = 15,605)		Yes (n = 8774)				
ICD-10 affective disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Depressive episodes ^a	999	6.4	3.6, 11.0	1290	14.7	10.9, 19.5		
Dysthymia ^b	203	1.3	0.4, 4.2	605	6.9	4.5, 10.5		
Bipolar affective disorder	1561	10.0	5.7, 17.2	895	10.2	6.7, 15.1		
Any affective disorder ^c	2590	16.6	11.1, 24.0	2492	28.4	23.1, 24.4		

^a DVA client vs Not a Client: OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.4, 5.7

^b DVA client vs Not a Client: OR 5.6, 95% CI 1.5, 21.0

° DVA client vs Not a Client: OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.3, 4.0

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.22 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders in Transitioned ADF, by affective disorder type and DVA status



Depressive episodes: DVA client vs Not a Client: OR 2.9, 95% Cl 1.4, 5.7 Dysthymia: DVA client vs Not a Client: OR 5.6, 95% Cl 1.5, 21.0 Any affective disorder: DVA client vs Not a Client: OR 2.3, 95% Cl 1.3, 4.0

4.3 Estimated prevalence of alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF

- 12.9% of the Transitioned ADF met criteria for an alcohol disorder in the last 12 months.
- Ex-Serving ADF members were over two times more likely to meet criteria for any 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorder compared to Inactive and Active Reservists.
- Alcohol disorders were most commonly observed in Transitioned ADF members aged 18– 47, those with fewer years of service and lower rank, those who were medically discharged and DVA clients.
- Navy and Army Transitioned ADF members reported higher rates of alcohol disorder compared to Air Force members, with the prevalence of 12-month alcohol disorder highest at one year post-transition.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

The following section provides a summary of the estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders among ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014. It describes the associated predictors related to demographic (sex, age), transition (transition status, years since transition, type of discharge) and Service (Service, rank, years of service, deployment status). The association between alcohol disorders and DVA status is also outlined. A summary is provided of how these estimated rates compare to the national and international literature included in Chapter 6.

The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study examined two types of alcohol disorders:

Alcohol harmful use: a pattern of alcohol use that is damaging to health. The damage may be physical or mental (in the absence of the diagnosis of dependence syndrome (ICD-10). Diagnosis requires a high level of alcohol consumption that is damaging the person's physical or mental health. Each participant was initially asked if they consumed 12 or more standard alcoholic drinks in a 12-month period. If so, they were then asked questions about their level of consumption. A diagnosis of alcohol harmful use was applied if the alcohol interfered with either work or other responsibilities; caused arguments with their family or friends; was consumed in a situation where they could get hurt; resulted in them being stopped or arrested by police; or if the participant continued to consume alcohol despite experiencing social or interpersonal problems related to their drinking during the last 12 months. A person could not meet criteria for alcohol harmful use if they met criteria for alcohol dependence

- Alcohol dependence: a cluster of cognitive, behavioural and physiological characteristics indicating that the person continues to use alcohol despite significant alcohol-related problems (ICD-10). This is characterised by increased prioritisation of alcohol in a person's life. The defining feature of alcohol dependence is a strong, overwhelming desire to use alcohol despite experiencing several associated problems. A diagnosis is given if the person reported three or more of the following symptoms in the last 12 months:
 - a strong and irresistible urge to consume alcohol
 - a tolerance to the effects of alcohol
 - an inability to stop or reduce alcohol consumption
 - withdrawal symptoms upon cessation or reduction of alcohol intake
 - continuing to drink despite it causing emotional or physical problems
 - a reduction in important activities because of or in order to drink.

The tables below report the patterns of alcohol harmful use and dependence in Transitioned ADF members according to ICD-10 criteria, based on CIDI interviews.

4.3.1 Transitioned ADF

Table 4.27 presents the estimated prevalence of ICD-10 alcohol harmful use and dependence in Transitioned ADF members. In total, 12.9% (95%, CI 9.8, 16.9) of the Transitioned ADF met criteria for an ICD-10 alcohol disorder, with alcohol dependence more prevalent (9.1%, 95% CI 6.4, 12.8) than harmful use (3.8%, 95% CI 2.3, 6.3).

		Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)							
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI						
Alcohol harmful use	948	3.8	2.3, 6.3						
Alcohol dependence	2271	9.1	6.4, 12.8						
Any alcohol disorder	3219	12.9	9.8, 16.9						

Table 4.27 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Transition status

When considering transition status (Table 4.28 and Figure 4.23), 18.7% (95%, Cl 13.2, 25.9) of Ex-Serving ADF members met criteria for 'any 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorder'. This rate was more than double the estimated rates for Inactive Reservists (8.7%, 95% Cl 4.8, 15.4) and Active Reservists (7.3%, 95% Cl 3.4, 15.0). Accordingly, Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF members were twice as likely to meet 12-month criteria for 'any alcohol disorder' compared to Inactive Reservists (OR 2.1, 95% Cl 1.0, 4.7). Although there were no significant differences in estimated rates of alcohol harmful use between the different transition status groups, Ex-Serving ADF members were also

nearly four times more likely than Inactive Reservists to meet criteria for alcohol dependence (OR 3.9, 95% CI 1.4, 11.0).

Table 4.28 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservist and Active Reservist)

				Tra	nsition sta	atus				
ICD-10	Ex-Serv	/ing (n = 1	1,440)	Inactive I	Reservist ((n = 6447)	Active Reservist (n = 6968)			
alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Alcohol harmful use	446	3.9	1.9, 8.0	309	4.8	2.1, 10.9	174	2.5	0.7, 8.2	
Alcohol dependenceª	1693	14.8	9.8, 21.7	251	3.9	1.6, 9.1	334	4.8	1.8, 12.4	
Any alcohol disorder ^b	2139	18.7	13.2, 25.9	561	8.7	4.8, 15.4	509	7.3	3.4, 15.0	

^a Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 3.9, 95% CI 1.4, 11.0

^b Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.0, 4.7

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.23 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservist and Active Reservist)



Alcohol dependence: Ex-Serving vs Inactive Reservist: OR 3.9, 95% Cl 1.4, 11.0 Any alcohol disorder: Ex-Serving vs Inactive Reservist: OR 2.1, 95% Cl 1.0, 4.7

4.3.2 Demographic factors

Sex

Table 4.29 and Figure 4.24 present the estimated prevalence of ICD-10 alcohol harmful use and dependence in Transitioned ADF males and females. There was no significant difference in estimated rates of alcohol disorders between males and females overall. Interestingly, when examining individual disorder types, there was a trend towards higher estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol harmful use among females (6.6%, 95% CI 2.2, 18.2) compared to males (3.4%, 95% CI 1.9, 5.1). The opposite pattern was seen for alcohol dependence, with higher estimated rates among males (9.8%, 95% CI 6.7, 13.9) compared to females (4.8%, 95% CI 1.8, 12.5). However, these differences were not statistically significant, as suggested by the wide confidence intervals.

Age

Table 4.30 and Figure 4.25 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month alcohol disorders. When the estimated prevalence of 'any 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorder' was examined across age groups, there was an apparent decline in prevalence with increasing age for alcohol dependence, although this relationship was not statistically significant. The prevalence of alcohol harmful use showed a steady increase until ages 38–47 where prevalence was at its maximum (7.2%, Cl 3.1, 15.7) after which it rapidly decreased to only 0.5% in the 58+ age group. The greatest estimated prevalence of any alcohol disorder was in those aged 28–37 (16.8%, Cl 10.1, 26.5). Overall, there was no significant relationship between age and alcohol disorder

members,	by alcohol d	isorder type	and sex						
			S	ex					
	Т	ransitioned male (n = 21,671)	es	Tr	ansitioned fema (n = 3261)	les			
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	Weighted n % 95% Cl Weighted n % 95							
Alcohol harmful use	734	34	1951	214	6.6	22 18 2			

98

13.1

6.7, 13.9

9.7, 17.5

2114

2848

 Table 4.29
 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and sex

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Alcohol dependence

Any alcohol disorder

157

371

48

11.4

1.8, 12.5

5.3, 22.7

Figure 4.24 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and sex



								Age							
	18–27 (n = 5195)			28–37 (n = 8808)			38–47 (n = 5215)			48–57 (n = 3389)			58+ (n = 1937)		
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Alcohol harmful use	80	1.5	0.3, 7.1	436	5.0	2.0, 12.0	375	7.2	3.1, 15.7	92	2.7	1.4, 5.3	10	0.5	0.1, 3.3
Alcohol dependence	664	12.8	5.9, 25.4	1042	11.8	6.4, 20.9	403	7.7	3.8, 15.1	142	4.2	2.3, 7.4	108	5.6	1.9, 15.7
Any alcohol disorder	744	14.3	7.1, 26.9	1478	16.8	10.1, 26.5	777	14.9	8.8, 24.1	234	6.9	4.4, 10.6	118	6.1	2.2, 15.8

Table 4.30	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and age
------------	---

Figure 4.25 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and age



4.3.3 Service factors

Service

Table 4.31 and Figure 4.26 show the 12-month estimated prevalence of alcohol disorders across the Navy, Army and Air Force. When the individual Services were considered, the Navy and tended to have the highest estimated rates of alcohol disorders, followed by the Air Force. For example, 14.4% (95% CI 10.2, 20.1) of Transitioned Army and 13.4% (95% CI 7.5, 22.8) of Transitioned Navy met criteria for a 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorder, in contrast with 6.8% (95% CI 3.0, 14.8) of Transitioned Air Force members. Compared to Transitioned Air Force members, Transitioned Army members were more than 14 times more likely (OR 14.7, 95% CI 2.0, 110.6) and Transitioned Navy just over 11 times more likely (OR 11.7, 95% CI 1.4, 101.8) to meet criteria for alcohol harmful use. However, these estimates should be treated with caution due to the extremely wide confidence intervals. There were no significant differences between the Services in the rates of ICD-10 alcohol dependence or 'any alcohol disorder'.

Table 4.31 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type (Navy, Army and Air Force)

	Service at transition								
	Navy (n = 5671)			Army (n = 15,038)			Air Force (n = 4223)		
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Alcohol harmful use ^a	243	4.3	1.4, 12.8	691	4.6	2.6, 8.0	13	0.3	0.0, 2.1
Alcohol dependence	517	9.1	4.6, 17.1	1481	9.9	6.2, 15.2	273	6.5	2.7, 14.6
Any alcohol disorder	760	13.4	7.5, 22.8	2173	14.4	10.2, 20.1	286	6.8	3.0, 14.8

^a Army vs Air Force: OR 14.7, 95% Cl 2.0, 110.6; Navy vs Air Force: OR 11.7, 95% Cl 1.4, 101.8 Note: 95% Cl: 95% confidence interval





Alcohol Harmful Use: Army vs Air Force: OR 14.7, 95% CI 2.0, 110.6; Navy vs Air Force: OR 11.7, 95% CI 1.4, 101.8

Rank

Table 4.32 and Figure 4.27 shows the impacts of rank at time of transition. Other Ranks had overall higher estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorder (18.3%, 95% CI 12.6, 25.9) than Commissioned (6.5%, 95% CI 4.3, 9.7) and Non-Commissioned Officers (7.3%, 95% CI 5.3, 9.8), with estimated rates of alcohol dependence in particular higher among Other Ranks.

Other Ranks were approximately three times more likely than Officers (OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.3, 7.9) and Non-Commissioned Officers (OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.3, 6.2) to meet 12-month
criteria for 'any alcohol disorder'. While there was little difference in estimated rates of harmful use of alcohol between ranks, Other Ranks were just over three times more likely than Officers (OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.1, 9.1) and nearly four times more likely than Non-Commissioned Officers (OR 3.7, 95% CI 1.5, 9.3) to meet criteria for 12-month alcohol dependence.

Table 4.32	Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF
	members, by alcohol disorder type and ADF rank/rank at time of transition from
	service in Regular ADF

		Rank at transition								
ICD-10	OFF	R (n = 406	3)	NC	CO (n = 7866	5)	Other Ranks (n = 13,003)			
alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Alcohol harmful use	90	2.2	1.1, 4.6	272	3.5	2.2, 5.3	585	4.5	2.0, 9.7	
Alcohol dependenceª	173	4.2	2.5, 7.1	299	3.8	2.4, 5.9	1799	13.8	8.9, 20.8	
Any alcohol disorder ^b	263	6.5	4.3, 9.7	571	7.3	5.3, 9.8	2385	18.3	12.6, 25.9	

^a Other Ranks vs OFFRS: OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.1, 9.1; Other Ranks vs NCOs: OR 3.7, 95% CI 1.5, 9.3
 ^b Other Ranks vs OFFRS: OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.3, 7.9; Other Ranks vs NCOs: OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.3, 6.2
 Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





Alcohol dependence: Other Ranks vs OFFRS: OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.1, 9.1; Other Ranks vs NCOs: OR 3.7, 95% CI 1.5, 9.3 Any alcohol disorder: Other Ranks vs OFFRS: OR 3.2, 95% CI 1.3, 7.9; Other Ranks vs NCOs: OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.3, 6.2

Deployment

Table 4.33 and Figure 4.28 show that when the effects of deployment were examined, there was a pattern for alcohol harmful use to be highest in those who had ever deployed (13.6%, 95% CI 10.0, 18.2) compared with those who had never deployed (10.8%, 95% CI 4.7, 22.6). Compared to those Transitioned ADF who had never deployed, those who had deployed were almost twice as likely to meet criteria for alcohol harmful use. Despite these trends, however, there were no significant differences between those who had deployed and those who had never deployed in the prevalence of alcohol disorders.

by alcoi	ior disorder ty	pe and depi	loyment stat	45							
	Deployment status										
	Ever d	eployed (n = 20	,087)	Never deployed (n = 4885)							
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI					
Alcohol harmful use	795	4.2	2.5, 7.1	127	2.3	0.3, 14.4					
Alcohol dependence	1765	9.4	6.3, 13.6	475	8.5	3.4, 19.5					
Any alcohol disorder	2560	13.6	10.0, 18.2	602	10.8	4.7, 22.6					

Table 4.33Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF,
by alcohol disorder type and deployment status

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





Years of service

Overall the estimated prevalence of 'any 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorder' decreased with length of Regular service. As can be seen in Table 4.34 and Figure 4.29, estimated prevalence was highest among those with under four years of service (24.8%, 95% CI 10.8, 47.2), with the lowest rates observed in Transitioned ADF members with 12 or more years of Regular service. Those with 12–15.9 years of service were significantly less likely to meet criteria for 'any 12-month alcohol disorder' compared to those with under four years of service (OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.1, 0.9).

Compared with those with under four years of Regular service, Transitioned ADF with 12–15.9 years of service were 90% less likely (OR 0.1, 95% CI 0.0, 0.6), and those with more than 20 years of service 80% less likely (OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.0, 0.8) to meet criteria for 12-month alcohol dependence.

		Years of service in Regular ADF							
	3 months – 3.9 years (n = 2413)			4–7.9 years (n = 9015)			8–11.9 years (n = 3295)		
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Alcohol harmful use	241	10.0	2.8, 29.9	270	3.0	1.0, 8.6	171	5.2	1.3, 19.3
Alcohol dependence ^a	357	14.8	4.8, 37.4	1451	16.1	10.1, 24.9	191	5.8	1.8, 17.0
Any alcohol disorder ^b	598	24.8	10.8, 47.2	1722	19.1	12.5, 28.2	366	11.1	4.5, 24.6

Table 4.34 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders, by years of servicer in the Regular ADF*

		Years of service in Regular ADF								
	12–15.9 years (n = 2086)			16–19.9 years (n = 967)			> 20 years (n = 5772)			
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Alcohol harmful use	77	3.7	1.5, 8.8	40	4.1	1.3, 11.7	185	3.2	1.4, 7.4	
Alcohol dependence ^a	33	1.6	0.4, 6.0	38	3.9	1.3, 11.3	179	3.1	1.9, 5.0	
Any alcohol disorder ^b	111	5.3	2.5, 10.9	77	8.0	3.7, 16.6	369	6.4	3.9, 10.2	

* an estimated 521 Transitioned ADF recorded less *than 3 months of* service. Due to the small numbers in this subpopulation, prevalence estimates cannot be calculated for this group ^a 12–15.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.1, 95% CI 0.0, 0.6; 20+ years vs < 4 years: OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.0, 0.8 ^b 12–15.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.2, 95% CI 0.1, 0.9 Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.29 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and years of service in Regular ADF



Alcohol dependence: 12-15.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.1, 95% Cl 0.0, 0.6; 20+ years vs < 4 years: OR 0.2, 95% Cl 0.0, 0.8 Any alcohol disorder: 12-15.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.2, 95% Cl 0.1, 0.9

4.3.4 Transition factors

Years since transition

Table 4.35 and Figure 4.30 shows the estimated pattern of 12-month alcohol disorder, by years since transition from the Regular ADF. For 'any alcohol disorder', the highest estimated prevalence was at one year post-transition (18.0%, 95% CI 10.2, 29.7). Those at one year post-transition were 4.5 times more likely than those at less than one year post-transition to meet criteria for 12-month alcohol dependence (OR 4.5, 95% CI 1.1, 17.5).

Table 4.35 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and years since transition

		Years since transition							
		0 (n = 1945)			1 (n = 4874)		2 (n = 4944)		
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Alcohol harmful use	144	7.4	1.6, 28.1	49	1.0	0.3, 3.0	84	1.7	0.5, 6.0
Alcohol dependence ^a	74	3.8	1.4, 10.0	829	17.0	9.4, 28.9	351	7.1	3.0, 15.6
Any alcohol disorder	216	11.1	3.9, 28.0	877	18.0	10.2, 29.7	435	8.8	4.2, 17.3

		Years since transition							
		3 (n = 5233)			4 (n = 3582)		5 (n = 2785)		
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Alcohol harmful use	314	6.0	2.6, 13.4	236	6.6	2.0, 20.1	61	2.2	0.9, 5.2
Alcohol dependence ^a	450	8.6	4.0, 17.6	297	8.3	3.3, 19.5	128	4.6	1.0, 19.2
Any alcohol disorder	764	14.6	8.4, 24.1	534	14.9	7.3, 28.2	189	6.8	2.3, 18.5

^a 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 4.5, 95% Cl 1.1, 17.5 Note: 95% Cl: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.30 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and years since transition



Alcohol Dependence: 1 year vs < 1 year: OR 4.5, 95% CI 1.1, 17.5

Reason for discharge

Table 4.36 and Figure 4.31 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month alcohol disorders for those with a medical discharge compared to other types of discharge. The estimated prevalence of any 12-month alcohol disorder was higher among Transitioned ADF with a medical discharge (20.3%, 95% Cl 13.0, 30.2) compared to those with another type of discharge (10.4%, 95% Cl 7.1, 15.0), (OR 1.8, 95% Cl 0.9, 3.8). While estimated rates of alcohol harmful use were similar between the two groups, the estimated 12-month prevalence of alcohol dependence was also significantly higher among those with a medical discharge (16.6%, 95% Cl 10.0, 26.4) compared to others (6.5%, 95% Cl 3.9, 10.6), (OR 2.6, 95% Cl 1.1, 6.4).

Table 4.36 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and reason for discharge

	Reason for discharge						
	Ν	Medical (n = 5082)	Other (n = 19,154)			
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Alcohol harmful use	186	3.7	1.3, 9.7	756	4.0	2.2, 7.1	
Alcohol dependence ^a	844	16.6	10.0, 26.4	1241	6.5	3.9, 10.6	
Any alcohol disorder ^b	1030	20.3	13.0, 30.2	1997	10.4	7.1, 15.0	

^a medical vs other: OR 2.6, 95% Cl 1.1, 6.4

^b medical vs other: OR 1.8, 95% Cl 0.9, 3.8

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.31 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and reason for discharge



Alcohol dependence: Medical versus Other: OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.1, 6.4 Any alcohol disorder: Medical vs other: OR 1.8, 95% CI 0.9, 3.8

DVA status

Table 4.37 and Figure 4.32 show the estimated prevalence of any 12-month alcohol disorder varied according to whether or not the Transitioned ADF were DVA clients. Those who were DVA clients were 2.5 times more likely to meet 12-month ICD-10 criteria for 'any alcohol disorder' (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.2, 5.5). While estimated rates of alcohol harmful use were similar across groups, DVA clients were significantly more likely to meet criteria for alcohol dependence compared to non-clients (11.1%, 95% CI 7.9, 17.2), (OR 3.3, 95% CI 1.3, 8.2).

Table 4.37 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and DVA status

			DVA	client			
		No (n = 15,605)		Yes (n = 8774)			
ICD-10 alcohol disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Alcohol harmful use	499	3.2	1.2, 8.1	360	4.1	2.2, 7.6	
Alcohol dependence ^a	749	4.8	2.3, 9.7	1035	11.1	7.9, 17.2	
Any alcohol disorder ^b	1248	8.0	4.5, 13.9	1395	15.9	11.5, 21.6	

^a DVA client vs Not (OR 3.3, 95% CI 1.3, 8.2.)

^b DVA client vs Not (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.2, 5.5)

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 4.32 Estimated prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 alcohol disorders in Transitioned ADF members, by alcohol disorder type and DVA status



Alcohol dependence: DVA client vs Not (OR 3.3, 95% CI 1.3, 8.2.) Any alcohol disorder: DVA client vs Not (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.2, 5.5)

4.4 Estimated prevalence of comorbid mental health conditions in the Transitioned ADF

- 54.2% of the Transitioned ADF had no 12-month ICD-10 disorder.
- Of the 45.8% of the Transitioned ADF with a disorder in the last 12 months, more than half (55%) had at least one comorbid disorder.
- 15.2% of the Transitioned ADF met criteria for two mental disorder classes.
- 10.1% of the Transitioned ADF met criteria for three or more mental disorder classes.
- Anxiety and affective disorders were the most common comorbid disorders.
- More than 80% of those Transitioned ADF with PTSD had another comorbid disorder.
- More than 95% of those Transitioned ADF with an alcohol disorder had another comorbid disorder.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

The following section examines mental health comorbidity in the Transitioned ADF. First it examines comorbidity between alcohol, affective and other anxiety disorders, and PTSD for the entire cohort. It then examines the transitioned subgroups of Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists and Active Reservists.

Comorbidity was defined by grouping the three disorder classes 'any ICD-10 alcohol disorder', 'any ICD-10 affective disorder' and 'ICD-10 anxiety disorders (excluding PTSD)', and PTSD, according to their co-occurrence. In addition to breaking down the individual patterns of co-occurrence, five categories were defined to represent those with no mental disorder and those with one, two, three or four mental disorder classes.

4.4.1 Transitioned ADF population

Table 4.38 shows the estimated rates of mental disorder comorbidity for the entire Transitioned ADF. In total, just over half (54.2%, 95% CI 49.5, 58.9) of the Transitioned ADF did not have a 12-month ICD-10 mental disorder. Of the 45.8% with a mental disorder, more than half (55.0%) had at least one comorbid disorder. Approximately 15% of the Transitioned ADF met criteria for two mental disorder classes (33% of those with a mental disorder), while a further 10.1% (22% of those with a mental disorder) met criteria for three or more mental disorder classes. The most common comorbidity was between anxiety (excluding PTSD) and affective disorders (5.7%, 95% CI 3.8, 8.6) (12.2% of those with a mental disorder). An important observation is that only 19.8% (weighted n = 873) of those with PTSD (weighted n = 4408) did not have a comorbid disorder. Similarly, only 1601 (6.5% of participants) met criteria for an affective disorder diagnosis alone.

Finally, only 501 of the 3219 individuals (15.6%) with an alcohol-related disorder had this problem alone, with alcohol disorder most commonly associated with a diagnosis of both an anxiety and an affective disorder.

Table 4.38Estimated prevalence n (%) of single and comorbid affective, anxiety (excluding
PTSD), PTSD and alcohol disorder in the Transitioned ADF in the last 12 months,
using ICD-10 criteria

		Total (n = 24,932)	
ICD-10 mental disorder group	Weighted n	%	95% CI
No mental disorder	13,374	54.2	49.5, 58.9
Any alcohol disorder only	501	2.0	1.0, 3.9
Any anxiety disorder only (excl. PTSD)	2084	8.4	6.5, 10.9
PTSD only	873	3.5	2.3, 5.4
Any affective disorder only	1601	6.5	4.4, 9.4
One mental disorder class	5059	20.4	17.1, 24.3
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder	596	2.4	1.2, 4.8
Any affective disorder and any alcohol disorder	224	0.9	0.3, 2.7
PTSD and any alcohol disorder	317	1.3	0.5, 3.4
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any affective disorder	1412	5.7	3.8, 8.6
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and PTSD	814	3.3	2.1, 5.1
Any affective disorder and PTSD	381	1.5	0.7, 3.3
Two mental disorder classes	3744	15.1	12.0, 19.1
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder and PTSD	356	1.4	0.6, 3.7
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder and any affective disorder	731	3.0	1.5, 5.7
Any alcohol disorder and PTSD and any affective disorder	26	0.1	0.0, 0.4
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and PTSD and any affective disorder	912	3.7	2.3, 5.9
Three mental disorder classes	2025	8.2	5.7, 11.6
Four mental disorder classes	468	1.9	0.9, 4.0

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

4.4.2 Transition status

Table 4.39 shows the estimated prevalence of comorbidity for the subgroups of the Transitioned ADF. Estimated rates of mental disorder and comorbidity are highest among the Ex-Serving, with 55.9% having at least one mental disorder (compared to 38.3% of Inactive Reservists and 35.8% of Active Reservists). While the percentage of those classified as having 'one mental disorder class' was similar across the three groups (20.4%, 22.3% and 18.6% in the Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists and Active Reservists respectively), the Ex-Serving had higher rates of 'two mental disorder classes', 'three mental disorder classes' and 'four mental disorder classes'. Of the Ex-Serving group who met criteria for a mental disorder (n = 4049), 63.4% had more than one mental disorder compared to 41.9% of Inactive Reservists and 48% of Active Reservists. The difference in these estimated rates increased with the more disorder classes identified. For example, among the Ex-Serving, the estimated rates for those classified with two or three mental disorder classes were approximately twice that as of those in the Inactive and Active Reserves, whereas the estimated rate among the Ex-Serving with four mental disorder classes was more than five-fold those in the Inactive and Active Reserves.

Table 4.39 Estimated prevalence of comorbidity for the subgroups of the Transitioned ADF

		Ex-Serving (n = 11,440)		Ir	nactive Reservis (n = 6447)	ts	Active Reservists (n = 6968)		
ICD-10 mental disorder group	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
No mental disorder	5045	44.1	36.7, 51.9	3977	61.7	52.7, 69.9	4474	64.2	56.4, 71.4
Any alcohol disorder only	297	2.6	1.0, 6.3	168	2.6	0.9, 7.5	35	0.5	0.1, 1.8
Any anxiety disorder only (excl. PTSD	858	7.5	4.9, 11.2	451	7.0	3.9, 12.3	808	11.6	7.6, 17.2
PTSD only	378	3.3	1.6, 6.7	264	4.1	1.8, 9.1	230	3.3	2.0, 5.5
Any affective disorder only	812	7.1	3.9, 12.5	554	8.6	4.7, 15.1	223	3.2	1.8, 5.5
One mental disorder class	2334	20.4	15.2, 26.8	1437	22.3	15.9, 30.3	1296	18.6	13.9, 24.4
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder	332	2.9	1.3, 6.5	129	2.0	0.4, 9.1	139	2.0	0.4, 10.2
Any affective disorder and any alcohol disorder	183	1.6	0.4, 5.8	26	0.4	0.1, 1.5	14	0.2	0.0, 1.5
PTSD and any alcohol disorder	126	1.1	0.2, 6.1	64	1.0	0.4, 2.3	139	2.0	0.4, 10.2
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any affective disorder	972	8.5	5.1, 13.7	251	3.9	1.5, 10.0	195	2.8	0.9, 8.1
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and PTSD	366	3.2	1.6, 6.3	187	2.9	1.7, 5.0	272	3.9	1.5, 9.5
Any affective disorder and PTSD	217	1.9	0.8, 4.6	13	0.2	0.0, 1.2	160	2.3	0.5, 9.6
Two mental disorder classes	2196	19.2	14.1, 25.7	670	10.4	6.3, 16.7	920	13.2	7.8, 21.5
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder and PTSD	275	2.4	0.8, 7.2	71	1.1	0.2, 6.7	0	0.0	0.0
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and any alcohol disorder and any affective disorder	515	4.5	2.0, 9.8	90	1.4	0.2, 8.8	139	2.0	0.4, 8.8
Any alcohol disorder and PTSD and any affective disorder	11	0.1	0.0, 0.8	13	0.2	0.0, 1.3	0	0.0	0.0
Any anxiety disorder (excl. PTSD) and PTSD and any affective disorder	641	5.6	3.2, 9.8	168	2.6	0.7, 8.6	98	1.4	0.6, 3.3
Three mental disorder classes	1453	12.7	8.3, 18.9	342	5.3	2.2, 12.2	237	3.4	1.3, 8.6
Four mental disorder classes	400	3.5	1.5, 8.1	26	0.4	0.1, 2.5	42	0.6	0.2, 1.9

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

4.5 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF

- Just over 20% of Transitioned ADF reported some sort of suicidal ideation or behaviour in the last 12 months.
- In terms of suicidal ideation, 28.9% of Transitioned ADF reported that they felt that their life was not worth living in the last 12 months and 21.2% reported that they felt so low that they thought about taking their own life in the last 12 months.
- 7.9% of Transitioned ADF had made a suicide plan in the last 12 months.
- 2.0% of Transitioned ADF reported having attempted suicide in the last 12 months.
- Suicidality was most commonly observed in Transitioned ADF who were Ex-Serving, Army, Non-Commissioned Officers and lower in rank, those who had been medically discharged, and DVA clients.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

The study examined 12-month self-reported suicidal ideation and behaviour in the Transitioned ADF, using four questions:

Suicidal ideation Q1: In the last 12 months, have you ever felt that your life was not worth living?

Suicidal ideation Q2: In the last 12 months, have you ever felt so low that you thought about committing suicide?

Suicide plan: In the last 12 months, have you made a suicide plan?

Suicide attempt: In the last 12 months, have you attempted suicide?

The responses to these questions were limited to 'yes' or 'no'.

The following section presents the estimated prevalence of self-reported 12-month suicidality among ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014. It describes the associated demographic (sex, age), transition (transition status, years since transition, type of discharge) and Service (Service, rank, years of service, deployment status) predictors. The association between suicidality and DVA status is also outlined.

4.5.1 Suicidality

Transitioned ADF

Table 4.40 summarises the estimated prevalence of 12-month suicidal ideation, plans and attempts, and any suicidality. In the Transitioned ADF, 28.9% (an estimated 7208 members) reported that they had felt that their life was not worth living in the last

12 months, 21.2% reported feeling so low they thought about committing suicide, 7.9% reported making a suicide plan and 2.0% (representing 505 members) reported making a suicide attempt in the last 12 months.

Table 4.40	Self-reported suicidal ideation, and suicide plans and attempts in the
	Transitioned ADF

	Suicide								
n (%) represents those answering 'yes' to these items									
Transitioned ADF 2015 (n = 24,935)									
Weighted n % 95% C									
Felt life not worth Living	7208	28.9	(27.3, 30.6)						
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	5294	21.2	(19.8, 22.8)						
Made a suicide plan	1965	7.9	(7.0, 8.9)						
Attempted suicide 505 2.0 (1.6)									
Any suicidality*	5342	21.7	20.2, 23.3						

* Calculated as yes to either 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide' Notes:

95%CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'

Transition status

Table 4.41 and Figure 4.33 show that 'any suicidality' was significantly higher among Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF compared with Inactive (OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.9, 3.0) and Active Reservists (OR 3.2, 95% CI 2.4, 4.2). Estimated rates of plans and attempts, in particular, were at least three times higher among the Ex-Serving ADF compared with Inactive Reservists (plans OR 3.1, 95% CI 2.1, 4.5; attempts OR 3.3, 95% CI 1.4, 7.8), and at least five times higher compared to Active Reservists (plans OR 5.8, 95% CI 3.7, 9.1; attempts OR 31.4, 95% CI 9.3, 106.0). However, caution should be used when interpreting the difference in suicide attempts between Transitioned ADF and Active Reservists due to extremely large confidence intervals.

Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists, and Active Table 4.41 Reservists)

		Transition status									
	Ex	Serving (n = 11,4	40)	Inactiv	ve Reservists (n =	6447)	Active Reservists (n = 6968)				
Suicidality	Weighted n	Weighted n % 95% Cl			%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Felt life not worth living	4606	40.3	(37.5, 43.1)	1399	21.7	(18.9, 24.8)	1242	17.8	(15.5, 20.4)		
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	3506	30.7	(28.1, 33.4)	982	15.2	(12.9, 18.0)	856	12.3	(10.2, 14.7)		
Made a suicide plan ^a	1496	13.1	(11.4, 15.0)	302	4.7	(3.4, 6.4)	187	2.7	(1.8, 3.9)		
Attempted suicide ^b	435	3.8	(2.9, 5.0)	68	1.1	(0.5, 2.3)	8	0.1	(0.0, 0.4)		
Any suicidality ^c	3598	31.5	28.8, 34.2	1010	15.7	13.3, 18.4	866	12.4	10.3, 14.9		

 ^a Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 3.1, 95% CI 2.1, 4.5; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 5.8, 95% CI 3.7, 9.1)
 ^b Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 3.3, 95% CI 1.4, 7.8; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 31.4, 95% CI 9.3, 106.0)
 ^c Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.9, 3.0; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 3.2 95% CI 2.4, 4.2)
 * Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide' Notes:

95% CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'





Suicide plans: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 3.1, 95% Cl 2.1, 4.5; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 5.8, 95% Cl 3.7, 9.1 Suicide attempts: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 3.3, 95% Cl 1.4, 7.8; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 31.4, 95% Cl 9.3, 106.0 Any suicidality: Ex-Serving vs Inactive: OR 2.4, 95% Cl 1.9, 3.0; Ex-Serving vs Active: OR 3.2 95% Cl 2.41, 4.2

4.5.2 Suicidality demographic factors

Sex

Table 4.42 and Figure 4.34 show suicidality for Transitioned males and females. There were no significant differences in the estimated prevalence of suicidality between males and females. Although it appears that males had slightly lower rates of attempts, this difference was not significant.

	Sex									
	Transitio	oned males (n =	21,671)	Transitioned females (n = 3261)						
Suicidality	Weighted n	Weighted n % 95% Cl		Weighted n	%	95% CI				
Felt life not worth living	6250	28.8	27.1, 30.7	958	29.4	25.6, 33.4				
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	4602	21.2	19.6, 22.9	692	21.2	17.9, 24.9				
Made a suicide plan	1714	7.9	6.9, 9.0	252	7.7	6.1, 9.7				
Attempted suicide	399	1.8	1.4, 2.5	106	3.2	2.0, 5.2				
Any suicidality*	4643	21.7	20.1, 23.4	699	21.7	18.4, 25.4				

* Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide'

Notes:

95% CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'

Figure 4.34 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by sex



Age

Table 4.43 and Figure 4.35 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month suicidality by age bands. While 'any 12-month suicidality' appears to decrease overall with age, this was not statistically significant. There were peaks in the 18–27 age group (23.6%, 95% CI 19.6, 27.9) and the 38–47 age group (23.8%, 95% CI 21.0, 26.9), dropping to 14.4% among those aged over 58. A similar pattern was observed for individual ideation and plans, but not attempts.

		Age													
	18–27 (n = 5195)		195)	28–37 (n = 8808)		38–4	l7 (n = 52	215)	48–5	i7 (n = 33	89)	58	58+ (n = 1937)		
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Felt life not worth living	1553	29.6	25.3, 34.2	2534	29.1	26.1, 32.3	1735	32.8	29.7, 36.1	907	26.9	23.9, 30.0	377	19.5	16.4, 22.9
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	1234	23.5	19.6, 27.9	1827	21.0	18.4, 23.9	1259	23.8	21.0, 26.9	616	18.3	15.8, 21.0	272	14.0	11.2, 17.4
Made a suicide plan	436	8.3	6.0, 11.4	696	7.9	6.4, 9.8	504	9.5	7.8, 11.7	231	6.9	5.5, 8.5	73	3.8	2.6, 5.4
Attempted suicide	177	3.4	2.0, 5.6	163	1.9	1.2, 2.8	103	1.9	1.2, 3.2	44	1.3	0.7, 2.4	3	0.2	0.0, 0.9
Any suicidality*	1238	23.6	19.6, 27.9	1838	21.1	18.5, 24.0	1259	23.8	21.0, 26.9	643	19.1	16.5, 21.9	278	14.4	11.5, 17.7

Table 4.43 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by age

* Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide'

Notes:

95%CI: 95% confidence interval This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'

Figure 4.35 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by age



4.5.3 Suicidality service factors

Service

Table 4.44 and Figure 4.36 show there was little difference in suicidality between the Services, with a general pattern for the highest rates among Army, followed by Navy then Air Force. However, the only significant difference across the services was for 12-month suicide plans in the Army compared to the Navy (OR 1.6, 95% Cl 1.1, 2.3), where those in the Army were significantly more likely to report making a suicide plan in the last 12 months.

		Service at transition								
		Navy (n = 5671)			Army (n = 15,038)		Air Force (n = 4223)			
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Felt life not worth living	1632	29.3	25.7, 33.2	4497	30.3	28.1, 32.6	1079	25.9	22.9, 29.0	
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	1201	21.6	18.4, 25.2	3332	22.5	20.5, 24.6	761	18.2	15.7, 21.1	
Made a suicide plan ^a	333	6.0	4.5, 7.9	1351	9.1	7.8, 10.6	281	6.7	5.2, 8.6	
Attempted suicide	126	2.3	1.3, 4.1	328	2.2	1.6, 3.0	51	1.2	0.7, 2.0	
Any suicidality*	1207	21.7	18.5, 25.3	3367	22.7	20.7, 24.8	768	18.4	15.8, 21.5	

Table 4.44 Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by Service at transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF (Navy, Army, Air Force)

^a Army vs Navy: OR 1.6, 95% Cl 1.1, 2.3
 * Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide'

Notes:

95% CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'

Figure 4.36 Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by Service at transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF (Navy, Army and Air Force)



Suicidal plans: Army vs Navy: OR 1.6, 95% Cl 1.1, 2.3.

* Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide'

Rank

Table 4.45 and Figure 4.37 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month suicidality in the Transitioned ADF, by rank at the time of transition. Officers had the lowest estimated prevalence of overall suicidality (13.2%, 95% Cl 11.7, 14.8). Just over 8% of Non-Commissioned Officers and Other Ranks reported making a suicide plan in the last 12 months, representing about 1700 people. Approximately 2.5% of Other Ranks (estimated n = 337) and 1.8% of Non-Commissioned Officers (estimated n = 138) reported a suicide attempt. Compared to Officers, Non-Commissioned Officers were significantly more likely to report suicidal ideation (OR 1.9, 95% Cl 1.6, 2.2), plans (OR 1.5, 95% Cl 1.2, 1.9) and attempts (OR 2.3, 95% Cl 1.3, 4.1) as were Transitioned ADF who were Other Ranks (suicidal ideation OR 2.3, 95% Cl 1.7, 2.9; plans OR 1.4, 95% Cl 1.0, 2.0; attempts OR 2.7, 95% Cl 1.2, 5.8). The only significant difference between Non-Commissioned Officers and Other Ranks was for suicidal ideation, with Transitioned ADF in the Other Ranks being significantly more likely to report feeling so low they thought about committing suicide (OR 1.3, 95% Cl 1.0, 1.5).

		Rank at transition										
		OFFR (n = 4063)			NCO (n = 7866)		Other Ranks (n = 13,003)					
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI			
Felt life not worth living ^a	837	20.7	18.9, 22.6	2212	28.6	26.9, 30.4	4159	32.4	29.6, 35.5			
Felt so low thought about committing suicide ^b	520	12.9	11.5, 14.5	1664	21.5	20.0, 23.1	3111	24.3	21.7, 27.1			
Made a suicide plan ^c	227	5.6	4.7, 6.7	644	8.3	7.4, 9.4	1094	8.6	6.9, 10.4			
Attempted suicide ^d	29	0.7	0.4, 1.2	138	1.8	1.4, 2.3	337	2.6	1.8, 3.8			
Any suicidality*	533	13.2	11.7, 14.8	1687	21.8	0.3, 23.4	3122	24.4	21.7, 27.2			

Table 4.45 Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by rank at transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF

^a NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.4, 1.8; Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.7, 2.9

^b NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.6, 2.2; Other Ranks vs NCO: OR 1.3, 95% CI 1.0, 1.5

^c NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.2, 1.9; Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 1.4, 95% CI 1.0, 2.0

^d NCO vs OFFR: OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.3, 4.1; Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 2.7, 95% CI 1.2, 5.8

*Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide'

Notes: * 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study - however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'

Figure 4.37 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by rank at transition



Suicidal ideation (felt life not worth living): NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.6, 95% CI 1.4, 1.8; Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 2.26, 95% CI 1.7, 2.9 Suicidal ideation (felt so low thought about committing suicide): NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.6, 2.2; Other Ranks vs NCO: OR 1.3, 95% CI 1.0, 1.5

Suicide plans: NCO vs OFFR: OR 1.5, 95% Cl 1.2, 1.9; Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 1.4, 95% Cl 1.0, 2.0 Suicide attempts: NCO vs OFFR: OR 2.3, 95% Cl 1.3, 4.1; Other Ranks vs OFFR: OR 2.67, 95% Cl 1.23, 5.8

Deployment

Table 4.46 and Figure 4.38 show the estimated prevalence of 12-month suicidality, by deployment status, in the Transitioned ADF. There were no significant differences in 12-month suicidality between those who had ever been deployed (22.3%, 95% CI 20.7, 24.0) and those who had never been deployed (18.5%, 95% CI 15.4, 22.0).

 Table 4.46
 Estimated prevalence of 12-month suicidality in the Transitioned ADF by deployment status

	Ever	deployed (n = 20),087)	Never deployed (n = 4885)				
12-month suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Felt life not worth living	5634	29.2	27.4, 31.1	1574	27.9	24.3, 31.9		
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	4268	22.1	20.5, 23.9	1026	18.2	15.1, 21.8		
Made a suicide plan	1521	7.9	6.9, 9.0	444	7.9	5.9, 10.5		
Attempted suicide	363	1.9	1.4, 2.5	141	2.5	1.5, 4.2		
Any suicidality*	4301	22.3	20.7, 24.0	1041	18.5	15.4, 22.0		

* Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide'

Notes: * 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'



Figure 4.38 Estimated prevalence of 12-month suicidality in the Transitioned ADF, by deployment status

Years of service

When examining suicidality by years of service in the Regular ADF, Table 4.47 and Figure 4.39 show that prevalence is highest among those with less than four years of service (28.1%, 95% CI 22.6, 34.5). This appears to mainly reflect higher estimated rates of ideation (28.5%, 95% CI 22.9, 34.8) rather than plans and attempts. Compared to those with 3 months to 3.9 years of service, suicidal ideation was significantly lower in Transitioned ADF with 8–11.9 years of service (ideation Q1: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9; ideation Q2: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9), 12–15.9 years of service (ideation Q1: OR 0.7, 95% CI 0.5, 0.9; ideation Q2: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9), 16–19.9 years of service (ideation Q1: OR 0.7, 95% CI 0.5, 0.9; ideation Q2: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9) and 20+ years of service (ideation Q1: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.8; ideation Q2: OR 0.5, 95% CI 0.4, 0.7). There were no significant differences in suicide plans or attempts by years of service in the Regular ADF.

		Years of service in Regular ADF											
	3	months – 3.9 years (n = 2413)			4–7.9 years (n = 9015)		8–11.9 years (n = 3295)						
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI				
Felt life not worth living ^a	932	36.6	30.5, 43.1	2783	30.9	27.6, 34.4	863	26.2	22.3, 30.5				
Felt so low thought about committing suicide ^b	726	28.5	22.9, 34.8	2137	23.7	20.7, 26.9	666	20.2	16.7, 24.2				
Made a suicide plan	285	11.2	7.7, 16.0	759	8.4	6.7, 10.6	269	8.2	5.9, 11.2				
Attempted suicide	90	3.6	1.7, 7.2	248	2.8	1.8, 4.1	65	1.9	1.1, 3.6				
Any suicidality*	717	28.1	22.6, 34.5	2145	23.7	20.8, 27.0	681	20.7	17.1, 24.7				

Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members by years of service in Regular ADF Table 4.47

				Years	of service in Regula	ar ADF				
	12–15.9 years (n = 2086)				16–19.9 years (n = 967)		> 20 years (n = 5772)			
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Felt life not worth living ^a	571	27.4	23.3, 31.8	264	27.3	22.7, 32.5	1460	25.3	23.3, 27.4	
Felt so low thought about committing suicide ^b	408	19.5	16.2, 23.4	190	19.7	15.8, 24.2	959	16.6	14.9, 18.4	
Made a suicide plan	173	8.3	6.4, 10.6	81	8.4	5.9, 11.6	344	5.9	5.0, 7.1	
Attempted suicide	41	1.9	1.2, 3.3	20	2.1	1.1, 4.0	31	0.5	0.3, 0.9	
Any suicidality*	411	19.7	16.4, 23.5	190	19.7	15.8, 24.2	975	16.9	15.2, 18.7	

a 8-11.9 years vs < 4: OR 0.6 95% CI 0.4, 0.9; 12-15.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.7, 95% CI 0.5, 0.9; 16-19.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.7, 95% CI 0.5, 0.9; 20+ years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.8 b 8-11.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9; 12-15.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9; 16-19.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9; 20+ years vs < 4 years: OR 0.5, 95% CI 0.4, 0.7 * Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide'

Notes:

* 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study - however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'



Figure 4.39 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by years of service in Regular ADF

Suicidal ideation Q1: 8–11.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9; 12–15.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.7, 95% CI 0.5, 0.9; 16–19.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.7, 95% CI 0.5, 0.9; 20+ years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.8 Suicidal ideation Q2: 8–11.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9; 12–15.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0.9; 16–19.9 years vs < 4 years: OR 0.6, 95% CI 0.4, 0; 20+ years vs < 4 years: OR 0.5, 95% CI 0.4, 0.7

4.5.4 Suicidality transition factors

Years since transition

Table 4.48 and Figure 4.40 present 12-month suicidality in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition. Estimated prevalence of suicidality was lowest in those who had transitioned less than a year previously (year 0) (13.9%, 95% Cl 10.6, 18.2). Overall, there was a general pattern for suicidal thoughts and behaviour to increase sharply after the first 11 months after transition. Compared with the first 11 months after transition, the greatest increase in suicidal ideation, plans and attempts was observed at around three years post-transition (see Annex B, Tables B.5–B.8 for a more detailed summary of results).

				Ŷ	ears since transitio	n			
		0 (n = 1945)			1 (n = 4874)		2 (n = 4944)		
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Felt life not worth living	367	18.9	14.9, 23.5	1470	30.2	26.5, 34.1	1354	27.4	23.8, 31.3
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	252	12.9	9.8, 17.0	1019	20.9	17.8, 24.4	995	20.1	16.9, 23.7
Made a suicide plan	96	4.9	3.4, 7.1	408	8.4	6.4, 10.9	401	8.1	6.2, 10.6
Attempted suicide	35	1.8	0.9, 3.8	156	3.2	2.0, 5.0	94	1.9	1.1, 3.4
Any suicidality*	271	13.9	10.6, 18.2	1038	21.3	18.2, 24.8	1007	20.4	17.2, 23.9

Table 4.48 Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by number of years since transition from the Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF

				Y	ears since transitio	n				
		3 (n = 5233)			4 (n = 3582)		5 (n = 2785)			
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Felt life not worth living	1759	33.6	29.8, 37.7	1057	29.5	25.5, 33.9	790	28.4	23.9, 33.4	
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	1383	26.4	22.8, 30.4	808	22.6	18.8, 26.8	589	21.2	17.1, 25.8	
Made a suicide plan	524	10.0	7.8, 12.8	241	6.7	4.9, 9.0	214	7.7	5.2, 11.2	
Attempted suicide	88	1.7	0.9, 3.1	64	1.8	0.9, 3.2	57	2.0	0.8, 5.5	
Any suicidality*	1402	26.8	23.2, 30.8	834	23.3	19.5, 27.6	601	21.6	17.5, 26.3	

*calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide' Notes: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

* This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'



Figure 4.40 Estimated prevalence of suicidality, by number of years since transition from Regular ADF into Transitioned ADF

Reason for discharge

Table 4.49 and Figure 4.41 show 12-month suicidality, by type of discharge. Those who reported a medical discharge had an estimated prevalence of 'any suicidality' of 42.6% (95% CI 38.9, 46.4), while those reporting another reason for leaving had a significantly lower estimated prevalence of 16% (95% CI 14.4, 17.7) (OR 3.9, 95% CI 3.2, 4.8). Notably, 20.3% (95% CI 17.4, 23.4) of those medically discharged (representing one in five) reported making a suicide plan in the last 12 months. This was significantly greater than the 4.6% (95% CI 3.8, 5.6) of those who had another reason for leaving (OR 5.3, 95% CI 4.0, 7.1). Likewise, 6.6% (95% CI 4.9, 8.8) of Transitioned ADF members who were medically discharged reported making a suicide attempt in the last 12 months. This was considerably higher than for those who were not medically discharged (0.9%, 95% CI 0.5, 1.5; OR 7.7, 95% CI 4.4, 14.3). Transitioned ADF who were medically discharged were also significantly more likely than those who were not medically discharged to report feeling their life was not worth living (OR 4.3, 95% CI 3.7, 5.3), and feeling so low they had thought about committing suicide in the last 12 months (OR 3.9, 95% CI 3.2, 4.8).

Table 4.49 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by medical versus other reason for discharge

	Reason for discharge					
	Medical (n = 5082)			Other (n = 19,154)		
Suicidality	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Felt life not worth living ^a	2824	55.6	51.8, 59.3	4245	22.2	20.4, 24.0
Felt so low thought about committing suicide ^b	2155	42.4	38.7, 46.2	3032	15.8	14.3, 17.5
Made a suicide plan ^c	1029	20.3	17.4, 23.4	885	4.6	3.8, 5.6
Attempted suicide ^d	336	6.6	4.9, 8.8	169	0.9	0.5, 1.5
Any suicidality ^{e*}	2165	42.6	38.9, 46.4	3065	16.0	14.4, 17.7

^a Medical vs Other: OR 4.3, 95% CI 3.7, 5.3

^b Medical vs Other: OR 3.9, 95% Cl 3.2, 4.8

° Medical vs Other: OR 5.3, 95% CI 4.0, 7.1

^d Medical vs Other: OR 7.7, 95% CI 4.4, 14.3

e Medical vs Other: OR 3.9, 95% CI 3.2, 4.8

* Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide' Notes:

95% CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'

Figure 4.41 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by medical vs other reason for discharge



Suicide ideation Q1: Medical vs Other: OR 4.3, 95% CI 3.7, 5.3 Suicide ideation Q2: Medical vs Other: OR 3.9, 95% CI 3.2, 4.8 Suicide plan: Medical vs Other: OR 5.3, 95% CI 4.0, 7.1 Suicide attempt: OR 7.7, 95% CI 4.4, 14.3 Any suicidality: medical versus Other: OR 3.9, 95% CI 3.2, 4.8

DVA status

Table 4.50 and Figure 4.42 show that 'any 12-month suicidality' was significantly higher among Transitioned ADF who were DVA clients compared with those who were not (OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.6, 2.4). More than one-third (36.4%) of DVA clients (95% CI 34.1, 38.9) reported feeling life was not worth living in the last 12 months compared to 21.8% (95% CI 19.3, 24.5) who were not DVA clients (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.7, 2.5). A similar pattern was observed for the item 'felt so low they thought about committing suicide', with a significantly greater estimated prevalence (27.0%) among DVA clients (95% CI 24.8, 29.3) in contrast to 15.9% (95% CI 13.7, 18.4) of those who were not DVA clients (OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.6, 2.4). Suicide plans (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.9, 3.7) and attempts (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.2, 4.5) showed the same pattern. They were significantly higher among DVA clients (11.3% and 2.8% respectively) compared to those who were non DVA clients (4.6% and 1.2% respectively).

	No (n = 15,605)			Yes (n = 8774)		
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Felt life not worth living ^a	3400	21.8	19.3, 24.5	3197	36.4	34.1, 38.9
Felt so low thought about committing suicide ^b	2481	15.9	13.7, 18.4	2370	27.0	24.8, 29.3
Made a suicide plan ^c	723	4.6	3.4, 6.2	988	11.3	9.8, 12.9
Attempted suicided	194	1.2	0.7, 2.2	244	2.8	2.1, 3.8
Any suicidality ^{e*}	2497	16.0	13.8, 18.5	2393	27.3	25.1, 29.6

Table 4.50	Estimated prevalence of	suicidality in Transitioned	ADF members, by DVA status
------------	-------------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------------

a DVA client vs not: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.7, 2.5;

b DVA client vs not: OR 1.9 95% Cl 1.6, 2.4;

c DVA client vs not: OR 2.6 95% Cl 1.9, 3.7;

d DVA client vs not: OR 2.3 95% Cl 1.2, 4.5

e DVA client vs not: OR 1.9 95% CI 1.6, 2.4.

* Calculated as yes to 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', or 'attempted suicide'

Notes:

95%CI: 95% confidence interval

This terminology reflects the standardised survey item used in this study – however, it should be noted that this is no longer considered an appropriate description, and the term 'thought about committing suicide' should be replaced with 'thought about taking their own life'

Figure 4.42 Estimated prevalence of suicidality in Transitioned ADF members, by DVA status



Suicide ideation Q1: DVA client vs not: OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.7, 2.5 Suicide ideation Q2: DVA client vs not: OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.6, 2.4 Suicide plan: DVA client vs not: OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.9, 3.7 Suicide attempt: DVA client vs not: OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.2, 4.5 Any suicidality: DVA client vs not: OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.6, 2.4

5 Self-reported current mental health symptoms, and trauma exposure among Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members

- Little is known about the similarities and differences in the mental health of recently transitioned and current serving Regular ADF members and how symptoms change and develop in ADF members once they transition.
- While structured diagnostic interviews such as the World Mental Health Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization Composite International Diagnostic Interview – version 3.0 (CIDI) are considered the gold standard for establishing prevalence estimates of mental disorders (especially 12-month disorders), self-report measures of mental health can provide valuable additional information on the severity and nature of current symptomatology.
- Chapter 5 therefore extends the findings from chapter 4 by using weighted estimates of self-reported mental health outcomes to:
 - examine the severity of psychological distress, problem drinking, posttraumatic stress symptoms (PTSD), anger, depression, generalised anxiety, suicidality and illicit drug use in ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared with the 2015 Regular ADF
 - provide a summary of changes in the severity of psychological distress, problem drinking, PTSD, anger, depression and suicidality in the Regular ADF between 2010 (using results from the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS)) and 2015
 - compare the severity of psychological distress, problem alcohol use, PTSD, anger, depression, generalised anxiety, suicidality and illicit drug use in Transitioned ADF, according to years since transition and transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists, Active Reservists).
- Finally, chapter 5 will provide a detailed summary of the estimated prevalence of self-reported lifetime deployment exposures and trauma exposure in the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF, to provide details of the background morbidity (in terms of risk and protective factors for poor mental health) in these two populations.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

Little is known about the similarities and differences in the mental health of recently transitioned and current serving Regular ADF members. Although a comprehensive assessment is conducted to review a member's health status when they leave the ADF, how symptoms change and develop in the first five years after transition, and later, is largely unknown.

The 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS) (McFarlane et al., 2011) indicated that 3% of the Regular ADF scored in the very high range on the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist (PCL), and 1.4% scored in Band 4 (with scores suggesting the need for diagnostic evaluation and treatment) on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) in 2010. Scores in these ranges are highly indicative of 30-day mental disorder, and are well above the suggested epidemiological cut-offs for 30-day International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – Tenth Revision (ICD-10). The comparability of these findings with rates of self-reported mental health symptoms in both 2015 Regular ADF and recently Transitioned (last five years) ADF members are important to Defence. They are important because not only do they provide critical information on the stability of mental health in the entire ADF workforce over time, but also valuable insight into the relationship between transition and mental health more broadly.

This section provides a detailed summary of the patterns of current self-reported psychological distress, drinking problems, PTSD, anger, generalised anxiety, suicidality, depression and illicit drug use among ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 compared to the 2015 Regular ADF. Additionally, it will give an indication of changes in self-reported mental health symptoms in the Regular ADF between 2010 (using results from the 2010 MHPWS) and 2015. As these two samples cannot be considered independently, between-group differences should be interpreted with caution. However, it should also be noted that some members of the 2015 Regular ADF sample are also represented in the 2010 Regular ADF sample. The issue of individual change in symptoms and disorder over time in this group will be addressed in a later Programme report. Finally, this section will provide a detailed summary of the estimated prevalence of self-reported lifetime deployment exposures and trauma exposure in the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF. These potentially adverse events may or may not have impacted the physical or mental health of deployed ADF members, but are included in this report to provide details of the background morbidity (in terms of risk and protective factors) in these two populations.

The seven key self-report mental health measures used in this section are:

- **Psychological distress:** Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) (Kessler et al., 2002), a short, easily administered screening instrument for psychological distress
- **Posttraumatic stress symptoms:** Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist (PCL) (Weathers, 1993), a 17-item scale for measuring PTSD symptoms
- Alcohol use: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) (Babor et al., 2001), a brief self-report instrument that is widely used in epidemiological and clinical practice for defining at risk patterns of drinking
- **Depressive symptoms:** The Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) (Kroenke et al., 2001), a nine-item depression module of the PHQ
- Anger: Dimensions of Anger Reactions Scale (DAR-5) (Forbes et al., 2004), a fiveitem scale assessing anger frequency, intensity and duration, and anger's perceived negative impact on social relationships
- **Suicidality:** A short four-item measure examining suicidal thoughts, plans and attempts, adapted from the National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing (NSMHW) (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008)
- **Drug Use:** A subset of questions modified from the 2013 National Drug Strategy Household Survey on drug use (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2013)
- **Generalised anxiety:** Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7-item Scale (GAD-7) (Spitzer, 2006).

Further details about how these measures are scored are provided in the relevant subsections that follow.

Three of these measures – the K10, PCL and AUDIT – are commonly used in mental health screening in the ADF. The ADF provides a continuum of mental health screening, which enables the provision of psycho-education, early identification and intervention, as well as surveillance to monitor trends in mental health over time (McFarlane et al., 2011). ADF screening practices generally include administration of screening instruments and, where required, a brief screening interview and/or preliminary assessment by a mental health professional.

Two sets of cut-offs on the K10, PCL and AUDIT were developed as part of the 2010 MHPWS (McFarlane et al., 2011): epidemiological and screening. The epidemiological cut-offs give the 'closest estimate of the true prevalence of 30-day ICD-10 disorder as measured by the CIDI' (McFarlane et al., 2011, p. 103). The screening cut-offs reflect a

broader spectrum of moderate to severe symptoms (including sub-syndromal symptoms) rather than diagnosable disorders, allowing for potential early intervention. These screening cut-offs maximise potential identification of true cases, but include a larger proportion of 'false positives' than the epidemiological cut-offs. To gain an indication of the rates of sub-syndromal symptomatology in this population, screening cut-offs are reported in this section.

In addition to comparing the self-reported mental health between Transitioned ADF, and the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, this chapter also provides the estimated rates of self-reported mental health problems by transition-related factors in the Transitioned ADF only:

- Transition status:
 - Ex-Serving: individuals who were full-time Regular ADF members before 2010, who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014, and are not in the Reserves. These individuals are classified as discharged from the ADF. Discharge may have occurred for medical or administrative reasons, or they may have reached compulsory retirement age
 - Active Reservists: individuals who were Regular ADF members before 2010, and have transitioned into the Active Reserves. As Active Reservists, they must complete a minimum number of service days per year
 - Inactive Reservists: individuals who were Regular ADF members before 2010, and transitioned into an Inactive Reservist role. They represent a latent capability Service Chiefs can call upon as required to provide voluntary service or a specific task
- Years since transition: zero (less than one year), one, two, three, four and five years.

In this chapter, weighted estimates of self-reported mental health outcomes are reported for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. These rates are statistically compared and all tests of statistical significance (odds ratios) are adjusted for age, sex, Service and rank. The 2010 Regular ADF refers to the population included in the 2010 MHPWS, and results included in this chapter are reproduced directly from the MHPWS report. Weighted estimates of self-reported mental health outcomes for the 2015 Regular ADF are compared to these results, using simple mean or proportion comparisons.
Finally, this chapter further extends the findings in chapter 4, by providing valuable additional information on the severity and nature of current mental health symptomatology, above and beyond the dichotomous diagnoses provided by the CIDI.

5.1 Psychological distress – (K10)

- An estimated 33.1% of the Transitioned ADF were in the high to very high category for psychological distress compared to an estimated 18.7% of the 2015 Regular ADF and 12.9% of the 2010 Regular ADF.
- Members of the Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher psychological distress than members of the 2015 Regular ADF.
- The 2015 Regular ADF sample reported significantly higher psychological distress compared to the 2010 Regular ADF sample.
- Ex-Serving ADF members were significantly more likely to report psychological distress than Reservists.
- There was no significant difference between Transitioned ADF members who were Active Reservists and Inactive Reservists, in the proportion reporting psychological distress.
- ADF members who transitioned less than one year ago reported the lowest level of psychological distress, with the greatest increase in symptoms observed at one year posttransition.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the pattern of self-reported psychological distress reported by ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to the ADF in 2010 (2010 Regular ADF) and 2015 (2015 Regular ADF).

The distribution of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF will be reported first. The comparisons between the 2010 and 2015 populations do not include any estimate of covariance between the two. Many respondents who participated in the 2010 survey also participated in the 2015 survey, and a longitudinal examination of change in mental health over time will be undertaken in a later Programme report.

The report will also examine the distribution of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF population by the categories of transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservist, Active Reservist) and years since transition.

The K10 is a 10-item screening questionnaire for psychological distress that was developed for use in the United States National Health Interview Survey (US-NHIS)

(Kessler et al., 2002). Originally designed as a short, easily administered screen for psychological distress, the K10 is typically used to inform and complement clinical interviews, and to quantify levels of distress in those who need treatment. The ADF uses it for mental health screening.

Respondents were instructed to rate the amount of time they had experienced one of 10 emotional states during the last previous four weeks (for example, being tired for no good reason, feeling nervous, hopeless or depressed). The 10 questions are scored 1–5, and the respondent must indicate how often they have felt that way, using the following response options: 'all of the time' (5), 'most of the time' (4), 'some of the time' (3), 'a little of the time' (2) or 'none of the time' (1). Scores for the 10 questions are then added up to give a total score of 10–50.

The four scoring bands – low (10–15), moderate (16–21), high (22–29) and very high (30–50) – in this report are derived from the K10 cut-offs used in the NSMHW (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008; Slade et al., 2009). The bands were also used to identify levels of psychological distress in the 2010 MHPWS.

Finally, the ADF also used an optimal screening cut-off of 19. This cut-off was derived from the 2010 MHPWS and is the value that maximises the sum of the sensitivity and specificity (the proportion of those with and without an anxiety or an affective disorder who are correctly classified). This cut-off can be used to identify individuals who might need care, and is designed to be more inclusive than a more stringent epidemiological cut-off.

5.1.1 Psychological distress in Transitioned ADF compared to entire 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF

Table 5.1 and Figure 5.1 show psychological distress as measured by the K10 scoring bands in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF.

Overall, an estimated 19.6% of the Transitioned ADF scored in the very high range on the K10; 13.5% scored in the high range; and 17.8% scored in the moderate range.

The mean K10 score for the Transitioned ADF was 19.9 (SE 0.2) (95% Cl 19.6, 20.4), with 40.6% (weighted n = 10,130, 95% Cl 38.9, 42.4) scoring equal to or above the ADF screening cut-off of 19.

K10 scoring bands		Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			5 Regular n = 52,500		2010 Regular ADF* (n = 50,049)			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Low (10–15)	11,904	47.7	45.9, 49.6	33,015	62.9	59.3, 66.4	32,380	64.7	64.1, 65.3	
Moderate (16–21)	4438	17.8	16.4, 19.3	8278	15.8	13.5, 18.4	11,237	22.5	22.0, 22.9	
High (22–29)	3371	13.5	12.3, 14.8	4179	7.9	6.4, 9.9	4655	9.3	9.0, 9.6	
Very high (30–50)	4884	19.6	18.2, 21.1	5644	10.8	8.4, 13.7	1778	3.6	3.3,3.8	

Table 5.1 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF in each of the four K10 scoring bands for psychological distress

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

In 2015, the Transitioned ADF reported the highest levels of psychological distress, followed by the 2015 Regular ADF and the 2010 Regular ADF. Transitioned ADF members reported significantly greater levels of psychological distress (mean K10 (SE 19.9) (0.2)) compared to the entire 2015 Regular ADF (mean K10 (SE 17.0)) (mean difference 2.4, 95% CI 1.3, 3.4, p < 0.001). For this report, a statistical comparison was also made between members serving in the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF. Using the mean K10 scores from the 2010 MHPWS, the 2015 Regular ADF cohort (mean K10 (SE 17.0) (0.4)) reported significantly higher K10 total scores compared to the 2010 Regular ADF cohort (mean K10 (SE 15.4) (0.03)) (mean difference 1.6, 95% CI 0.9, 2.4, p < 0.001), with the 2015 cohort having proportionally more very high scorers and fewer moderate scorers. However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

A further detailed analysis of the change in levels of psychological distress from 2010 to 2015 will be addressed more formally in later reports.





5.1.2 Psychological distress in different transition population subgroups

Psychological distress in Transitioned ADF, by transition status

Table 5.2 and Figure 5.2 compares the K10 scoring bands in Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists and Active Reservists who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014.

Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF members are significantly more likely to score equal to or above the K10 screening cut-off of 19 (not shown) than Transitioned ADF members who were in the Inactive Reserves (OR 2.5, 95% CI 2.0, 3.0) or Active Reserves (OR 2.6, 95% CI 2.1, 3.2) in 2015. There was no significant difference between Transitioned ADF members who were Active Reservists and Inactive Reservists in the proportion of individuals scoring equal to or above the K10 screening cut-off of 19.

Psychological distress in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition

Table 5.3 and Figure 5.3 compare the K10 scoring bands for psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF, by years since transition.

Overall, psychological distress appears to increase with years since transition, with an average increase in scoring for psychological distress of 0.2 per year. However, this association is not completely linear, and so it is not statistically significant. ADF members who transitioned less than one year ago reported the lowest levels of psychological distress. Those who transitioned 1–5 years ago reported significantly

higher levels of psychological distress, with the greatest increase in symptoms observed at one year post-transition (p < 0.001).

		Ex-Serving n = 11,440)			ive Reservi n = 6447)	sts	Active Reservists (n = 6968)			
K10 scoring bands	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Low (10–15)	4378	38.3	35.4, 41.2	3449	53.5	49.9, 57.1	4002	57.4	54.3, 60.5	
Moderate (16–21)	1682	14.7	12.7, 16.9	1327	20.6	17.8, 23.7	1378	19.8	17.5, 22.3	
High (22–29)	1834	16.0	14.1, 18.2	790	12.3	10.1, 14.8	727	10.4	8.5, 12.7	
Very high (30–50)	3383	29.6	27.0, 32.2	768	11.9	9.8, 14.4	810	11.6	9.6, 13.9	

Table 5.2Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF scoring in each of the K10 bands for
psychological distress, by transition status

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.2 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF scoring in each of the K10 bands for psychological distress, by transition status



	0 (1–11 months) (n = 1945)				1 year (n = 4874)		2 years (n = 4944)			
K10 scoring bands	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Low (10–15)	1069	54.9	48.7, 61.1	2381	48.9	44.7, 53.0	2414	48.8	44.5, 53.1	
Moderate (16-21)	406	20.9	15.7, 27.2	791	16.2	13.4, 19.6	889	17.9	14.9, 21.6	
High (22–29)	258	13.3	9.6, 18.0	579	11.9	9.5, 14.9	554	11.2	8.8, 14.1	
Very high (30–50)	183	9.4	6.9, 12.6	1067	21.9	18.8, 25.4	1047	21.2	17.9, 24.8	

Table 5.3	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members in each year of transition, scoring in each of the four K10 bands for psychological
	distress

	3 years (n = 5234)				4 years (n = 3582)		5+ years (n = 2785)			
K10 scoring bands	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Low (10–15)	2423	46.3	42.3, 50.4	1617	45.1	40.6, 49.8	1617	45.1	40.6, 49.8	
Moderate (16-21)	796	15.2	12.7, 18.1	727	20.3	16.8, 24.3	727	20.3	16.8, 24.3	
High (22–29)	857	16.4	13.5, 19.8	515	14.4	11.4, 18.1	515	14.4	11.4, 18.1	
Very high (30–50)	1111	21.2	17.9, 25.0	663	18.5	15.2, 22.4	663	18.5	15.2, 22.4	

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.3 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members in each year of transition, scoring in each of the four K10 bands for psychological distress



5.2 Posttraumatic stress symptoms (PCL)

- An estimated 24.3% of the Transitioned ADF were in the high to very high risk category for posttraumatic stress compared to 8.7% of the 2015 Regular ADF and 6.7% of the 2010 Regular ADF.
- Members of the Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher posttraumatic stress symptom total scores than members of the 2015 Regular ADF.
- The 2015 Regular ADF cohort reported significantly higher posttraumatic stress symptom total scores compared to the 2010 Regular ADF cohort.
- In the Transitioned ADF:
 - Ex-Serving ADF members were significantly more likely to report posttraumatic stress symptoms than Active or Inactive Reservists.
 - Inactive Reservists were significantly more likely report posttraumatic stress symptoms compared to Active Reservists.
 - ADF members who transitioned up to two years ago reported the lowest level of posttraumatic stress, with the greatest increase in symptoms observed at three years post-transition.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the pattern of posttraumatic stress symptoms reported by members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members.

The distribution of posttraumatic stress symptoms in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF will be reported first. Next, the distribution of posttraumatic stress symptoms in the Transitioned ADF, by the categories of transition status (Ex-Serving, Active Reservist, Inactive Reservist) and years since transition, will be presented.

The 17 questions of the Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist (PCL) are scored 1–5 and added up to give a total score from 17–85.

Respondents were instructed to indicate how much they were bothered by each symptom in the previous month, using one of the following response options: 'not at all' (1), 'a little bit' (2), 'moderately' (3), 'quite a bit' (4), 'extremely' (5). The 17–item PCL was used instead of the PCL-5 (from the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition* (PCL for DSM-5)), to allow comparisons with the 2010 Regular ADF cohort. Additional questions relating to DSM-5 PTSD were included in the survey, but will not be addressed in this section.

To allow comparison with the broader military literature, the PCL scores were grouped into four bands: low (17–29), moderate (30–39), high (40–49) and very high (50–85). These bands represent the risk for PTSD. The ADF uses these same risk groupings in post-operational screening surveillance reports (Weathers, 1993). The groupings were also used in the 2010 MHPWS.

Finally, the ADF's optimal screening cut-off of 29 was used. This cut-off was derived from the 2010 MHPWS, and maximises the sum of sensitivity and specificity (the proportion of those with and without PTSD who are correctly classified). The cut-off can be used to identify individuals with possible posttraumatic stress symptoms.

5.2.1 Posttraumatic stress symptoms in Transitioned ADF members compared to the entire ADF in 2010 and 2015

Table 5.4 and Figure 5.4 compares posttraumatic stress symptoms as measured by the PCL scoring bands in Transitioned ADF and the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF.

Overall, an estimated 16.1% of the Transitioned ADF scored in the very high range for posttraumatic stress symptoms, 8.2% scored in the high range and 13.7% scored in the moderate range. The mean posttraumatic stress symptoms total score for the Transitioned ADF was 31.2 (SE 0.3) (95% CI 30.6, 31.8), with 39.9% (weighted n = 9944, 95% CI 38.1, 41.7) scoring equal to or above the ADF screening cut-off of 29.

The Transitioned ADF reported the highest levels of posttraumatic stress, followed by the 2015 Regular ADF and the 2010 Regular ADF. Transitioned ADF members reported significantly greater levels of posttraumatic stress (mean PCL (SE 31.2) (0.3)) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF (mean PCL (SE 24.2) (0.4) (mean difference 6.3, 95% CI 5.1, 7.5, p < 0.001). For this report, a statistical comparison was also made between the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF. Using the mean PCL values from the 2010 MHPWS, the 2015 Regular ADF cohort (mean PCL (SE 24.2) (0.4)) reported significantly higher PCL total scores compared to the 2010 Regular ADF cohort (mean PCL (SE 24.2) (0.4)) reported significantly higher PCL total scores compared to the 2010 Regular ADF cohort (mean PCL (SE 22.7) (0.1) (mean difference 1.5, 95% CI 0.7, 2.3, p < 0.001). The 2015 cohort also had proportionally fewer low scorers and more moderate scorers. However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

A further detailed analysis of the change in levels of posttraumatic stress symptoms from 2010 to 2015 will be addressed more formally in later reports.

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)				5 Regular . n = 52,500		2010 Regular ADF (n = 50,049)*			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Low (17–29)	14,879	59.7	57.9, 61.5	41,432	78.9	75.6, 81.9	42,363	84.6	84.3, 85.0	
Moderate (30–39)	3426	13.7	12.5, 15.1	6013	11.5	9.3, 14.1	4360	8.7	8.4 ,9.0	
High (40–49)	2032	8.2	7.2, 9.2	2605	5.0	3.4, 7.3	1849	3.7	3.5, 3.9	
Very high (50–85)	4003	16.1	14.8, 17.5	1957	3.7	2.6, 5.4	1477	3.0	2.8 ,3.1	

Table 5.4	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF
	members in each of the four PCL bands for posttraumatic stress

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





5.2.2 Posttraumatic symptoms in different transition population subgroups

Posttraumatic symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by transition status

Table 5.5 compares the PCL scoring bands in Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservists and Active Reservists who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014.

A comparison of Transitioned Ex-Serving and Reservists showed Ex-Serving ADF members are significantly more likely to score equal to or above the PCL screening cutoff of 29 (not shown) than ADF members who were Inactive Reservists (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.7, 2.6) or Active Reservists (OR 2.7, 95% CI 2.2, 3.3). Inactive Reservists were significantly more likely to score equal to or above the screening cut-off of 29 for posttraumatic stress compared to Active Reservists (OR 1.3, 95% CI 1.0, 1.6).

Posttraumatic stress symptoms in Transitioned ADF members, by years since transition

Table 5.6 presents a comparison of the PCL scoring bands among Transitioned ADF members, by years since transition. Overall, posttraumatic stress symptoms increase with years since transition, with an average increase in PCL mean (not shown) of 0.6 per year (p < 0.007). ADF members who transitioned up to two years ago reported the lowest levels of posttraumatic stress symptoms. Those who transitioned 3–5 years ago reported significantly higher levels of posttraumatic stress symptoms, with the greatest increase in symptoms observed at three years post-transition (p < 0.001). Figure 5.6

clearly illustrates this, showing a smaller proportion of low scorers among those who transitioned 3–5 years ago.

	Ex-Serving (n = 11,440)				tive Rese (n = 6447)		Active Reservist (n = 6968)			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Low (17–29)	5451	47.7	44.7, 50.6	4270	66.3	62.7, 69.7	5039	72.3	69.3, 75.1	
Moderate (30–39)	1611	14.1	12.1, 16.3	893	13.9	11.5, 16.7	906	13.0	10.9, 15.5	
High (40–49)	1246	10.9	9.2, 12.8	456	7.1	5.4, 9.2	345	4.9	3.9, 6.4	
Very high (50–85)	2869	25.1	22.7, 27.6	644	9.9	7.9, 12.4	541	7.8	6.1, 9.8	

Table 5.5Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF scoring in each of the PCL bands for
posttraumatic stress, by transition status

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.5 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF scoring in each of the PCL bands for posttraumatic stress, by transition status



	0 (1–11months) (n = 1945)				1 year (n = 4874)		2 years (n = 4944)			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Low (17–29)	1234	63.5	57.1, 69.4	3122	64.1	60.1, 67.8	3059	61.9	57.6, 65.9	
Moderate (30-39)	350	17.9	13.2, 24.0	568	11.7	9.3, 14.5	570	11.5	8.9, 14.7	
High (40–49)	112	5.8	3.5, 9.5	239	4.9	3.7, 6.6	454	9.2	6.9, 12.1	
Very high (50-85)	212	10.9	7.9, 14.9	840	17.2	14.4, 20.5	790	15.9	13.2, 19.2	

Table 5.6	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members scoring in each of the four PCL bands for posttraumatic stress, by years since
	transition

	3 years (n = 5234)				4 years (n = 3582)		5+ years (n = 2785)			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Low (17–29)	2820	53.9	49.6, 58.1	2087	58.3	53.5, 62.8	1570	56.4	50.8, 61.8	
Moderate (30-39)	778	14.9	11.9, 18.4	558	15.6	12.3, 19.5	413	14.8	11.3, 19.2	
High (40–49)	537	10.3	7.9, 13.3	323	9.0	6.8, 11.9	263	9.4	6.8, 13.0	
Very high (50–85)	934	17.8	14.8, 21.4	524	14.6	11.7, 18.2	456	16.4	12.6, 21.1	

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.6 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members scoring in each of the four PCL bands for posttraumatic stress, by years since transition



5.3 Alcohol use and problem drinking (AUDIT)

- An estimated 6.5% of the Transitioned ADF were in the highest scoring band (Band 4) on the AUDIT compared to 1.4% of the 2015 Regular ADF and 1.4% of the 2010 Regular ADF. This suggests the need for diagnostic evaluation and treatment for Transitioned ADF members.
- Compared to members of the 2015 Regular ADF, Transitioned ADF members reported significantly higher AUDIT total scores; were significantly more likely to drink more frequently (that is, four or more times per week); drink more standard drinks on a typical day; report a problem with drinking (possible or definite drinking problem); and anticipate it would be fairly or very difficult to cut down or stop drinking in the next three months.
- Alcohol use significantly decreased in the Regular ADF from 2010 to 2015, in relation to AUDIT total scores, frequency of alcohol consumption, quantity of drinks consumed, and self-reported difficulties reducing alcohol consumption in the next three months.
- In the Transitioned ADF:
 - Almost 10.0% of members reported a possible or definite problem with drinking, and more than 8.0% thought they would have difficulty reducing their alcohol consumption.

- A comparison of Transitioned Ex-Serving with Transitioned Reservists showed the lowest rates of self-reported alcohol use in those who remained most engaged with Defence (Active Reservists).
- Overall, alcohol use and problem drinking showed no association with years since transition.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of self-reported alcohol use and problem drinking among ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members.

The distribution of alcohol use and problem drinking in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF will be reported first. Next, the distribution of alcohol use and problem drinking in the Transitioned ADF, by the categories of transition status (Ex-Serving, Active Reservist, Inactive Reservist) and years since transition, will be examined.

AUDIT (Saunders et al., 1993) is a brief self-report instrument widely used in epidemiological and clinical practice for defining at-risk patterns of drinking. The World Health Organization (WHO) developed AUDIT for primary care settings after conducting an extensive six-nation validation trial that included Australia (Babor et al., 2001).

AUDIT examines the quantity and frequency of alcohol consumption, possible symptoms of dependence, and reactions or problems related to alcohol. The first eight questions use a five-item continuous scale (scored 0–4), while the last two questions use a three-item scale (scored 0, 2 or 4). A final score is reached by adding up all 10 questions.

The ADF has used AUDIT as an educational, epidemiological and clinical tool since it launched the ADF Mental Health Strategy. AUDIT was officially recognised as a tool to '… identify people whose drinking may pose a risk to their health, or who are already experiencing alcohol-related problems, including dependence' in ADF Health Bulletin Number 15/2003 (Defence Health Bulletin (15/03)). It has been part of the Post Operational Psychological Screen process since its introduction in 1999 (Steele & Goodman, 2006). In 2010, it was used in the ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study to examine self-reported alcohol use and problems in the entire ADF. Currently, the ADF uses the recommended WHO risk categories; therefore, it is also using the scoring categories in this study. This process identifies four bands of risk:

- Band 1: (scores of 0–7) would benefit from alcohol education
- **Band 2** (scores of 8–15) likely to require simple advice
- Band 3 (scores of 16–9) counselling and continued monitoring are recommended
- **Band 4** (Scores of 20–40) requires diagnostic evaluation and treatment, including counselling and monitoring (Babor et al., 1989; Babor et al., 2001).

Finally, the ADF optimal screening cut-offs of 8 was also used. This cut-off was derived from the 2010 MHPWS, and maximises the sum of the sensitivity and specificity (the proportion of those with and without an alcohol disorder who are correctly classified). This cut-off can be used to identify individuals who might need care, and is designed to be more inclusive.

In addition to AUDIT, four more questions were also asked, examining the frequency of alcohol consumption, number of standard drinks consumed on a typical day, self-reported problems with drinking and self-reported anticipated difficulties reducing alcohol intake over the next three months. Findings are summarised in this section.

5.3.1 Alcohol use and problem drinking in Transitioned ADF members compared to entire 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF

Table 5.7 and Figure 5.7 compare alcohol use and problem drinking among members of the Transitioned ADF, and the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, as measured by AUDIT scoring bands.

Overall, Transitioned ADF members had the highest levels of self-reported alcohol use and problem drinking, followed by the 2010 Regular ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. Overall, Transitioned ADF members (mean AUDIT (SE 7.2) (0.1)) reported significantly greater levels of alcohol use and problem drinking than the 2015 Regular ADF (mean AUDIT (SE 5.3) (0.2)) (mean difference = 1.9 (0.2), p < 0.001). Alcohol use significantly decreased in the Regular ADF from 2010 to 2015 (mean difference = -0.7 (0.2), p < 0.001). However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

A further detailed analysis of the change in levels of self-reported alcohol use and problem drinking from 2010 to 2015 will be addressed more formally in later reports.

Table 5.7Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF
members in each of the four AUDIT scoring bands for problem alcohol use

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)				5 Regular / n = 52,500		2010 Regular ADF* (n = 50,049)		
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Band I (0–7)	16,236	65.1	63.2, 66.9	41,430	78.9	75.6, 81.9	36848	73.6	73.1, 74.2
Band 2 (8–15)	5574	22.4	20.8, 24.1	9151	17.4	14.7, 20.5	11,345	22.7	22.2, 23.2
Band 3 (16–19)	1169	4.7	3.9, 5.6	988	1.9	1.1, 3.3	1172	2.3	2.1, 2.5
Band 4 (20-40)	1616	6.5	5.6, 7.5	726	1.4	0.6, 3.1	684	1.4	1.2, 1.5

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.7 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members in each of the four AUDIT scoring bands for problem alcohol use



5.3.2 Frequency of alcohol consumption

Table 5.8 and Figure 5.8 compare the frequency with which members of the Transitioned ADF and the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF consume alcohol.

As can be seen in Table 5.8, 25.1% of Transitioned ADF members consume alcohol once a week or once a fortnight; 23.4% consume alcohol two to three times a week; and 22.5% consume alcohol on average monthly or less. One-fifth of the Transitioned ADF consume alcohol four or more times per week, and only a small proportion never consume alcohol (8.5%).

Frequency of alcohol consumption was relatively similar across the Transitioned ADF and the Regular ADF. Most members of the Transitioned ADF (25.1%), 2015 Regular ADF (28.77%) and 2010 Regular ADF (34.4%) consume alcohol on average two to four times a month. A slightly lower proportion of each group consumes alcohol two to three times a week (23.4% of the Transitioned ADF, 28.9% of the 2010 Regular ADF), or monthly or less (21.3% of the 2010 Regular ADF and 25.4% of the 2015 Regular ADF). The largest discrepancy between the groups was observed in those who consumed alcohol four or more times a week, with members of the Transitioned ADF (20.4%) significantly more likely than the 2015 Regular ADF (11.6%) to report drinking at this frequency. Compared to members of the 2010 Regular ADF, the 2015 Regular ADF were significantly less likely to drink two to four times a month (mean difference = -5.6 (1.7), 95% CI -9.0, -2.2) and significantly more likely to not drink at all (mean difference = 4.4 (1.3), 95% CI -1.9, 6.9). However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

A further detailed analysis of the change in levels of self-reported alcohol use and problem drinking from 2010 to 2015 will be addressed more formally in later reports.

	Transitione	ed ADF (n = 24,932)		Regular 1 = 52,50		2010 Regular ADF* (n = 50,049)			
Frequency of consumption	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Never	2109	8.5	7.4, 9.6	4601	8.8	6.5, 11.6	2187	4.4	4.1, 4.6	
Monthly or less	5604	22.5	20.9, 24.2	13,348	25.4	22.2, 28.9	10,648	21.3	20.8, 21.8	
2 to 4 times per month	6259	25.1	23.4, 26.9	15,105	28.8	25.5, 32.2	17,208	34.4	33.8, 34.9	
2 to 3 times a week	5833	23.4	21.8, 25.1	13,339	25.4	22.5, 28.5	14,477	28.9	28.4, 29.5	
4 or more times per week	5097	20.4	19.0, 21.9	6094	11.6	9.6, 13.9	5529	11.0	10.7, 11.4	

 Table 5.8
 Estimated proportions of members of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015

 Regular ADF, by AUDIT, for frequency of alcohol consumption

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.8 Estimated proportions of members of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by AUDIT, for frequency of alcohol consumption



5.3.3 Quantity of alcohol consumed

Table 5.9 and Figure 5.9 compare the quantity of alcohol members of the Transitioned ADF and the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF consume on a typical day.

The data refer to those who report monthly alcohol consumption. On a typical day, most Transitioned ADF members consume one or two standard alcoholic drinks, 29.5% consume three or four, 15.9% of the Transitioned ADF consume five or six standard drinks, and approximately 7% consume 7–10 or more standard drinks on a typical day.

Overall, the 2015 Regular ADF reported drinking fewer standard drinks on a typical day, with the majority of this population (71.5%) drinking 1–4 standard drinks compared to 65.2% of the 2010 Regular ADF and 60.7% of the Transitioned ADF. Overall, Transitioned ADF members were significantly more likely to have more standard drinks on a typical day than the 2015 Regular ADF (adjusted p < 0.001). Of the Transitioned ADF, 14.5% reported consuming seven or more standard drinks on a typical day compared to 11.7% of the 2010 Regular ADF and 7.6% of the 2015 Regular ADF. There was a significant reduction in the proportion of Regular ADF members consuming 5–6 drinks (mean difference -5.2 (1.2), 95% CI -7.5, -2.9) and 10 or more drinks (mean difference -2.2 (0.7), 95% CI -3.7, -0.8) in 2015 compared to 2010. However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

A further detailed analysis of the change in levels of self-reported alcohol use and problem drinking from 2010 to 2015 will be addressed more formally in later reports.

Number of	Transition	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			ular ADF ((n = 52,500)	2010 Regular ADF* (n = 50,049)		
standard drinks in typical day	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
1–2	7770	31.2	29.5, 32.9	19,337	36.8	33.6, 40.2	15,504	31.0	30.5, 31.5
3–4	7349	29.5	27.7, 31.3	18,214	34.7	31.2, 38.3	17,127	34.2	33.7, 34.8
5–6	3982	15.9	14.5, 17.5	6339	12.1	10.0, 14.5	8684	17.4	16.9, 17.8
7–9	1749	7.0	6.1, 8.1	2611	5.0	3.4, 7.2	3439	6.9	6.5, 7.2
10 or more	1853	7.4	6.4, 8.6	1356	2.6	1.5, 4.4	2419	4.8	4.5, 5.1
N/A	1958	7.9	6.8, 9.0	4355	8.3	6.1, 11.2	2877	5.7	5.5, 6.0

Table 5.9Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by
number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a typical day

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.9 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a typical day



5.3.4 Self-reported drinking problem

Table 5.10 and Figure 5.10 present a comparison and the percentage of members of the Transitioned ADF, and entire 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF with a self-reported drinking problem is presented in Tables 5.10 and Figure 5.10 below.

Almost 10% of Transitioned ADF reported a possible or definite problem with drinking. The majority of Transitioned ADF responded 'no' to presently having a problem. Self-reported drinking problems (defined as 'possibly' or 'definitely' having a problem) were significantly higher in the Transitioned ADF (9.7%) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF (2.1%) (OR 4.9, 95% CI 3.9, 6.3). There were no significant differences in self-reported drinking problems between the 2015 Regular ADF and the 2010 Regular ADF.

Self-	Transition	ed ADF (n	= 24,932)	2015 Reg	ular ADF (n = 52,500)	2010 Regular ADF* (n = 50,049)			
reported drinking problem	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
No	18,968	76.1	74.4, 77.7	45,814	87.3	84.6, 89.5	45,776	91.5	91.1, 91.8	
Probably not	2417	9.7	8.6, 10.9	4523	8.6	6.6, 11.1	2547	5.1	4.8 ,5.4	
Unsure	843	3.4	2.8, 4.1	684	1.3	0.9, 1.9	713	1.4	1.3, 1.6	
Possibly	1561	6.3	5.5, 7.2	891	1.7	1.4, 2.1	827	1.7	1.5, 1.8	
Definitely	841	3.4	2.7, 4.2	194	0.37	0.3, 0.5	186	0.4	0.3,0.4	

 Table 5.10
 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF with self-reported drinking problem

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





5.3.5 Self-reported difficulties reducing alcohol consumption

Table 5.11 and Figure 5.11 compare the proportion of members of the Transitioned ADF, and the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF who report anticipating difficulty reducing their alcohol intake.

Participants were asked to quantify how difficult they would find it to cut down or stop drinking in the next three months. More than 8% of Transitioned ADF members reported that they thought they would have difficulty reducing their alcohol consumption.

Members of the Transitioned ADF reported anticipating more difficulty than member of the 2015 Regular ADF. For example, Transitioned ADF were significantly more likely to report that they would find it fairly difficult or very difficult to reduce their alcohol consumption (8.4%) over the next three months (OR 4.9, 95% Cl 3.9, 6.3) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF (2.7%). Additionally, members of the 2010 Regular ADF were significantly more likely than members of the 2015 Regular ADF to report that they would find it very difficult to cut down on their drinking. However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

A further detailed analysis of the change in levels of self-reported alcohol use and problem drinking from 2010 to 2015 will be addressed more formally in later reports.

Difficulty	Transitione	Transitioned ADF 2 (n = 24,932)			ular ADF (r	n = 52,500)	2010 Regular ADF* (n = 50,049)		
reducing alcohol consumption	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Very easy	12,712	50.9	49.0, 52.9	33,644	64.1	60.4, 67.6	32,543	65.0	64.5, 65.6
Fairly easy	4209	16.9	15.5, 18.4	8387	15.9	13.6, 18.7	8296	16.6	16.1, 17.0
Neither difficult or easy	2397	9.6	8.5, 10.9	3086	5.9	4.2, 8.2	3228	6.4	6.2, 6.8
Fairly difficult	1364	5.5	4.7, 6.4	1324	2.5	1.5, 4.2	1057	2.1	1.9, 2.3
Very difficult	746	2.9	2.4, 3.7	128	0.2	0.2, 0.4	213	0.4	0.3, 0.5

 Table 5.11
 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF

 who anticipate difficulty reducing their alcohol intake over the next three

 months

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





5.3.6 Alcohol use and problem drinking in different transition population subgroups

Alcohol use and problem drinking in Transitioned ADF, by transition status

Table 5.12 and Figure 5.12 compare the AUDIT scoring bands in Ex-Serving, Inactive and Active Reservists who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2015.

A comparison of transitioned Ex-Serving and Reservists showed Active Reservists had the lowest rates of self-reported alcohol use. Ex-Serving ADF and Inactive Reservists showed little difference. For example, Ex-Serving ADF members were significantly more likely to score above the AUDIT screening cut-off of eight than those who were in the Active Reserves (OR 2.58, 95% CI 2.11, 3.15) in 2015 but not the Inactive Reserves. Transitioned ADF members who were in the Inactive Reserves were also significantly more likely to score equal to or above the AUDIT screening cut-off of 8 than Active Reservists.

	Ex-Serving (n = 11,440)				ive Rese n = 6447		Active Reservist (n = 6968)		
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Band I (0-7)	7088	61.9	58.9, 64.9	4075	63.2	59.5, 66.8	5037	72.3	69.2, 75.2
Band 2 (8–15)	2511	21.9	19.5, 24.6	1573	24.4	21.3, 27.9	1468	21.1	18.4, 23.9
Band 3 (16–19)	620	5.4	4.2, 6.9	339	5.3	3.8, 7.3	200	2.9	1.9, 4.4
Band 4 (20-40)	1044	9.1	7.6, 10.9	369	5.7	4.2, 7.8	209	3.0	2.0, 4.4

Table 5.12 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, using AUDIT scoring bands, for problem alcohol use, by transition status

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





Alcohol use and problem drinking in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition

Table 5.13 and Figure 5.13 compare the AUDIT scoring bands for members of the Transitioned ADF, by years since transition. Overall, time since transition did not have a significant effect on the AUDIT scoring bands.

	0 (1-11months) n=1945				1 year n=4874		2 years n=4944			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Band I (0-7)	1318	67.8	61.1, 73.8	3270	67.1	62.9, 71.1	3270	66.1	61.7, 70.3	
Band 2 (8-15)	434	22.3	17.1, 28.6	986	20.2	16.9, 24.0	1068	21.6	18.1, 25.7	
Band 3 (16-19)	53	2.7	1.6, 4.6	270	5.5	3.8, 7.9	208	4.2	2.7, 6.5	
Band 4 (20–40)	117	6.0	3.4, 10.5	284	5.8	4.2, 8.0	328	6.6	4.8, 9.2	

Table 5.13	Estimated Proportion of Transitioned ADF members scoring in each of the four AUDIT scoring bands for problem alcohol use, by years
	since transition

	3 years n=5234				4 years n=3582		5+ years n=2785			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Band I (0-7)	3220	61.5	57.2, 65.7	2506	69.9	65.4, 74.2	1709	61.4	55.7, 66.8	
Band 2 (8-15)	1225	23.4	19.9, 27.3	671	18.7	15.3, 22.8	822	29.5	24.5, 35.1	
Band 3 (16-19)	351	6.7	4.6, 9.7	139	3.9	2.5, 6.1	62	2.2	1.2, 4.2	
Band 4 (20-40)	370	7.1	5.2, 9.6	233	6.5	4.5, 9.4	177	6.4	3.9, 10.1	

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.13 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, scoring in each of the four AUDIT scoring bands, for problem alcohol use, by years since transition



5.4 Depressive symptoms (PHQ-9)

- An estimated 19.5% of the Transitioned ADF were in the moderately severe to severe category for depressive symptoms compared to an estimated 7.4% of the 2015 Regular ADF and 2.4% of the 2010 Regular ADF.
- Members of the Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher depressive symptoms than members of the 2015 Regular ADF.
- The 2015 Regular ADF sample reported significantly higher depressive symptoms than the 2010 Regular ADF sample.
- In the 2015 Transitioned ADF:
 - Ex-Serving ADF members were significantly more likely to report depressive symptoms than Active or Inactive Reservists.
 - There was no significant difference between Active Reservists and Inactive Reservists in the proportion reporting depressive symptoms.
 - Overall, time since transition did not have a significant effect on depressive symptoms; however, ADF members who transitioned less than a year ago, reported significantly lower symptoms than those who were one, three and five years post-transition.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the pattern of depressive symptoms reported by ADF members who have transitioned from the Regular ADF since 2010 (Transitioned ADF) compared to 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members.

The distribution of depressive symptoms in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF will be reported first. Next, the section will examine the distribution of depressive symptoms in the Transitioned ADF, by categories of transition status (Ex-Serving, Active Reservist, Inactive Reservist) and years since transition.

The nine items forming the depression module of the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) were designed to correspond with the nine criteria used to form a diagnosis of DSM-IV depressive disorder (Kroenke et al., 2001). Participants rate the severity of each symptom item over the previous two weeks on a four-point (that is, 0–3) Likert scale. Items can be summed to generate a continuous measure of depressive symptoms (with possible scores ranging from 0–27). The PHQ-9 is widely used and has shown strong psychometric properties, including high diagnostic validity, internal consistency and test-retest reliability (Gilbody et al., 2007; Kroenke et al., 2001; Manea et al., 2012; Wittkampf et al., 2007).

This report used the categories of minimal (0-4), mild (5-9), moderate (10-14), moderately severe (15-19) and severe (20-27), which are derived from a study comparing the PHQ-9 with doctor-diagnosed depression in 580 primary care patients (Kroenke et al., 2001).

Finally, the ADF's optimal specific screening cut-off of 6 was also used (Searle et al., 2015). This cut-off was derived from the 2010 MHPWS, and maximises the sum of the sensitivity and specificity (the proportion of those with and without a 30-day affective disorder who are correctly classified). This cut-off can be used to identify individuals who might need care and is designed to be more inclusive.

5.4.1 Depressive symptoms in the Transitioned ADF

Depressive symptoms in Transitioned ADF compared to the entire 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF

Table 5.14 and Figure 5.14 compare PHQ-9 scoring bands in Transitioned ADF, 2015 Regular ADF and 2010 Regular ADF.

Overall, an estimated 10.5% of Transitioned ADF scored in the severe range for depressive symptoms, 9.0% scored in the moderately severe range and 11.1% scored in the moderate range.

The mean PHQ-9 score for the Transitioned ADF was 7.6 (SE 0.1) (95% CI 7.4, 7.9), with 48.6% (n = 12,120, 95% 46.8, 50.4) scoring equal to or above the ADF screening cut-off of 6, indicating the need for further diagnostic assessment of depressive disorder.

In 2015, the Transitioned ADF reported the highest levels of self-reported depressive symptoms, followed by the 2015 Regular ADF and the 2010 Regular ADF. Transitioned ADF members (mean PHQ-9 (SE 7.6) (0.1)) reported significantly greater levels of depressive symptoms than the 2015 Regular ADF (mean PHQ-9 (SE 5.1) (0.2)) (mean difference (SE 2.1) (0.3), 95% CI 1.5, 2.7 p < 0.001). Also, depressive symptoms overall significantly increased in the Regular ADF from 2010 to 2015, with the 2015 Regular ADF (mean PHQ-9 (SE 5.1) (0.2)) reporting significantly greater levels of depressive symptoms than the 2010 Regular ADF (mean PHQ-9 (SE 2.9) (0.0)) (mean difference 2.3, 95% CI 1.8, 2.7) p < 0.001). However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

The issue of individual change in depressive symptoms and disorder over time in this group will be addressed in a later Programme report.

		nsitioned Al n = 24,932)	DF		5 Regular Al n = 52,500)	DF	2010 Regular ADF (n = 50,049)*			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Minimal (0–4)	11,342	45.5	43.7, 47.3	29,505	56.2	52.6, 59.7	38,821	77.6	77.1, 78.1	
Mild (5–9)	5788	23.2	21.7, 24.8	13,391	25.5	22.4, 28.9	7710	15.4	15.0, 15.8	
Moderate (10–14)	2764	11.1	9.9, 12.3	5228	9.9	7.9, 12.5	2259	4.5	4.3, 4.8	
Moderately severe (15–19)	2250	9.0	8.0, 10.2	2374	4.5	3.1, 6.5	772	1.5	1.4, 1.7	
Severe (20-27)	2622	10.5	9.5, 11.7	1562	2.9	1.7, 5.1	487	0.9	0.9, 1.1	

 Table 5.14
 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF in each

 PHQ-9 scoring band for depressive symptoms

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval



Figure 5.14 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF in each PHQ-9 scoring band for depressive symptoms

Depressive symptoms in Transitioned ADF members, by transition status

Table 5.15 and Figure 5.15 compare the PHQ-9 scoring bands in Ex-Serving, Inactive and Active Reservists who transitioned from ADF service between 2010 and 2014.

Ex-Serving ADF members were significantly more likely to score above the PHQ-9 screening cut-off of 6 than Transitioned ADF members in the Inactive Reserves (OR 2.2, 95% CI 1.8, 2.7) or Active Reserves (OR 2.7, 95% CI 2.2, 3.2). There was no significant difference between Active and Inactive Reservists in the proportion scoring above the PHQ-9 screening cut-off.

Depressive symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition

Table 5.16 and Figure 5.16 compare the PHQ-9 scoring bands for Transitioned ADF members, by years since transition.

Overall, the time that passed since transition did not significantly affect the depressive symptoms scoring bands. However, ADF members who transitioned less than a year ago reported significantly lower PHQ-9 total scores than those who were one, three and five years post-transition, when the greatest increases in symptoms were observed.

	Ex-Serv	ing (n =	11,440)	Inactive I	Reservist (n = 6447)	Active Reservist (n = 6968)			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Minimal (0-4)	3953	34.6	31.7, 37.5	3315	51.4	47.7, 55.1	3998	57.4	57.4, 57.4	
Mild (5–9)	2400	20.9	18.6, 23.6	1612	25.1	22.1, 28.4	1719	24.7	24.7, 24.7	
Moderate (10-14)	1484	12.9	11.2, 14.9	692	10.7	8.6, 13.3	588	8.4	8.4, 8.4	
Moderately severe (15–19)	1431	12.5	10.7, 14.5	440	6.8	5.2, 8.9	399	5.7	5.7, 5.7	
Severe (20-27)	2078	18.2	16.1, 20.4	346	5.4	3.9, 7.3	229	3.3	3.3, 3.3	

Table 5.15Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF for PHQ-9 scoring bands for
depressive symptoms by transition status

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





	0 (1–11 months) (n = 1945)				1 year (n = 4874)		2 years (n = 4944)		
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Minimal (0–4)	1031	53.0	46.7, 59.2	2278	46.7	42.6, 50.9	2377	48.1	43.8, 52.4
Mild (5–9)	473	24.3	19.2, 30.3	1015	20.8	17.7, 24.3	1163	23.5	20.1, 27.4
Moderate (10–14)	192	9.9	6.6, 14.5	467	9.6	7.4, 12.4	458	9.3	7.1, 12.0
Moderately severe (15–19)	133	6.9	4.3, 10.7	457	9.4	7.3, 12.0	458	9.3	7.1, 12.1
Severe (20–27)	115	5.9	4.2, 8.4	656	13.5	10.9, 16.5	489	9.9	7.8, 12.5

Table 5.16	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members in PHQ-9 scoring bands for depressive symptoms, by years since transition
------------	---

		3 years (n = 5234)			4 years (n = 3582)		5+ years (n = 2785)				
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Minimal (0–4)	2205	42.1	38.2, 46.2	1478	41.3	36.8, 45.9	1331	47.8	42.4, 53.2		
Mild (5–9)	1266	24.2	20.8, 27.9	956	26.7	22.7, 31.1	562	20.2	16.2, 24.8		
Moderate (10–14)	726	13.9	11.3, 16.9	467	13.0	10.1, 16.6	296	10.6	7.9, 14.1		
Moderately severe (15–19)	428	8.2	6.2, 10.7	349	9.7	7.2, 13.1	317	11.4	8.2, 15.6		
Severe (20–27)	608	11.6	9.0, 14.8	332	9.3	7.0, 12.1	280	10.0	7.2, 13.9		

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.16 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF members in PHQ-9 scoring bands for depressive symptoms, by years since transition



5.5 Anger symptoms (DAR-5)

- Transitioned ADF members reported experiencing significantly greater levels of anger than members of the 2015 Regular ADF.
- There was a significant increase in anger frequency, intensity and duration; antagonism towards others and impacts of anger on social relations in the Regular ADF from 2010 to 2015.
- In the 2015 Transitioned ADF:
 - An estimated 30.2% reported levels of problematic anger.
 - Ex-Serving ADF members were significantly more likely to report problematic levels of anger than Active or Inactive Reservists.
 - There was no significant difference between Active Reservists and Inactive Reservists in levels of anger.
 - Overall, there was no significant effect of time since transition on anger. However,
 Transitioned ADF members who transitioned 1–5+ years ago were significantly more
 likely to report higher anger scores than those who were 1–11 months post-transition.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the anger symptoms reported by ADF members who transitioned from full-time Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members.

The distribution of anger symptoms in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF will be reported first. Next, the distribution of anger symptoms in the Transitioned ADF, by categories of transition status (Ex-Serving, Active Reservist, Inactive Reservist), and years since transition will be examined.

The five-item Dimensions of Anger Reactions Scale (DAR-5) (Forbes et al., 2004) assesses anger frequency, intensity and duration, and anger's perceived negative impact on social relationships, as rated over the previous four weeks. Items are added up to create a total score (range 5–25), with higher scores indicating a higher frequency of anger. This scale has been used for Australian Vietnam veterans, and US Afghanistan and Iraq veterans. It shows strong unidimensionality and high levels of internal consistency and criterion validity (Forbes et al., 2004).

Respondents were instructed to rate the amount of time they had experienced each of the five symptoms of anger over the last four weeks on a five-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 'none of the time' to 5 'all of the time'. In addition to the total score, a mean score is presented for each anger item. A cut-off of 12 is used to indicate problematic anger.

5.5.1 Anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF compared to 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF

Table 5.17 and Figure 5.17 compare anger symptoms as measured by the DAR-5 in the Transitioned ADF and the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF.

Overall, in the Transitioned ADF, mean scores were highest for anger frequency (mean 2.4) and anger intensity (mean 2.0). The mean total anger symptom score was 9.8 (95% CI 9.6, 10.0), with an estimated 30.2% (n = 7533, 95% CI 28.6, 31.9) scoring equal to or above the cut-off of 12, indicating levels of problematic anger.

In 2015, the Transitioned ADF had the highest levels of self-reported anger, followed by the entire 2015 Regular ADF and the entire 2010 Regular ADF. Transitioned ADF members (mean DAR-5 (SE 9.8) (0.1) 95% CI 9.6, 10.0) reported significantly greater levels of anger than the 2015 Regular ADF (mean DAR-5 (SE 8.2) (0.5) 95% CI 7.9, 8.5) (Adjusted Regression Coefficient 1.3 (0.2), p < 0.001). This result was consistent for each anger item, with the mean differences ranging from 0.2–1.5 for items 1–5. Additionally, each of the anger symptoms overall, as well as the anger symptom total, significantly increased in the Regular ADF from 2010 to 2015. However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

The issue of individual change in anger symptoms over time will be addressed in a later Programme report.

	Trans	sitioned ADF (n = 24,932)		20	15 Regular A (n = 52,500)	DF	2010 Regular ADF* (n = 50,049)			
	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI	
Anger frequency	2.4	0.02	2.4, 2.5	2.2	0.04	2.1, 2.2	1.9	0.01	1.9, 1.9	
Anger intensity	2.0	0.02	1.9, 2.0	1.7	0.04	1.6, 1.7	1.4	0	1.4, 1.4	
Anger duration	1.9	0.02	1.8,1.9	1.5	0.04	1.5, 1.6	1.3	0	1.3, 1.3	
Antagonism towards others	1.7	0.02	1.7, 1.8	1.4	0.04	1.3, 1.5	1.3	0	1.3, 1.3	
Social relations	1.8	0.02	1.8 ,1.8	1.5	0.04	1.4, 1.6	0.2	0	1.2, 1.2	
DAR-5 total	9.8	0.1	9.6, 10.0	8.2	0.5	7.9 8.5	7.1	0.02	7.1 7.2	

Table 5.17 Estimated proportions of anger symptoms among Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by symptoms

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 5.17 Estimated proportions of anger symptoms among Transitioned ADF, and 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF, by symptoms



5.5.2 Anger symptoms in different transition population subgroups

Anger symptoms among Transitioned ADF members, by transition status

Table 5.18 and Figure 5.18 compare anger symptoms among Ex-Serving, Inactive and Active Reserves members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014.

There were significantly higher mean DAR-5 total scores in Ex-Serving ADF members compared to Inactive Reservists (p < 0.001) or Active Reservists (p < 0.001). There was no significant difference between Transitioned ADF members who were Active Reservists and Inactive Reservists in the mean DAR-5 scores. This same pattern was also reflected in the proportion of each group scoring equal to or above the DAR-5 cut-off of 12, with Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF members being significantly more likely to score equal to or above this cut-off than Transitioned ADF members who remain in the Active Reserves (OR 2.6, 95% CI 2.1, 3.3, p < 0.001) or Inactive Reserves (OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.6, 2.5, p < 0.001).

 Table 5.18
 Estimated proportions of anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by transition status

	Ex-S	Serving (n	= 11,440)	Inactiv	e Reservist	(n = 6447)	Active Reservist (n = 6968)			
	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI	
Anger frequency	2.7	0.04	2.6, 2.8	2.4	0.04	2.3, 2.4	2.1	0.03	2.0, 2.1	
Anger intensity	2.3	0.04	2.2, 2.4	1.9	0.04	1.8, 1.9	1.7	0.03	1.6, 1.8	
Anger duration	2.2	0.04	2.1, 2.3	1.8	0.04	1.7, 1.8	1.6	0.03	1.5, 1.6	
Antagonism towards others	1.9	0.04	1.9, 2.0	1.6	0.04	1.5, 1.7	1.4	0.03	1.3, 1.4	
Social relations	2.1	0.04	2.0, 2.2	1.7	0.04	1.6, 1.8	1.5	0.03	1.4, 1.52	
DAR-5 total	11.2	0.17	10.9, 11.6	9.2	0.18	8.9, 9.6	8.2	0.13	7.9, 8.4	

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





Anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition

Table 5.19 and Figure 5.19 compare anger symptoms in the Transitioned ADF, by years since transition.

Overall, the passing of time since transition did not have a significant effect on the anger symptoms total score. However, Transitioned ADF who transitioned 1–5 years ago were significantly more likely to report higher anger symptom total scores than those in the first year post-transition.

Figure 5.19 Estimated proportions of anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition



	0 (1–11 months) (n = 1945)			1 year (n = 4874)			2 years (n = 4944)			3 years (n = 5234)			4 years (n = 3582)			5+ years (n = 2785)		
	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mea n	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI
Anger frequency	2.2	0.07	2.1, 2.4	2.4	0.05	2.3, 2.5	2.4	0.05	2.3, 2.5	2.5	0.05	2.4, 2.6	2.5	0.06	2.4, 2.6	2.4	0.06	2.3, 2.6
Anger intensity	1.7	0.06	1.6, 1.8	2.0	0.05	1.9, 2.10	1.9	0.05	1.9, 2.1	2.1	0.05	1.9, 2.2	2.1	0.06	1.9, 2.2	1.9	0.07	1.9, 2.1
Anger duration	1.7	0.07	1.5, 1.8	1.9	0.05	1.8, 1.9	1.9	0.05	1.8, 2.0	1.9	0.05	1.8, 2.0	1.9	0.06	1.8, 2.0	1.9	0.07	1.8, 2.0
Antagonism towards others	1.5	0.06	1.4, 1.6	1.7	0.05	1.60, 1.8	1.7	0.05	1.6, 1.8	1.8	0.05	1.7, 1.9	1.7	0.05	1.6, 1.8	1.9	0.07	1.6, 1.90
Social relations	1.6	0.06	1.5, 1.7	1.8	0.05	1.7, 1.9	1.8	0.05	1.7, 1.9	1.9	0.05	1.8, 1.9	1.8	0.05	1.7, 1.9	1.9	0.07	1.7, 1.9
DAR-5 total	8.6	0.27	8.1, 9.2	9.9	0.22	9.4, 10.3	9.8	0.23	9.3, 10.2	10.2	0.23	9.7, 10.6	9.9	0.25	9.4, 10.4	9.9	0.3	9.3, 10.5

 Table 5.19
 Estimated proportions of anger symptoms in Transitioned ADF, by years since transition

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval
5.6 Suicidal ideation, plans and attempts

- Members of the Transitioned ADF were significantly more likely to report suicidal ideation, plans or attempts than members of the 2015 Regular ADF.
- The 2015 Regular ADF sample were significantly more likely than the 2010 Regular ADF cohort to report suicidal ideation, but not plans and attempts.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the suicidal ideation, plans and attempts (suicidality) reported by ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members. Chapter 4 examined self-reported suicidal ideation, plans and attempts among Transitioned ADF members according to demographic (sex, age), transition (Ex-Serving, Inactive, Active Reservists, years since transition, type of discharge and DVA status) and Service (Service, rank, years of service, deployment status) factors. Chapter 5 extends these results by examining the distribution of suicidal ideation, plans and attempts (suicidality) in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF.

As reported in chapter 4, 12-month self-reported suicidal ideation and behaviour in the ADF was examined using four questions:

- *Suicidal ideation Q1*: In the last 12 months, have you ever felt that your life was not worth living?
- *Suicidal ideation Q2*: In the last 12 months, have you ever felt so low that you thought about committing suicide?
- Suicide plan: In the last 12 months, have you made a suicide plan?
- Suicide attempt: In the last 12 months, have you attempted suicide?

The responses to these questions were limited to 'yes' or 'no'.

5.6.1 Suicidality in Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF

Table 5.20 and Figure 5.20 presents a comparison of the suicidality in the Transitioned ADF, and in the 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF.

Overall, the Transitioned ADF reported the highest levels of suicidality followed by the 2015 Regular ADF and the 2010 Regular ADF. Suicidal ideation, plans and attempts were all significantly more prevalent in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF (see Annex B for a more detailed table of results). Suicidal ideation, but not plans and attempts, was also significantly more prevalent in the 2015 Regular ADF

compared to the 2010 Regular ADF (see Annex B). However, it should be noted that this comparison does not include any estimate of covariance between the two populations.

The issue of individual change in symptoms over time will be addressed in a later Programme report.

	Transitioned ADF 2015 (n = 24,932)				5 Regular n = 52,500		2010 Regular ADF* (n = 50,049)			
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Felt life not worth living	7208	28.9	27.3, 30.6	6927	13.2	10.7, 16.2	3358	6.7	6.4 ,7.0	
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	5294	21.2	19.8, 22.8	4493	8.6	6.4, 11.3	1943	3.9	3.7, 4.1	
Made a suicide plan	1965	7.9	6.9, 8.9	950	1.8	1.0, 3.3	546	1.1	1.0, 1.2	
Attempted suicide	505	2.0	1.6, 2.6	311	0.6	0.2, 1.6	212	0.4	0.3, 0.5	
Any suicidality†	5342	21.7	20.2, 23.3	4533	8.8	6.7, 11.6	1985	4.0	3.7, 4.2	

Table 5.20 Estimated proportions of suicidality in Transitioned ADF and entire 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF

* From the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study

† 'Any suicidality' includes those who endorsed 'felt so low thought about committing suicide', 'made a suicide plan', 'attempted suicide' Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





5.7 Drug use (illicit and the use of prescription drugs for nonmedical purposes) in Transitioned ADF

- An estimated 39.3% of Ex-Serving ADF members have used illicit drugs in their lifetime, with 16.4% reporting illicit drug use in the last 12 months.
- An estimated 11.3% of Ex-Serving ADF members have reported using prescription drugs for non-medical purposes in their lifetime, with more than half (6.7%) reporting using them in the last 12 months.
- Ex-Serving ADF members and Inactive Reservists reported similar patterns of lifetime and 12-month drug use and were significantly more likely to report 12-month and lifetime illicit drug use, as well as 12-month and lifetime use of prescription drugs for non-medical purposes than those who remained in the Active Reserves.
- Both types of drug use (illicit and non-medical use of prescription drugs) increased gradually over the first few years after transition, reaching a peak at three years post-transition.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

Lifetime and 12-month drug use in Transitioned ADF only was measured using modified items from the 2013 National Drug Strategy Household Survey (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2011).

Transitioned ADF were asked questions about two categories of drugs:

- Illicit drugs:
 - Includes methamphetamines, marijuana, heroin, methadone, buprenorphine, cocaine, hallucinogens, ecstasy, ketamine, GHB, inhalants, opiates and opioids
- Prescription drugs for non-medical purposes:
 - Includes painkillers/analgesics and tranquilisers/sleeping pills.

For this study, the phrase 'non-medical purposes' was defined as either alone or with other drugs to induce or enhance a drug experience.

Participants were asked if they had ever used these drugs in their lifetime or the last 12 months, and the age at which they first used them. This section will only report 12-month and lifetime drug use.

Due to the ADF's 'zero-tolerance policy' on full-time and Active Reserve ADF members using illicit drugs (members found to be using illicit drugs are required to 'show cause' as to why they should be permitted to remain in the ADF), 2010 and 2015 Regular ADF members were not asked about illicit or prescription drug use. As such, limited analysis of lifetime and 12-month drug use was examined in the Transitioned ADF, using transition status (Ex-Serving, Active Reservist, Inactive Reservist) and years since transition.

5.7.1 Drug use in different transition population subgroups

Drug use in Transitioned ADF members, by transition status

Almost 40% of the Transitioned ADF reported using illicit drugs in their lifetime, with 11.3% reporting ever using prescription drugs for non-medical purposes. In the last 12 months, 16.4% (95% CI 14.2, 19.0) of the Transitioned ADF reported using illicit drugs, and 6.73% (95% CI 5.31, 8.50) reported using prescription drugs for non-medical purposes.

Table 5.21 and Figure 5.23 compare drug use in Ex-Serving, Inactive and Active Reservists who have transitioned from the Regular ADF since 2010.

Self-reported drug use was highest among Ex-Serving ADF members and lowest among Active Reservists. Both Ex-Serving ADF members and Inactive Reservists were significantly more likely than Active Reservists to report 12-month and lifetime illicit drug use. They were also more likely to report 12-month and lifetime use of prescription drugs for non-medical purposes. In contrast, there was little difference between drug use patterns among Transitioned ADF members who were Ex-Serving and members of the Inactive Reserves (see Annex B for odds ratios comparing 12month and lifetime drug use among Transitioned ADF members who were Ex-Serving, Inactive or Active Reservists).

	Ex-serving (n = 11,440)				tive Res (n = 644		Active Reservist (n = 6968)		
Drug use	Weighted n %		95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Lifetime illicit drug use	4496	39.3	36.3, 42.4	2439	37.8	34.1, 41.7	1619	23.2	20.4, 26.4
12-month illicit drug use	1877	16.4	14.2, 19.0	828	12.8	10.2, 16.0	226	3.3	2.0, 5.2
Lifetime prescription drug use for non- medical purposes	1297	11.3	9.5, 13.4	550	8.5	6.5, 11.2	193	2.8	1.8, 4.1
12-month prescription drug use for non-medical purposes	770	6.7	5.3, 8.5	244	3.8	2.5, 5.7	82	1.2	0.6, 2.3

Table 5.21	Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF who have used drugs, by transition
	status

Figure 5.21 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF who have used drugs, by transition status



Drug use among Transitioned ADF members, by years since transition

Table 5.22 compares 12-month drug use among Transitioned ADF members, by years since transition.

Overall, both types of drug use (illicit and non-medical use of prescription drugs) showed a gradual increase over the first few years after transition, reaching a peak at three years post-transition. From this point, rates of 12-month drug use declined. Years since transition did not significantly impact 12-month rates of illicit or non-medical use of prescription drugs.

	0 (1–11months) (n = 1945)				1 year (n = 4874)		2 years (n = 4944)			
Drug use	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
12-month illicit drug use	153	7.9	4.8, 12.8	578	11.9	9.0, 15.4	694	14.0	10.9, 17.9	
12-month prescription drug use for non-medical purposes	67	3.5	1.7, 7.1	173	3.6	2.2, 5.7	222	4.5	2.9, 6.7	

Table 5.22 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF reporting 12-month drug use, by years since transition

	3 years (n = 5234)				4 years (n = 3582)		5+ years (n = 2785)			
Drug use	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
12-month illicit drug use	775	14.8	11.6, 18.7	382	10.7	7.8, 14.5	275	9.9	6.6, 14.4	
12-month prescription drug use for non-medical purposes	337	6.5	4.4, 9.5	152	4.2	2.6, 6.9	81	2.9	1.5, 5.7	

Figure 5.22 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF reporting 12-month drug use, by years since transition



5.8 Generalised anxiety (GAD-7)

- An estimated 22.3% of the Transitioned ADF were in the moderate to severe category for general anxiety disorder (GAD) symptoms compared to an estimated 9.6% of the 2015 Regular ADF.
- The Transitioned ADF reported a significantly higher mean generalised anxiety total score than the 2015 Regular ADF.
- In the Transitioned ADF:
 - Ex-Serving ADF members were significantly more likely to experience symptoms of generalised anxiety than Active or Inactive Reservists.
 - There was no significant difference in the proportion of Transitioned ADF who were Active and Inactive Reservists reporting generalised anxiety symptoms.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the pattern of self-reported GAD symptoms reported by ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to 2015 Regular ADF members.

The distribution of GAD symptoms in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF will be reported first. The Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7-item Scale (GAD-7) was not included in the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study; therefore, this section will not comment on changes in generalised anxiety in the Regular ADF since 2010. The section then reports on the distribution of GAD symptoms in the Transitioned ADF, transition status (Ex-Serving, Active Reservist, Inactive Reservist) and years since transition.

The GAD-7 (Spitzer, 2006) is a brief 7-item screening measure based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders – Fourth Edition (DSM-IV) criteria for GAD. Originally validated for use in primary care, the GAD-7 performs well in detecting probable cases of GAD, with a sensitivity of 89% and a specificity of 82%. It is also moderately good at screening three other common anxiety disorders – panic disorder (sensitivity 74%, specificity 81%), social anxiety disorder (sensitivity 72%, specificity 80%) and PTSD (sensitivity 66%, specificity 81%) – in primary care settings [3]. Furthermore, increasing scores of generalised anxiety symptoms are associated with multiple types of functional impairment and self-reported disability days; therefore, high scores are strongly indicative of anxiety severity.

Respondents were instructed to rate the amount of time they experienced each of the seven symptoms the last 2 weeks, and questions were scored 1–3. Respondents used one of the following response options: 'not at all (0)' 'several days' (1), 'more than half the days' (2) and 'nearly every day' (3). Scores for the seven questions were then added up to give a total score of 0–21.

The categories of minimal (0–4), mild (5–9), moderate (10–14) and severe (15–21) used in this report are derived from 2740 primary care patients in the United States. When used as a screening tool, further evaluation is recommended if the score is 10 or greater.

5.8.1 Generalised anxiety symptoms in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

Table 5.23 compares generalised anxiety symptoms as measured by the GAD-7 scoring bands in the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.

The Transitioned ADF had significantly higher levels of self-reported symptoms of generalised anxiety than the 2015 Regular ADF, (p < 0.001), and members were significantly more likely to score above the recommended screening cut-off of 10 (OR 2.4, 95% Cl 1.8, 3.4).

	Transitio	ned ADF 2015 (n	= 24,932)	2015 Regular ADF (n = 52,500)				
GAD-7 scoring bands	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI		
Minimal (0-4)	13,545	54.3	52.5, 56.1	36,907	70.3	66.8, 73.6		
Mild (5–9)	5523	22.2	20.7, 23.7	10,049	19.1	16.4, 22.2		
Moderate (10–14)	2734	11.0	9.9, 12.2	2671	5.1	3.7, 6.9		
Severe (15–21)	2850	11.4	10.3, 12.6	2384	4.5	2.9, 6.9		
GAD-7 total score (M 95% CI)		16.8	12.6, 21.0		12.8	5.8,19.9		

Table 5.23Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF and entire 2015 Regular ADF for
GAD-7 scoring bands for generalised anxiety disorder symptoms

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





5.8.2 Generalised anxiety symptoms in different transition population subgroups

Generalised anxiety symptoms in Transitioned ADF members, by transition status

Table 5.24 and Figure 5.26 compare generalised anxiety symptoms in Ex-Serving, Inactive and Active Reservists who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014.

In 2015, Ex-Serving ADF members were significantly more likely to score above the GAD-7 screening cut-off of 10 compared to Inactive Reservists (OR 2.7, 95% CI 2.1, 3.5) or Active Reservists (OR 3.6, 95% CI 2.8, 4.7). There was no significant difference between Active Reservists and Inactive Reservists in the proportion scoring above the GAD-7 screening cut-off.

	Ex-Serving (n = 11,440)				ive Rese n = 6447		Active Reservist (n = 6968)		
GAD-7 scoring bands	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Minimal (0-4)	4936	43.2	40.3, 46.1	3915	60.7	57.2, 64.2	4596	66.0	62.9, 68.9
Mild (5–9)	2531	22.1	19.8, 24.6	1474	22.9	19.9, 26.0	1491	21.4	19.0, 24.0
Moderate (10-14)	1657	14.5	12.7, 16.5	618	9.6	7.6, 12.0	475	6.8	5.3, 8.8
Severe (15-21)	2150	18.8	16.7, 21.1	385	6.0	4.5, 7.9	346	5.0	3.7, 6.7
GAD-7 total score M 95% CI		7.4	7.1, 7.8		4.6	4.2, 4.9		3.9	3.6, 4.2

Table 5.24Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF for GAD-7 scoring bands, by
transition status

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





Generalised anxiety symptoms in Transitioned ADF members, by years since transition

Table 5.25 compares the GAD-7 scoring bands for Transitioned ADF members, by years since transition.

Although overall the passing of time since transition did not significantly affect the scoring bands for generalised anxiety symptoms, ADF members who transitioned less than a year ago had significantly lower total scores for generalised anxiety symptoms than those who were three years post-transition, when the greatest increase in symptoms was observed.

		0 (1–11months) (n = 1945)			1 year (n = 4874)		2 years (n = 4944)		
GAD-7 scoring bands	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Minimal (0–4)	1142	58.7	52.4, 64.8	2702	55.4	51.4, 59.5	2729	55.2	50.9, 59.4
Mild (5–9)	462	23.7	18.6, 29.8	935	19.2	16.3, 22.5	1045	21.1	17.9, 24.7
Moderate (10–14)	208	10.7	7.2, 15.6	484	9.9	7.9, 12.5	547	11.1	8.6, 14.1
Severe (15–21)	111	5.7	4.0, 8.1	704	14.5	11.8, 17.7	574	11.6	9.2, 14.6
GAD-7 total score (M 95% CI)		15.8	5.2, 26.4		15.7	7.1, 24.2		15.2	6.4, 24.1

Table 5.25 Proportion of Transitioned ADF in each of the GAD-7 scoring bands for GAD symptoms, by years since transition

	3 years (n = 5234)				4 years (n = 3582)		5+ years (n = 2785)			
GAD-7 scoring bands	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	
Minimal (0–4)	2632	50.3	46.2, 54.4	1860	51.9	47.2, 56.6	1543	55.4	50.0, 60.7	
Mild (5–9)	1254	24.0	20.6, 27.7	932	26.0	22.1, 30.4	605	21.7	17.6, 26.5	
Moderate (10–14)	698	13.3	10.7, 16.5	343	9.6	7.2, 12.6	324	11.6	8.6, 15.5	
Severe (15–21)	578	11.0	8.6, 14.1	395	11.0	8.5, 14.1	303	10.9	7.9, 14.7	
GAD-7 total score (M 95% CI)		19.4	7.5, 31.4		20.5	7.0, 32.9		9.1	4.6, 13.6	



Figure 5.25 Proportion of Transitioned ADF in each of the GAD-7 scoring bands for GAD symptoms, by years since transition

5.9 Deployment exposures

- An estimated 85% or more of the entire Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF have experienced a potentially adverse deployment exposure.
- Exposure to toxins was the most common exposure type, with more than 50% of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members reporting exposure to smoke, fumes, chemicals, and local food or water.
- Transitioned ADF members were significantly more likely to report the most deployment exposure types, except for potentially toxic/environmental exposures (smoke, fumes, chemicals, and local food or water), fear of encountering an improvised explosive device (IED) and coming under fire.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the estimated prevalence of self-reported lifetime deployment exposures among ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to 2015 Regular ADF members. These potentially adverse events may or may not have had an impact on the physical or mental health of the deployed ADF member. However, they are included in this report to provide details of the background morbidity (in terms of risk and protective factors) in the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.

Deployment exposure items in this section were drawn directly from the Middle East Area of Operations Census Study (Dobson et al., 2012). Participants were given a list of potential adverse exposures likely to be experienced on deployment and asked to indicate how many times they had experienced each one during their military career. Response categories ranged from 'never' to '10+ times'. Examples of events included exposure to 'hazardous materials', 'discharge of weapon in direct combat' and 'handled or saw dead bodies'. For this section, deployment exposures were included if the participant indicated they had been exposed once, 2–4 times, 5–9 times or 10+ times.

5.9.1 Deployment exposures in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

Table 5.26 presents the distribution of deployment exposures in the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.

Overall, more than 85% of both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF reported experiencing a deployment exposure in their lifetime. Toxic exposures in particular (i.e. smoke, fumes, noise, chemicals, and local food and water) were the most common exposure type with 50% or more of both groups reporting exposure to these toxins.

The next most common exposure types in both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF were being in danger of being killed or injured (46.8% and 39.4% respectively) and being concerned about self or others having an unauthorised discharge of a weapon (40.3% and 34.2% respectively).

Interestingly, Transitioned ADF members were significantly more likely to report the most deployment exposure types, except for toxic exposures (smoke, fumes, noise, chemicals, and local food or water), fear of encountering an improvised explosive device (IED) and coming under fire. (Significant differences are highlighted in bold in Table 5.26. See Annex B for detailed results.)

	Trans	itioned ADF 2015 (n = 2	4,932)	201	5 Regular ADF (n = 52,	500)
	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	(95% CI)
Seriously fear you would encounter IED	8209	33.9	32.4, 35.5	15,187	29.5	26.5, 32.6
Go on combat patrols	9233	38.3	36.6, 39.9	15,375	29.9	26.9, 33.1
Concern about unauthorised discharge of weapon	9743	40.3	38.6, 42.1	17,574	34.2	30.9, 37.5
Clear/search buildings	6981	28.9	27.3, 30.7	10,383	20.2	17.5, 23.2
Come under fire	8950	37.1	35.5, 38.8	16,650	32.4	29.4, 35.1
In danger of being killed or injured	11,258	46.8	45.1, 48.6	20,217	39.4	36.1, 42.9
Have casualties among people close to you	9449	39.1	37.4, 40.8	14,017	27.3	24.4, 30.5
Handle or see dead bodies	9005	37.4	35.7, 39.1	15,434	30.2	27.2, 33.3
Experience threatening situation and unable to respond	5224	21.7	20.3, 23.2	6811	13.2	11.2, 15.6
Witness human degradation	8140	33.8	32.2, 35.6	14,150	27.5	24.9, 30.4
Discharge weapon in direct combat	2863	11.9	10.7, 13.1	3528	6.9	5.1, 9.1
Believe your action resulted in injury or death	2962	12.3	11.2, 13.5	3871	7.5	6.2, 9.1
Exposed to smoke	15,833	65.3	63.5, 67.0	32,162	62.7	59.0, 66.2
Exposed to fumes	16,314	67.0	65.3, 68.8	33,506	64.8	61.2, 68.3
Exposed to chemicals	13,466	55.8	53.9, 57.6	25,974	50.5	46.9, 54.0
Exposed to hazardous materials	6151	25.5	23.9, 27.2	10,634	20.8	18.2, 23.6
Exposed to local food or water	12,658	52.6	50.8, 54.4	25,748	49.8	46.3, 53.3
Exposed to close loud noise	16,129	66.3	64.5, 67.9	31,664	61.1	57.5, 64.7
Any lifetime deployment	18,146	89.8	88.4, 91.0	37,353	86.0	82.6, 88.8

Table 5.26 Estimated prevalence of deployment exposures in Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

* See Annex B for odds ratios Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





5.10 Self-reported lifetime trauma

- Overall, Transitioned ADF members reported significantly higher rates of lifetime trauma than 2015 Regular ADF members.
- The most common lifetime events were similar across both groups: seeing someone badly injured or killed or unexpectedly seeing a dead body; having someone close die unexpectedly; being in combat or being a peacekeeper; and being exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause harm.
- Overall, Transitioned ADF members reported significantly higher rates of most individual event types compared to 2015 Regular ADF members, with the largest differences observed for purposely injured/tortured/killed someone, being kidnapped or held captive, and being stalked.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the estimated prevalence of self-reported lifetime trauma among ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to 2015 Regular ADF members. Estimates provided in this chapter may differ slightly from those reported in chapter 4 because they are drawn from the self-report survey and not from the clinical interview. This variation in rates between self-reported and interview-based methods of data collection are well known and readily acknowledged in the scientific literature (Bowling, 2005). The primary purpose of including self-reported trauma exposure in this section is to provide details of background morbidity, and to compare the rates of trauma exposure in the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF to provide valuable insight into the possible risk factors for poor mental health in these two populations.

The self-reported lifetime trauma exposure questions used in this section were drawn from the PTSD module of the CIDI (Haro et al., 2006). Participants were given a list of traumatic events and asked to indicate whether they had experienced each event. For each applicable event, participants had to provide further information, including their age, the first and last time the event took place, the number of times each event took place, and the number of times each event related to their ADF service. Participants then had to indicate the worst event.

This section reports only the prevalence of each trauma type.

5.10.1 Lifetime trauma exposure in Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF

Table 5.27 presents the distribution of lifetime trauma in the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.

Overall, Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher rates of lifetime trauma compared to the 2015 Regular ADF (OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.1, 1.9), with 77.0% (95% CI 75.3, 78.6) of the Transitioned ADF and 69.3% (95% CI 65.5, 72.7) of the 2015 Regular ADF reporting being exposed to a traumatic event in their lifetime.

Transitioned ADF members (mean (SE 2.9) (0.1)) also reported being exposed to a greater number of different lifetime traumatic events (mean (SE 2.2) (0.09)) than 2015 Regular ADF members.

The five most commonly reported events in both groups were seeing someone badly injured or killed or unexpectedly seeing a dead body (37.8% Transitioned ADF, 28.8% 2015 Regular ADF), having someone close die unexpectedly (29.1% vs 24.4%), combat (26.8% vs 18.4%), being a peacekeeper (25.8% vs 19.0%) and being exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause harm (25.6% vs 18.8%).

Overall, Transitioned ADF members reported significantly higher rates of most individual event types compared to 2015 Regular ADF members, with the largest differences observed for purposely injured/tortured/killed someone (OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.2, 4.8), being kidnapped or held captive (OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.3, 3.3) and being stalked (OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.6, 2.4). (Significant differences are highlighted in bold in Table 5.29. See Annex B for detailed results, including odds ratios.)

Table 5.27 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF who have experienced lifetime trauma

	Transitione	d ADF 2015	(N = 24,932)	2015 Regu	ılar ADF (N	l = 52,500)
	Weighted		05% 01	Weighted	0/	(059/ 01)
	n	%	95% CI	n	%	(95% CI)
Combat (military or organised group)	6597	26.8	25.2, 28.4	9626	18.4	15.9, 21.3
Peacekeeper (in a war zone or place of ongoing terror)	6332	25.8	24.3, 27.3	9877	19.0	17.1, 21.1
Unarmed civilian (in a place of war, revolution, military coup or invasion)	746	3.0	2.5, 3.8	1349	2.6	1.5, 4.4
Lived as a civilian (in a place of ongoing terror for political, ethnic, religious or other reason)	754	3.1	2.5, 3.7	1146	2.2	1.8, 2.7
Refugee	117	0.5	0.3, 0.8	200	0.4	0.2, 0.8
Kidnapped or held captive	190	0.8	0.5, 1.1	211	0.4	0.3, 0.6
Exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause harm	6203	25.6	24.0, 27.2	9663	18.8	16.3, 21.5
Life-threatening automobile accident	3266	13.4	12.2, 14.7	5832	11.3	9.3, 13.5
Other life-threatening accident	3569	14.7	13.4, 16.1	5051	9.8	7.8, 12.2
Major natural disaster	3833	15.7	14.4, 17.1	6269	12.1	10.1, 14.4
Man-made disaster	2589	10.6	9.5, 11.9	2980	5.8	4.4, 7.6
Life-threatening illness	1777	7.3	6.5, 8.2	2054	3.9	3.5, 4.5
Beaten by spouse/romantic partner	590	2.4	1.9, 3.1	606	1.2	0.9, 1.5
Badly beaten by anyone else	2124	8.7	7.7, 9.9	4121	8.0	6.1, 10.4
Mugged, held up, threatened with a weapon	4065	16.6	15.2, 18.1	7014	13.5	11.1, 16.2
Raped	916	3.8	3.2, 4.5	1254	2.4	1.6, 3.6
Sexually assaulted	1773	7.3	6.5, 8.2	2703	5.2	4.1, 6.6
Stalked	1302	5.3	4.6, 6.2	1644	3.2	2.3, 4.4
Someone close died unexpectedly	7127	29.1	27.5, 30.9	12,729	24.4	21.6, 27.5
Child had life-threatening illness/injury	900	3.7	3.2, 4.3	2149	4.1	3.1, 5.5
Someone close had traumatic experience	1928	7.9	6.9, 9.0	3493	6.7	5.1, 8.9
Saw someone badly injured/killed or unexpectedly saw a dead body	9226	37.8	36.0, 39.7	14,895	28.8	25.7, 32.1
Accidently injured/killed someone	981	4.0	3.4, 4.8	1905	3.7	2.5, 5.4
Purposely injured/tortured/killed someone	1157	4.8	3.9, 5.7	1021	1.9	1.2, 3.4
Saw atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings	2837	11.6	10.5, 12.8	4006	7.7	6.2, 9.7
Other traumatic event	2820	11.7	10.6, 12.9	4409	8.6	6.8, 10.8

*See Annex B for odds ratios





6 Comparison of the mental health of Transitioned ADF with the Australian Community in 2015

- National and International research has demonstrated that military service both nationally and internationally places high demands on those who serve.
- The 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS) showed that ADF members experienced a significantly higher prevalence of lifetime trauma (both deployment-related and pre-enlistment trauma) compared to a socio-demographically matched Australian Community (using Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) data).
- The 2010 MHPWS study showed that the 2010 Regular ADF had a significantly higher prevalence of 12-month depressive episodes and posttraumatic stress compared to the Australian Community.
- The increased risk of lifetime trauma exposure and mental disorder in ADF members, combined with transition related stressors places Transitioned ADF members at particular risk as they assimilate back into civilian society which has clear implications for service provision and support.
- In this chapter, key measures of mental health are compared between Transitioned ADF members and a stratified sample of the Australian Community, placing the mental health of Transitioned ADF members within the civilian context.
- Comparisons between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community were made using contemporaneous data obtained from the ABS 2014–2015 ABS National Health Survey (NHS) – in particular, data on the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) and a number of 'alcohol use' questions.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

Very little systematic research has been conducted into the mental health and wellbeing of Transitioned ADF members after they leave the Regular ADF. This is despite widespread concern among Ex-Serving ADF and the broader community, and acknowledgment that transition from regular military service and reintegration into civilian life is a significant stressor (Ashcroft, 2014; Pease et al., 2016).

National and international research has demonstrated that military service – both nationally and internationally – places high demands on those who serve. It can include exposure to extreme physical, psychological and mental stressors above and beyond

what is experienced by those in the community (Dobson et al., 2012; Thompson et al., 2015).

The 2010 MHPWS, for example, showed that ADF members experienced a significantly higher prevalence of lifetime trauma compared to a socio-demographically matched Australian Community (ABS). The largest prevalence differences reported between the 2010 ADF and the Australian Community were for traumas loosely categorised as 'deployment-related'. They include combat (as a member of a military or organised non-military group), serving as a peacekeeper or relief worker in a war zone, and witnessing atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings. In all categories, members of the 2010 Regular ADF reported significantly higher rates compared to the Australian Community, which is not unanticipated given the role that deployment plays in the careers of ADF members (Van Hooff et al., 2012).

Interestingly, the increased rates of trauma exposure were not limited to deployments, but included a significantly greater prevalence of pre-enlistment trauma. The lifetime rates of sexual trauma, such as experiencing rape and sexual assault, and some interpersonal traumas, such as witnessing domestic violence, were also significantly more prevalent in the 2010 Regular ADF than in the Australian Community, with the majority of these events first occurring before enlistment (Van Hooff et al., 2012).

Importantly, compared to the Australian Community, members of the 2010 Regular ADF also reported a significantly higher prevalence of affective disorders as classified by the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10). Specifically, they experience more 12-month depressive episodes and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (McFarlane et al., 2011). This increased risk of lifetime trauma exposure and mental disorder before transition, combined with transition-related changes to identity, roles, social networks, employment, finances and community, places Transitioned ADF members at higher risk as they assimilate back into civilian society.

Whether the impacts of military service emerge before transition or in the months or years following transition, there are clear implications for the delivery of services and provision of appropriate support in the community. Therefore, this chapter compares key measures of mental health between Transitioned ADF members, and a stratified sample of the Australian Community, placing the mental health of Transitioned ADF members within the civilian context.

The 2010 MHPWS directly compared the prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder in the 2010 Regular ADF with the Australian Community in 2007. However, it is not possible to do so in this report because the most recent estimates of mental disorder in the Australian Community are more than seven years old. Instead, contemporaneous data from the 2014–2015 NHS (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2015) was used, but was

limited to comparable data – the K10 and a number of 'alcohol use' questions were taken from the NHS (see section 7.2 for details of questions used).

To enable comparison of estimates in the Transitioned ADF with an Australian Community population, direct standardisation was applied to estimates in the 2014– 2015 ABS NHS data. The NHS is the most recent in a series of Australia-wide ABS health surveys, assessing various aspects of the health of Australians, including long-term health conditions, health risk factors, and health service use. The NHS data were restricted to those aged 18–71 (consistent with the Transitioned ADF). The NHS data were standardised by sex, employment status (employed or not) and age category (18– 27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57 and 58+), and estimates were generated on the outcomes of interest. Standard errors for the NHS data were estimated using the replication weights provided in the NHS data file.

In addition to reporting estimated rates in each of the populations, this chapter also compares rates according to two key demographic factors: sex (male, female) and age: 18–27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57 and 58+.

Significant differences were determined by calculating the confidence intervals on the difference in proportions, and if these included unity, they were not significant.

Further details about how each of the measures was scored are provided in the relevant subsections that follow.

6.1 Psychological distress (K10) in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in 2015

- Levels of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF were significantly higher than in the Australian Community.
- Almost three times more Transitioned ADF members scored in the high to very high psychological distress bands (33.1%) compared to the Australian Community (12.8%).
- The largest difference between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community was in the very high scoring band on the K10 for psychological distress where nearly one in five Transitioned ADF scored in this band compared with just under 5% of the Australian Community.
- Patterns of psychological distress were similar in both populations for males and females.
- Transitioned ADF members across all age bands were significantly more likely to fall in the high to very high scoring band, and were significantly less likely to score in the low band for psychological distress compared to the Australian Community.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the pattern of psychological distress reported by Regular ADF members who transitioned between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to a matched sample of the Australian Community, by the key demographic variables of sex and age.

First, the section will report on the distribution of K10 symptoms of psychological distress for the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community. It will then compare the distribution of K10 symptoms by the categories of sex and age.

The K10 is a 10-item screening questionnaire for psychological distress that was developed for use in the United States National Health Interview Survey (US-NHIS) (Kessler et al., 2002). Originally designed as a short, easily administered screen for psychological distress, the K10 is typically used to inform and complement clinical interviews and quantify levels of distress in those needing treatment. The ADF commonly uses it for mental health screening.

Respondents were instructed to rate the amount of time they had experienced one of 10 emotional states during the last four weeks (for example, 'tired for no good reason' or 'felt nervous, hopeless or depressed'). The 10 questions were scored 1–5, with the respondent indicating how often they felt that way, using one of the following response options: 'all of the time' (5), 'most of the time' (4), 'some of the time' (3), 'a little of the time' (2) or 'none of the time' (1). Scores for the 10 questions were then added up to give a total score from 10–50. The four scoring bands (low (10–15), moderate (16–21), high (22–29) and very high (30–50)) in this report are derived from the K10 cut-offs in the National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008; Slade et al., 2009), and were also used to identify levels of psychological distress in the 2010 ADF MHPWS.

6.1.1 Psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community

Table 6.1 and Figure 6.1 present the distribution of psychological distress, according to the K10 scoring bands, for the entire Transitioned ADF.

Levels of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF were significantly higher than in the Australian Community (as evidenced by the confidence intervals around the mean difference in proportions in Table 6.1 below not crossing unity). The proportion of Transitioned ADF scoring in the low band on the K10 (47.7%, 95% CI 45.9, 49.6) was significantly lower than in the Australian Community (66.3%, 95% CI 64.5, 68.2). In contrast, the proportion scoring in the high to very high band was significantly higher, at just over 33% in the Transitioned ADF compared to approximately 13% of the Australian Community. The largest difference between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community was in the very high scoring band, where nearly one in five Transitioned ADF scored (19.6%, 95% CI 18.2, 21.1) compared to just under 5% of the Australian Community (4.5%, 95% CI 3.5, 5.5).

	-	Transitioned (n = 24,93		Au	stralian Cor	nmunity	Difference			
	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	
Low (10–15)	47.7	0.9	45.9, 49.6	66.3	0.9	64.5, 68.2	-18.6	1.3	-21.2, -15.9	
Moderate (16–21)	17.8	0.7	16.4, 19.3	20.1	0.8	18.6, 21.6	-2.3	1.0	-4.3, -0.2	
High (22–29)	13.5	0.7	12.3, 14.8	8.3	0.6	7.1, 9.4	5.3	0.9	3.5, 6.9	
Very high (30–50)	19.6	0.7	18.2, 21.1	4.5	0.5	3.5, 5.5	15.1	0.9	13.3, 16.9	

Table 6.1Estimated prevalence of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF
compared to the Australian Community using K10 scoring bands

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 6.1 Estimated prevalence of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community using K10 scoring bands



6.1.2 Psychological distress, by sex

Table 6.2 shows the distribution of psychological distress for males and females in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community. Patterns of psychological distress were similar in both populations for males and females. Similar to the overall pattern of results observed in the entire populations (Table 6.1 above), Transitioned ADF males were significantly more likely to score in the high to very high bands on the K10 compared to the Australian Community, and were significantly less likely to score in the low band. The same pattern was apparent for females, with Transitioned ADF females also significantly less likely to score in the moderate band.





6.1.3 Psychological distress, by age

Table 6.3 and Figure 6.3 summarise levels of psychological distress in the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community, by age band. As can be seen in Table 6.3, the Transitioned ADF in all age bands (except those aged 18–27) were significantly more likely to score in the high to very high scoring band. In contrast, they were significantly less likely to score in the low band for psychological distress compared to the Australian Community (Transitioned ADF members in the 18–27 age band were significantly more likely to score in the very high-scoring band only). Approximately 20% of each age group in the Transitioned ADF scored in the very high band on the K10 compared to just under 5% of the Australian Community sample. The only exception was those aged over 58. Around 13% of the Transitioned ADF aged over 58 scored in the very high band of the K10 compared to just under 3% of the Australian Community. Overall, the proportion of Transitioned ADF scoring in the high to very high K10 bands for psychological distress decreased after age 47, but remained relatively stable in the Australian Community.

		Trans	itioned ADF (n = 2	4,932)	A	ustralian Commun	ity	Difference			
		%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	
Male	Low (10–15)	47.8	1.0	45.8, 49.8	67.1	1.1	64.9, 69.2	-19.3	1.5	-22.1, -16.4	
	Moderate (16-21)	17.8	0.8	16.3, 19.4	19.7	0.9	16.3, 19.4	-1.9	1.2	-4.2, 0.4	
	High (22–29)	13.5	0.7	12.2, 14.9	8.0	0.7	6.7, 9.3	5.5	0.9	3.6, 7.4	
	Very high (30-50)	19.5	0.8	17.9, 21.2	4.5	0.6	3.3, 5.7	15.0	1.0	13.1, 16.9	
Female	Low (10–15)	47.3	2.2	43.1, 51. 6	61.3	1.0	59.4, 63.2	-14.0	2.4	-18.6, -9.4	
	Moderate (16-21)	17.7	1.7	14.6, 21.3	22.7	0.8	21.0, 24.3	-4.9	1.9	-8.7, -1.2	
	High (22–29)	13.8	1.6	10.9, 17.2	9.9	0.5	8.9, 11.1	3.8	1.7	0.5, 7.1	
	Very high (30–50)	20.0	1.7	16.9, 23.6	4.4	0.4	3.6, 5.2	15.6	1.8	12.1, 19.1	

Table 6.2 Estimated proportions of Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the K10 scoring bands for psychological distress, by sex

		Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			Au	ustralian Communi	ty	Difference			
		%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	
18–27	Low (10–15)	50.2	2.6	45.1, 55.2	63.6	2.3	59.0, 68.1	-13.4	3.5	-20.2, -6.7	
	Moderate (16-21)	14.8	1.8	11.6, 18.7	22.3	1.8	18.7, 25.8	-7.5	2.6	-12.5, -2.4	
	High (22–29)	12.4	1.7	9.5, 16.1	9.5	1.2	7.2, 11.7	2.9	2.0	-1. 1, 6.9	
	Very high (30–50)	20.5	2.0	16.8, 24.7	3.8	0.7	2.5, 5.2	16.6	2.1	12.4, 20.7	
28–37	Low (10–15)	44.1	1.7	40.8, 47.4	63.8	1.9	60.2, 67.5	-19.7	2.5	-24.7, -14.7	
	Moderate (16-21)	20.9	1.5	18.2, 24.0	23.6	1.6	20.5, 26.6	-2.6	2.1	-6.8, 1.6	
	High (22–29)	13.6	1.2	11.4, 16.1	7.3	61.1	5.1, 9.6	6.3	1.7	3.0, 9.5	
	Very high (30–50)	19.9	1.4	17.4, 22.7	4.8	1.1	2.5, 7.0	15.2	1.8	11.7, 18.6	
38–47	Low (10–15)	44.0	1.7	40.7, 47.4	70.2	1.7	66.9, 73.5	-26.2	2.4	-30.9, -21.5	
	Moderate (16-21)	17.3	1.2	13.4, 18.2	15.8	1.2	13.4, 18.2	1.5	1.7	-1.9, 4.9	
	High (22–29)	13.6	1.2	44.4, 16.1	8.9	1.5	5.9, 11.8	6.0	1.9	2.2, 9.8	
	Very high (30–50)	23.2	1.5	20.4, 26.3	4.7	1.1	2.5, 7.0	183.5	1.9	14.8, 22.2	
48–57	Low (10–15)	52.3	1.8	48.8, 55.8	66.4	1.5	63.4, 69.4	-14.1	2.4	-18.7, -9.5	
	Moderate (16-21)	18.1	1.2	15.2, 20.0	17.6	1.2	15.2, 19.9	-0.5	1.8	-3.0, 4.1	
	High (22–29)	13.4	1.2	11.2, 16.1	9.1	1.1	7.0, 11. 2	4.3	1.6	1.1, 7.5	
	Very high (30–50)	15.3	1.2	13.0, 17.9	5.5	1.0	3.5, 7.5	9.8	1.6	6.7, 12.9	
58+	Low (10–15)	61.8	2.0	57.7, 65.6	74.4	1.4	71.7, 77.1	-12.7	2.4	-17.4, -7.9	
	Moderate (16-21)	13.5	1.3	11.2, 16.2	14.6	1.3	12.0, 17.2	-1.1	1.8	-4.6, 2.5	
	High (22–29)	10.9	1.2	8.9, 13.4	5.9	0.7	4.6, 7.2	5.0	1.3	2.4, 7.6	
	Very high (30–50)	12.7	1.6	9.8, 16.2	2.7	0.6	1.5, 4.0	9.9	1.7	6.5, 13.3	

 Table 6.3
 Estimated prevalence of Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the K10 scoring bands for psychological distress, by age





MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING TRANSITION STUDY: Mental Health Prevalence

6.2 Alcohol use and problem drinking in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in 2015

Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months

- Overall, alcohol was most often consumed weekly in the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community (Transitioned ADF: 47.6%; Australian Community: 45.4%), with a smaller proportion consuming alcohol monthly (Transitioned ADF: 26.1%; Australian Community: 20.1%) and less than monthly (Transitioned ADF: 14.1%; Australian Community: 13.0%).
- Only a small proportion of the Australian Community (5.1%) and the Transitioned ADF (4.3%) reported drinking daily.
- Compared to the Australian Community, a significantly higher proportion of the Transitioned ADF reported drinking monthly, with this pattern mostly explained by Transitioned ADF males.
- In contrast, a significantly higher proportion of Transitioned ADF females reported drinking daily, weekly and monthly compared to Australian Community females.
- Transitioned ADF members aged 28–57 were significantly more likely to drink weekly or monthly compared to their Australian Community counterparts, whereas Transitioned ADF members aged over 58 were significantly less likely to drink daily, and significantly more likely to drink weekly or monthly.
- There were no differences between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community in the frequency of alcohol consumed in the last 12 months in the 18–27 age group.

Maximum number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months

- Overall, members of the Australian Community drank more standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months than members of the Transitioned ADF. Additionally, a significantly higher proportion of the Australian Community (48.3%) drank seven or more standard drinks on a single occasion compared to the Transitioned ADF (33.2%). This pattern was particularly salient among Australian Community males.
- Compared to Transitioned ADF males, Australian Community males were also significantly more likely to report drinking only one or two standard drinks on a single occasion.
- For females, the only significant differences between the two groups were for those who drank 11 or more standard drinks in one day Australian Community females were significantly more likely to do this than Transitioned ADF females.
- Australian Community members in all age groups were significantly more likely to report drinking 11 or more drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months compared to the Transitioned ADF.

Glossary: refer to the Glossary of terms for definitions of key terms in this section.

This section provides a detailed summary of the pattern of alcohol consumption reported by ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) compared to a matched sample of the Australian Community, by the key demographic variables of sex and age.

The 'alcohol use' questions in this section are derived from the 2014–15 NHS (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2015) and addressed the following:

Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months:

Defined as the estimated proportion of the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community that reported consuming an alcoholic drink:

- a. daily
- b. weekly
- c. monthly
- d. less than monthly.

Maximum amount of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months:

Defined as the estimated proportion of the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community that reported their maximum number of drinks to be:

- a. 11 or more standard drinks in one day
- b. between seven and 10 standard drinks in one day
- c. five or six standard drinks in one day
- d. three or four standard drinks in one day
- e. one or two standard drinks in one day.

The pattern of alcohol consumption (frequency and maximum number of drinks) in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community will be reported first. Next, the pattern of alcohol consumption in the Transitioned ADF population and the Australian Community, by the categories of sex and age, will be presented.

6.2.1 Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community

Table 6.4 and Figure 6.4 compare the frequency of alcohol consumption in the Transitioned ADF and Australian Community.

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			Aus	tralian Com	munity	Difference			
	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	
Daily	4.3	0.4	3.6, 5.0	5.1	0.4	4.4, 5.8	-0.8	0.5	-1.8, 0.2	
Weekly	47.6	0.1	45.6, 49.5	45.4	1.0	43.5, 47.3	2.2	1.4	-0.5, 4.8	
Monthly	26.1	0.9	24.4, 27.9	20.1	0.9	18.4, 21.8	6.0	1.3	3.5, 8.5	
Less than monthly	14.1	0.7	12.8, 15.6	13.0	0.6	11.8, 14.3	1.1	0.9	-0.8, 2.9	

Table 6.4Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned
ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Overall, most individuals in both groups reported drinking weekly (approximately 45–48%), followed by monthly and less than monthly. Only 5.1% of the Australian Community and 4.3% of the Transitioned ADF reported drinking daily. A significantly higher proportion of the Transitioned ADF than the Australian Community reported drinking monthly. There were no significant differences in the proportion of each group who reported drinking daily, weekly or less than monthly.

Figure 6.4 Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months



6.2.2 Maximum number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in the Transitioned ADF compared to the **Australian Community**

Table 6.5 and Figure 6.5 examine the maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the past 12 months in the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community. Overall, members of the Australian Community drank more standard drinks on a single occasion in the previous 12 months than members of the Transitioned ADF. Additionally, a significantly higher proportion of the Australian Community (48.3%) drank seven or more standard drinks on a single occasion than the Transitioned ADF (33.2%). Members of the Australian Community were significantly less likely than members of the Transitioned ADF to drink five or six standard drinks per day.

	Australian Community											
	Ті	ransitioned AD (n = 24,932))F	Aus	tralian Commu	unity	Difference					
	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI			
11 +	21.6	0.9	19.9, 23.3	34.2	1.0	32.3, 36.1	-12.6	1.3	-15.2, 10.1			
7–10	11.6	0.6	10.4, 12.9	14.1	0.7	12.7, 15.4	-2.4	0.9	-4.3, -0.6			

9.4, 11.6

10.6, 12.5

12.5, 14.9

0.6

0.7

0.6

2.3

-0.7

-3.0

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.6, 3.9

-2.6, 1.1

-4.7, -1.4

10.5

12.0

13.7

Table 6.5 Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to

10.7 Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

12.8

11.3

11.6, 14.7

10.2, 12.5

9.7, 11.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

5–6

3-4

1–2



Figure 6.5 Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to Australian Community

6.2.3 Frequency of alcohol consumption in last 12 months in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by sex

Table 6.6 and Figure 6.6 show the frequency of alcohol consumption in the previous 12 months. When frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months is broken down by sex (Table 6.6, Figure 6.6), males in the Transitioned ADF (25.9% 95% Cl 23.9, 27.8) are significantly more likely to drink monthly than males in the Australian Community (19.8, 95% Cl 17.9, 21.8). In contrast, Transitioned ADF females are significantly more likely to drink daily (2.0% 95% Cl 1.3, 2.9, Australian Community 0.7 95% Cl 0.5, 0.9), weekly (38.7% 95% Cl 34.5, 43.0, Australian Community 30.8% 95% Cl 29.1, 32.6) and monthly (27.5% 95% Cl 23.6, 31.9, Australian Community 21.6% 95% 19.9, 23.3) than their community counterparts.

		r						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
		Trans	itioned ADF (n = 2	4,932)	Australian Community			Difference			
		%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	
Male	Daily	4.6	0.4	3.9, 5.5	5.8	0.4	4.9, 6.5	-0.8	0.5	-1.8, 0.2	
	Weekly	48.9	1.1	46.8, 51.0	47.6	1.1	45.5, 49.7	1.3	1.5	-1.7, 4.3	
	Monthly	25.9	0.9	23.9, 27.8	19.8	1.0	17.9, 21.8	6.0	1.4	3.3, 8.8	
	Less than monthly	13.1	0.8	11.6, 14.7	11.8	0.7	10.4, 13.2	1.3	1.1	-0.8, 3.3	
Female	Daily	2.0	0.4	1.3, 2.9	0.7	0.1	0.5, 0.9	1.3	0.4	0.4, 2.1	
	Weekly	38.7	2.2	34.5, 43.0	30.8	0.9	29.1, 32.6	7.8	2.4	3.2, 12.4	
	Monthly	27.5	2.1	23.6, 31.9	21.6	0.9	19.9, 23.3	5.9	2.3	1.4, 10.4	
	Less than monthly	21.0	1.9	17.5, 25.0	21.1	0.8	19.4, 22.7	-0.1	2.1	-4.2, 4.0	

Table 6.6 Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months, by sex

Figure 6.6 Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to Australian Community in the last 12 months, by sex



6.2.4 Maximum number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to Australian Community, by sex

Table 6.7 and Figure 6.7 examine the maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the previous 12 months in the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community, by sex. Overall, Australian Community males drank more standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months than males in the Transitioned ADF. Additionally, a significantly higher proportion of Australian Community males (51.4%) drank seven or more standard drinks on a single occasion compared to Transitioned ADF males (35.2%). Compared to Transitioned ADF males, Australian Community males were also significantly more likely to report drinking only one or two standard drinks on a single occasion. For females, the only significant difference between the two groups was for those who drank 11 or more standard drinks in one day, with Australian Community females significantly more likely (14.6%, 95% CI 13.4, 15.9) than Transitioned ADF females (8.1%, 95% CI 5.9, 10.9) to do so.
Table 6.7Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks on a single
occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian
Community, by sex

		Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			Australian Community			Difference		
		%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI
Male	11 +	23.6	0.9	21.8, 25.5	37.2	1.1	35.9, 39.3	13.6	1.5	-16.4, -10.7
	7–10	11.6	0.7	10.3, 13.0	14.2	0.8	12.7, 15.8	-2.6	1.0	-4.6, -0.6
	5–6	12.9	0.7	11.6, 14.3	10.4	0.6	9.1, 11.6	2.5	0.9	0.7, 4.3
	3–4	10.4	0.6	9.2, 11.7	11.6	0.8	9.9, 13.2	-1.2	1.0	-3.2, 0.9
	1–2	9.3	0.6	8.2, 10.5	12.2	0.7	10.8,13.6	-2.9	0.9	-4.8, -1.1
Female	11 +	8.1	1.3	5.9, 10.9	14.6	0.6	13.4, 15.9	-6.5	1.4	-9.3, -3.8
	7–10	11.6	1.6	8.8, 15.1	12.9	0.6	11.7, 14.1	-1.4	1.7	-4.7, 1.9
	5–6	12.3	1.5	9.8, 15.5	11.6	0.6	10.4, 12.8	0.7	1.6	-2.3, 3.8
	3–4	14.9	0.7	13.6, 16.3	17.2	1.7	14.1, 20.9	2.2	1.9	-1.4, 5.9
	1–2	20.2	1.8	16.9, 23.9	23.9	0.8	22.3, 25.4	-3.7	1.9	-7.5, 0.1

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Figure 6.7 Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by sex



6.2.5 Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 12 months in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by age

Table 6.8 and Figure 6.8 show a breakdown of frequency for alcohol consumption in the last 12 months in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by age groups. Significant differences were found between members of the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community: in the 28–37 age group, members of the Transitioned ADF were more likely than members of the Australian Community to drink monthly (28.8%, 95% CI 25.6, 32.3; Australian Community 19.7%, 95% CI 16.2, 23.2); in the 38–47 age group, they were more likely to drink weekly (51.3%, 95% Cl 47.7, 54.8; Australian Community 45.5%, 95% CI 41.9, 49.1); in the 48–57 age group, they were more likely to drink weekly (51.3%, 95% Cl 50.0, 57.3; Australian Community 48.4%, 95% CI 44.8, 52.0) and monthly (Transitioned ADF 20.9%, 95% CI 19.6, 25.8; Australian Community 14.9%, 95% Cl 12.3, 17.7). Finally, in the 58+ age group, members of the Transitioned ADF were less likely to drink daily (8.5%, 95% CI 6.1, 11,7) than members of the Australian Community (14.5%, 95% Cl 12.5, 16.5). However, the Transitioned ADF in this age group were significantly more likely to drink weekly (55.6%) or monthly (18.3%) compared to the Australian Community (weekly 45.3%; monthly 13.4%).

6.2.6 Maximum number of standard alcoholic drinks consumed on a single occasion in the last 12 months in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community, by age

Table 6.9 and Figure 6.9 examine the maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a single occasion in the previous 12 months in the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community, by age. In the 18–27 age group, members of the Australian Community were significantly more likely than members of the Transitioned ADF to have 11 or more drinks in one day (Australian Community: 43.2%; Transitioned ADF: 25.8%). They were also more likely to have one or two standard drinks in one day (Australian Community: 10.8%; Transitioned ADF: 7.2%). This pattern was the same for the 28–37 and 38–47 age groups.

In the older age group (48–57), members of the Australian Community were also significantly more likely to have 11 or more drinks in one day (Australian Community: 25.3%; Transitioned ADF: 13.6%), or between seven and 10 drinks in one day (Australian Community: 18.2%; Transitioned ADF: 10.1%). However, they were less likely to have 5–6 drinks in one day (Australian Community: 11.9%; Transitioned ADF: 17.3%). Finally, those aged 58+ in the Australian Community were more likely to have 11 or more drinks in one day (Australian Community: 13.4%; Transitioned ADF: 5.9%).

	12 montais) sy age	1						1			
		Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			Αι	ustralian Commun	ity	Difference			
		%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	
18–27	Daily	1.8	0.6	0.9, 3.5	0.7	0.3	0.2, 1.3	1.1	0.7	-0.2, 2.4	
	Weekly	39.9	2.7	34.8, 45.2	40.3	1.9	36.4, 44.1	-0.4	3.3	-6.9, 6.1	
	Monthly	31.7	2.6	26.9, 36.9	28.5	2.1	24.4, 32.5	3.2	3.3	-3.2, 9.7	
	Less than monthly	18.4	2.2	14.6, 23.1	14.9	1.2	12.4, 17.3	3.6	2.5	-1.3, 8.5	
28–37	Daily	2.9	0.7	1.9, 4.5	3.0	0.5	1.9, 4.1	-0.1	0.8	-1.7, 1.6	
	Weekly	46.9	1.8	43.3, 50.5	47.3	1.9	43.4, 51.2	-0.4	2.7	-5.7, 4.9	
	Monthly	28.8	1.7	25.6, 32.3	19.7	1.8	16.2, 23.2	9.1	2.5	4.3, 13.9	
	Less than monthly	15.0	1.3	12.6, 1.8	12.5	1.2	10.1, 14.9	2.5	1.8	-1.1, 6.0	
38–47	Daily	5.9	0.9	4.5, 7.9	5.9	1.0	3.9, 7.9	0.1	1.3	-2.5, 2.7	
	Weekly	51.3	1.8	47.7, 54.8	45.5	1.8	41.9, 49.1	5.8	2.6	0.7, 10.9	
	Monthly	20.9	1.5	18.2, 23.9	17.9	1.6	14.9, 21.0	2.9	2.1	-1.2, 7.1	
	Less than monthly	13.5	1.3	11.1, 16.2	15.6	1.6	12.5, 18.6	-2.1	2.0	-6.1, 1.9	
48–57	Daily	5.9	0.8	5.4, 8.3	10.6	1.3	8.0, 13.2	-3.9	1.5	-6.9, -0.9	
	Weekly	51.3	1.9	50.0, 57.3	48.4	1.9	44.8, 52.0	5.3	2.6	0.1, 10.4	
	Monthly	20.9	1.6	19.6, 25.8	14.9	1.4	12.3, 17.7	7.5	2.1	3.4, 11.7	
	Less than monthly	13.5	1.0	6.22, 10.3	9.7	0.9	7.9, 11.5	-1.6	1.4	-4.4, 1.1	
58+	Daily	8.5	1.4	6.1, 11.7	14.5	1.0	12.5, 16.5	-6.0	1.7	-9.4, -2.6	
	Weekly	55.6	2.1	51.3, 59.7	45.3	1.5	42.5, 48.2	10.2	2.6	5.2, 15.3	
	Monthly	18.3	1.6	15.4, 21.6	13.4	1.1	11.2, 15.6	4.9	1.9	14.1, 8.7	
	Less than monthly	9.4	1.1	7.4, 11.9	9.4	0.9	7.7, 11.1	-0.0	1.4	-2.8, 2.8	

Table 6.8	Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last
	12 months, by age

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval



Figure 6.8 Estimated proportions for frequency of alcohol consumption in Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community in the last 12 months, by age

		Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			Australian Community			Difference		
		%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI	%	SE	95% CI
18–27	11 +	25.8	2.4	21.4, 30.7	43.2	1.9	39.6, 46.9	-17.4	3.0	-23.4, -11.5
	7–10	10.9	1.7	7.9, 14.7	13.2	1.2	10.9, 15.5	-2.3	2.1	-6.4, 1.7
	5–6	8.4	1.5	5.9, 11.9	9.8	1.3	7.3, 12.3	-1.4	1.9	-5.3, 2.5
	3–4	10.1	1.6	7.6, 13.7	8.1	1.2	5.7, 10.4	1.9	2.0	-1.9, 5.9
	1–2	7.2	1.4	4.5, 10.6	10.8	1.2	8.6, 13.1	-3.6	1.8	-7.2, -0.0
28–37	11 +	25.8	1.7	24.2, 30.7	39.6	2.1	35.4, 43.7	-12.2	2.7	-17.5, -6.9
	7–10	10.9	1.2	9.9, 14.7	11.6	1.3	8.9, 14.2	0.5	1.8	-3.0, 4.1
	5–6	8.4	1.2	10.2, 14.9	9.2	1.1	7.0, 11.4	3.1	1.6	-0.1, 6.4
	3–4	10.1	1.0	6.9, 10.9	11.4	1.5	8.4, 14.4	-2.6	1.9	-6.2, 0.9
	1–2	7.2	0.9	6.1, 9.7	11.4	1.2	8.9, 13.8	-3.7	1.5	-6.8, -0.7
38–47	11 +	19.3	1.5	16.5, 22.4	29.6	1.8	25.9, 33.2	-10.3	2.3	-14.9, -5.6
	7–10	13.5	1.3	11.2, 16.1	16.8	1.7	13.5, 20.1	-3.3	2.1	-7.4, 0.8
	5–6	13.3	1.1	10.2, 15.6	10.6	1.0	8.7, 12.6	2.6	1.5	-0.4, 5.6
	3–4	10.4	1.1	8.5, 12.7	13.4	1.5	10.5, 16.4	-3.0	1.8	-6.6, 0.5
	1–2	12.4	1.2	10.3, 14.9	15.1	1.5	12.1, 18.1	-2.7	1.9	-6.5, -0.7
48–57	11 +	13.6	1.2	11.4, 16.2	25.3	1.6	22.3, 28.4	-11.7	1.9	-15.6, -7.8
	7–10	10.1	1.0	8.2, 12.3	18.2	1.5	15.3, 21.1	-8.1	1.8	-11.6, -4.5
	5–6	17.3	1.3	14.9, 19.9	11.9	1.2	9.6, 14.2	5.4	1.8	1.9, 8.8
	3–4	17.1	1.5	14.4, 20.1	13.6	1.1	11.5, 15.7	3.5	1.8	-0.1, 7.1
	1–2	14.5	1.2	12.2, 16.9	16.4	1.3	13.8, 19.0	-1.9	1.8	-5.5, 1.5
58+	11 +	5.9	0.9	4.4, 7.9	13.4	1.1	11.2, 15.5	-7.4	1.4	-10.2, -4.7
	7–10	10.5	1.1	8.5, 12.9	13.1	1.0	11.1, 15.1	-2.6	1.5	-5.6, 0.4
	5–6	17.1	1.4	14.4, 20.1	15.9	1.0	13.9, 17.9	1.1	1.8	-2.4, 4.6
	3–4	17.0	1.7	13.9, 20.6	18.8	1.3	16.2, 21.4	-1.75	2.1	-5.9, 2.5
	1–2	21.8	1.9	18.2, 25.8	23.9	1.4	21.3, 26.6	-2.2	2.4	-6.8, 2.5

Table 6.9Estimated proportions for maximum number of standard drinks consumed on a
single occasion in the last 12 months in Transitioned ADF compared to the
Australian Community, by age

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval





7 Discussion

The key objective of this report was to document the mental health and wellbeing of 24,932 ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014. This evidence base is a fundamental component of the work underway at DVA and Defence to enhance transition processes. It also builds on the ground-breaking work of the Military Health Outcomes Program (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017). This report describes the characteristics of the population, provides population-level estimates of diagnosable mental disorders and maps potential risk and protective factors associated with mental disorders in the Transitioned ADF population. The report also compares the self-reported mental health and wellbeing outcomes of this population with a contemporary sample of 2015 Regular ADF members and the Australian Community. A secondary aim was to map the mental health and wellbeing outcomes of 2015 Regular ADF members against findings from the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS), to provide an indication of change in mental health in the Regular ADF since 2010.

Section 7.1 describes the Transitioned ADF and discusses the rates of diagnosable mental disorders, including comorbidity and suicidality, broken down by key demographic, service-related and transition-specific factors. The section ends with a brief discussion of the differences between the rates of International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10) disorders in the Transitioned ADF in 2015 and the 2010 Regular ADF, to contextualise the Transitioned ADF results. Section 7.2 summarises rates of self-reported mental health and wellbeing outcomes for the Transitioned ADF, then compares rates to those for the 2015 Regular ADF. The mental health and wellbeing of the 2015 Regular ADF is also compared to that of the 2010 Regular ADF. In section 7.3, rates of self-reported psychological distress and alcohol use in the Transitioned ADF are compared to a matched sample from the Australian Community. Because the 2014–2015 Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) National Health Survey (NHS) is an independent study, the data has not been socio-demographically matched to the Transitioned ADF population. Finally, the study findings are considered in the context of previous Australian research into the health and wellbeing of ADF members, and against comparable international studies. Implications for service and treatment provision, government policy, and future research directions are discussed.

7.1 The Transitioned ADF

7.1.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

The majority of ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014 (Transitioned ADF) were aged 28–47 (56.2%), male (86.9%), in a significant relationship (74.7%) and in the lower ranks (52.2%). Consistent with the greater number of Army members in the ADF, the majority of those who transitioned were also Army members. Just over one-third of Transitioned ADF had served 4–7.9 years in the Regular ADF (36.2%), followed by 23.2% who had served for 20+ years.

Just under half (43.3%) of the Transitioned ADF were Ex-Serving (discharged) at the time of completing the survey, and were no longer engaged with Defence in a Reservist role. A quarter of the Transitioned ADF had remained as Active Reservists (25.7%) and were engaged with Defence for a specified number of days per year; 30.1% were Inactive Reservists and their contact with Defence was variable – for some, there was no ongoing contact.

The most common type of discharge/resignation reported was 'own request' (53.7%), with more than 60% being voluntarily discharged, or discharged due to a fixed period of service ending. Just over 20% of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have been medically discharged, with their employment terminated by the ADF on the grounds of permanent or at least long-term unfitness to serve, or unfitness for deployment to operational (war-like) service. The most commonly reported reason for leaving the ADF related to family and lifestyle, including the impact of military service on family, and on mental and physical health, and to improve career prospects in the civilian domain. The impact of mental disorders on the children and partners of Serving and Ex-Serving ADF members was also an important issue that will be addressed in the Family Wellbeing Study.

In relation to civilian employment, almost two-thirds of the Transitioned ADF reported being employed at the time of completing the survey, with most employed in government administration (including Defence), mining, construction, transport and storage occupations. An estimated 5.5% were retired. When the spectrum of roles, including studying, were taken into account, approximately 84% of the Transitioned ADF were either working or engaged in some purposeful activity. Thus, overall it would appear that, despite the prevalence of psychiatric morbidity in this population (as will be discussed later in this Discussion), the majority of Transitioned ADF members are in the civilian workforce.

There are known risk factors for social disadvantage in the literature that can contribute to mental health issues (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2010). Key factors captured in this Programme include unemployment, incarceration, housing instability –

including homelessness – and receiving disability payments. Those in the Transitioned ADF who were potentially at greatest risk were a small subset (5.2%) who reported being unemployed at the time of the survey. In addition, just under half of Transitioned ADF members reported being unemployed for a period of three months or more after transitioning from the Regular ADF. There was also a very small proportion who reported being arrested or incarcerated since transition (an estimated 5.1%), and approximately 3.4% who reported that they had not been living in stable housing in the two months before completing the survey.

Particularly for Ex-Serving members, employment is an important domain of social engagement. However, there is evidence from longitudinal research that those in poorquality jobs have little gain in their social advantage compared to the unemployed. Equally, these individuals may struggle to move into better-quality work (Leach et al., 2010). In part, this is a consequence of having psychological disorders and, even when treated, remaining at a significant disadvantage in terms of workplace performance (Adler et al., 2006).

Employment has the capacity to increase one's sense of purpose and social engagement, but it can also pose a risk to the individual's mental health if the employment is characterised by little control of the work environment and low job security, particularly for unskilled workers (Strazdins et al., 2011). The importance of Transitioned ADF members gaining quality employment is critical to their long-term physical and mental health outcomes (Butterworth et al., 2013; Butterworth et al., 2011).

In contrast to many other environments, there are unique opportunities for DVA and Defence to assist in transition and provide structured programs that address these aspects of employment, particularly for those who are having difficulties with their mental health. This issue requires further focused analysis.

The 2016 Prime Minister's Veterans' Employment Program (VEP), for example, aims to raise awareness of the unique skills and experience that ex-serving ADF members can bring to the civilian workplace. It also aims to promote greater employment opportunities in the private sector for these individuals. The program includes several initiatives involving the public and private sectors and ex-service organisations. The Industry Advisory Committee is also looking at opportunities to enhance employment for the spouses and partners of ex-serving members. Focused analysis of the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme data will further inform implementation of these types of initiatives (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017).

One group of particular interest, and who may be at significant risk, are the 9.8% on some form of disability support pension, as well as those discharged from the ADF on a medical discharge but who have not yet engaged with DVA. The number of

Transitioned ADF identified as currently receiving treatment support is relatively high (43.6%) with more than one-third reporting the receipt of white card support and further four per cent holding a DVA gold card. However, it is possible that a small proportion of those who were medically discharged continue to remain disengaged with DVA and may therefore be at particular risk.

Taken together, these socio-demographic characteristics suggest that while the majority of the Transitioned ADF may be healthy and functioning well, a proportion left service unwell, and a smaller subset carry significant risk factors for disadvantage. Interestingly, the socio-demographic profile of the Transitioned ADF presented in this report mirrors that of other international military populations during the transition phase, particularly the Canadian military (MacLean et al., 2014).

7.1.2 The prevalence of ICD-10 mental disorder

Consistent with the 2010 MHPWS report, this study examined three classes of common mental disorder: anxiety, affective and alcohol. Almost three-quarters of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to have met ICD-10 criteria for any lifetime mental disorder, with the most common being alcohol disorders (47.5%). Of the Transitioned ADF, 46% were estimated to have met criteria for a lifetime anxiety disorder, and one-quarter to have met criteria for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in their lifetime. Just under 40% were estimated to have met criteria for a lifetime affective disorder.

In the past 12 months, it is estimated that nearly half (46.4%) of Transitioned ADF met criteria for an ICD-10 mental disorder. The most common class of 12-month mental disorder among the Transitioned ADF was anxiety, with more than one in three estimated to have met criteria for an anxiety disorder in the past 12 months. PTSD, panic attacks, agoraphobia and social phobia were the most common individual disorders, with 17.7% of the Transitioned ADF estimated to have met criteria for PTSD in the previous 12 months. One in five Transitioned ADF members were estimated to have experienced an affective disorder in the previous 12 months, with the most common type being depressive episodes (11.2%). Alcohol disorders were the least prevalent 12-month mental disorders among the Transitioned ADF, with an estimated 12.9% meeting ICD-10 criteria for a 12-month diagnosis.

Mental disorder comorbidity among the Transitioned ADF was high. Of the 46.4% of the Transitioned ADF estimated to have a 12-month mental disorder, more than half had at least one mental disorder comorbidity. Overall, 25% of the Transitioned ADF were estimated to meet 12-month criteria for two or more disorder classes. Alcohol disorders were the most common comorbid condition, with approximately 95% of those meeting 12-month criteria for an alcohol disorder also having another mental disorder. In relation to PTSD, over 80% who met 12-month criteria had another comorbid mental disorder.

Detailed consideration of specific mental disorders is discussed below.

7.1.3 Anxiety disorders

Consistent with findings from the 2010 MHPWS (McFarlane et al., 2011), the most common 12-month mental disorder class among the Transitioned ADF was anxiety disorders, with a 12-month prevalence of 37.0%. The anxiety disorders with the highest prevalence were PTSD (17.7%) and panic attacks (17.0%), followed by agoraphobia (11.9%), social phobia (11.0%) and specific phobia (7.8%). The anxiety disorders with the lowest prevalence were panic disorder (5.4%), obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) (4.1%) and generalised anxiety disorder (GAD) (3.7%). This section summarises the categories of anxiety disorder in relation to demographic, service and transition-specific factors that need to be addressed in the relation to transition from the Regular ADF.

Regarding anxiety disorders more generally – other than PTSD, which is now a separate stress-related category in DSM-5 and ICD-10 (Maercker et al., 2013) – the most prevalent anxiety disorder diagnosis was panic attacks, which are experienced by an estimated 17% of the Transitioned ADF. Panic attacks involve a pattern of reactivity to environmental triggers that have the capacity to increase in frequency and severity by the process of sensitisation (McFarlane, 2010).These do not represent full-blown panic disorder, experienced by a much smaller 5.4%, but are important antecedents, and occur in a significant percentage of sub-syndromal PTSD cases (Goodwin et al., 2004; Marshall-Berenz et al., 2011).

Agoraphobia was reported in 11.9% of the Transitioned ADF, with 11.0% also reporting social phobia. Interestingly, agoraphobia is closely related to panic disorder as it represents the avoidance behaviour associated with panic attacks that occur in public environments, as is social phobia, which represents the fear or avoidance behaviour associated with panic attacks in situations of public attention. As such, both of these disorders are a measure of substantial impairment associated with increasing social restriction in the lives of those diagnosed with these disorders. Taken together, the high rates of agoraphobia and social phobia highlight the number of transitioning individuals who are likely to struggle in their social relationships and are restricted in their capacity to freely move through their environment. Importantly, phobic disorders were found to be a significant predictor of PTSD in a longitudinal study of Australian Vietnam veterans (O'Toole & Catts, 2017). Given the possible relationship between panic attacks, agoraphobia and other phobic disorders with PTSD, the progression of these disorders in ADF members is an important consideration. Further investigation of this issue will be undertaken in the Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report, which will use data from the 2010 MHPWS and the 2015 Transition and Wellbeing Transition Study, and examine the course of mental health symptoms and disorders over time.

The least prevalent 12-month disorders in the Transitioned ADF were OCD (4.1%) and GAD (3.7%). However, the symptoms for these disorders are likely to be experienced by a substantially greater number of individuals, who are not diagnosed because of exclusion criterion relating to other disorders. In other words, if an individual has a major depressive disorder, and has the symptoms of GAD, it is possible that they will only be diagnosed with a major depressive disorder. The fact that one in four of the transition cohort had one or more anxiety disorders, including PTSD, highlights the extent of comorbidity and possible subsequent minimisation of GAD diagnoses.

In relation to the status of Transitioned ADF members, the estimated 12-month prevalence of 'any anxiety disorder' was highest among the Ex-Serving, with Inactive and Active Reservists having lower rates. This pattern was more pronounced for agoraphobia, social phobia, specific phobia and GAD. For example, the estimated prevalence of agoraphobia was nearly three times higher among Ex-Serving members than either Reservist group, highlighting the role of these phobic disorders in the impairment of the Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF. While there were no significant differences in rates of anxiety disorders between men and women, they tended to be slightly higher among females.

When the impact of age on the prevalence of the different anxiety disorders was examined, there were no clear trends. Overall, the 48–57 age group had the lowest reported prevalence of anxiety disorders (34.3%), with the 38–47 age group reporting the highest prevalence. The only disorder that showed a significant difference in prevalence by age was OCD, with rates among those aged 28–37 (0.8%) being significantly lower than among those aged 18–27 (10.8%).

In relation to rank, Officers had lower rates of anxiety disorders than Non-Commissioned Officers, and a trend to have lower rates than the Other Ranks, with these patterns particularly noted for agoraphobia and social phobia. These are important sources of impairment that may affect the capacity to engage in civilian employment, and should be addressed in transition strategies that aim to link members of the military with civilian employment opportunities.

Overall, the estimated 12-month rates of any anxiety disorder were 51.3% for those who were medically discharged. This was in contrast to those reporting another reason for discharge, where 30.3% were diagnosed with an anxiety disorder. This points to the importance of the discharge medical assessment communicating information about ongoing risk of emerging distress over time. The fact that one in three Transitioned ADF members who were not medically discharged met criteria for a diagnosable disorder in the 12 months before completing the survey highlights the importance of having a more general surveillance program in the five years after discharge from the Regular ADF.

Almost one in two Transitioned ADF members who were DVA clients (45.3%) were estimated to have a 12-month anxiety disorder. This is not unexpected because most of these individuals will have an entitlement for a service-related physical or mental health condition (Thompson et al., 2011b). Similarly high rates of anxiety disorders (40.0%) have been reported in studies of veterans' affairs clients internationally (Dedert et al., 2009). The extent to which these individuals have been assessed, accurately diagnosed and provided with effective treatment is an issue for further examination, and is discussed in the *Pathways to Care Report*. However, the fact that an estimated 22.3% of the population who *were not* DVA clients met criteria for a 12-month anxiety disorder indicates the extent to which Transitioned ADF members are not using DVA-funded health services for symptoms and disorders that may have arisen from military service. This raises important questions about the adequacy of assessment and referral and recognition of these mental disorders in the civilian health sector.

To date, the most comparable estimate of anxiety in a transitioned military population internationally is 10.0% in Canada. However, this rate referred to current PTSD diagnosed by a health professional and should be interpreted in this context (Thompson et al., 2011a).

7.1.4 Posttraumatic stress disorder

The estimated rate of PTSD in the Transitioned ADF attracts particular community concern. As such, it is discussed in detail. As summarised previously, the 12-month prevalence of PTSD in the Transitioned ADF was 17.7%, with just over one in five of the fully discharged (Ex-Serving) Transitioned ADF estimated to meet 12-month ICD-10 criteria. There was a non-significant trend for both Active and Inactive Reservists to have slightly lower rates (13.6% and 15.6% respectively). Despite being lower, the estimated rates of 12-month PTSD, and PTSD symptoms in Reservist groups, especially the Active Reserves, represent significant morbidity and are important.

Consistent with previous research (Ramchand et al., 2015; Richardson et al., 2010; Sundin et al., 2014), there were inter-Service differences in the prevalence of PTSD; however, the pattern was unexpected. Those who transitioned from the Army (20.1%) and Air Force (20.2%) had equally higher rates of 12-month PTSD than those who transitioned from the Navy (9.4%). Findings from the 2010 MHPWS showed that in the Regular ADF, rates of mental disorder tended to be lower among the Air Force compared to the other two Services (McFarlane et al., 2011). The fact that rates of PTSD are similarly high for the Air Force here suggests that the previously observed lower rates may have reflected a health worker effect in the Regular ADF, with those who have mental disorder or symptoms transitioning out. Of note, there were significantly higher rates of 12-month PTSD in those who have deployed (20.1%) compared to those who had never deployed (3.5%), and an estimated PTSD rate of 27.8% in combat-exposed Transitioned ADF. Again, this is different to findings from the 2010 MHPWS, where no differences were found in terms of PTSD among those who had deployed and who had never deployed, also possibly indicative of a healthy worker effect. However, consistent with previous studies of active serving military populations, rates of PTSD tended to be higher among those of lower ranks (lversen et al., 2009).

In relation to years of service in the Regular ADF, rates tended to be highest among those with 4–7.9 years of military service, with 21.2% of this group estimated to meet 12-month ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for PTSD. Matched members' data from Defence indicates that the average length of service in the ADF is 11.1 years; however, this varies by Service and rank. Army members tend to have a slightly shorter length of service, with this reduced further in lower ranks. It is possible that the higher rates of PTSD in this shorter-service group corresponds to a larger proportion of lower ranks from the Army, a group who potentially have experienced higher rates of deployment exposures in combat roles.

When the rates of PTSD were examined by years since transition, 23.9% of those who had been discharged from full-time service for five years met diagnostic criteria, in contrast to 11.4% who were within the first year of discharge. Interestingly, there was also a slight increase in rates of PTSD at two years post-transition (20.7%).

Finally, rates of PTSD were also higher among those who were medically discharged, as well as DVA clients, with rates of PTSD amongst those who were not DVA clients less than half the rate of those who were DVA clients (8.5% vs 22.6%). Once again, the most comparable estimate of PTSD in transitioned military populations internationally is 11.0% for the Canadian military (Thompson et al., 2011a; Thompson et al., 2015). However, this rate referred to current PTSD diagnosed by a health professional, and should be interpreted in this context.

7.1.5 Affective disorders

The most common 12-month affective disorder was depressive episodes, with an estimated 11.2% meeting ICD-10 criteria, followed by bipolar disorder (9.8%) and dysthymia (4.6%). Similar to anxiety disorders, the 12-month prevalence of affective disorders was highest among Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF, with an estimated 12-month prevalence of 32.9%. This compares to significantly lower estimated rates among the Inactive and Active Reservists (17.0% and 12.5% respectively).

While the overall estimated rates for affective disorders were not significantly different for males and females, rates of bipolar affective disorder were slightly higher among

males, while rates of depressive episodes were higher among females. This difference may reflect gender-differentiated patterns of adaptation and reactivity (Altemus et al., 2014). The extent to which men and women access services also needs to be considered when comparing these rates. For affective disorders, there was a pattern of decreasing prevalence with increasing age and rank. This effect of rank was particularly relevant to bipolar disorder, with Transitioned ADF members in Other Ranks over three times more likely to meet criteria for bipolar disorder than Officers and Non-Commissioned Officers.

When examining disorder by years of Regular Service, there was a trend for affective disorders overall to be lower among those who served 12 or more years. Bipolar disorder particularly appeared to aggregate among those with 4–7.9 and 8–11.9 years of service, with the shorter-service group having a rate of 14.6%.

Among those who reported being medically discharged, an estimated 39.5% met criteria for a 12-month affective disorder. Considering their medical discharge, it would be anticipated that this group would have had significant contact with the medical system, which should have assisted with the rates of diagnosis and detection, and presumably treatment. However, only half of those with an affective disorder are a DVA client. The very high rate of disorder is therefore of concern.

Furthermore, while it was expected that affective disorder rates would be higher among those with a medical discharge, because primary and secondary mental disorders can be a reason for being classified as medically unfit, it is concerning that 17.4% who were not medically discharged reported an affective disorder in the last 12 months. This suggests that disorders are either not being identified during the transition process, or present post-discharge when individuals may not have the same level of accessibility to services as those who transition through the medical discharge process.

Of particular concern were the rates of bipolar disorder in the Transitioned ADF (9.8%) – and especially in the Ex-Serving, with an estimated 13.9% meeting 12-month ICD-10 criteria. These high rates of bipolar affective disorder represent more than four times the Australian rates reported in the 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing (NSMHW) (0.9% - 1.7%) (Mitchell et al., 2013) and more than double the highest lifetime rate reported in other non-military population-based studies (0.1% - 7.5%) (Dell'Aglio et al., 2013).

The unanticipated and unexpectedly high estimated prevalence of bipolar disorder in the Transitioned ADF requires comment. To date, the prevalence of bipolar disorder in Serving and Ex-Serving military and veteran populations has been largely unaddressed in the published literature. Only one recent study has focused on bipolar disorder among military combat members. In this 2014 study, McLay examined the rates of bipolar disorder among 109 Active Duty US military members with PTSD, using a structured clinical interview.

The study found that 54% of those with PTSD also met criteria for bipolar disorder. Further examination showed that clinicians had not previously detected bipolar disorder in any of the 59 patients with PTSD, with the authors suggesting this may be due to under-diagnosis of bipolar disorder by military providers due to 'lack of insight into mania by patients, lack of systematic assessment of mania by clinicians, stigma and aggressive marketing of antidepressants' (McLay et al. (2014), p. 160). This underdiagnosis of bipolar disorder is also acknowledged in the scientific literature more broadly, with other studies reporting that milder forms of bipolar disorder are frequently missed in clinical practice (Carvalho et al., 2015). Furthermore, a third of individuals with bipolar disorders report being misdiagnosed at least once, with a proper diagnosis taking, on average, 10 years from the initiation of affective symptoms (Drancourt et al., 2013; Lish et al., 1994).

It is possible that the prevalence estimates are identifying subthreshold bipolar disorder; however, these are still clinically important (Marangell, 2004). The US National Comorbidity Survey investigated this clinical entity and found that nearly 40% of study participants with a history of a major depressive disorder had a history of subthreshold hypomania. This subgroup had a younger age at onset, more episodes of depression and higher rates of comorbidity (Angst et al., 2010). Subthreshold bipolar disorder is also associated with significant morbidity, including criminal behaviour and substance abuse (Zimmermann et al., 2009). Prospective studies have also found that subthreshold bipolar disorder converted more often into bipolar disorder during follow-up. Hence, this group is at significant risk – including of suicide and suicidal ideation – in addition to disorder severity, particularly when it is comorbid with PTSD (Reddy et al., 2017).

More generally, evidence also suggests that the Transitioned ADF may be at particular risk of bipolar disorder because they have a high rate of anxiety disorders (as discussed above), which epidemiological research has shown pose a greater risk for developing an affective disorder (Goldstein & Levitt, 2007). Other research findings have also concluded that PTSD may predict the incidence of major depressive disorder and bipolar disorder in civilian populations (Chou et al., 2011). Hence, the unexpected rate of bipolar disorder in this population may arise as a secondary consequence of the rates of other disorders in the Transitioned ADF.

Whatever the cause or consequence of the elevated rate of bipolar disorder in the Transitioned ADF, this issue requires further detailed examination. It also highlights the importance of ensuring that mental health professionals who provide clinical services

to Serving and Ex-Serving ADF members are adequately trained in differential diagnosis and can detect a comprehensive range of emerging disorders.

The estimated 12-month prevalence rate of approximately 40% for depression among the medically discharged group highlights the morbidity among this subpopulation. It could also reflect the rising complexity of physical and comorbid mental health conditions for members post-discharge (O'Donovan et al., 2015; Pacella et al., 2013). The extent of comorbidity between physical and mental disorders needs further exploration to ensure the appropriate treatment services are being put in place (McFarlane, 2017). Comorbidity is a component of this research Programme's Physical Health Study. Once again, the most comparable estimate of affective disorders (mania, dysthymia or bipolar disorder) in transitioned military populations internationally is 3% for the Canadian military. However, this rate referred to a current mood disorder diagnosed by a health professional, and should be interpreted in this context (Thompson et al., 2011a).

7.1.6 Alcohol disorders

A further area of concern are the rates of alcohol dependence (9.1%) and harmful use (3.8%) among the Transitioned ADF, where 12.9% were estimated to meet criteria for a diagnosable alcohol disorder. Estimated rates of 12-month alcohol disorders were noticeably higher in the Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF, where 18.7% had either alcohol dependence and/or abuse, in contrast to the Active Reservists where a much lower 7.3% met diagnostic criteria.

Gender did not appear to significantly impact the prevalence of alcohol disorder, but increasing age tended to be associated with declining rates of alcohol dependence. Alcohol disorder overall was highest in the 28–37 age group. There was a non-significant trend for members of the Navy and Army to have higher rates than members of the Air Force. Other Ranks had significantly higher rates (18.3%) than Officers (6.4%) and Non-Commissioned Officers (7.3%). A related non-significant trend showed that those who transitioned before completing 7.9 years of military service – in particular, early service leavers who completed between three months and 3.9 years of service – had greater rates of 12-month alcohol disorders than those with longer periods of service.

The first year post-transition appeared to be a particularly vulnerable period for alcohol disorder, suggesting that separation from the ADF is a risk factor for increased drinking. Again, an estimated 47% of individuals with alcohol disorder did not have contact with DVA. This contrasts with the 53% accessing some form of assistance from the DVA, highlighting the extent of potential unmet need in the Transitioned ADF.

Currently, there is no international literature on diagnosable alcohol disorder in other transitioned military cohorts.

7.1.7 Comorbidity

The issue of mental disorder comorbidity is important as it is a marker of the severity of disorder and presents a significant challenge in obtaining optimal treatment outcomes (Hruska et al., 2014).

In the Transitioned ADF, just over half of those with a mental disorder had a least one comorbid disorder, with one in four Transitioned ADF meeting criteria for two or more mental disorder classes.

Anxiety and affective disorders were the most common comorbidity – and importantly, more than 80% of those meeting 12-month ICD-10 criteria for PTSD had another comorbid mental disorder. An even greater 95% of the Transitioned ADF meeting criteria for a 12-month alcohol disorder had another mental disorder comorbidity. While there are independent determinants of alcohol abuse, in a significant percentage of cases, self-medication plays a role in alcohol use (Crum et al., 2013; Davis et al., 2013). This highlights the importance of having treatment programs that assess and treat comorbidity as an integral part of standard clinical approaches (Langdon et al., 2016).

The comorbidity observed between PTSD and affective disorders deserves specific consideration because traumatic stress exposure also plays a role in the onset of affective disorder. The neurobiology of PTSD and major depressive disorder have many shared elements (Dekel et al., 2014; Rytwinski et al., 2013), and it is likely that the co-existence of an affective disorder indicates a greater degree of severity and general psychological stress among those diagnosed with PTSD (Morina et al., 2013).

The rates of comorbidity in the Transitioned ADF (15.1% meeting criteria for two disorder classes; 10.1% meeting criteria for three or more disorder classes) is greater than the rates reported in the Australian Community. In the 2007 NSMHW, 14.9% met ICD-10 criteria for one disorder class, 4.4% met criteria for two disorder classes and 0.7% met criteria for three disorder classes (Teesson et al., 2009). Similar to the Transitioned ADF, the most common comorbidities were anxiety disorders and affective disorders, which were consistent across the sexes (females 3.9%, males 2.9%). The second most common comorbid disorder combination was substance abuse and anxiety disorders (females 0.8%, males 1.3%), followed by substance abuse and affective disorders (females 0.2%, males 0.6%).

Overall, the high rate of comorbidities observed in the Transitioned ADF points to the greater challenge of effectively treating and managing the complexity of disorder identified within this population. This raises important questions about developing

treatment programs that specifically address comorbidity, including comorbidities of substance abuse, affective disorder and PTSD. The treatment literature has tended to incorrectly assume that the treatment of PTSD will have significant additional benefits for comorbid disorders. However, this may not be the case and therefore requires further examination and consideration because of the substantial impairment and social disadvantage of this group. In general, it is accepted that comorbidity is a marker of severity of disorder, further underscoring the importance of these results.

7.1.8 Suicidality

Suicide and suicidality are issues of major concern in military populations (Brenner & Barnes, 2012; Ursano et al., 2016). In this study, 21.7% of the Transitioned ADF reported some form of suicidal ideation, plans or attempts in the last 12 months, with more than one-quarter reporting they felt their life was not worth living, and an estimated 21.2% reporting they had felt so low they thought about death by suicide. An estimated 7.9% of the Transitioned ADF reported making a suicide plan and 2.0% had attempted suicide. These rates highlight the degree of distress, support concerns about suicidality in the Transitioned ADF, and point to an opportunity for early intervention.

Those who have attempted suicide represent an estimated 505 individuals and, when identifying to services, present an opportunity for targeted intervention because of the risk that attempts represent for future completed suicide (Ribeiro et al., 2016). These rates closely match those reported for transitioned Canadian Military personnel, for whom the prevalence of past-year suicidal ideation was 7% (6% – 8%) (Thompson et al., 2015). Similar to the current study, suicidal ideation was much more common than suicide attempts, which were more common than completed suicide. Very low numbers reported 12-month suicide attempts (1%) (Thompson et al., 2011a).

Among the Ex-Serving ADF (13.1%), the rate of suicide plans was higher than both Reservist groups (2.7% - 4.7%), with an estimated 3.8% of the Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF reporting they had attempted suicide, contrasted with the Active and Inactive Reservist populations where the rates were substantially lower (0.1% - 1.1%). This highlights that the group who have fully discharged from the ADF are particularly at risk of suicidal ideation and attempts. This finding is consistent with recently released Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) suicide data, which showed a pattern of increased risk of completed suicides among ADF members following transition from the Regular ADF (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2017a).

A significant trend for increasing suicidality was found in the current study over the passage of time since discharge from full-time military service. This may be related to the increasing duration of mental disorder in this population and the increasing

awareness of the difficulties of transition into meaningful civilian roles in those with psychiatric symptoms.

These relationships require detailed exploration in further analyses. Rates of suicidal thoughts, plans and attempts were significantly lower in Officers compared to Non-Commissioned Officers, and significantly higher in those with less years of service, specifically for suicidal ideation. In line with the pattern of results for affective, anxiety and alcohol disorders, those who were medically discharged and DVA clients reported significantly higher rates of suicidal ideation plans and attempts, than those who were not.

In relation to comorbidity, affective disorders in particular have been identified as a significant risk factor for suicidality (Panagioti et al., 2012). A recent review of the literature (Bentley et al., 2016) concluded that the issue of suicide risk is much broader, noting '... suicidal thoughts and behaviours are highly prevalent public health problems with devastating consequences. There is an urgent need to improve our understanding of the risk factors for suicide to identify effective intervention targets'. When examining the spectrum of anxiety disorders, it concluded that '... the strongest associations were found for PTSD' (Bentley et al., 2016). Considering the overall high rates of mental disorder observed in this study, and in particular the high rates of PTSD, there is an urgent need to further analyse these data and determine the effectiveness of the interventions that serving and ex-serving ADF members may or may not be receiving.

7.1.9 Risk and protective factors for ICD-10 mental disorder and suicidality

As briefly covered above, further to the detailed examination of 12-month mental disorder prevalence and suicidality among the Transitioned ADF, a number of key demographic, service and transition factors were examined. The pattern of findings for each of these factors across all disorders are summarised in this section.

7.1.10 Demographic factors

Overall, the demographic predictors of age and sex had little impact on estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 mental disorder in the Transitioned ADF. There were no significant sex-related differences in affective, anxiety or alcohol disorders, or self-reported suicidality. There were some age-related trends, with 12-month affective disorders lowest in Transitioned ADF members aged 58+ and dysthymia most commonly observed in the 38–47 age group (11.8%). Alcohol disorders were most commonly observed among the younger Transitioned ADF, aged 18–47.

7.1.11 Service factors

Service-specific factors, including Service branch, years of service, deployment and rank showed mixed effects on mental disorder and suicidality prevalence among the

Transitioned ADF. Service branch at time of transition had some association with rates of PTSD, alcohol disorder and suicidality. Specifically, estimates of 12-month PTSD were greater in the Army and the Air Force than the Navy; the Navy and the Army had higher estimated alcohol disorder compared to the Air Force; and estimated suicidality was highest among Transitioned ADF from the Army. Consistent with previous Australian and international findings (Haller et al., 2016; Kline et al., 2011; LeardMann et al., 2013), rank at the time of transition from the Regular ADF had some association with the prevalence of 12-month mental disorder. Specifically, estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 affective disorders and alcohol disorders, and rates of self-reported suicidality were higher among Other Ranks, while anxiety disorders were higher among Non-Commissioned Officers compared to Officers.

Overall, years of Regular ADF service was negatively associated with estimated rates of 12-month ICD-10 mental health disorder, though this was not a linear relationship, and varied by disorder category.

In general, affective disorders were most commonly observed in members of the Transitioned ADF with fewer years of service. There was an overall trend for rates of anxiety disorders to decrease with increasing service length, with the highest rates among those with less than four years of service. Alcohol disorders were also most commonly observed in Transitioned ADF members with fewer years of service.

The concept of early service leavers (generally defined as those who leave before completing their minimum 3–4.5 years of service) being at particular risk is supported by the international literature. Furthermore, those who leave at short notice with little time to plan the transition to civilian life (that is, those whose military career was cut short by redundancy, or medical or disciplinary discharge) may be at particular risk. For example, an examination of 874 service leavers found that common mental disorders were more prevalent among early service leavers compared to non-early service leavers (45.6% vs 26.5%) (Buckman et al., 2013). Similarly, Giebel (2014), in a study of 952 treatment-seeking UK veterans, reported higher levels of anxiety disorder (9%) and depression (30.8%) in early service leavers compared to non–early service leavers (5.3% and 24.2% respectively).

Transitioned ADF who had ever deployed were more likely to meet criteria for an anxiety disorder than those who had not. This finding of increased rates of disorder in deployed members of the military has been reported elsewhere (Interian et al., 2012; Institute of Medicine, 2013; Iversen et al., 2005a). While there was a trend for Transitioned ADF who had ever deployed to be more likely to meet criteria for all of the individual anxiety disorders, OCD and PTSD were the only disorders that were significantly more prevalent in the deployed versus the non-deployed group. Further

research on the impact of deployment on the mental health of the Transitioned ADF is required and will be examined in further detail in the Impact of Combat Study.

7.1.12 Transition factors

Perhaps unsurprisingly, transition-specific factors – including type of transition, years since transition, reason for discharge and DVA status – had the greatest impact on mental disorder and suicidality prevalence. Across both 12-month ICD-10 mental disorder and self-reported suicidality, there was a consistent pattern whereby mental health outcomes were poorer for those Transitioned ADF who were most disengaged with Defence. Specifically, those who had fully discharged at the time of completing the study (Ex-Serving) recorded the highest rates of 12-month mental disorder across the various disorder categories, and had significantly higher estimated rates of suicidality. This was consistent with the finding of the 2017 AIHW suicide study (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2017a).

In contrast, Transitioned ADF members who were Inactive and Active Reservists had substantially lower rates of 12-month mental disorder and suicidality. Logically, Reservists – particularly those who remain in the Active Reserves – should have better mental health than those who are fully discharged, however rates of diagnosable disorder, representing one in three, still remain a concern within this group. This pattern of reduced symptoms in transitioned Reservists has been reported previously (Thompson et al., 2015).

Length of time since transition was also associated with various mental health outcomes. Overall, estimated rates of 12-month mental disorder were lowest in those who had transitioned less than one year ago, increasing at one year or more posttransition. This was not a linear association, and varied according to mental health outcome. This is a particularly important finding as it suggests that the most critical time for mental health surveillance, which could potentially include screening, may occur a significant time after transition from the Regular ADF. Furthermore, it may be indicative of the first 12 months following transition being a critical risk period for future disorder emergence.

Further investigation of this issue will be undertaken in the *Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report,* which will utilise data from the MHPWS cohort 2010 and 2015, and examine the course of mental health symptoms and disorder, including mapping the emergence of disorder in the period following transition from regular service.

Among the Transitioned ADF, prevalence estimates of 12-month ICD-10 mental disorder were also examined in relation to two further factors: reason for discharge and DVA status. These variables denoted whether an individual was medically

discharged, or transitioned for another reason and whether or not an individual was a DVA client or not. A similar pattern of findings emerged for both factors: those with a medical discharge, and those who were a DVA client had significantly greater estimated rates of affective, anxiety and alcohol disorder, and greater suicidality. These findings, while highlighting areas of interest for further examination, are not unexpected.

Individuals with a medical versus other type of discharge would be expected to have greater rates of mental (and other) disorders. Similarly, as DVA is the primary conduit to care and assistance for ex-serving members, rates of mental disorder are expected to be significantly higher among DVA clients. This is a positive finding, suggesting that many of those Transitioned ADF who require assistance are seeking it through DVA.

Of concern, however, is the remaining, relatively large proportion of Transitioned ADF who met criteria for a 12-month ICD-10 mental disorder, but are not recorded as DVA clients. This highlights the many transitioned members who have a mental disorder in the first five years following discharge from military service who are *not DVA clients*, and therefore are *not* receiving support through DVA.

7.1.13 Risk and protective factors

It is important to consider these summary findings from two perspectives. Inevitably, these rates of disorder represent the outcomes of the drivers and risk factors for the emergence of mental disorders, versus the factors that might mitigate them. The latter include the significant efforts that have been put in place subsequent to the Dunt reviews (Dunt, 2009b; Dunt, 2009a) to improve mental health service delivery within the ADF and to assist a smooth transition to services delivered by DVA, as outlined in the recent Government response to the Review into the Suicide and Self Harm Prevention Services available to current and former serving ADF members and their families (the Review) (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017).

Importantly, a key component of the response to the Review has been the establishment of a taskforce, including DVA, Defence and the Commonwealth Superannuation Corporation, to work with recently transitioned members and their families, to inform and co-design an enhanced transition pathway. Notably, Defence is implementing a new policy and process that supports the discharge process to ensure that ADF members are discharged with all their necessary documentation including a transition plan and paperwork, inclusive of record of service, record of training and employment, and copies of medical records.

7.1.14 Comparisons with the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study

The results of this study outlined above should also be considered against the background of the 2010 MHPWS, noting two primary caveats: firstly, that these two populations are not entirely separate (i.e. Transitioned ADF members in 2015 may have been Regular ADF members in 2010 and hence are included in both populations) and, secondly, that the prevalence estimates have been established five years apart. A more detailed and contemporaneous comparison of the mental health of Transitioned and Regular ADF is provided in section 7.2 of this discussion.

The 2010 MHPWS reported an estimated lifetime prevalence of mental disorder of 54%, a 12-month prevalence of 22% and a 31% prevalence of comorbid disorder in Regular ADF members in 2010. In contrast, in the current study, approximately three out of four Transitioned ADF members (74.7%) were estimated to meet criteria for any ICD-10 mental disorder in their lifetime, with a 12-month prevalence of 46.4% and a rate of 55% for comorbid mental disorder. This indicates that the estimated 12-month prevalence of mental disorders in the Transitioned ADF is more than double the prevalence reported in the Regular ADF in 2010. The fact that rates of 12-month disorder were closer than might be expected to lifetime disorder rates in the Transitioned ADF (McFarlane et al., 2011) suggests the increasing chronicity and severity of mental disorder (Morina et al., 2013) and highlights the cumulative psychological morbidity in this population.

The rate for PTSD in the Transitioned ADF (17.7%) was also more than double that of the Regular ADF in 2010 (8%). These results indicate that ADF members with PTSD have a greater probability of transitioning from military service. However, it is only after the first year following discharge that rates substantially increase, and appear to escalate with the passage of time. This is in keeping with the anticipated process of time-dependent sensitisation and the reactivity of those with sub-syndromal symptoms to intercurrent life stressors (McFarlane, 2010). The issue of how PTSD emerges over time will also be examined in further detail in the *Impact of Combat Report* and the *Mental Health Changes Over Time, a Longitudinal Perspective Report*.

The 12-month estimated rates of panic attacks and panic disorder in the Transitioned ADF (17.0% and 5.4%) were greater than was found in the Regular ADF in 2010 (7.1% and 1.4% respectively) as were the rates of social phobia (11.0% vs 3.8% in the 2010 Regular ADF), affective disorder (23.1% vs 9.5% in the 2010 Regular ADF) and in particular bipolar disorder (9.8% vs 2.8% in the 2010 Regular ADF), alcohol disorder (12.9% vs 5.2% in the 2010 Regular ADF), and suicidality (21.7% vs 4.0% in the 2010 Regular ADF). In contrast, rates of OCD were relatively similar to those reported in 2010 and generally low in both groups (4.1% in the Transitioned ADF and 3.2% in the

2010 Regular ADF), as were rates of generalised anxiety disorder (3.7% in the Transitioned ADF and 1.1% in the 2010 Regular ADF).

Emerging psychological distress is likely to be a significant driver of an individual's decision to discharge or be medically discharged from military service. Hence it is not surprising that there are substantially greater rates of morbidity in the Transitioned ADF population than among 2010 Regular ADF members. The key findings from the 2010 MHPWS indicated that ADF members with the highest number of mental health symptoms may also be those most likely to transition from service, thereby possibly obscuring the true individual costs of military service (McFarlane & Bryant, 2013). This suggestion was based on the observation of higher rates of affective and anxiety disorders in younger ADF members compared to the Australian Community, and is supported in the international literature (Iversen et al., 2005a; Iversen et al., 2005b). The higher rates of disorder in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2010 Regular ADF support this hypothesis by emphasising that those who transition out of the ADF are in fact less healthy than those who remain in service.

These findings combined shed light on why the costs of deployment may not be readily visible *within* the ADF. The ADF members with emerging symptomatic distress have a substantially greater probability of transitioning from full-time service, whereas as those who remain in the ADF following a deployment are more likely to be those who remained mentally well. Together, these results highlight the importance of studying transitioning members in addition to Regular ADF members if the true risks associated with combat exposure are to be defined.

The following chapter will examine this point in greater detail by comparing the self-reported mental health and wellbeing of the Transitioned ADF and the Regular ADF using data collected from both populations in the same year – 2015.

7.2 The Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF

7.2.1 The rationale for using self-report measures

The results discussed to this point have primarily focused on describing the estimates of *12-month* diagnosable mental disorder among the Transitioned ADF. The data examined was substantially derived from the World Mental Health Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization Composite International Diagnostic Interview – version 3.0 (CIDI) on a sub-cohort of the Transitioned ADF (CIDI sample). The sample was weighted to represent the total Transitioned ADF population. Twelve-month prevalence estimates were used in this study as this is the accepted period used in psychiatric epidemiology, and it allows comparison with the national mental health surveys (Slade et al., 2009).

The following section provides valuable additional information on the severity and nature of *current* mental health symptomatology, above and beyond the dichotomous 12-month diagnoses provided by the CIDI. In particular, it provides a detailed discussion of current self-reported mental health – including psychological distress, abuse of alcohol, PTSD, anger, generalised anxiety, suicidality, depression and illicit drug use – in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 and 2010 Regular ADF. In contrast to the CIDI interview, the self-report measures of mental health were administered to *all* study participants; therefore, they allow comparisons between the mental health of the Transitioned ADF and a contemporary cohort of the Regular ADF.

Furthermore, self-report symptom measures used in this study document mental health from a dimensional perspective in contrast to the use of categorical diagnosis of mental disorder using ICD-10 criteria. The use of a dimensional examination of selfreported symptoms has gained increasing consideration in mapping the emerging risks of mental disorder at a population level over time (Karsten et al., 2011). While diagnosis has a considerable utility for categorising and treating patients, the sometimes-arbitrary cut-offs between disorder and no disorder disguise the significance of subthreshold symptomatology. There is substantial evidence that subthreshold symptoms across the spectrum of anxiety and depression are associated with significant levels of impairment and distress (Judd et al., 1996; Karsten et al., 2013) and that they represent a significant risk of further development of symptoms and escalation of disorder with the passage of time (O'Donnell, 2013; Pietrzak, 2013). Individuals experiencing subthreshold symptoms are also at significant risk because of the likelihood of not receiving treatment for their symptoms, and the potential associated suicidal ideation and levels of impairment that may accompany this (Marshall et al., 2001). These subthreshold symptoms therefore have significant relevance from a public health perspective. In particular, some subthreshold symptoms are potentially less entrenched and more susceptible to brief interventions than are fully established mental disorder (Haller et al., 2014; McFarlane et al., 2017; Scott et al., 2013).

In this report, ADF screening cut-offs, mean scores and symptom risk categories were presented and compared between groups. This screening cut-off is the value that maximises the sum of the sensitivity and specificity (the proportion of those with and without the disease that are correctly classified). These were derived from the 2010 MHPWS, using the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10), Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT), Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist (PCL) and Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) (McFarlane et al., 2011).

7.2.2 Psychological distress

The K10 is a self-report instrument administered regularly to ADF members as part of the Return to Australia Psychological Screen and Post Operational Psychological

Screen. The K10 was also administered to the 2010 Regular ADF as part of the 2010 MHPWS (McFarlane et al., 2011), providing an opportunity to map levels of symptomatic psychological distress over time.

In the current study, the K10 was administered to all cohorts, providing the opportunity to not only compare the levels of psychological distress of the Transitioned ADF with the levels of psychological distress in the 2015 Regular ADF, but also to compare the levels of psychological distress of the Regular ADF in 2010 with the Regular ADF in 2015.

Psychological distress, as measured by the K10, was high among the Transitioned ADF, with 33.1% scoring in the high to very high symptom bands, and over 40.6% scoring equal to or above the screening cut-off of 19. Importantly, a further 17.8% of the Transitioned ADF had a moderate level of symptomatology reflecting subthreshold anxiety or depressive disorders. Clearly, the latter are a group at risk of developing a diagnosable disorder in the future, with these results highlighting that more than 50% of the Transitioned ADF have some level of symptomatic distress. These rates are higher than rates reported in Transitioned Canadian military personnel whereby 30% of Transitioned Regular Members showed psychological distress. Also using the K10, the Canadian study reported 13% of Regular force veterans had moderate/severe (7%/5%) levels of psychological distress respectively in the past month (Thompson et al., 2015).

Psychological distress in the 2015 Regular ADF was significantly lower than among the Transitioned ADF, with 18.7% scoring in the high to very high band compared to 33.1% of the Transitioned ADF. When compared to the findings from the 2010 Regular ADF, the 2015 Regular ADF had proportionally more very high scorers (10.8% vs 3.6%), and proportionally fewer moderate scorers (15.8% vs 22.5%). Concerns have been raised within the military and broader Australian Community about the potential increasing burden of mental disorder over time following the draw-down of troops from the MEAO. Looking at these two cross-sectional samples, there is some indication of this increasing morbidity. Unfortunately, however, this preliminary analysis cannot tell us about incidence (the rate of development of new mental disorders) in this period.

While the change in symptoms over time was not considered in this report, the apparent shift in the pattern of scores between 2010 and 2015 may reflect the progression to more severe symptoms in a proportion of individuals who remain in the Regular ADF and who had moderate symptoms in 2010. This hypothesis will be specifically examined in the *Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report,* which will discuss implications regarding the possibility of early intervention to mitigate the escalation of symptomatic distress over time. Equally, it remains the case in 2015 that there is a substantial proportion of the Regular ADF

population who would benefit from targeted early intervention for psychological distress symptoms.

As with diagnosable mental disorder, Transitioned ADF who were Ex-Serving were particularly at risk, with nearly two-thirds reporting some level of psychological distress. Also, consistent with diagnosable mental disorder, greater symptomatology tended to emerge after the first year post-transition, indicating the importance of considering possible post-discharge screening in the second year after leaving military service. This further highlights the importance of taking a longitudinal perspective of symptomatic distress and the role that inter-current stressors play in magnifying or mitigating individual symptoms over time, an issue that will be addressed in detail in the future the *Impact of Combat Report* and the *Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report*.

7.2.3 Posttraumatic stress symptoms

The level of posttraumatic stress symptoms in the Transitioned ADF was particularly striking, with approximately 38.0% scoring in the moderate to very high scoring bands on the PCL and almost one-quarter scoring in the high to very high risk categories. Almost 40% of the Transitioned ADF scored equal to or above the ADF screening cut-off of 29 (McFarlane et al., 2011). Importantly, these individuals represent the group who could be considered to have subthreshold or partial PTSD and should be a target for early intervention. When the subgroups in the Transitioned ADF were examined, the Ex-Serving were most symptomatic, with posttraumatic stress symptoms lower among Inactive Reservists, and lowest of all among Active Reservists. This pattern of findings may reflect that Active Reservists may be less symptomatic and are functioning better overall and therefore have 'self-selected' to remain more actively engaged in military service. When years since transition was examined, there was some indication of the recruitment of posttraumatic stress symptoms with the passage of time, with symptoms showing the greatest peak at three years post-transition.

Similar to findings for psychological distress, the severity of posttraumatic stress symptoms was significantly greater in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, highlighting the strength of the relationship between poor mental health and transition. Similarly, the 2015 Regular ADF reported significantly greater levels of posttraumatic stress symptoms than the 2010 Regular ADF. This issue will be further analysed in the *Impact of Combat Report* and the *Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report*.

Again, while not tested in this report, this is consistent with an increasing burden of sub-syndromal symptoms from 2010 and 2015, and could represent the cumulative burden of traumatic stress exposures due to the deployment cycle of the ADF over the last decade. A number of longitudinal studies have emphasised the risk of delayed

onset PTSD (Marmar et al., 2015). In the 2010 MHPWS report, the progressive recruitment of PTSD symptoms with an increasing number of trauma exposures was highlighted as an important issue to monitor (McFarlane et al., 2011). In this study, the rates of sub-syndromal PTSD symptoms in both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular PTSD warrant early intervention particularly due to the associated risk of delayed onset PTSD and the significant risk for later disorder development (Pietrzak et al., 2014) (McFarlane, 2010).

Overall, the findings relating to self-reported posttraumatic stress symptoms in this report should be interpreted against the background of the epidemiological literature showing that sub-syndromal PTSD has similar levels of impairment to the full disorder (Fetzner et al., 2012; Marshall et al., 2001; Pietrzak et al., 2009; Schmidt, 2015). Prospective epidemiological population studies, for example, have highlighted the role of emerging symptomatic distress – even relatively brief episodes of symptoms – as markers of risk for later disorder (Halpern et al., 2011). Studies of military cohorts, in particular, have shown emerging patterns of altered neurobiology even where symptom levels are well below what is required for the full diagnosis of PTSD (Schür et al., 2016; Steudte-Schmiedgen et al., 2015; van Zuiden et al., 2015; Vermetten et al., 2012) and subsequent detailed analyses (Lawrence-Wood et al., 2014) for example, documented changes in the neurobiology of individuals at subthreshold levels of symptomatic distress.

These shifts in homeostasis, with the upregulation of physiological regulatory systems, highlight the importance of further investigating the emerging neurobiology of this group so as to provide potential targets for intervention. The domains that have shown dysregulation include inflammatory mediators, measures of brain neural stability and allostatic load (Gola et al., 2013; Heinzelmann & Gill, 2013; McFarlane, 2010).

These epidemiological observations need to be interpreted in the context of the substantial growing body of knowledge about biomarkers and the future risk of disorder (McFarlane et al., 2017). Finally, posttraumatic stress symptoms are also regularly observed in military primary care settings and are associated with treatment-seeking behaviour (Kornfield et al., 2012). Hence the imperative of further analysing the potential clinical interventions for this group is substantial. The *Impact of Combat Study Report* will significantly inform this discussion.

Together these findings emphasise the importance of investigating the early stages of symptom development and how these relate to later disorder (McFarlane et al., 2017). These investigations may also provide important leads in the development of novel preventive interventions.

7.2.4 Alcohol usage

The self-report measure of alcohol use used within the ADF and in this study – the AUDIT – while providing a good indication of patterns of drinking behaviour, has low levels of sensitivity and specificity in predicting alcohol abuse and dependence. Hence interpretation of these data needs to be carefully considered in the context of the rates of diagnosable alcohol dependence and harmful use discussed earlier (McFarlane et al., 2011).

Overall, self-reported alcohol use and problem drinking were significantly greater in the Transitioned ADF compared to the 2015 Regular ADF. However, rates significantly decreased in the Regular ADF from 2010 to 2015. Compared to the 2015 Regular ADF, the Transitioned ADF reported significantly higher AUDIT total scores, more frequent drinking, and drinking more standard drinks on a typical day. They were also more likely to report a problem with drinking and to anticipate problems cutting down or stopping drinking if they tried, a pattern of drinking consistent with psychological dependence. Compared to the 2010 Regular ADF, the 2015 Regular ADF scored lower on the AUDIT, drank less frequently, consumed fewer drinks per occasion and anticipated less difficulty reducing their alcohol consumption in the next three months. The positive finding of a decrease in rates from 2010 to 2015 supports the effectiveness of the ongoing alcohol intervention and prevention strategies employed by the ADF. The finding of increased rates in the Transitioned ADF may possibly reflect the loosening of institutional controls around alcohol consumption that exist during full-time military service.

A matter of concern was that 14.4% of the Transitioned ADF reported drinking an average of seven or more standard drinks on a typical day when consuming alcohol. This represents a pattern of harmful usage in terms of an individual's long-term health (Fuehrlein et al., 2016). The pattern of problematic alcohol use also became more prevalent with increasing disengagement from Defence, with Ex-Serving members reporting the most problems and higher usage, and Active Reservists reporting the least. Time since transition on the other hand appeared to have little impact on alcohol usage patterns. Combined with the patterns of use among Active Reservists, this suggests a more general overall pattern of change in alcohol consumption once an individual leaves the ADF community.

An important question that has not been examined in this study is the relationship between ongoing trauma exposure and patterns of alcohol consumption. This is a matter of particular importance, due to the known relationship between the consumption of alcohol and posttraumatic stress symptoms (Boscarino et al., 2011). The literature generally supports a self-medication model with elevated PTSD symptoms predictive of greater alcohol use (Haller & Chassin, 2014; Simpson et al., 2014); however, there is also the need to consider the potential bi-directional relationship between psychological symptoms and alcohol consumption with some evidence that excessive regular consumption of alcohol could impact on psychological symptoms (Rumpf et al., 2002; Saunders et al., 1993).

7.2.5 Depressive symptoms

The prevalence of sub-syndromal and diagnosable depressive disorder are important to consider in this population. The severity of self-reported depressive symptoms, as measured by the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), were elevated in the Transitioned ADF, with nearly one in five reporting moderately severe to severe depressive symptoms. A further 11.1% of the Transitioned ADF had symptoms of depression in the moderate range, highlighting the prevalence of subthreshold depression, which is a significant risk in terms of future morbidity (Pine et al., 1999). In contrast, the 2015 Regular ADF reported a significantly lower severity of depressive symptoms. As with posttraumatic stress symptoms and symptoms of psychological distress, this further underscores the role that symptoms may play in influencing the decision to leave the military, as well as the impact of transition on mood more generally.

The 2015 Regular ADF sample reported significantly higher depressive symptoms compared to the 2010 Regular ADF sample. In the context of Regular ADF service, these symptoms are of concern because of their impact on the functioning of the work force (Wang et al., 2007). The risk factors for the observed higher rates of depressive symptoms among the 2015 Regular ADF should be further investigated, including the potential impacts of deployments, morale and other employment-related stressors. This would assist in framing preventive interventions for the future.

The pattern of symptoms observed in this study also highlights the risk of disengagement with the ADF, with the Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF having more than three times the risk of being in the moderately severe and severe symptom range compared with the Inactive and Active Reservists. It is possible that this reflects an increasing loss of self-esteem, sense of worthlessness and sense of loss among those no longer directly linked to the military (Denneson et al., 2015; Forces in Mind Trust, 2013; Forces in Mind Trust, 2015; Pease et al., 2016). Although not statistically significant, there appeared to be a trend for depressive symptoms to emerge after the first year following transition from full-time service. In combination with the patterns of emerging diagnosable disorder, and other symptoms, this would suggest the importance of following up members into the second year after discharge from military service as this appears to be a point of particular risk for the emergence of increasing distress and disorder across multiple domains. More generally, the rates of depression and depressive symptoms observed among the Transitioned ADF raise important questions about the adequacy of care provided, including targeted antidepressant usage, and adequately addressing treatment non-response (Jha et al., 2017). The

association between depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation should also be further examined because of the well-recognised relationship between affective disorder and suicide risk (Beautrais et al., 1996).

7.2.6 Anger symptoms

Self-reported anger was measured in this study for a range of reasons, notably because it is an important symptom of PTSD. In particular, the associated impairments and impacts on interpersonal relationships and social functioning in relation to anger are significant.

Overall, self-reported anger followed the same patterns as for other psychological symptoms and for diagnosable mental disorder, with Transitioned ADF members reported significantly greater levels of anger than the 2015 Regular ADF. Similarly, the rates of self-reported anger and its intensity above the screening cut-off observed in this study were substantially higher among the Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF in contrast to those remaining in the Inactive or Active Reserves. Furthermore, anger frequency, intensity and duration, and antagonism towards others, as well as the impacts of anger on social relationships, was significantly higher among the 2015 Regular ADF when compared to the 2010 Regular ADF.

Anger and hostility can be seen as a manifestation of PTSD (Barrett et al., 2013; Jakupcak et al., 2007). Therefore, the role of PTSD and anxiety disorders need to be explored further as possible drivers of the levels of anger observed in the both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. It is important to also assess whether current treatment programs for Transitioned ADF members are adequately addressing the issue of aggression, which may not respond to more targeted interventions for PTSD (Rodenburg et al., 2016). It is likely that as individuals become increasingly symptomatic, anger and reactivity become increasingly disruptive to their social functioning and intimate relationships (Meffert et al., 2014).

This anger and reactivity may also be a potential cause of domestic violence and criminal assault. A further enquiry into the consequence of the high levels of anger in the Transitioned ADF is recommended. It is also important to identify the risk factors for increasing anger and the extent to which this is aggravated by a sense of social disenfranchisement and social isolation, which is often described by the veteran community (Adler et al., 2011; Ahern et al., 2015; Pedlar & Thompson, 2016). A further possible risk factor is the nature of the exposures on deployment and how the related traumatic memories can drive a sense of vigilance in self-defensive aggression (Jakupcak et al., 2007). Aggression can also be an emotion that is used to inhibit fear.

7.2.7 Suicidality

Due to the high level of community interest and concern – for example reflected through the 2017 National Mental Health Commission *Review into the Suicide and Self-Harm Prevention Services Available to current and former serving ADF members and their families* – and the significance and risk of suicidality in the broader Australian Community, suicidality was examined in multiple chapters. Chapter 4 focused on the prevalence and risk factors for suicidality in the Transitioned ADF. In chapter 5, suicidality in the Transitioned ADF was compared with that experienced by the 2015 and 2010 Regular ADF.

As previously stated, in relation to suicidal thoughts and behaviour, an estimated one in five of the Transitioned ADF reported some form of suicidal ideation, plans or attempts in the last 12 months. More than a quarter reported that they felt their life was not worth living and an estimated one in five reported they had felt so low that they thought about death by suicide. Further to this, an estimated 7.9% of the Transitioned ADF reported making a suicide plan and 2.0% reported trying to take their own life in the past 12 months. Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF members were at greatest risk, reporting significantly greater suicidality than Inactive or Active Reservists, and suicidality increased with the years since transition, peaking at three years posttransition.

The Transitioned ADF were significantly more likely to report suicidal ideation, plans and attempts than the 2015 Regular ADF. This is consistent with the 2016 AIHW report into the incidence of suicide among serving and Ex-Serving ADF members, which found rates of completed suicide were lower than the general population among those still serving in the ADF (Regular and Reserve) but higher in those who were Ex-Serving. The consistency of the self-reported suicidality observed in the current study with data regarding completed suicide is of high importance, as it strongly indicates that the Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF are at increased risk of suicidal ideation escalating to suicidal behaviour.

In keeping with the elevated levels of psychological distress, posttraumatic stress symptoms, depressive symptoms and anger, the 2015 Regular ADF sample were significantly more likely to report suicidal ideation than the 2010 Regular ADF cohort. However, this pattern did not apply to plans and attempts. The higher rates of suicidal ideation in the 2015 Regular ADF may be indicative of substantial ongoing consequences of the high operational deployment tempo of the last decade.

The impact of specific trauma exposures during military service, including on deployment, as against pre-military risk factors of suicidality among the Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF needs further detailed investigation.

Mental disorder is a known significant risk factor for suicidal ideation and completed suicide (Beautrais et al., 1996). Furthermore, exposure to death and suffering, cumulative trauma exposure (LeBouthillier et al., 2015; Stanley et al., 2015) and PTSD convey further risk (Krysinska & Lester, 2010). Defence has undertaken initiatives to manage and prevent suicide among members. While the 2010 MHPWS showed high rates of suicidal ideation compared with the Australian Community, the rates of *attempted* suicide were significantly lower. These findings, combined with the recent AIHW findings suggest that the various programs put in place have been beneficial while in ADF service. However, once personnel have fully transitioned to the civilian community there appears to be a significant rise in suicidal behaviour that needs to be addressed.

7.2.8 Anxiety symptoms

The severity of self-reported symptoms of generalised anxiety, as measured by the Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7-item Scale (GAD-7), in the Transitioned ADF was high, with 22.3% reporting moderate to severe symptoms. In contrast, a significantly lower proportion of the 2015 Regular ADF (9.6%) reported moderate to severe symptoms. When examined by transitioned status, 33.2% of the Ex-Serving group fell within the moderate to severe range of GAD symptoms. This contrasts with 15.5% of Inactive Reservists and 11.7% of Active Reservists.

While there was a significant relationship between years since transition and symptoms of generalised anxiety, there was a sharp increase in the proportion reporting severe symptoms at the one-year mark, with rates in the Transitioned ADF increasing from 5.7% to 14.5% at this time point.

In interpreting this data, one notable finding is the disparity in the proportion of Transitioned ADF scoring above the screening cut-off for current anxiety using the GAD-7 (GAD-7 \geq 10: 33.2%) and the proportion meeting diagnostic criteria for 12month GAD on the CIDI (3.7%). This is in vast contrast to the size of difference reported for the PCL (PCL \geq 29: 39.9%, CIDI PTSD: 17.7%), AUDIT (AUDIT \geq 8, 33.6%, CIDI alcohol disorder: 12.9%) and PHQ (PHQ \geq 6: 48.6%, CIDI affective disorder 23.1%). While the proportion scoring above the screening cut-off on the GAD-7 was nine times greater than for those meeting CIDI criteria for 12-month GAD, the proportion scoring above the screening cut-off on the PCL, AUDIT and PHQ-9 compared to the CIDI was much lower. This discrepancy is largely due to the hierarchical nature of diagnostic criteria for ICD-10 GAD.

Under the ICD system of diagnosis, generalised anxiety symptoms are recognised as relatively ubiquitous and highly comorbid with a number of other psychiatric disorders. Accordingly, the ICD-10 criteria do not allow a diagnosis of GAD if the symptoms can be better explained by another disorder, such as panic disorder, social phobia, specific

disorder, OCD or hypochondriacal disorder (World Health Organization, 1992). Looking across the spectrum of other diagnoses reported by the Transitioned ADF, the prevalence of panic disorder, social phobia and specific phobia was 5–8%. This provides some insight into why the symptoms of generalised anxiety were common yet only 3.7% met criteria for a 12-month diagnosis.

Despite this issue, the significance of these symptoms should not be underestimated. For example, studies of monozygotic and dizygotic twin pairs on the Vietnam Era Twin Registry have identified aetiological elements shared between GAD and other psychiatric disorders, as well as unique environmental determinants of this disorder (Chantarujikapong et al., 2001).

This has important implications for treatment as it means that the symptoms of GAD often are not fully resolved by the evidence-based interventions administered for the comorbid condition.

Similarly, traumatic exposures (in particular childhood trauma) play a significant role in the onset of generalised anxiety disorder symptoms, even after controlling for PTSD, depression, panic disorder and substance abuse disorders (Ghafoori et al., 2009). This has important implications for Transitioned ADF, particularly due to the inflated rates of lifetime trauma and deployment exposures in this population compared to the 2015 Regular ADF.

Finally, prospective research has shown GAD to be a major risk factor for later depression, emphasising the potential long-term morbidity associated with these symptoms (Moffitt et al., 2007).

To summarise, in clinical situations, GAD symptoms are often dealt with in the context of hierarchical diagnostic symptoms and, as such, are subsumed under PTSD, OCD and other disorders, indicating that the morbidity associated with these symptoms is significant. The prevalence within the Transitioned ADF, and particularly how they are appointed to future risk of disorders, such as depression, highlights the potential need for these symptoms to become a specific focus of intervention strategies in the clinical setting.

7.2.9 Deployment and non-deployment traumatic exposures

The consistent findings of elevated rates of psychological symptoms and mental disorders in the Transitioned ADF need to be considered in the context of the reported deployment and non-deployment traumatic stress exposures of this population.

Results of this study suggest that those who had transitioned from the ADF had substantially higher levels of deployment-related traumas in contrast to those who remained in the ADF in 2015. For example, in the Transitioned ADF, 38.3% reported

they had gone on combat patrols in contrast to 29.9% of the 2015 Regular ADF. Similarly, among the Transitioned ADF, 37.4% had either handled or seen dead bodies in contrast to 30.2% of the 2015 Regular ADF. While it is important not to minimise the significant exposures of those who remain in the Regular ADF, these findings suggest that those who transition have on average endured a slightly greater history of a range of traumatic exposures related to deployment. The relationship between these exposures and the levels of psychological symptoms and mental disorder in this population require further exploration. This is particularly important longitudinally given recent research highlighting the role of sensitisation following deployment as a risk factor for the development of delayed-onset PTSD and other mental disorders (McEwen, 2003; Smid et al., 2013).

It is important not to conclude that deployment-related trauma is the substantial cause of the majority of the morbidity identified in the Transitioned ADF until further analyses are conducted; however, the findings summarised in this report highlight the potential impact of these exposures. This trend was not apparent in the 2010 MHPWS (McFarlane et al., 2011), which found no significant differences in the rates of mental disorder between those who had been deployed and those who had not. The reason for the latter finding may be that those who had developed mental health symptoms as a consequence of deployment-related trauma had already self-selected for discharge.

In this study, the measure of lifetime trauma exposure similarly highlights the significantly higher levels of combat exposure in the Transitioned ADF compared with the 2015 Regular ADF (31% vs 21%).

Interestingly, the Transitioned ADF were more likely to have been engaged in a peacekeeping role and report having been kidnapped and held captive, when compared to the 2015 Regular ADF. This latter experience was identified in the 2010 ADF MHPWS as being a particular risk factor for PTSD. Again, this measure highlights the important role of deployment as well as non-deployment related traumas in differentiating the Transitioned ADF from those who remain in the Regular ADF. Substantial further analyses are required to unpack the specific risks associated with these exposures. Investigation of the role of trauma on the mental health of the Transitioned ADF –whether or not deployment related – is an important question for further interrogation, and will be explored in the *Impact of Combat Report*.

7.2.10 Drug use in the Transitioned ADF

Illicit drug use and the use of prescription drugs for non-medical purposes were examined in the Transitioned ADF only. Currently, the ADF has a zero-tolerance policy on the use of illicit drugs by full-time and Reserve personnel. Members found using illicit drugs may attract disciplinary and administrative action, including dismissal. For
this reason, data on drug use in the 2015 Regular ADF was not collected as it was improbable that the result would provide reliable usable data.

In this study, 39.3% of Ex-Serving ADF members reported using illicit drugs in their lifetime, with 16.4% reporting illicit drug use in the last 12 months. These rates closely matched the rates reported in the 2016 National Drug Strategy Household Survey, which reported a lifetime rate of 43% and a 12-month rate of 15.6% in the general Australian population aged 14 and over (AIHW, 2017b). Despite this, the high level of recent use represents a substantial issue that requires consideration in terms of treatment and prevention.

An estimated 11.3% of Ex-Serving ADF members reported using prescription drugs for non-medical purposes in their lifetime, with more than half reporting using them in the last 12 months (6.7%). This is similar to the finding that approximately one in 20 Australians misused prescription drugs in 2016 (4.8%) (AIHW, 2017b). Internationally, rates of prescription drug misuse in current serving US members of the military is suggested to be on the rise, with past-month prescription drug misuse among Active Duty service members increasing from 1.8% in 2002 to 11.1% in 2008 (Bray et al., 2010); however, the rates of drug use in transitioned militaries remains largely unknown. Further research is required to better understand which medication groups are being used for non-medical purposes and how patterns of use relate to patterns of mental disorder and physical conditions such as chronic pain.

Ex-Serving ADF members and Inactive Reservists reported similar patterns of lifetime and 12-month drug use. They were significantly more likely to report 12-month and lifetime illicit drug use, as well as 12-month and lifetime use of prescription drugs for non-medical purposes, than those in the Active Reserves. The potential for legal sanctions for drug use remains of greater significance to the Active than the Inactive Reservists, which may partly account for this pattern. Similar to the pattern observed with posttraumatic stress symptoms, both types of drug use (illicit and non-medical use of prescription drugs) showed a gradual increase over the first few years following years since transition, reaching a peak at three years post-transition. This pattern highlights the importance of awareness of this risk in clinical settings. Equally it may represent self-medication of symptoms that have not been effectively treated by available therapies (Leeies et al., 2010). This group represents a particular concern as self-medication with drugs is a marker for suicidal ideation and risk (Leeies et al., 2010).

Similar to suicidality and alcohol misuse, mental disorder (in particular PTSD) is a known significant risk factor for substance use (illicit and non-medical use of prescription drugs).

A further marker is chronic pain, including mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI) whereby military personnel are suspected to misuse prescription drugs as part of maladaptive coping with deployment-related injuries, pain or psychological injury (Jacobsen et al., 2001; Dao & Frosch, 2010). There is substantial evidence that individuals with PTSD self-medicate with alcohol and drugs (Haller & Chassin, 2014; Simpson et al., 2014). Further research should examine the association between deployment-related exposures and injuries, and other risk and protective factors for substance use among Transitioned ADF members. The interaction between PTSD and substance use represents specific challenges in the treatment setting. In general, the evidence suggests that both disorders should be treated in conjunction due to drugs and alcohol usage represent self-medication (Simpson et al., 2012). A further area that requires investigation is the relationship between aggression and drug and alcohol use in this population (Watkins et al., 2017), as this carries with it a substantial societal and individual cost.

7.2.11 Implications of the dimensional data analyses

Together these data further confirm that the Transitioned ADF are a population with substantially higher levels of psychological distress than those who remain in the ADF, including the Reserves. Strategies such as ongoing screening while in the Active and Inactive Reserves is one method of case definition for the purposes of early intervention. While disorder and symptomatology are lower among the Reservists than the Ex-Serving Transitioned ADF, they are still higher than observed in the 2015 Regular ADF, suggesting a need for greater screening and intervention.

Equally, at the point of discharge from the Reserves, a further screen and thorough medical should be conducted, similar to what is currently in place for ADF members transitioning from full-time service. An important unanswered question is how the patterns of distress in the Transitioned ADF will progress in the future. This again underscores the importance of considering approaches to monitoring health conditions and the need for ongoing health surveillance of this group.

The self-report data discussed here highlights the importance of considering mental health symptoms according to a dimensional perspective. In particular, these symptoms should be considered in light of the increasing emphasis in psychiatry to examine the prodromal symptoms of mental disorder, because of the substantial benefits of early intervention (McGorry & Nelson, 2016). Particularly for the younger age groups in the ADF, the body of research following adolescent populations into adulthood is of some relevance. In the area of adolescent mental health, symptoms of dysphoria and distress have equally attracted increasing investigation because of their ability to predict adult mental disorder, an approach that is relevant to younger ADF recruits (Pine et al., 1999). Individuals who join the ADF at age 18 are at relatively high risk of an emerging disorder, and so their mental health requires consideration and

monitoring. This is in part ameliorated by the recent Defence trial and potential expansion of a mental health screening continuum, which provides opportunistic screening across the career span of ADF members (O'Donnell et al., 2014). However, the results of this report suggest that consideration of novel approaches to support access to care for early service leavers may also be justified.

A further corollary of the utility of a dimensional perspective of symptomatic distress is the use of a staging approach in understanding the development of mental disorders and to develop optimal treatment strategies (McGorry et al., 2014; McGorry et al., 2006). The staging approach postulates that the boundaries between syndromes and disorders are not as distinct as often assumed, and that comorbidity is the rule rather than the exception. It is recognised that the early stages of developing mental disorders are complex and less differentiated than the strict diagnostic categories would suggest. Emerging psychopathology represents a mixture of changes in motivation, anxiety and depression, and affect dysregulation: all dimensions of adaptation that interact with each other (McFarlane et al., 2017; McGorry & Nelson 2016).

Clinical staging is an approach that captures these emerging dimensions of psychiatric morbidity, better defining the risk and emphasising the importance of differential intervention strategies according to the severity of symptomatic distress. The development of this approach has the potential to lead to treatments better tailored to the fluidity, severity and chronicity of an individual's disorder.

In summary, Transitioned ADF and Regular ADF members with sub-syndromal levels of distress, irrespective of their age, represent a group that is at significant risk into the future. Hence, the rates of diagnosable mental disorder documented in this report need to be considered against the background of this further pool of potential distress. This level of sub-syndromal distress points to the future risk of both mental and physical morbidity in the 2015 Regular ADF and the Transitioned ADF. The levels of self-reported distress also highlight the potential opportunity for interventions to be provided at a population level.

7.3 The Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community

A limited comparison of the mental health of the Transitioned ADF with an Australian Community sample from the ABS – matched on age, sex and employment status – was included in this report to situate the Transitioned ADF in the context of the civilian population. Two mental health outcomes were available for comparison between these groups: psychological distress and self-reported alcohol consumption.

In general, psychological distress was higher in the Transitioned ADF compared to the Australian Community. Almost three times more Transitioned ADF members scored in

the high to very high psychological distress bands (33.1%) compared to the Australian Community (12.8%). The largest difference between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community – across the various sex and age groups – was in the very high scoring band on the K10 for psychological distress. Nearly one in five Transitioned ADF scored in this band compared with just under 5% of the Australian Community. Psychological distress was also found to decrease overall with age in the Transitioned ADF, while in the Australian Community, it remained relatively stable across age groups.

A quite different pattern of results was found when comparing patterns of alcohol use between the Transitioned ADF and the Australian Community. Overall, there were fewer observed differences in the rates of alcohol consumption between the two samples, particularly in the younger age groups. The majority of both populations consumed alcohol monthly, with members of the Transitioned ADF significantly more likely to do this than members of the 2015 Regular ADF. This pattern was mostly accounted for by ADF males. There were female-specific differences in rates of problem drinking between the Transitioned ADF and the community, with a significantly higher proportion of Transitioned ADF females reporting drinking daily, weekly and monthly compared to Australian Community females.

Overall, members of the Australian Community had more standard drinks on a single occasion in the last 12 months than the Transitioned ADF, with a significantly higher proportion of the Australian Community (48.3%) drinking more than seven or more standard drinks on a single occasion compared to the Transitioned ADF (33.2%). This pattern was particularly salient in Australian Community males.

In the 2010 MHPWS, lower rates of alcohol use and disorders were shown in the Regular ADF compared to the Australian Community in 2007. Chapter 5 of this report details how rates of alcohol use were observed to be similarly low among the 2015 Regular ADF, however rates of use were higher among the Transitioned ADF, particularly those who were Ex-Serving.

It appears that differences in alcohol consumption observed between the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF may reflect a movement towards the general population drinking behaviour among the Transitioned ADF.

7.4 Strengths and limitations of the study

7.4.1 Limitations and caveats

A range of limitations and caveats should be considered when interpreting the findings from this study.

First and foremost is the study response rate: the overall response rate for the study was low. This is particularly so for the Transitioned ADF, with a response rate of 18% (n = 4326). This was largely due to the limited contact information available for this group. Participant contact information for all new invitees was obtained from the Department of Defence following an extensive opt-out process. Unfortunately, for most individuals, particularly those who were Ex-Serving, contact information may not have been updated for several years highlighting a difference in response patterns for Serving and Ex-Serving members. In contrast, the response rate for those who participated in the earlier Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP) studies (where more up-to-date information was available) was much higher (35%). Maintaining contact has important practical implications for DVA as well as for research. Comprehensive strategies for improving research participation rates and surveillance is a matter that should be discussed with the Transitioned ADF community moving into the future.

Consistent with previous research (Dobson et al., 2012; McFarlane et al., 2011), responders in this study were more likely to be females, Officers, Non-Commissioned Officers and Air Force members. Individuals classified as medically unfit were also more likely to respond. The current study addressed this response bias by statistically weighting the results based on four key variables – sex, rank, Service (Navy, Army or Air Force) and medical fitness – known to impact response rates and the prevalence of mental disorder more broadly, and medical fitness. Therefore, where prevalence rates of mental disorder are reported, they are referring to the estimated rates of a particular outcome within the entire population. As such these estimates represent the proportion of cases we would predict to observe in the entire population, based on the proportion of actual cases detected in the subpopulation who completed the outcome measure (the CIDI for mental disorder estimates, the survey for symptom estimates). This weighting process assumes a general consistency across individuals with each combination of these characteristics (strata), and does not account for individual differences, or other factors that may influence the outcomes of interest. Importantly, however, the lower the number of responders, the less accurate the resulting weighted population estimates are likely to be. This is highly relevant to rank where Officers and Non-Commissioned Officers were overrepresented among responders, while Other Ranks were highly underrepresented despite accounting for the largest proportion of the total population. As such, any estimates, when stratified by rank, should be interpreted with a degree of caution.

A large proportion of this study is based on self-report measures, which are subject to potential biases, including recall bias and other response biases. The collection of diagnostic mental disorder data allows for corroboration of findings; however, these potential biases should be noted.

This study reported ICD-10 rates of mental disorder to allow comparison with the 2010 MHPWS (primarily in the *Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report*), and past and future data from the Australian studies conducted by the ABS. This is likely to have some impact on the prevalence estimates for PTSD, due to the fact that ICD-10 PTSD has a lower threshold of severity of symptoms to meet the necessary diagnostic threshold (Peters et al., 2006) compared to the alternative DSM diagnostic system. However, given the extant literature regarding the morbidity associated with sub-syndromal DSM PTSD, this still means that the population defined in this study are of clinical relevance (McFarlane, 2010).

Finally, this study only represents the investigation of the initial stages of transition (the first five years). Further study of this cohort should be an important priority to map the ongoing course of mental disorder following ADF service, particularly in light of evidence regarding the emergence of disorder many years after active service in earlier conflicts such as Vietnam (Johnston et al., 2016).

7.4.2 Strengths of the study

An important strength of the design of this study was the use of a two-phase design, where in phase 1, the population was screened using a self-report questionnaire, then in the second phase a stratified sample of phase 1 participants were interviewed using the 'gold standard' CIDI diagnostic interview. Similar to the 2010 MHPWS (see Annex A for the detailed methodology used), scores on the PCL and AUDIT were used to select a higher proportion of high scorers for the CIDI, resulting in an enriched prevalence of disorder. This method provides greater capacity and power to examine the risk factors and treatment outcomes of particular diagnostic interview to detect mental disorder is in direct contrast to most other military and veterans' health studies conducted to date, which have typically used self-report questionnaire data to derive prevalence estimates of 'probable' disorder.

The use of a structured diagnostic interview such as the CIDI, which covers the broad range of mental disorders, provides a more accurate picture of the breadth of diagnosable psychopathology in the Transitioned ADF. The CIDI also allows comparisons with Australian data collected by the ABS, such as the 2007 NSMHW (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008). Furthermore, this strategy allowed the examination of a range of specific diagnostic groups that have not generally been examined in military cohorts, such as bipolar affective disorder, agoraphobia and social phobia. These mental disorders are important to investigate as they are important sources of impairment that carry high levels of disability. Furthermore, the design of this study has allowed the screening of a significant number of Defence and transitioned members for mental disorders and suicidal ideation. The nature of additional consents provided by participants to the research team allows the

opportunity for those participants at risk or with ongoing mental disorder to be offered further assistance and therapeutic interventions.

The only other study of a comparable nature conducted to date is the 2010 Canadian Survey on Transition to Civilian Life (STCL) and the Life After Service Survey (LASS 2013) (Thompson et al., 2011a; Thompson et al., 2015; Thompson et al., 2014; Van Til et al., 2014a), although sample differences still limit direct comparison of mental disorder estimates.

Importantly, the structure of the study within the broader and comprehensive research programme allows not only levels of mental distress or disorder to be explored but also comorbidity with physical health, patterns of help seeking, as well as stigma and barriers to care. These issues will be covered in *the Pathways to Care Report*, the *Physical Health Report* and the *Technology Use and Wellbeing Report*.

Finally, the current study allows for the course of mental disorder and symptoms across a five-year window (between 2010 and 2015) to be mapped in the same cohort of individuals. This is a major strength of the longitudinal design and will be the focus of the *Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report* and the *Impact of Combat Report*.

7.5 Implications and future directions

The rates of mental disorder the study identified among ADF members in the first five years after transition – with nearly half estimated to have a 12-month mental disorder – are a matter of concern that warrants attention. This level of mental distress highlights the challenges of transitioning out of full-time military service. Clearly, detailed consideration of the findings in this report and analyses of the data in the reports to follow are required before drawing final conclusions and making recommendations. However, this study already highlights key needs of this transitioned population and actions that could be considered.

Consistent with the findings of the 2016 AIHW report on suicide incidence among Serving and Ex-Serving members, those discharging medically are one of the most highrisk groups identified in this report and should be a priority for further evaluation and follow-up. Importantly, however, there is also a large proportion of Transitioned ADF who were not medically discharged but who met criteria for a mental disorder in the last 12 months. Thus, many of these individuals may not have been referred to the appropriate mental health providers at the point of transition. This raises important questions as to whether these disorders emerged following discharge or failed to be declared or identified during the discharge medical. It also raises questions as to whether there should be a more systematic mental health assessment during military service and/or the discharge process using structured diagnostic interviews. Furthermore, as has been planned by Defence, referral of discharging members to a primary health care provider should increasingly become a priority as this is likely to significantly assist in both the diagnosis of emerging disorders as well as referral to treatment networks.

Similarly, a large proportion of Transitioned ADF members who met criteria for a 12month mental disorder were not recorded as DVA clients. Taken together, these findings suggest a need to address how ADF members are screened, assessed and monitored for mental health conditions both pre- and post-transition. The data also reinforces the importance of a range of initiatives currently being implemented by DVA and Defence to enhance early identification and intervention, including through the transition process.

One example highlighted in the Australian Government's response to the National Mental Health Commission's review is the Early Engagement Model. The goal is for DVA to establish a relationship with serving members as early in their career as practical. This will include Defence notifying DVA at agreed events during a member's career, such as enlistment, involvement in a serious incident, medical discharge or retirement (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017). Defence is also reforming the ADF Transition Support Services to offer coaching and mentoring, focusing on developing an individual post-separation plan, including employment support. This new model is aimed at all ADF members who are transitioning. Under the model, a Transition Officer will contact each member one month after separation to check on the success of the post-separation plan and whether any new issues have arisen.

Over recent years, Defence has been trialling and implementing an enhanced mental health screening program, which builds on the comprehensive program of screening that already occurs post-deployment and post-exposure to critical incidents. Key components include standardising mental health screening measures across screening events, introducing opportunistic periodic mental health screening for all ADF members (regardless of whether they have been deployed) in primary healthcare settings, command-requested screening for high-risk groups, and updates to the health examination conducted as part of the discharge process (O'Donnell et al., 2014). This Mental Health Screening Continuum includes the development of an online self-assessment website, which will allow ADF members to anonymously assess their own mental health.

Meanwhile, the Veterans and Veterans Families Counselling Service (VVCS) is developing a VVCS online system to increase help-seeking, early intervention and selfmanagement (Australian Liberal Party, 2017). Using participatory design, VVCS intends to establish digital options for care, including a Mental Health e-Clinic that will offer immediate online assessment, resulting in a dashboard of results and support via apps and e-tools that will progressively display real-time data (for example, for physical activity, mood and sleep). This initiative will make available a wide variety of information, co-designed with members and their families, which enhances awareness of the challenges experienced by transitioning members, and offers information and tools to manage these experiences. Increased tailoring of online tools will not mitigate the need for some members of the community to access more direct clinical support, but it will increase the likelihood that all discharging ADF members and their families are aware of, and understand, the VVCS services available to them. As part of this offering, VVCS will seek to create a self-administered, online mental health check offering appropriate tools, resources and support, depending on individual need.

In addition to these initiatives, it is suggested Defence and DVA consider integrating screening processes pre- and post-transition, and online resources to enable continuity throughout the transition process. The *Pathways to Care Report* and the *Technology Use and Wellbeing Report* will provide important information about the current use of, and potential benefits to improving, online mental health resources for this population.

The findings in this study also strongly support an important DVA initiative to increase access to care: the DVA non-liability healthcare program. This program pays for mental health treatment for Serving and Ex-Serving ADF members, without the need to establish that the condition was caused by their ADF service. This treatment is delivered through the provision of a DVA White Card and allows Ex-Serving ADF members to access general practitioners, psychologists, psychiatrists, medication, public and private hospital care, and VVCS counselling services. Originally, it covered only five common mental health conditions – PTSD, depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, alcohol disorder and substance use disorders – with a set period of service. This access has been extended to anyone who has ever served at least one day in the full-time ADF, and to all mental health conditions.

The data in the study also highlights the importance of ensuring that when individuals access care they need comprehensive assessment by military-aware clinicians to ensure effective treatment. The relatively high rates of bipolar disorder for example, found in the transitioned personnel and potential associated impairments, are matters of considerable concern, particularly due to the behavioural disinhibition, including greater suicidal risk, associated with bipolar disorder (Raja & Azzoni, 2004). Hypomanic episodes are often missed in primary care settings, which means there is a reasonable probability that a number of these individuals are not being effectively managed or treated (Dunner, 2003). This is also a group who are at particular risk of suicidal ideation, suicide attempts and completed suicides (Raja & Azzoni, 2004). The longer the duration of untreated bipolar disorder, the lower the probability of good treatment response (Drancourt et al., 2013; Dunner, 2003), heightening the imperative to

develop a plan to further assess and manage these individuals. This group specifically deserves further clinical assessment, particularly as bipolar disorder is not subject to investigation in veteran populations in any systematic manner currently in the scientific literature. The increased rates of disorder in deployed Transitioned ADF, which was not apparent in the Regular ADF in 2010 also raises important questions as to whether the emergence of bipolar disorder is an as yet unidentified consequence of warlike service.

These findings have important implications from a clinical perspective including the need to upskill both military and civilian clinicians on the specific criteria of mania and hypomania. While some of these symptoms may be considered a natural consequence of combat exposure (that is, feeling they can do things others could not do, engaging in pleasurable activities to the point of ignoring risks or consequences) (McLay et al., 2014), clinicians need to be cognisant of the acceptable limitations of these thoughts and patterns of behaviour. Transitioned ADF members who are still exhibiting a substantial number of these symptoms once they have left full-time service should be appropriately assessed to ensure that their symptoms do not meet diagnostic criteria. The findings in relation to GAD also reinforced the need for effective differential diagnosis when developing treatment plans.

The epigenetic consequences of PTSD and related stress exposures may also play a significant role in triggering the risk of disorders like bipolar disorder in this population (Zannas et al., 2015). There are further epigenetic changes – for example, in the context of PTSD, major depression and anxiety disorders – that could contribute to the later emergence of bipolar disorder (Goes, 2016). This perspective emphasises the importance of a longitudinal model of psychiatric morbidity that is fluid and reactive to environmental stressors and interventions (Fichter et al., 2008). This body of work highlights the importance of further investigating the role of stress exposure in this group and exploring the longitudinal course of disorder (Post & Weiss, 1998). In light of this, an important clinical priority should be the further follow-up of individuals identified with bipolar disorder in this study, to ensure that they have been formally diagnosed, to ensure that they are receiving appropriate treatment, and to better characterise their risk factors. Further research also needs to be conducted to examine the potential risk factors for this disorder in military populations, including the prevalence of comorbid disorder, in order to clearly identify subpopulations who maybe at particular risk.

A qualitative study of Transitioned ADF members who have been identified as having particular mental disorders would assist in better understanding the issues that cannot be captured by the structured diagnostic interview and questionnaires used in this study. This strategy would assist in better understanding the nuances and difficulties experienced by ADF members as they navigate the civilian healthcare system upon transition. This would also build on the quantitative information in the *Pathways to Care Report*, including the nature of the interventions that have been offered once contact is made with the mental health system. It needs to be recognised that there are many limitations within the civilian healthcare sector, and these are potentially impacting on Transitioned ADF members who do not have DVA entitlements.

This report examined diagnosable mental disorders and subthreshold mental health symptoms. This latter group represents those at significant risk of the later emergence of disorder: a predictable outcome given the international evidence showing an association between increasing age and time and increasing rates of some disorders such as PTSD (Mota et al., 2016; Smid et al., 2013). This reinforces the importance of providing Australian GPs with the ability to conduct a comprehensive ADF Post Discharge Health Assessment (Reed et al., 2016). It also further supports the Departments' considering further options for ongoing surveillance of this population, including those who have transitioned to the Active and Inactive Reserves.

Another issue not explored in this study is psychological outcomes for those who sustained physical injuries during military service (Bryant et al., 2015; Stewart et al., 2015), with those injured on deployment representing a group at particular risk. Current literature indicates an increased recognition of the substantial comorbidity that exists between psychiatric and physical illness (Lohr et al., 2015; Pacella et al., 2013). While these issues will be explored in the *Physical Health Report* and the *Impact of Combat Report*, they deserve to be highlighted for future targeted and detailed analysis.

The current study focuses on ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014. This includes ADF members who transitioned into the Active and Inactive Reserves. What this study does not address is the mental health of Reservists who have never served in the Regular ADF (Ab initio Reservists). Data was collected on a sample of Ab initio Reservists as part of this Programme, and a future report is planned that will compare the impacts of military service in these three Reservist groups.

More generally, this study highlights the value of ongoing health surveillance of longitudinal cohorts. In the case of longitudinal surveillance, it is possible to make causal associations particularly where exposures have been measured in close proximity to their occurrence. The *Impact of Combat Report* and the *Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report* will provide examples of the power of these prospective cohort studies to help identify risk and protective factors for good and poor health outcomes over time. They can also inform risk mitigation and resilience-building strategies to protect future cohorts.

7.6 Conclusion

The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme aimed to address a number of key research priorities of both DVA and Defence over three studies: The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study, the Impact of Combat Study and the Family Wellbeing Study. This comprehensive programme of research aimed to provide a detailed understanding of the impact of contemporary military service on the mental, physical and social health of serving and ex-serving members and their families, to ensure policy and service delivery responds to future needs.

This research arose out of the need to align future work to the DVA Strategic Research goal of conducting longitudinal studies. It also provided a bridge between the data collected by MilHOP (Defence Health, 2017) and future longitudinal studies of Australian contemporary veterans. The first priority identified was to establish the prevalence of mental disorder in ADF members who recently transitioned from the full-time Regular ADF (since 2010), the remit of this report. Importantly, the findings of this report are a fundamental component of DVA and Defence work to enhance transition processes, including enhancing mental health support services and suicide prevention initiatives (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017).

Based on the 2010 MHPWS (McFarlane et al., 2011), it was predicted that younger Defence members who developed mental disorders were at particular risk of transitioning. The recent intensity of deployments to the Middle East Area of Operations meant there was an accumulated risk as a consequence of trauma-related exposures in war-like environments. The growing body of literature about the prevalence of delayed-onset PTSD meant the MEAO Census and Prospective Health Studies were likely to underestimate the rates of disorder that would emerge as a consequence of these deployments. These deployment and combat exposures may, in part, account for the apparent decline in the mental health and wellbeing of the 2015 Regular ADF members that has been observed in this study.

As anticipated, those ADF members transitioning from military service represent a group at particular risk of mental disorder. The finding that an estimated 46% met 12-month ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder, using a structured diagnostic interview, highlights the burden of the identified morbidity, representing twice the rates found in full-time ADF members in 2010 (McFarlane et al., 2011). Furthermore, the patterns of disorder and subthreshold symptomatology suggest a picture of increasing severity of disorder, particularly with the emergence of agoraphobia, social phobia, PTSD and bipolar disorder, which carry particular risks of impairment and disability. The second report in this series, the *Pathways to Care Report*, provides vital information about how these individuals access care.

Despite these levels of disorder, the levels of engagement in employment and socially connected roles among the Transitioned ADF is encouraging. However, this is clearly a population who is at risk and would benefit from proactive strategies that aim to lessen the burden of mental illness within the group. The rates of suicidal ideation are of particular concern among those who have fully disengaged from the ADF, and will be a focus of further investigation. Substantially more information exists in the dataset collected, and is yet to be analysed. It is critical that the value of this information is understood and that ongoing strategies for further analyses are developed. The findings of this study and subsequent reports will provide the foundation for evidence-based policy and programs to support those who have served our nation to successfully transition from full-time military service.

Annex A Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study method

This annex outlines the study design, selection criteria, instrumentation, recruitment strategy and statistical procedures used for the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study. Details of the Impact of Combat Study and the Family Wellbeing Study will be outlined in future reports.

A.1 Summary of the research

The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme is a joint research initiative of the Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA) and the Department of Defence (Defence) to examine the impact of contemporary military service on the mental, physical and social health of Serving and Ex-Serving Australian Defence Force (ADF) members and their families. It builds on previous research and will inform effective and evidence-based health and mental health service provision.

The Programme was conducted by a consortium of six of Australia's leading research institutions, led by the Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies (CTSS) at the University of Adelaide and the Australian Institute of Family Studies. The consortium included researchers from Phoenix Australia: Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health, the University of New South Wales, Monash University and the University of Sydney.

The 2010 Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP) detailed the prevalence of mental disorder in the 2010 Regular ADF and deployment-related health issues for those deployed to the Middle East Area of Operations (MEAO) between 2010 and 2012. Following the MilHOP, several research gaps were identified, including the mental health of Ex-Serving ADF members, Reservists, family members and ADF members in high-risk roles, as well as the course of mental disorders and pathways to care for individuals over time.

The Programme aimed to address these research gaps in three separate but related studies:

- Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study
- Impact of Combat Study
- Family Wellbeing Study.

A.2 Aims of the Programme

The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme objectives were to:

- determine the prevalence of mental disorders amongst ADF members who have transitioned from Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014
- examine self-reported mental health status of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF
- examine the physical health status of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF
- assess pathways to care for Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, including those with a diagnosed mental disorder
- examine the factors that contribute to the wellbeing of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF
- conduct predictive modelling of the trajectory of mental health symptoms/disorder of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF, removing the need to rely on estimated rates
- investigate technology and its utility for health and mental health programmes, including implications for future health service delivery
- follow up on the mental, physical and neuro-cognitive health and wellbeing of ADF members who deployed to the MEAO between 2010 and 2012
- investigate the social, physical, mental health and wellbeing of 2015 Ab initio Reservists (those who joined as Reservists and have only served in the Reserves)
- investigate the impact of ADF service on the health and wellbeing of the families of Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.

These objectives will allow Defence and DVA to:

- build on the 2010 MilHOP research to develop an understanding of how mental health changes and manifests during the readjustment phase post-separation
- develop insights into how to improve communication between contemporary veterans, DVA and Defence
- further develop the research outcomes and optimise the use of existing data sets within DVA and Defence in relation to improving the understanding of the mental health of serving and Ex-Serving members and the access to clinical services and their outcomes
- develop the objective knowledge base of DVA and Defence staff, and other interested parties in the mental health of serving and transitioned members

 improve the mental health (and associated physical health) outcomes for serving and Ex-Serving members across all age cohorts allow a review of the optimal method of conducting scientifically valid and reliable research with the ADF and Ex-Serving members that is accepted to the participants, the Ex-Serving community the ADF and DVA.

A.3 Sample

To achieve the aims of the broader research Programme, the following five overlapping samples were targeted for data collection.

A.3.1 Sample 1: Transitioned ADF

This sample comprised all ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014. This included those who transitioned into the Active and Inactive Reserves as well as those who had discharged completely from the Regular ADF. This sample was comprised of three groups of Transitioned ADF members: (1) MHPWS Transitioned ADF: ADF members who participated in the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS) as a Regular ADF member, but have since transitioned; (2) Combat Transitioned ADF: ADF members who participated in the MEAO Prospective Health Study between 2010 and 2012 and have since transitioned; and (3) ADF members who have transitioned from the Regular ADF since 2010, who were not part of the 2010 MHPWS or the MEAO Prospective Health Study. Results from these three groups were combined and weighted to represent the Transitioned ADF in 2015.

A.3.2 Sample 2: 2015 Regular ADF

This sample is comprised of three groups of Regular ADF members in 2015 who were invited to participate in the study: (1) those who participated in the 2010 MHPWS and were a Regular ADF member in 2015; (2) those who participated in the MEAO Prospective Health Study between 2010 and 2012 and were a Regular ADF member in 2015; and (3) a stratified random sample of Regular ADF members from 2015 who were not part of the 2010 MHPWS or the MEAO Prospective Health Study. Results from these three groups were combined and weighted to represent the 2015 Regular ADF.

A.3.3 Sample 3: Ab initio Reservists

All ADF members who joined the ADF Reserves and who continue to serve in a Reserve capacity, and who have never been a serving Regular ADF member.

A.3.4 Sample 4: ADF families

A sample of ADF families, nominated by 2015 Regular ADF and Ex-Serving ADF members participating in the Programme.

Two MilHOP samples, which were incorporated into samples 1 and 2 above for the purposes of analysis, were also followed up as part of an ongoing program of longitudinal health surveillance. These samples were:

A.3.5 Sample 5: Combat zone

All ADF members who participated in the MEAO Prospective Health Study, comprising members who were deployed to the MEAO after June 2010 and returned from deployment by June 2012.

A.3.6 Sample 6: MHPWS

All individuals who participated in the 2010 MHPWS component of MilHOP (2010 ADF). This sample comprised two groups: (1) MHPWS Transitioned ADF: ADF members who participated in the 2010 MHPWS as a Regular ADF member but have since transitioned; and (2) MHPWS 2015 ADF: Regular ADF members who participated in the 2010 MHPWS and were in the 2015 Regular ADF.

DVA and Defence have commissioned several reports from the research Programme, and Table A.1 presents the samples each report will cover. All samples were drawn from the Military and Veteran Research Study Roll (Study Roll), which is described in section A.11.2 of this Annex.

A.4 Population comparison samples

A.4.1 Sample 7: 2010 Regular ADF comparison

Results drawn from the 2010 MHPWS report were directly imputed into this report to provide an indication of the change in self-reported mental health between the 2010 Regular ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF. These results should be interpreted with caution due to the overlapping nature of these two populations.

A.4.2 Sample 8: Comparison of Transitioned ADF with the Australian community (2014-2015)

To enable comparison of estimates in the Transitioned ADF with an Australian Community population, direct standardisation was applied to estimates within the 2014-2015 ABS National Health Survey (NHS) data. The NHS is the most recent in a series of Australia-wide ABS health surveys, assessing various aspects of the health of Australians, including long-term health conditions, health risk factors, and health service use. The NHS data were restricted to those aged 18–71 (consistent with the Transitioned ADF). The NHS data were standardised by sex, employment status (employed or not) and age category (18–27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57 and 58+), and estimates were generated on the outcomes of interest. Standard errors for the NHS data were estimated using the replication weights provided in the NHS data file.

Report	Programme goal	Samples	Data collection
Mental Health Prevalence Report: findings from the 2015 Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study	Establish baseline prevalence rates of mental disorders among ADF members who transitioned from full-time ADF service	 ADF members who transitioned from full-time ADF service between 2010 and 2014 2015 Regular ADF Comparison with 2010 ADF and community, where appropriate 	 Self-report questionnaire CIDI (subgroup)
Pathways to Care Report: findings from the 2015 Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study	Pathways to mental health care for serving and Transitioned ADF members, including those with a mental health disorder, including: how care is accessed use patterns stigmas and barriers	 ADF members who transitioned from full-time ADF service between 2010 and 2014 2015 Regular ADF 	Self-report survey
Physical Health Status Report: findings from the 2015 Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study	 Physical health status of members of 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF, including: symptom reporting, including pain and sleep doctor diagnosed medical conditions physical injuries satisfaction with health 	 ADF members who transitioned from full-time ADF service between 2010 and 2014 2015 Regular ADF 	Self-report survey
Family Wellbeing Report: findings from the 2015 Family Wellbeing Study	 Experiences and perspective of family members on: impact of military service on families pathways to available care 	Nominated family members of serving Regular ADF members and ADF members who transitioned from full-time service between 2010 and 2014	 Self-report survey (quantitative component) Semi-structured telephone interviews (qualitative component)
Technology Use and Wellbeing Report: findings from the 2015 Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study	Utility of technology for mental health and mental health programs, including implications for future health service delivery	 ADF members who transitioned from full-time service between 2010 and 2014 2015 Regular ADF 	Self-report survey
Impact of Combat Report: findings from the 2015 Impact of Combat Study	 Longitudinal impact of deployment to MEAO on psychological, biological and social factors risk and protective factors traumatic brain injury 	Serving and Ex-Serving ADF members who deployed to the MEAO between June 2010 and June 2012 and participated in MilHOP (Combat Zone sample)	 Self-report survey CIDI (sub-group) Neurocognitive and/or biological tests (subgroups) MRI (subgroup)
Mental Health Changes Over Time: a Longitudinal Perspective Report: findings from the 2015 Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study	 Longitudinal disorder development: changes in symptom and disorder status over two time-points predictors/outcomes of these changes 	 2015 Regular ADF Transitioned ADF members who previously participated in MilHOP (MHPWS CIDI sample) 	 Self-report questionnaire CIDI (subgroup)
Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme Key Findings Report	Key findings across the Programme and implications for Defence and DVA	All	All

Table A.1 Commissioned reports

A.5 Response rates

A.5.1 Survey responders

Overall, there was a response rate of 29.1% for the entire survey across both the Transitioned ADF and Regular ADF (total responders/total invited). As at 15 December 2015, 18.0% (4326) of the 23,974 Transitioned ADF members invited to participate had completed a survey. In contrast, response rates in the invited 2015 Regular ADF (20,031) were much higher, with 42.3% of the 2015 Regular ADF who were invited to participate completing a survey. However, it is important to note that not all Regular ADF members were invited to participate in the survey, with invitations restricted to a stratified random sample of 5040 ADF members and Regular ADF members who previously participated in MilHOP. Similarly, 958 Transitioned ADF members were not invited to participate in the survey because they had opted out of the Study Roll, had opted out of being contacted further, or there was insufficient address information.

Table A.2 and Figure A.1 summarised the breakdown of Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members with enough data to be included in the survey. Table A.3 describes the demographic profile of this group.

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)			2015 Regular ADF (n = 52,500)				
	Population	Invited	Responders	Response rate %	Population	Invited	Responders	Response rate %
Service								
Navy	5671	5495	863	15.7	13,282	5113	2040	39.9
Army	15,038	14,465	2463	17.0	25,798	8067	3500	43.4
Air Force	4223	4014	1000	24.9	13,420	6851	2940	42.9
Sex								
Male	21,671	20,713	3646	17.6	47,645	15,176	6693	44.1
Female	3261	3261	380	20.9	4855	4855	1787	36.8
Rank								
OFFR	4063	3939	1259	32.0	13,444	7847	3538	45.1
NCO	7866	7393	2097	28.4	17,491	9117	4336	47.6
Other Ranks	13,003	12,642	970	7.7	21,565	3067	606	19.7
Medical fitness								
Fit	18,273	17,525	2981	17.0	46,022	17,097	7116	41.6
Unfit	6659	6449	1345	20.9	6478	2934	1364	46.5
Total	24,932	23,974ª	4326	18.0	52,500	20,031	8480	42.3

Table A.2 Survey response rates by Service, sex, rank and medical fitness for the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF

Notes:

Unweighted data 95% CI: 95% confidence interval The characteristics of survey respondents were as follows:

Sex – Consistent with the Transitioned ADF population, the sample was predominantly male with transitioned females being significantly more likely to respond than transitioned males. In the 2015 Regular ADF population, females were less likely to respond than males.

Age – Transitioned ADF survey responders (mean age 41.9 (SE 0.18)) were similar in age to the 2015 Regular ADF responders (mean age 41.1 (SE 0.1).

Rank – Survey responders from the Transitioned ADF comprised 29.1% Officers, 48.5% Non-Commissioned Officers and 22.4% Other Ranks. In the 2015 Regular ADF, there was a similar distribution with 41.7% Officers, 51.1% Non-Commissioned Officers and 7.2% Other Ranks. The Transitioned ADF population had significantly lower response rates for Officers and Non-Commissioned Officers, but significantly higher response rates in the Other Ranks compared to the 2015 Regular ADF. In both groups, the lower ranks were the poorest responders.

Service – In the Transitioned ADF survey group, 19.9% of survey responders were Navy, 56.9% were Army and 23.1% were Air Force. However, for the Regular 2015 ADF, 34.7% of survey responders were Navy, 41.3% were Army and 24.1% were Air Force. When response rates in the different Services were compared, Transitioned Air Force members were most likely to respond, whereas Transitioned Army and Transitioned Navy members were least likely to respond. In the 2015 Regular ADF, Army had the highest response rate at 41.3%.

Medical fitness – Transitioned ADF who were medically unfit on transition from the 2015 Regular ADF were slightly over-represented in the responder group (31.1%) compared to the 2015 Regular ADF population (16.1%). Transitioned ADF who were medically unfit had a response rate of 21.0% compared to 46.5% in the 2015 Regular ADF population.

Figure A.1 Survey response rates for Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF



	Transitioned ADF (n = 4326)			2015 Regular ADF (n = 8480)		
	n	%	95% CI	n	%	95% CI
Age (M, SE)	41.9	0.2		41.1	0.1	
Age group						
18-27	471	10.9	(10.0 - 11.9)	602	7.1	(6.6 - 7.7)
28-37	1262	29.2	(27.8 - 30.5)	2484	29.3	(28.3 - 30.3)
38-47	1119	25.9	(24.6 - 27.2)	2976	35.1	(34.1 - 36.1)
48-57	871	20.1	(19.0 - 21.4)	2069	24.4	(23.5 - 25.3)
58+	548	12.7	(11.7 - 13.7)	201	2.4	(2.1 - 2.7)
Sex						
Male	3646	84.3	(83.2 - 85.3)	6693	78.9	(78.0 - 79.8)
Female	680	15.7	(14.7 - 16.8)	1787	21.1	(20.2 - 22.0)
Rank						
OFFR	1259	29.1	(27.8 - 30.5)	3538	41.7	(40.7 - 42.8)
NCO	2097	48.5	(47.0 - 50.0)	4336	51.1	(50.1 - 52.2)
Other Ranks	970	22.4	(21.2 - 23.7)	606	7.2	(6.6 - 7.7)
Service						
Navy	863	20.0	(18.8 - 21.2)	2940	34.7	(33.7 - 35.7)
Army	2463	56.9	(55.5 - 58.4)	3500	41.3	(40.2 - 42.3)
Air Force	1000	23.1	(21.9 - 24.4)	2040	24.1	(23.2 - 25.0)
Medical fitness						
Fit	2981	68.9	(67.5 - 70.3)	7116	83.9	(83.1 - 84.7)
Unfit	1345	31.1	(29.7 - 32.5)	1364	16.1	(15.3 - 16.9)

Table A.3 Unweighted demographic characteristics of responders by Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

Denominator: Those who were invited and responded to the survey Notes: Unweighted data

95%Cl: 95% confidence interval

A.5.2 CIDI responders

In phase 2 of the research, a sub-sample of 1384 individuals from the stratified Transitioned ADF group, 1088 individuals from the MHPWS group, and 183 from the Combat Zone group were selected to participate in a one-hour telephone interview using the World Mental Health Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization Composite International Diagnostic Interview – version 3.0 (CIDI) (Kessler & Ustun, 2004). Data from all three groups was used to estimate prevalence of mental disorder in the Transitioned ADF.

Stratified Transitioned ADF

A total of 1384 participants were stratified and sought for participation (selected) in the CIDI 3.0. Of those selected, 53.8% (745) completed the interview. Table A.4 describes the response rates for the stratified Transitioned ADF undertaking the CIDI interview and Table A.5 describes the demographic profile of this group.

	Stratified Transitioned ADF CIDI (n = 1384 (selected); n = 745 (responded))					
	Population	Selected	Responders	Response rate (%)		
Service						
Navy	5671	285	150	52.6		
Army	15,038	795	424	53.3		
Air Force	4223	304	171	56.3		
Sex						
Male	21,671	1140	631	55.4		
Female	3261	235	109	45.0		
Rank						
OFFR	4063	423	252	59.6		
NCO	7866	694	389	56.1		
Other Ranks	13,003	267	104	39.0		
Medical fitness						
Fit	18,273	932	521	55.9		
Unfit	6659	443	219	49.4		
Total	24,932	1384	745	53.8		

Table A.4 CIDI response rates for stratified Transitioned ADF by Service, sex, rank and MEC status

Denominator: Transitioned ADF Invited to participate in the CIDI interview Notes: Unweighted data

95%CI: 95% confidence interval

The characteristics of Transitioned CIDI respondents were as follows:

Sex – Consistent with the Transitioned ADF population, the CIDI sample was predominantly male; however, Transitioned females were less likely to complete a CIDI interview than transitioned males.

Age- Transitioned CIDI respondents responders were significantly older 45.6 (SE=0.4) than non-responders 40.4 (SE 0.5).

Rank – CIDI responders comprised 33.8% Officers, 52.2% Non-Commissioned Officers and 14.0% Other Ranks. ADF members in the Other Ranks had a significantly lower response rate (39.0%) compared to above 50% for those invited in Non-Commissioned Officers and Officers who were more likely to respond.

Service- 20.1% of CIDI responders were Navy, 56.9% were Army and 23.0% were Air Force. There was no significant difference between CIDI responders and nonresponders in relation to Service.

Medical fitness – Transitioned ADF who were medically unfit on transition from Regular ADF comprised 29.4% of CIDI responders.

	Stratified Transitioned ADF CIDI responders (n = 745)			
	n	%	95% CI	
Age (M, SE)	45.6	0.4		
Age group				
18–27	50	6.7	(5.1, 8.7)	
28–37	171	23.0	(20.1, 26.1)	
38–47	177	23.0	(20.8, 26.9)	
48–57	179	24.0	(21.1, 27.2)	
58+	163	21.9	(19.1, 25.0)	
Sex				
Male	631	84.7	(81.9, 87.1)	
Female	109	14.6	(12.3, 17.4)	
Rank				
OFFR	252	33.8	(30.5, 37.3)	
NCO	389	52.2	(48.6, 55.8)	
Other Ranks	104	14.0	(11.7, 16.6)	
Service				
Navy	150	20.1	(17.4, 23.2)	
Army	424	56.9	(53.3, 60.4)	
Air Force	171	23.0	(20.1, 26.1)	
Medical fitness				
Fit	521	69.9	(66.5, 73.1)	
Unfit	219	29.4	(26.2, 32.8)	

Table A.5 Demographic characteristics of stratified Transitioned ADF CIDI responders

Denominator: Transitioned ADF Invited to participate in the CIDI interview Notes: Unweighted data 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study group

A total of 1088 participants from this group were invited to participate in the CIDI 3.0. Of those invited, 76.8% (835) completed the interview. Table A.6 describes the response rates for this group.

	MHPWS CIDI (n = 1088 (invited); n = 835 (responded))			
	Invited	Responders	Response rate (%)	
Service				
Navy	237	175	73.8	
Army	462	349	75.5	
Air Force	389	311	80.0	
Sex				
Male	903	698	77.3	
Female	182	135	74.2	
Missing	3	2	66.7	
Rank				
OFFR	451	375	83.2	
NCO	576	425	73.8	
Other Ranks	61	35	57.4	
Medical fitness				
Fit	758	590	77.8	
Unfit	327	243	74.3	
Missing	3	2	66.7	
Total	1088	835	76.8	

Table A.6CIDI response rates for the MHPWS group, by Service, sex, rank and Medical
Employment Classification status

Denominator: MHPWS sample invited to participate in the CIDI interview Notes: Unweighted data

95% CI: 95% confidence interval

The characteristics of the MHPWS group CIDI respondents are as follows:

- Sex The MHPWS sample consisted of both 2015 Regular and Transitioned ADF members. Consistent with the ADF population, the CIDI sample was predominantly male, with females being less likely to respond than males.
- **Rank-**CIDI responders in this group were comprised of 44.9% Officers, 50.9% Non-Commissioned Officers and 4.2% Other Ranks. Other Ranks were less likely to respond than the other two ranking categories.
- Service- 21.0% of survey responders were Navy, 41.8% were Army and 37.2% were Air Force. There was no difference between CIDI responders and non-responders in relation to service.
- Medical fitness -ADF members who were medically unfit were similarly represented in the CIDI responder group (29.1%) compared to those selected (30.1%). ADF members who were medically fit were also similarly represented in the CIDI responder group (70.7%) compared to 69.7% in the invited population. Therefore, the responder sample was representative in terms of medical fitness of the selected group.

Combat Zone group

A total of 183 participants from this group were invited to participate in the CIDI 3.0. Of those invited, 76.5% (140) completed the interview. Table A.7 describes the response rates for this group.

	Combat Zone group CIDI (n = 183 (invited); n = 140 (responded))			
	Invited	Responders	Response rate (%)	
Service				
Navy	10	10	100	
Army	143	111	77.6	
Air Force	0	0	0.0	
Missing	30	19	63.3	
Sex				
Male	148	118	79.7	
Female	2	2	100.0	
Missing	33	20	60.6	
Rank				
OFFR	20	16	80.0	
NCO	101	77	76.2	
Other Ranks	47	39	83.0	
Missing	15	8	53.3	
Medical fitness				
Fit	130	103	79.2	
Unfit	21	17	81.0	
Missing	32	20	62.5	
Total	183	140	76.5	

Table A.7 CIDI response rates for the Combat Zone group, by Service, sex, rank and Medical Employment Classification status

Denominator: Combat zone sample invited to participate in the CIDI interview Notes: Unweighted data 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

The characteristics of the Combat Zone group CIDI respondents were as follows:

- Sex The Combat Zone CIDI sample consisted of both 2015 Regular ADF and Transitioned ADF members participated. Consistent with the ADF population, the CIDI sample was almost entirely male. Of the two females selected, both responded.
- **Rank** CIDI responders in this group were comprised of 11.4% Officers, 55.0% Non-Commissioned Officers and 27.9% Other Ranks. Other Ranks were less likely to respond than the other two ranking categories.

- Service- 7.1% of survey responders were Navy, 79.3% were Army and 0% were Air Force. There was no difference between CIDI responders and non-responders in relation to Service.
- Medical fitness -ADF members who were medically unfit were similarly represented in the CIDI responder group (12.14%) compared to those selected (11.5%). ADF members who were medically fit were also similarly represented in the CIDI responder group (73.6%) compared to 71.0% in the invited population. Therefore, the responder sample was representative in terms of medical fitness of the selected group.

A.6 Study overview

Prevalence estimates were obtained using a two-phase design. This is a well-accepted approach to epidemiological research (Salim & Welsh, 2009), and was utilised in the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011). In the first phase, participants completed a screening questionnaire. This provided the research team with a clear picture of psychological symptoms from a dimensional perspective.

Based on certain key results from the survey and specific demographic factors, a subset of participants was also selected to participate in a 1-hour diagnostic mental health telephone interview. Additional biological, neurocognitive testing and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) was undertaken by participants in the Combat Zone sample. A detailed description of this additional testing is not provided here but will be provided in a later report.

Interview data for the Transitioned ADF was weighted to ensure the representativeness of the prevalence estimates for key subgroups within the total Transitioned ADF population. Self-report survey data were also weighted to be representative of both the Transitioned ADF and the 2015 Regular ADF.

A.7 Measures

A.7.1 Phase 1: Self-report survey

In phase 1 of the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study, Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF members were screened for mental health problems, psychological distress, physical health problems, wellbeing factors, pathways to care and occupational exposures using a 60-minute self-report questionnaire which was completed either online or in hard copy. This survey was developed at the beginning of the study period in close consultation DVA and Defence. Survey anonymity was preserved via the allocation of a unique study ID number to each participant.

Participants who previously completed a survey as part of the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence Wellbeing Study were allocated their same MilHOP study ID number.

Participants were able to complete the survey in one of two ways:

- Online: participants were sent an email which included a secure link to an online invitation package containing the web-based survey. Participants could only access the survey by entering their unique study ID number and password which was provided to them in the invitation email; or
- In hardcopy: participants could opt to complete a hard copy version of the questionnaire, which was then mailed to their current postal address.

Each participating sample received a slightly different questionnaire relevant to their current ADF status: Transitioned ADF member, 2015 Regular ADF member, Ab Initio Reservist, in regard to demographics, Service and deployment history, however, the core-validated measures of psychological and physical health remained the same and replicated where possible the measures previously administered as part of the MHPWS in 2010. This component of the design is critical to the longitudinal comparisons across time and highlights the importance of a consistent approach to the oversight of research design of military and veteran populations over time.

Prior to roll out, the online and hardcopy versions of the self-report survey were piloted on a select group of 2015 Regular ADF and Ex-Serving ADF members. Individuals in the pilot group were asked to provide detailed feedback pertinent to the content and adequacy of the survey and the usability of the system/form. Their comments and feedback were then subsequently incorporated into the final version of the survey. This ensured that there were no mistakes in the survey or glitches in the system prior to the study rolling out.

Please note, details of the survey provided to participants belonging to the Combat Zone sample are not provided here, but will be provided in a later report.

Part 1: Demographics and Service details

Part 1 of the survey was completed by all samples and comprised the following major sections:

Demographic information

Participants were asked to provide demographic information for gender, date of birth and highest educational qualification attained. These items were taken directly from the 2010 MHPWS (McFarlane et al., 2011).

Household and family structure

Participants were asked questions about their relationship status, household structure and children. Items in this section were derived from several sources including the Timor-Leste Family Study (McGuire et al., 2012), the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey (Watson & Wooden, 2002) and the 2014 Vietnam Veterans Family Study conducted by DVA (Forrest et al., 2014).

Financial status

Items assessing participants' current financial status, including financial hardship, were taken from the HILDA Survey (Watson & Wooden, 2002) and the Health and Wellbeing Survey of Serving and Ex-Serving Personnel of the UK Armed Forces: Phase 2 (Fear et al., 2010).

Homelessness

This section of the survey was comprised of eight questions from the 2010 ABS General Social Survey (GSS)(Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2011) that addressed lifetime and recent episodes of homelessness. Items looked at:

- participants' experiences of homelessness
- reasons for homelessness
- frequency of homelessness
- details about their most recent experience of homelessness (reason for homelessness, time frame, recency)
- assistance sought during period(s) of homelessness/helpfulness of these services
- barriers to seeking support

ADF service details

Participants were asked a series of questions specific to their employment with the ADF including the number of years served, current service status, hours worked per week, rank and Service. Depending on their rank and Service, participants were also asked a series of questions pertaining to their specialty and specific role within the ADF. Items in this section were taken from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008) and the 2011 Australian Defence Force Exit Survey (Shirt, 2012).

Feelings about the ADF

This section of the survey aimed to assess participants' level of organisational commitment. Four items were taken from Allen and Meyer's Affective Commitment Scale (Allen, 1990) and the other four items were developed by researchers for the study.

Transitioned ADF members were also asked additional questions in part 1 pertaining to the following:

Employment status

In this section of the survey participants were asked about their current employment activities. Examples of options included 'full time work greater than or equal to 30 hours paid employment per week', 'home duties' and 'unemployed/looking for work'. Unemployed members were also required to provide a reason for their unemployed status. Items in this section were taken from the Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre standard suite of measures (Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre, 2013) and the Health and Wellbeing Survey of Serving and Ex-Serving Personnel of the UK Armed Forces: Phase 2 (Fear et al., 2010).

Participants were also required to provide details about their current civilian employment including the number of hours worked per week, the industry of employment and their main source of income. Items in this section were derived from Health and Wellbeing Survey of Serving and Ex-Serving Personnel of the UK Armed Forces: Phase 2 (Fear et al., 2010), the Australian Defence Force Exit Survey (Shirt, 2012) and the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey (Watson & Wooden, 2002). Participants were also asked to indicate whether they had experienced a period of unemployment greater than 3 months since transitioning, and when this period began. This item was taken from the Australian Gulf War Veterans' Health Study 2011 (Sim et al., 2015).

Reservist status

In this section of the survey participants were asked about their Reservist status and where relevant, to provide details pertaining to their Reservist employment including their full-time/part-time status, the number of hours worked, and weeks away for Reservist work. Items in this section were taken from the Soldier Wellbeing Survey (Riviere, 2011; Thomas et al., 2010).

Year of transition

Participants were asked to indicate what year they transitioned into Active Reserves/Inactive Reserves/out of the ADF. These questions were taken from the Health and Wellbeing Survey of Serving and Ex-Serving Personnel of the UK Armed Forces: Phase 2 (Fear et al., 2010) and the Australian Gulf War Veterans' Health Study 2011 follow-up (Sim et al., 2015).

Change in relationship status

Participants were asked to indicate whether their relationship status had changed since transitioning from full-time Regular ADF service. If divorced, separated or widowed since transition, participants were asked to provide a date. This item in the

survey was taken from the Australian Gulf War Veterans' Health Study 2011 follow-up (Sim et al., 2015).

ADF separation details

This section of the survey was comprised of 2 parts. Firstly, participants were asked about their discharge/resignation category. Examples of options included 'medical discharge', 'compassionate grounds' and 'end of fixed period engagement'. In part 2, participants were provided with a comprehensive list of reasons for leaving the ADF and asked to mark all that played a role in their decision to leave. Participants were also asked to indicate the main reason of those selected. Items in this section were based on the current exit survey utilised by the ADF (Shirt, 2012).

ADF Reservists were also asked additional questions pertaining to the following:

Reservist details

Participants were asked to provide details in relation to the following: length of time served as a Reservist, Reservist status, periods of continuous full-time service, hours worked per week in the past month, weeks away in the past 5 years, and satisfaction with participation in the Reserves. Items in this section were derived from the Soldier Wellbeing Survey (Riviere, 2011; Thomas et al., 2010), the Health and Wellbeing Survey of Serving and Ex-Serving Personnel of the UK Armed Forces: Phase 2 (Fear et al., 2010) and the RAND Guard/Reserve Survey of Officer and Enlisted Personnel (Kirby, 1998). Other items were developed specifically by researchers for use in the study.

Civilian employment

Participants were asked a series of questions about the following in relation to their civilian role (if relevant): employer knowledge of Reservist role, employer attendance at Reservist events, employer support of military affiliation, impact of Reservist duties on civilian role, and a comparison of duties and responsibilities across Reservist and civilian roles. Items in this section were derived from the Soldier Wellbeing Survey (Riviere, 2011; Thomas et al., 2010), The Middle East Area of Operations (MEAO) Health Study: Prospective Study (Davy, 2012) and the ADF Exit Survey (Shirt, 2012). Information surrounding current employment activities and details of civilian employment was also collected as described in the previous section about Transitioned members.

Contribution to the ADF

Participants' perception of their contribution to the ADF was measured via single item – 'how important do you think your contribution is towards the ADF?' Anchors ranged from 'not at all important' to 'very important'. This item was taken from the RAND Guard/Reserve Survey of Officer and Enlisted Personnel (Kirby, 1998).

How the ADF deals with Reservists

Participants' perceptions of how well the ADF deals with, understands and accepts Reservists were assessed via 3 items measured on a 5-point scale ranging from 'very poor' to 'very good'.

Getting Help (Reservist specific)

This section of the survey was developed by researchers and looked at the following: mental health problems resulting from Reservist experience, help sought for these problems, help sought and received from ADF services/non-Defence organisations, benefits sought and received from DVA.

Part 2: Health and Wellbeing Survey

Part 2 of the survey was completed by all samples specific to the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study and included factors described in the following sections.

Deployments

In this section of the survey, participants were asked to provide detailed information about their deployment history with the ADF. Deployments were grouped into the following categories: warlike/active Service, non-warlike (peacekeeping) Service, humanitarian/disaster relief, Defence aid and border protection. For each applicable deployment listed, participants were asked to indicate which country they were deployed to, the name of the operation, the dates they were deployed, the number of times they were deployed, the total number of months deployed, and whether they were deployed in a combat capacity. Items in this section were adapted from the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011).

Deployment exposure

Participants were presented with a list of deployment exposures and asked to indicate how many times they had experienced each one during their military career. Response categories ranged from 'never' to '10+ times'. Examples of events included exposure to 'hazardous materials', 'discharge of weapon in direct combat', and 'handled or saw dead bodies'. Items in this section were drawn from the MEAO Census Study (Dobson et al., 2012).

Quality of life

This section of the survey was comprised of 3 items that assessed general health, satisfaction with health, and quality of life. General health was measured via the first item of the Short Form 36 Health Survey (SF36) (Ware, 1992) referred to as the Form 1 (SF1). The SF 1 is a single item that is increasingly being utilised in population studies as an indicator of overall health status. Items assessing general health and satisfaction with health were taken from the 2011 Australian Gulf War Veterans Health Study follow-up (Sim et al., 2015).

Depression

Self-reported depression was examined using the Patient Health Questionnaire - 9 (PHQ9)(Kroenke et al., 2001). The 9 items of the PHQ9 are scored from 0-3 and summed to give a total score between 0 and 27. The PHQ9 provides various levels of diagnostic severity with higher scores indicating higher levels of depression symptoms.

Generalised anxiety disorder

Generalised anxiety disorder was measured via the Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7 (GAD-7) (Spitzer, 2006). Each of the 7 items is scored from 1 to 3, providing a total generalised anxiety score ranging between 0 and 21. Participants were asked to rate each item in the GAD-7 in relation to last 2 weeks only.

Sleep problems

Self-perceived insomnia was examined via the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) (Bastien et al., 2001). The ISI comprises seven items assessing the severity of sleep-onset and sleep maintenance difficulties, satisfaction with current sleep pattern, interference with daily functioning, noticeability of impairment attributed to the sleep problem, and degree of distress or concern caused by the sleep problem.

Each item is rated on a 0–4 scale and the total score ranges from 0 to 28. A higher score suggests more severe insomnia.

General psychological distress

The Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) (Kessler et al., 2002) is a short 10-item screening questionnaire that yields a global measure of psychological distress based on symptoms of anxiety and depression experienced in the most recent 4 week period. Items are scored from 1 to 5 and are summed to give a total score between 10 and 50. Various methods have been used to stratify the scores of the K10. The categories of low (10–15), moderate (16–21), high (22–29) and very high (30–50) that are used in this report are derived from the cut-offs of the K10 that were used in the 2007 ABS Australian National Mental Health and Wellbeing Survey (Slade et al., 2009) and were used to identify levels of psychological distress in the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011).

Anger

The Dimensions of Anger Reactions Scale (DAR- 5) (Forbes et al., 2004) is a concise measure of anger. It consists of five items that address anger frequency, intensity, duration, aggression, and interference with social functioning. Items are scored on a 5-point Likert scale generating a severity score ranging from 5 to 25 with higher scores indicative of worse symptomatology. This scale has been used previously to assess Australian Vietnam veterans, as well as US Afghanistan and Iraq veterans, and shows strong unidimensionality, and high levels of internal consistency and criterion validity.

Physical violence

Items addressing participants' personal experiences with physical violence or threatened violence were taken from the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011).

Suicidal ideation and behaviour

12-month suicidal ideation and behaviour was assessed via four items that looked specifically at suicidal thoughts, plans and attempts. Three of the items in this section were adapted from the National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008) and the final item was devised by researchers for use in the current study.

Perceptions of mental health

Items addressing participants' perceptions of their current and future physical and mental health were developed by researchers for use in the study.

Lifetime exposure to traumatic events

Lifetime exposure to trauma was examined as part of the posttraumatic stress disorder module of the CIDI 3.0 (Haro et al., 2006). Participants were asked to indicate whether or not they had experienced the following traumatic events: combat (military or organised non-military group); being a peacekeeper in a war zone or a place of ongoing terror; being an unarmed civilian in a place of war, revolution, military coup or invasion; living as a civilian in a place of ongoing terror for political, ethnic, religious or other reasons; being a refugee; being kidnapped or held captive; being exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause serious harm; being in a life-threatening automobile accident; being in any other life-threatening accident; being in a major natural disaster; being in a man-made disaster; having a life-threatening illness; being beaten by a spouse or romantic partner; being badly beaten by anyone else; being mugged, held up, or threatened with a weapon; being raped; being sexually assaulted; being stalked; having someone close to you die; having a child with a life-threatening illness or injury; witnessing serious physical fights at home as a child; having someone close experience a traumatic event; witnessing someone badly injured or killed or unexpectedly seeing a dead body; accidentally injuring or killing someone; purposefully injuring, torturing or killing someone; seeing atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings; experiencing any other traumatic event. For each applicable event, participants were required to provide further information regarding the following: their age the first and last time the event took place, the number of times each event took place, and the number of times each event was related to their ADF service. Participants were then required to indicate which of the events they indicated 'yes' to was their worst event.

Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

The Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Checklist- civilian version (PCL-C) (Weathers, 1993) is a 17 item self-report measure designed to assess the symptomatic criteria of PTSD according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition (DSM-IV). The 17 questions of the PCL-C are scored from 1 to 5 and are summed to give a total symptom severity score of between 17 and 85. An additional 4 items from the newly released PCL-5 were also included, giving researchers flexibility to also measure PTSD symptoms according to the most recent definitional criteria.

Recent life events

Participants completed a modified, 15-item version of the List of Threatening Experiences (Brugha et al., 1985). This brief questionnaire is frequently used to assess recent stressful life events. Participants were asked to indicate 'yes' if the event had occurred in the last 12 months, and whether or not it was still having an effect on their life. Examples of events include 'your parent, child or spouse died', 'you had a major financial crisis' and 'you broke off a steady relationship'.

Alcohol use

Alcohol consumption and problem drinking was examined using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) (Saunders et al., 1993), a brief self-report screening instrument developed by the World Health Organization. This instrument consists of 10 questions to examine the quantity and frequency of alcohol consumption, possible symptoms of dependence, and reactions or problems related to alcohol. The AUDIT is an instrument that is widely used in epidemiological and clinical practice for defining at-risk patterns of drinking (Babor et al., 2001). Currently the recommended World Health Organization (WHO) risk categories are utilised with ADF populations and are also therefore the scoring categories utilised in this study. This process identifies four bands of risk: Band 1 (scores of 0-7) represents those who would benefit from alcohol education; Band 2 (8-15) represents those that are likely to require simple advice; Band 3 (scores of 16-19) are those where counselling and continued monitoring is recommended; Band 4 (Scores of 20-40) requires diagnostic evaluation and treatment, including counselling and monitoring (Babor et al., 1989; Babor et al., 2001).

Two additional supplementary items of the AUDIT were also included in the questionnaire as well as additional items on consumption to ensure comparability with the Australian National Health Survey 2011-2012 (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2012).
Tobacco use

Items assessing tobacco usage were taken from the 2013 National Drug Strategy Survey (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2011) and the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011). Participants were asked a series of questions about their past and present tobacco usage including frequency of use, the ages they started and stopped smoking daily, and the types of tobacco products they had smoked in the last year.

Drug use

12-month and lifetime Drug use in Transitioned ADF only was measured using modified Items from the 2013 National Drug Strategy Survey (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2011). Transitioned ADF were asked a series of questions about two categories of drugs; (1) illicit drugs (including meth/amphetamines, marijuana, heroin, methadone or buprenorphine, cocaine, hallucinogens, ecstasy, ketamine, GHB, inhalants, opiates, opioids) and (2) prescription drugs (including painkillers/analgesics, tranquilisers/sleeping pills) for non-medical purposes (where the term non-medical purposes was defined as either alone or with other drugs in order to induce or enhance a drug experience). Participants were asked if they had ever used these drugs in their lifetime or the last 12 months, and the age that they first used them.

Functioning

Functional impairment was assessed via the Sheehan Disability Scale (Sheehan, 1983), a 5-item self-report measure of disability due to mental health symptoms in three inter-related domains; work/school, social life and family life. The 3 items assessing impairment in the 3 domains are scored from 0 to 10 and can yield a total global functional impairment score of between 0 and 30.

Getting help

This section of the survey was developed by key study investigators with specific knowledge and experience within the field. Other items were taken from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (2008), the CIDI 3.0 (Haro et al., 2006) and the 2010 Mental Health Wellbeing Prevalence Study (McFarlane et al., 2011) and modified by investigators to suit the current research.

• Means of informing/assessing and maintaining mental health:

The first series of questions looked at specific help-seeking strategies utilised by participants to inform/assess and maintain their mental health in the last 12 months, and whether or not they found these strategies to be helpful. The 32 items looking at ways in which people informed/assessed their mental health were developed specifically for the study by researchers. The 4 items looking at the ways in which people maintained their mental health were taken from the CIDI 3.0 (Haro et al., 2006).

A single item asked participants to indicate their preferred means of receiving information about their mental health. Options included via telephone, the internet, or in person (face to face). This item was developed by researchers for use in the study.

• Barriers and stigmas to care

Participants were asked to rate the degree to which a list of 'concerns' might affect their decision to seek help on a 5-point scale. Anchors ranged from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'. Items in this section were taken from the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011), the Canadian Air Forces Recruit Mental Health Service Use Questionnaire (Fikretoglu et al., 2014), and the Solider Wellbeing Survey (Riviere, 2011; Thomas et al., 2010) with several additions by investigators. Examples of items include 'I wouldn't know where to get help', 'it's too expensive' and 'I don't trust mental health professionals'.

This section of the survey also included a question that tapped into unmet needs for help. This question targeted individuals who expressed concerns about their mental health but never sought help. Participants were presented with a list of 7 barriers and asked to indicate how much they disagreed with each one on a 5-point scale ranging from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'. Examples of statements include 'I can still function effectively' and 'I didn't know where to get help'.

Items addressing barriers to care in both of sets of questions listed above fell into the following categories:

- perceived control
- self-stigma
- public stigma
- perceived stigma
- mental health literacy
- physical barrier to care
- career barriers

• Concerns about mental health

Items addressing participants' concerns about their mental health were developed specifically for the study by investigators.

Assistance with mental health

Items addressing assistance sought for mental health were taken from the 2010 Mental Health Prevalence Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011).

• Help received/pathways into care

Participants were asked whether they had ever sought or received helped from the following list doctors or professionals for their own mental health in the past 12 months or outside of the past 12 months:

- general practitioner/medical officer
- psychologist
- psychiatrist
- other mental health professional

For each of the professionals listed above, participants were asked to indicate what services they received, whether they were satisfied with the services, and what compensation (if any) was received. These items were taken from the CIDI (Haro et al., 2006) and adapted for use in the current study.

Participants were also asked whether they had ever utilised the following services in the past 12 months or outside of the past 12 months:

- inpatient treatment, hospital admission
- hospital-based PTSD program
- residential alcohol and other drug program

For each of the treatments/programs listed above, participants were asked to indicate whether they were satisfied with the service, and how the service was paid for. These items were taken from the CIDI (Haro et al., 2006) and adapted for use in the current study.

• Satisfaction with mental health services received:

Participants were asked to rate their satisfaction/dissatisfaction with a series of factors associated with receiving mental health care/services. Items included accessibility, cost, location, effectiveness, health professional competence, health professional friendliness, convenience, confidentiality and Medicare cap. Participants were required to provide answers in relation to their experiences in the past 12 months only.

• Doctor diagnosed mental health conditions

This section of the survey asked participants about mental health problems or conditions that they had ever been diagnosed with or treated for by a medical doctor over their lifetime. If a participant said yes to any of the items listed, they were also asked to specify the year they were first diagnosed, whether they had been treated by a doctor for the condition in the past year, and finally whether they had taken medication for the condition in the past month. Items in this section were derived from the 2011 Australian Gulf War Veterans Health Study follow-up (Sim et al., 2015).

Undiagnosed mental health conditions

Participants were presented with a list of mental disorders and asked to indicate whether they currently had (or ever had) each disorder without having been diagnosed or treated for it. Conditions included alcohol abuse or dependence, drug abuse or dependency, stress or anxiety, depression, PTSD. This question was developed by researchers at CTSS to tap into undiagnosed mental conditions.

Help seeking latency

In order to assess help seeking latency, participants were asked to indicate when they first sought help for their own mental health. Options included 'within 3 months of becoming concerned' or 'within 1 year of becoming concerned'. Alternatively, participants were able to specify the number of years since becoming concerned. This item was developed by researchers for use in the study.

• Recommendation to seek help/assistance with seeking help

This section of the survey was comprised of two questions. The first item asked participants whether someone else suggested that they seek help for their mental health condition. The second item asked participants whether someone else practically assisted them in seeking care. Options included their GP, Medical Officer, partner, other family member, friend/colleague, or their supervisor/manager/Commander. These questions were developed by researchers for specific use in the study.

• Reasons for seeking care

Participants were asked to indicate what primary and secondary reason lead them to seeking care. Examples included 'anger', 'depression' and 'gambling'. These two questions were developed by researchers for specific use in the study.

Health professionals

In this section of the survey, participants were presented with an exhaustive list of health professionals and asked to indicate which of them they had consulted for their own health in the past 12 months. Participants were also asked to indicate how many times they had consulted a general practitioner and/or specialist doctor in the last 2 weeks. All items in this section were taken from the 2011 Australian Gulf War Veterans Health Study follow-up (Sim et al., 2015).

Family and children

This section of the survey was comprised of several scales looking at participants' relationships with their family and children:

- Family support and strain was assessed via items of relevance from an adapted version of the Schuster Social Support Scale (Schuster et al., 1990). Affective support was indicated by responses to questions about how often family made them feel cared for and how often family expressed interest in how they were doing. Negative interactions were indicated by responses to questions about how often family made too many demands on them, how often they criticised them and how often they created tensions or arguments with them. All items were answered on 4-point Likert-type scale ranging from 'often' to 'never'.
- Items assessing participants' relationship with their current partner, arguments with their current partner and abuse experienced by partner were taken from the Timor-Lest Family Study (McGuire et al., 2012).
- A single item looking at how often participants had contact with family members not living with them was taken from the 2014 Vietnam Veterans Family Study (Forrest et al., 2014).
- Items assessing the impact of military service on participants' relationships, employment, physical health, mental health and financial situation were also taken from the 2014 Vietnam Veterans Family Study (Forrest et al., 2014).
- 2 items assessing relationship satisfaction were taken from the Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey (Watson & Wooden, 2002).
 Participants were required to rate their relationship with their partner and their children on an 11-point Likert-type scale ranging from 'completely dissatisfied' to 'completely satisfied'.
- Items measuring conflict during childhood, parental mental health and parental substance abuse were taken from The Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (Gray, 2005).
- Global parental self-efficacy was assessed via a single item taken from the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (Gray, 2005). Participants were required to rate their competency as a parent on a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from 'not very good at being a parent' to 'a very good parent'.
- Parental warmth was measured using 6 items from the Child Rearing Questionnaire (Paterson & Sanson, 1999). These items were also utilised in the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (Gray, 2005). Participants were required to answer questions in this section thinking about their first-born child aged

between 4 and 17 who lived with them 50% or more of the time in the last 6 months. Participants were required to indicate how often each listed event took place on a 5-point Likert type scale ranging from 'never/almost never' to 'always/almost always'. Examples of events include 'how often did you hug or hold this child for no particular reason' and 'how often did you enjoy listening to this child and doing things with him/her'.

 Parental anger was measured using 5 items from the National Longitudinal Study of Children & Youth (Statistics Canada, 2003). Participants were required to indicate how often each listed event took place on a 5-point Likert type scale ranging from 'never/almost never' to 'all the time'. Examples of events include 'how often are you angry when you punish this child' and 'how often do you tell this child that he/she is not as good as the others'.

Friends and other social contacts

This section of the survey was comprised of several scales looking at participants' friends and social contacts:

- Social support and strain was assessed via items of relevance from an adapted version of the Schuster Social Support Scale (Schuster et al., 1990). Affective support was indicated by responses to questions about how often friends made them feel cared for and how often friends expressed interest in how they were doing. Negative interactions were indicated by responses to questions about how often friends made too many demands on them, how often they criticised them, and how often they created tensions or arguments with them. All items were answered on 4-point Likert-type scale ranging from 'often' to 'never'.
- A single item looking at how often participants had contact with friends not living with them was taken from the 2014 Vietnam Veterans Family Study conducted by the Department of Veterans Affairs (Forrest et al., 2014).
- A single item assessing how satisfied participants were with their friendships was taken from The Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey (Watson & Wooden, 2002). Participants were required to rate their relationship on an 11-point Likert-type scale ranging from 'completely dissatisfied' to 'completely satisfied'.
- Questions looking at how many Ex-Service Organisations participants belonged to and how these Ex-Service Organisations benefited them were taken from the 2011 Australian Gulf War Veterans Health Study follow-up (Sim et al., 2015).

Resilience

The Ohio State University Brief Resilience Scale (BRS) (Smith et al., 2008) was included to asses participants' ability to bounce back or recover from stress. Participants were

asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with 6 anchored statements. The BRS is scored by reverse coding items 2, 6, and 6 and finding the mean of the six items.

The final item in this section assessed global happiness via the Delighted-Terrible scale (Andrews & Crandall, 1976), one of the more common approaches to collecting subjective quality of life data.

Gambling

The Problem Gambling Severity Index (PGSI) (Stinchfield, 2007) is a widely used nine item scale for measuring the severity of gambling problems in the general population. Each item is scored from 0 to 3. The higher the total score, the greater the risk of problem gambling behaviour.

Driving

Items examining risky driving were sourced from the Australian Institute of Family Studies (Smart, 2005) and looked specifically at driving over the speed limit and driving while effected by alcohol. Participants were asked to consider the last 10 times they drove, and how many times in that period they engaged in risky driving behaviour.

Experience with the law

Participants were asked a series of questions about their experiences with the law including whether they had ever been arrested, whether they had ever been convicted of a crime in a court of law, and finally whether they had ever been sent to prison. For any that applied, participants were also asked to indicate whether the event occurred prior to entry into the ADF, prior to transition from the Regular ADF service, or since transition from Regular ADF service. Items in this section of the survey were sourced from the 2011 Australian Gulf War Veterans Health Study follow-up (Sim et al., 2015).

Internet usage

This section of the survey aimed to ascertain what role the internet played in improving the mental health and wellbeing of participants. Items looking at internet usage were taken from the Young and Well National Survey (Burns, 2013) and looked specifically at internet usage patterns, means of accessing the internet, the use of the internet for social support, the use of the internet for obtaining information relating to mental health, the use of the internet for managing mental health, barriers to using the internet for mental health and the efficacy of the internet in meeting needs.

Emerging technologies

The use of new and emerging technologies for health and wellbeing was assessed via a series of items developed by Young and Well Co-operative Research Centre (Burns, 2013; Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre, 2013). Questions looked at participants' current usage of new and emerging technologies, barriers to usage, types

of new and emerging technologies utilised, the use of new and emerging technologies for health and wellbeing improvement, reasons for using new and emerging technologies for health and wellbeing, other reasons for using new and emerging technologies, the types of new and emerging technologies participants would utilise if money was not a factor, and finally the early adoption of new technologies

Head injuries

This section of the survey was comprised of 2 scales. Firstly, a self-report version of the Ohio State University Traumatic Brain Injury Identification Method (OSU TBI-ID) (Corrigan & Bogner, 2007), which was adapted by researchers for specific use in the current programme. The OSU TBI-ID is a standardised measure designed to elicit an individual's lifetime history of traumatic brain injury (TBI). Questions focused on the types of head/neck injuries incurred, symptoms experienced (e.g. loss of consciousness, being dazed and confused, loss of memory) age the first and last time the symptoms occurred, frequency of symptoms, loss of consciousness related to a drug overdose or being choked, and finally the occurrence of multiple blows to the head in relation to a history of abuse, contact sports or ADF training/ deployment. Secondly, a modified version of the Post-concussion Syndrome Checklist (PCS)(Gouvier et al., 1992), which was utilised as part of the 2012 Middle East Area of Operations Health Study (Davy, 2012). This modified version of the scale required participants to indicate the degree to which they had experienced a list of 11 symptoms in the past 4 weeks as a result of an injury to their head or neck.

Physical exercise

In order to assess physical activity, participants were asked to complete the Short Last 7 Days Self-Administered version of The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ, 2002). Questions asked participants to indicate the number of days, the number of times, and the amount of time they spent doing vigorous, moderate and light physical activity in the last 7 days, as well as the amount of time they spent sedentary.

Pain

Items assessing pain intensity and disability were taken from the 2011 Australian Gulf War Veterans Health Study follow-up (Sim et al., 2015). Participants were asked to answer a series of questions on a scale of 1 to 10 about their current pain, worst pain and average pain in the last 6-month period. Participants were also asked to indicate how much their pain had interfered with their daily activities, their recreational/social activities, and their ability to work in the last 6 months.

Injuries

This section of the survey was developed by researchers for the current Programme and looked at injuries sustained during an individual's military career that required time off work. For each injury type, participants were asked to specify how many injuries were sustained during their military career, how many were sustained whilst on deployment and how many were sustained during training. Participants were also asked to indicate all the body sites where the injuries occurred.

Respiratory health

This section of the survey asked participants about any respiratory symptoms experienced in the last 12 months. Items were derived from the European Community Respiratory Health Survey 1 (Burney et al., 1994).Examples of symptoms that were assessed include wheezing or whistling, breathlessness, tightness in the chest, shortness of breath, coughing, phlegm, nasal allergies and asthma.

Physical health

Items assessing current physical health were taken from the 2011 Australian Gulf War Veterans Health Study follow-up (Sim et al., 2015). This 67-item adapted version of self-report symptom questionnaire included respiratory, cardiovascular, musculoskeletal, dermatological, gastrointestinal, genitourinary, neurological and cognitive symptoms. For every symptom experienced within the past month, participants were also required to provide an indication of symptom severity on a 3point Likert scale (mild, moderate, severe).

Doctor diagnosed medical conditions

This 44-item self-report questionnaire asked participants about medical problems or conditions they had been diagnosed with or treated for by a medical doctor over their lifetime. If a participant said yes to any of the items listed, they were also asked to specify the year they were first diagnosed, whether they had been treated by a doctor for the condition in the past year and finally whether they had taken medications for the condition in the past month. Items in this section were derived from the 2011 Australian Gulf War Veterans Health Study follow-up (Sim et al., 2015).

*For more detail surrounding the individual measures listed in the previous section including information about scoring, please refer to the relevant chapters within each commissioned report.

A.7.2 Phase 2: Diagnostic interview

In phase 2 of the research, a sub-sample of individuals was selected to participate in a one-hour telephone interview using CIDI (Kessler & Ustun, 2004).

The CIDI provided the research team with an assessment of mental disorders based on the definitions and criteria of two classification systems: The *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV) and the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10) (World Health Organization, 1994). The CIDI was selected because of its highly structured nature and its vast use in epidemiological studies worldwide, including the 2010 MHPWS conducted by CTSS and the 2007 NSMHW, conducted by the Australian Bureau of Statistics.

The CIDI was administered to consenting participants by a team of trained interviewers from the Hunter Research Foundation in Newcastle, NSW. Their diagnostic inter-rater reliability was closely monitored by supervisors based at the research centre throughout the study period.

12-month and lifetime ICD-10 mental disorders

The CIDI was used to assess the 12-month and lifetime ICD-10 rates for depressive episode, dysthymia, bipolar affective disorder, panic attack, panic disorder, agoraphobia, social phobia, specific phobia, GAD, obsessive-compulsive disorder, PTSD, adult separation disorder, harmful alcohol use and dependence, suicidal ideation and behaviour, and intermittent explosive disorder. Clinical calibration studies report that the CIDI has good validity (Haro et al., 2006). Throughout the report, ICD-10 prevalence rates have been presented with hierarchy rules applied to directly compare them with the Australian national rates (Slade et al., 2009). For all ICD-10 disorders, the standard CIDI algorithms were applied; therefore, to qualify for a 12-month diagnosis, individuals would be required to meet lifetime criteria initially and then have reported symptoms in the 12 months before the interview.

Lifetime trauma exposure

Lifetime exposure to trauma was examined as part of the PTSD module of the CIDI. The following criterion A events listed in the CIDI were examined: combat (military or organised non-military group); being a peacekeeper in a war zone or place of ongoing terror; being an unarmed civilian in a place of war, revolution, military coup or invasion; living as a civilian in a place of ongoing terror for political, ethnic, religious or other reasons; being a refugee; being kidnapped or held captive; being exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause serious harm; being in a life-threatening motor vehicle accident; being in any other life-threatening accident; being in a major natural disaster; being in a man-made disaster; having a life-threatening illness; being beaten by a parent or guardian as a child; being beaten by a spouse or romantic partner; being badly beaten by anyone else; being mugged, held up, or threatened with a weapon; being raped; being sexually assaulted; being stalked; having someone close to you die; having a child with a life-threatening illness or injury; witnessing serious physical fights at home as a child; having someone close experience a traumatic event; witnessing someone badly injured or killed or unexpectedly seeing a dead body; accidentally injuring or killing someone; purposefully injuring, torturing or killing someone; seeing atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings; experiencing any other traumatic event; and experiencing any other event that the participant did not want to talk about.

A.8 Stratification procedure

In phase 2 of the research, 1807 Transitioned ADF members were invited to participate in a one-hour telephone interview using the CIDI (Kessler & Ustun, 2004). In addition to two subgroups of Transitioned ADF in Sample 5 (Combat Zone) and Sample 6 (MHPWS), who were all eligible to complete a CIDI, CIDI invitations preferenced groups accounting for the smallest proportion of the actual population (for example, females) and those with high scores on the Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist (PCL) and AUDIT, to increase representativeness of the sample and optimise the ability to capture low prevalence mental disorders.

As such these participants were selected for a CIDI interview based on rank, sex, Service and scores on the PCL and AUDIT, with screening scores on the PCL and AUDIT categorised into the following three bands:

- Band 3 = PCL > 27, AUDIT > 9
- Band 2 = PCL 21–27, AUDIT 7–9
- Band 1 = PCL < =20, AUDIT < = 6

Using the method proposed by Salim & Welsh (2009), the stratification procedure aimed to oversample those respondents in Band 3 (greatest likelihood of disorder). A smaller proportion from bands 1 and 2 were also sampled, to control for the possibility of over-inflated mental disorder estimates. Transitioned ADF in samples 5 and 6 were also allocated a band, as can be seen in Table A.8, to ensure they were accounted for during sampling.

Based on the predicted proportions of Transitioned ADF survey responders who would score in each band on the PCL and AUDIT, according to the population characteristics of sex, rank and Service, the following stratification algorithm was used to generate lists of eligible CIDI participants from among Transitioned ADF survey completers who consented to complete a CIDI:

- Band 3
- Female Band 2
- Female Band 1
- Male Navy Band 2
- Male Navy Band 3
- Male Army Band 3
- Male Army Band 1
- Male RAAF Band 2

	Transitioned ADF CIDI									
	No B	and*	Bar	nd 1	Bar	nd 2	Band 3			
	Invited (n = 110)	Completed (n = 72)	Invited (n = 408)	Completed (n = 258)			Invited (n = 954)	Completed (n = 494)		
Navy										
Male	20	8	73	43	57	41	140	71		
Female	1	1	17	10	8	4	40	20		
Army										
Male	52	37	152	94	155	109	515	272		
Female	15	10	35	19	31	15	66	25		
Air Force										
Male	17	13	104	77	74	50	152	86		
Female	4	3	25	14	8	5	34	16		
Missing	1	-	2	1	2	1	7	4		

Table A.8 Stratification characteristics of Transitioned ADF CIDI sample

*Includes Combat Zone and MHPWS participants who were invited to participate but were not stratified

Table A.8 shows the final distribution of eligible Transitioned ADF across the strata used for selection into the CIDI, and the number who responded. Of the 1049 Transitioned ADF who completed a CIDI, 47.1% were in Band 3, 21.4% in Band 2 and 24.6% in Band 1. The final sample comprised 55.4% Army, 18.9% Navy and 25.2% Air Force, with the majority of respondents being male (85.9%). A total of 78 CIDI responders were missing band, sex or Service, and were excluded from the final weighted population.

A.9 Weighting

The statistical weighting process used in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study replicated that used in the MHPWS, and allowed for the inference of results for the Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF populations. The two types of weights used in the study were:

- the survey responder weights, which corrected for differential non-response on the survey for Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF
- two-phase CIDI responder weights, which compensated for differential nonresponse on the survey, and for oversampling or under-sampling of specific cases where participants went on to be interviewed with the CIDI. These weights apply to the Transitioned ADF only, and were used to generate 12-month and lifetime ICD-10 mental disorder prevalence estimates for the entire Transitioned ADF.

The weighting procedure involves the allocation of a representative value or 'weight' to the data for each responder, based on key variables that are known for the entire population (including both responders and non-responders). This weight indicates how

many individuals in the entire population are represented by each actual responder. Weighting data allows for inference of results for an entire population, in this case, the Transitioned ADF, by assigning a representative value to each 'actual' case (responder) in the data. If a case has a weight of 4, it means that case counts in the data as 4 identical cases. By using known characteristics about each individual within the population (in this case, age, sex, rank and medical fitness), the weight assigned to responders indicates how many 'like' individuals in the entire population (based on those characteristics), each responder represents.

Weighting is used to correct for differential non-response and to account for systematic biases that may be present in study responders (e.g., oversampling of high scorers for CIDI). Both types of weights were used in this study.

These two types of weights were combined to give each responder a single weight within the data. This methodology provides representative weights for the population, improving the accuracy of the estimated data, and requires that every individual within the population has actual data on the key variables that determine representativeness.

The Transitioned ADF weights were derived from the distinct strata of sex, Service, rank, and medical fitness, a dichotomous variable derived from Medical Employment Classification Status (see details of reclassification below). Constraints due to consent meant that MEC Status was missing for a number of participants. As Medical Fitness was a key weighting variable both in providing a proxy health status for each individual in the population and to enable comparisons with the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study, a data perturbation approach was taken to deal with the missing data (see section A.10 on perturbation approach). Once missing MEC Status was addressed, there remained 313 (1.2%) of the Transitioned ADF with missing information on the strata variables and therefore the final population was 24,932, with all weighted analyses of the Transitioned ADF summing to this.

The 2015 Regular ADF weights were derived from the distinct strata of sex, Service, rank, medical fitness, and whether the individual completed a study as part of MilHOP. The inclusion of this additional stratification variable was to account for the targeted sampling of the MilHOP cohort, who were then overrepresented within the current serving responders. A MilHOP flag variable (yes/no = 1/0) was therefore created and used in the weighting process in order to reduce this bias. There were 192 (0.4%) 2015 Regular ADF with missing information on the strata variables, reducing the final weighted population for analysis to 52,500. Tables B.14, B.15 and B.16 present the study population and responders within each strata used for weighting, and show approximately how many persons within each subpopulation each study responder represents.

A.9.1 Reclassification of MEC for study

MEC is an administrative system designed to monitor physical fitness and medical standards in the ADF, and is divided into the following four levels (either current or on discharge from the Regular ADF):

- MEC 1 members are medically fit for employment in a deployed or seagoing environment without restriction.
- MEC 2 members have medical conditions that require access to various levels of medical support or employment restrictions; however, they remain medically fit for duties in their occupation in a deployed or seagoing environment. In allocation of sub-classifications of MEC 2 access to the level of medical support will always take precedence over specified employment restrictions.
- MEC 3 members have medical conditions that make them medically unfit for duties in their occupation in a deployed or seagoing environment. The member so classified should be medically managed towards recovery and should be receiving active medical management with the intention of regaining MEC 1 or 2 within 12 months of allocation of MEC 3. After a maximum of 12 months their MEC is to be reviewed. If still medically unfit for military duties in any operational environment, they are to be downgraded to MEC 4 or, if appropriate, referred to a Medical Employment Classification Review Board (MECRB) for consideration of an extension to remain MEC 3.
- MEC 4 Members who are medically unfit for deployment or seagoing service in the long term. Members who are classified as MEC 4 for their military occupation will be subject to review and confirmation of their classification by a MECRB.

MEC status was collapsed to create a new variable 'Medical Fitness' which was utilised in the current Programme of research. Medical fitness was defined accordingly:

- Fit those who are categorised as fully employable and deployable, or deployable with restrictions. Participants are classified as fit if they fall into MEC 1 or MEC 2, or are assigned a perturbed MEC value of 'fit'.
- Unfit those who are not fit for deployment, original occupation and/or further service. 'Unfit' can include those who are undergoing rehabilitation, transitioning to alternative return-to-work arrangements or are in the process of being medically discharged from the ADF. Participants are classified as unfit if they fall into MEC 3 or MEC 4, or are assigned a perturbed MEC value of 'unfit'.

A.9.2 Estimates from survey

To maximise the actual real data available for analysis, *survey* weights were calculated for each section of the survey separately. This addressed the issue of differential response to various sections of the survey, whereby individuals potentially completed some but not all parts of the survey. A 'survey section responder' was defined as anyone who answered at least one question in that particular section of the survey. There was a total of 29 section responder weight variables. For the purpose of analysis, the weights used were always for the primary outcome variable of interest.

A.9.3 Estimates from CIDI

CIDI weights were derived for the Transitioned ADF based on strata including band (cut-offs based on PCL and AUDIT), sex and Service. These strata were used to weight the CIDI responses to the entire population. Within each stratum, the weight was calculated as the population size divided by the number of CIDI respondents for that stratum. As there was no band for non-respondents, the population size within each stratum was estimated by multiplying the known sex by service population total by the observed proportion belonging to the band of interest in the corresponding stratum. A finite population correction was also applied to adjust the variance estimates for the reasonably large sampling fraction in each stratum.

Post-stratification by the variables of sex, Service and rank was used to adjust the weights so that the estimates reproduced the known population totals, and to correct for differential non-response by rank.

A.10 Unit level perturbation of Medical Employment Classification values

A.10.1 Methodology

Due to the nature of the consent provided for individuals on the Study Roll, access to identified data for weighting purposes required the consent of the individual participants. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) carried out a perturbation approach that provided each non-consenting record with a releasable MEC value. Perturbation used the observed values of MEC for the non-consenters to give an appropriate value to each non-consenting record. This was achieved simply by fitting a model using releasable data items as predictors in a model of MEC using the non-consenters. The model used was a logistic regression model. This resulted in a set of probabilities of each record taking on MEC values. A Monte Carlo approach used these probabilities to randomly assign a synthetic MEC value to each record. These synthetic MEC values reflect each individual's characteristics. The generation was constrained so that aggregate totals remained consistent with totals of unperturbed values.

The perturbation approach allowed the unit records to better reflect the MEC status of individuals. This allowed researchers to use the unit records to undertake more accurate analyses and tabulations.

The unit record perturbation allowed for tabulation and analyses. The perturbed values did not assume a broad level of homogeneity within the combinations of variables as an aggregate weighting approach, but rather allowed the individual characteristic of each person to inform the perturbed value that they were assigned.

A.10.2 Results

The perturbation process was constrained at the source level. Tables A.9 and A.10 show that this was achieved, as the counts of 'fit', 'unfit' and 'missing' were the same for both the original and perturbed values.

The missing values were assumed to happen at random within the source file. This meant that a participant's original missing value could be given to any other participant, regardless of their gender, Service, rank or age. As such, the number of 'fit' and 'unfit' totals at these constraining levels for the perturbed data do not exactly line up with the original totals (see Table A.10 for totals by Service type).

Table A.9 Counts of categories by source

	Original MEC value			Perturbed MEC value		
Source	Fit	Unfit	Missing	Fit	Unfit	Missing
ABIN	138	7	0	138	7	0
CURR	891	196	2	891	196	2
TRAN	271	159	1	271	159	1

Table A.10	Counts of categories by service type
------------	--------------------------------------

	(Driginal MEC value	9	Р	erturbed MEC valu	le
Service	Fit	Unfit	Missing	Fit	Unfit	Missing
Navy	613	191	3	614	193	0
Army	254	63	0	255	60	2
Air Force	433	108	0	431	109	1

A.11 Contact strategy and recruitment methods

A.11.1 Promoting the study

Before the research team made initial direct contact, the following strategies were used to promote the study to participants.

Advertising via print media

The study team developed promotional posters, which were placed in Service newspapers, on DVA and Defence internet and intranet sites, on bases, at ESOs and on the University of Adelaide website.

Ministerial media release

On 11 June 2014, the Hon Michael Ronaldson, the then Minister for Veterans' Affairs, issued a media release launching the study to the wider community, disseminating information and generating interest among ADF members. The Executive Dean of the Faculty of Health Sciences, members of the Scientific Advisory Committee and members of the investigative team were all present. The launch and media release generated enquiries, which the CTSS research team responded to promptly and effectively, following strict protocol.

Targeted briefs to ADF leadership

Information sessions were held to brief Commanders and other key influencers in the broader Defence community about the importance of the research.

Letter to ex-service organisations

A letter introducing the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme and an accompanying fact sheet were sent to all relevant ESOs to disseminate information and generate support for the study.

Distribution of study briefing packs

Briefing packs containing study/promotional materials were distributed to ESOs as another means of promoting the study to the target population.

Social media strategy

A series of social media conversations, promotions and advertisements were rolled out via the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme's Facebook page (Facebook/aumilresearch) and Twitter account (@aumilresearch) throughout the study period. These accounts were managed by the CTSS research team. The primary objectives of the social media campaign were to raise awareness of the research Programme among 2015 Regular ADF and Ex-Serving ADF members, their families and their social networks; engage other advocates and key stakeholders; provide another

platform for participants to engage with the research team; and disseminate previous military research conducted by CTSS.

A.11.2 Development of the Military and Veteran Health Research Study Roll

Participants' contact details and demographic information were obtained via the creation of the Military and Veteran Health Research Study Roll (Study Roll), which was created by the AIHW, in collaboration with DVA and Defence. This process involved integrating contact information from:

- Defence's PMKeyS database
- DVA client databases
- the National Death Index (NDI)
- ComSuper's member database
- the MilHOP dataset.

To ensure the information was current and reflected the most recent posting cycles, a final PMKeys download was received immediately before the study began and integrated into the dataset.

This integrated dataset was only passed on to the research team after an opt-out process was conducted. This involved DVA and Defence contacting participants via their websites, email, hard copy letter, service newspapers and a media campaign, and providing them with detailed information about the Study Roll and its broader purpose. The contact information, basic service history and demographic information of individuals who did not opt out of this process within four weeks of the campaign commencing were then passed on to CTSS for the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme. Participants could still opt out of the Study Roll after the four-week campaign, via an opt-out website or email managed by Defence. This website was open for three months. Individuals who opted out of the Study Roll through this website were excluded from sampling.

To prevent the families of deceased Defence members being approached, the Study Roll was cross-checked against the NDI before the opt-out email was sent to individuals and again approximately four weeks before data collection began. All new deaths recorded by Defence were immediately communicated to the research team.

A.11.3 Self-selection procedure

Details of eligible Ex-Serving members who were not passed on to CTSS at the beginning of the study period, but who subsequently self-selected into the study were sent to AIHW for inclusion in the Study Roll. These members were sent an invitation package, following the standard study protocol. Participants Defence deemed ineligible were required to provide proof of their service to CTSS to participate. Reservists who

self-selected into the study were only included in the dataset if they appeared on the original Study Roll.

A.11.4 Sampling by data integrator

Before recruitment, AIHW created appropriate samples for the research Programme, including:

- all members who transitioned from full-time Regular ADF service between 2010 and 2014
- all ADF members who participated in the MilHOP, excluding members who indicated they did not wish to be contacted for further research
- a stratified random sample of 5,040 2015 Regular ADF members
- 22,638 currently serving Ab initio Reservists. Note: only Reservists with contact information were invited to participate (22,638).

The stratified random sample of 5,040 2015 Regular ADF members was drawn from the remainder of members not already listed as MilHOP participants. This sample did not include those who were deceased or who opted out of the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme.

Stratification was based on:

- Service (Navy, Army, Air Force)
- sex
- rank code (Officer/enlistee).

The contact information and demographics for each of the subpopulations listed above, with the exception of individuals who opted out of the Study Roll, were then passed on to CTSS researchers for recruitment and weighting purposes.

A.11.5 Phase 1: Distribution of self-report survey

Recruitment for the study was staggered across the entire data collection period. Online invitation packages were distributed to participants in batches. The first batch of invitation emails was rolled out to participants in June 2015. Each email contained a unique study ID number and token password, as well as a secure link to an online invitation package. This package contained the self-report survey and all associated study materials, including information sheets and consent forms. Invitation packs were uniquely tailored to participants' current serving status and eligibility criteria. Where email addresses were not available, or upon request, hard copy versions of the invitation package were posted to participants.

Follow-up of survey non-respondents

A multifaceted approach to following up survey non-respondents was used to maximise participation rates:

Reminder emails

Email reminders were sent to all non-responders two, four and six weeks after the invitation package was distributed, and one month before the survey was closed. Participants who preferred to complete a hard copy version of the survey were directed to call or email the study team. This was specified in all reminder email correspondence.

• SMS reminders

SMS reminders were sent to all non-responders concurrently to alert them to their emails. This included members who had not yet begun the survey, as well as individuals who had partially completed it.

• Targeted telephone follow-up

A selection of high-priority participants was targeted via a structured telephone follow-up process. These participants were members of the MHPWS CIDI cohort. It was important to maximise the response rate for this longitudinal cohort with existing data points, to enable mapping of the trajectory of disorder. Telephone follow-up was also extended to participants without email addresses, partial completers and other target groups with low response rates, to ensure representativeness. Specifically, this included:

- Transitioned ADF members with a landline phone number but no email address or mobile number
- Transitioned ADF members with a landline phone number and Defence email address only but no mobile phone number
- partial completers from all cohorts
- participants with bounced emails from sole non-Defence email addresses, with a landline phone number but no mobile number
- participants who nominated family members for Family Study but did not provide contact details for family
- all other Transitioned ADF members and Ab initio Reservists who had not begun the survey.

Trained research staff at CTSS made the phone calls following a structured script. The calls were made at a variety of times during the day and evening to maximise contact opportunities. A maximum of 10 attempts were made to speak to each participant twice. Where no contact was made, and a telephone message service was available, a reminder message was left on two of these 10 occasions only, along with the study free-call number and email address.

Hard copy letters

Hard copy invitation letters containing the study free-call number and email address as well as a link to the online survey were sent to:

- all Transitioned ADF non-responders
- all Ab initio Reservist non-responders
- all 2015 Regular ADF non-responders who did not participate in MilHOP.

A.11.6 Phase 2: Diagnostic interview

Selection

In Phase 2, a sub-group of Transitioned and Regular ADF members from eligible samples was targeted to participate in a 1-hour telephone interview using The World Mental Health Survey Initiative version of the WHO-CIDI 3.0. To be eligible for recruitment, potential interviewees must have completed the self-report measures, and have provided consent in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study consent form to being contacted to participate in a telephone interview. The following groups were targeted for phase 2:

- A stratified sample of ADF members who had transitioned out of full-time Service since 2010. Transitioned ADF survey responders were invited to complete a CIDI based on their scores on the PCL and AUDIT screening measures, and demographic characteristics were used to further preference participants to ensure the CIDI sample represented the entire cross-section of population characteristics as far as was possible.
- All MHPWS ADF members who were interviewed using the CIDI in 2010 This included individuals who met ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for either a 12-month ICD-10 affective, anxiety or alcohol disorder in 2010, as well as individuals who were sub-syndromal or who had no disorder.
- A sample of ADF members who participated in the MEAO Prospective Health Study between 2010 and 2012.

Recruitment

Recruitment calls were made by trained interviewers at the Hunter Research Foundation, who couldn't see the scores of participants on the self-report measures. Telephone calls were made at a variety of times during the day and evening, taking into account participants' preferences, so as to maximise contact opportunities.

To ensure that the most recent contact details were used, a download of current phone numbers was obtained from PMKeyS immediately before the study began and intermittently throughout the interview period.

Participants were contacted by telephone using contact details obtained through:

- participants providing contact details/alternative contact details either online or in hard copy as part of phase 1 of the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study.
- AIHW
- PMKeyS
- participants providing contact details and alternative contact details, either online or in hard copy, as part of MILHOP study.

The first telephone call was made using the primary phone number provided in the contact information sheet completed in phase 1. In the absence of this information, a phone number obtained from one of the sources listed above was used.

A maximum of 10 attempts were made to speak to the participant before that participant was removed from the pool. When no contact was made, a reminder message was left on two of the 10 occasions, along with the study's free-call number and email address.

Where telephone contact was made, research officers explained the aims, purpose and requirements of the interview, and if agreement was granted, an interview time was arranged.

Interview

At the beginning of each interview participants were reminded that participation was voluntary, they could stop the interview at any point, and could withdraw from the study at any time without any impact on their career or entitlements.

If the participant agreed to proceed with the interview, verbal consent was obtained and recorded. Following this, the highly structured interview was undertaken. At the end of the structured interview, participants were provided with sufficient time to debrief, ask questions, and provided interview related feedback. If at any time the participant indicated that they were feeling distressed or suicidal, interviewers implemented the relevant duty of care protocols.

A.12 Medicare and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme/Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme data linkage

As part of the broader research Programme, participants were also invited to fill out a consent form authorising the study access to complete Medicare, Pharmaceutical Benefit Scheme (PBS) and Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (RPBS) data. Data for each consenting participant was obtained for a five-year period before their scheduled interview date and included information about their medical visits, procedures, associated costs, and prescription medications filled at pharmacies. Consent forms for this component of the research were sent securely to the Department of Human Services who holds this information confidentially.

A.13 Statistical analysis

Analyses were conducted in Stata version 13.1 or SAS version 9.2. All analyses were conducted using weighted estimates of totals, means and proportions, except where specified otherwise. Standard errors were estimated using linearisation, except where specified otherwise.

Subgroup analyses were conducted on each of the 12-month ICD-10 mental disorders using demographic and deployment history predictors, including sex (male, female), age (18–27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57, 58+), 2015 Regular ADF service or service at transition (Navy, Army, Air Force), 2015 Regular ADF rank or rank on transition (Officer, Non-Commissioned Officer, Other Ranks), years of service in the Regular ADF (< 3 months, 3 months – 3.9 years, 4–7.9 years, 8–11.9 years, 12–15.9 years, 16–19.9 years, 20+ years), deployment status (ever deployed, never deployed). For members of the Transitioned ADF, specific transition factors were included: transition status (Ex-Serving, Inactive Reservist, Active Reservist), reason for discharge (medical discharge, other reason), years since transition (0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5) and DVA client status (DVA client, not a DVA client).

Comparisons between the prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorders among subgroups were analysed using weighted logistic regressions. All regressions involved variables for age, sex, Service and rank. Comparisons between the prevalence of 12-month ICD-10 disorder classes (affective disorders, anxiety disorders, alcohol disorders) among subgroups were analysed using a weighted multinomial logistic regression, with number of disorder classes as the outcome. The regression involved the co-variates

age, sex, Service and rank. Comparisons between the prevalence of self-reported suicidal behaviour among subgroups were analysed using weighted logistic regressions. All regressions included the co-variates age, sex, Service and rank.

For the self-report measures, the proportion (n (%)) of ADF members in each subgroup is presented. Comparisons between the mean total scores among subgroups were also analysed where appropriate, using weighted multiple linear regressions. All regressions included the co-variates age, sex, Service and rank. Comparisons between the prevalence of self-reported alcohol consumption and problems with drinking were analysed using weighted logistic regressions. A proportional odds model was considered for analysis. However, the main assumption of this approach was violated, so the ordinal response was dichotomised by means of several cut-offs. All regressions included the co-variates age, sex, Service and rank.

To compare the mental health and wellbeing of the 2015 Regular ADF with the 2010 Regular ADF, a direct numerical comparison was performed. This did not include standardisation or tests of statistical significance. As these two samples cannot be considered independent, between group differences should be interpreted with caution, noting that some members of the 2015 Regular ADF sample were also represented in the 2010 Regular ADF sample. The issue of individual change in symptoms and disorder over time in this group will be addressed in the future longitudinal report.

To compare estimates in the Transitioned ADF with the Australian Community, direct standardisation was applied to estimates in the 2014–15 NHS. The NHS data were restricted to those aged 18–71 (consistent with the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme transition population). The data were standardised by sex, employment status (employed or not) and age category (18–27, 28–37, 38–47, 48–57 and 58+). Standard errors for the NHS data were estimated using the replication weights provided in the NHS data file.

A.14 Ethical considerations

In order to combat potential risks and ensure that participation in the study was completely free from coercion, participants were made explicitly aware that their involvement in the study was voluntary and that they could decline to participate and/or were free to withdraw from the project at any time. This was emphasised in all study materials. Secondly, whether or not an individual chose to participate in the study was not communicated to senior staff in the ADF, nor were members asked directly to participate in the study by a uniformed Officer. This also ensured that recruitment was free from coercion. In order to manage potential risks to participants in relation to both phase 1 and phase 2 of the research, a duty of care protocol was established and strictly adhered to by the research team.

A.15 Ethical approvals

The study protocol was approved by the DVA Human Research Ethics Committee (E014/018), and was mutually recognised by the Directorate, Defence Health Research, and the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee. The study protocol was also submitted to Australian Institute of Health and Welfare Ethics Committee and received approval accordingly (EO 2015/1/163).

Annex B Detailed tables

B.1 Analytical tables

Table B.1 Estimated prevalence of lifetime and 12-month ICD-10 anxiety disorder in **Transitioned ADF using the ABS definition**

	Transitioned ADF (n = 24,932)					
ABS any anxiety disorder	Weighted n	%	95% CI			
Lifetime any anxiety disorder	10421	41.8	37.1,46.6			
12-month any anxiety disorder	7694	30.9	26.6, 35.5			

Note: To allow comparison with the ABS study, 'any anxiety disorder' was limited to the following six anxiety disorders: panic disorder, agoraphobia, social phobia, generalised anxiety disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder. The ABS definition replicates the categories used in the 2007 National Mental Health and Wellbeing Survey (Slade et al., 2007) and the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (McFarlane et al., 2011).

Note: 95%CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.2 Regression coefficients comparing mean DAR-5 anger in Transitioned vs 2015 **Regular ADF**

	Transitioned ADF vs 2015 Regular ADF							
	Coef*	SE	CI	Р				
Anger frequency	0.2	0.05	0.10 0.30	<0.001				
Anger intensity	0.29	0.05	0.19 0.39	<0.001				
Anger duration	0.31	0.05	0.22 0.41	<0.001				
Antagonism towards others	0.26	0.05	0.16 0.36	<0.001				
Social relations	1.47			<0.001				
DAR-5 Total	1.34	0.22	0.91 1.77	<0.001				

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank.

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.3 A comparison of DAR-5 anger in 2015 Regular ADF vs 2010 Regular ADF

	2015 Regular ADF vs 2010 Regular ADF						
	Mean difference	SE of difference	CI of difference				
Anger frequency	0.29	0.041	0.21, 0.37				
Anger intensity	0.22	0.040	0.14, 0.30				
Anger duration	0.2	0.040	0.12, 0.28				
Antagonism towards others	0.08	0.040	0.002, 0.16				
Social relations	1.27	0.040	1.19, 1.35				
DAR-5 Total	1.03	0.16	0.71, 1.35				

Note: 95%CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.4 Odds ratios comparing 12month suicidal ideation, plans and attempts in Transitioned ADF who were Ex-Serving, Inactive or Active Reservists

	Ex-Serving vs Inactive Reservists			E	Ex-Serving vs Active Reservists			Inactive vs Active Reservists				
	OR*	SE	CI	Р	OR*	SE	CI	Р	OR*	SE	CI	Р
Felt life not worth living	2.39	0.26	1.92, 2.96	<0.001	3.08	0.35	2.46 3.85	<0.001	1.29	0.16	1.00 1.66	0.046
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	2.39	0.29	1.88, 3.04	<0.001	3.12	0.44	2.37 4.10	<0.001	1.3	0.2	0.96 1.76	0.087
Made a suicide plan	3.11	0.6	2.13, 4.54	<0.001	5.77	1.34	3.66 9.10	<0.001	1.86	0.49	1.11 3.12	0.019
Attempted suicide	3.33	1.43	1.43, 7.75	0.005	31.43	19.49	9.32 106.04	<0.001	9.43	6.74	2.32 38.30	0.002
Any suicidality^	2.39	0.29	1.89, 3.04	<0.001	3.17	0.44	2.41 4.17	<0.001	1.32	0.2	0.98 1.79	0.068

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank. ^calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.5 Odds ratio comparing proportion of Transitioned ADF endorsing suicide question 1: felt life was not worth living for each year since transition (compared to 0: 1–11 months post transition)

	Transitioned ADF vs 2015 Regular ADF						
Time since Transition	OR*	Р					
0 years	REF	REF	REF	REF			
1 year	1.78	0.31	1.26, 2.51	0.001			
2 years	1.5	0.27	1.05,2.12	0.024			
3 years	2.03	0.35	1.44,2.85	<0.001			
4 years	1.67	0.31	1.16,2.39	0.005			
5 years	1.63	0.32	1.12,2.39	0.011			

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.6 Odds ratio comparing proportion of Transitioned ADF endorsing suicide question 2: felt so low thought about committing suicide for each year since transition (compared to 0: 1-11 months post transition)

	Transitioned ADF vs 2015 Regular ADF						
Time since Transition	OR*	SE	CI	Р			
0 years	REF	REF	REF	REF			
1 year	1.68	0.34	1.14 2.49	0.009			
2 years	1.53	0.31	1.03 2.28	0.036			
3 years	2.2	0.43	1.49 3.23	<0.001			
4 years	1.79	0.37	1.19 2.69	0.005			
5 years	1.75	0.38	1.14 2.68	0.011			

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank

Table B.7 Odds ratio comparing proportion of Transitioned ADF endorsing suicide question 3: made a suicide plan for each year since transition (compared to 0: 1–11 months post transition)

	Transitioned ADF vs 2015 Regular ADF						
Time since Transition	OR*	SE	CI	Р			
0 years	REF	REF	REF	REF			
1 year	1.62	0.41	0.99 2.66	0.055			
2 years	1.52	0.38	0.93 2.49	0.097			
3 years	1.98	0.49	1.22 3.20	0.006			
4 years	1.31	0.35	0.78 2.19	0.314			
5 years	1.58	0.47	0.89 2.82	0.12			

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.8Odds ratio comparing proportion of Transitioned ADF endorsing yes to suicide
questions 2, 3, 4 (any suicidality) for each year since transition (compared to 0:
1–11 months post transition)

	Transitioned ADF vs 2015 Regular ADF						
Time since Transition	OR*	SE	CI	Р			
0 years	REF	REF	REF	REF			
1 year	1.59	0.32	1.08 2.35	0.019			
2 years	1.44	0.29	0.97 2.14	0.068			
3 years	2.07	0.4	1.41 3.03	<0.001			
4 years	1.7	0.35	1.13 2.54	0.011			
5 years	1.64	0.36	1.07 2.51	0.022			

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.9Odds ratios comparing 12-month suicidal ideation, plans and attempts in
Transitioned ADF and 2015 Regular ADF

	Transitioned ADF vs 2015 Regular ADF						
	OR*	SE	CI	Р			
Felt life not worth living	2.38	0.35	1.79,3.18	<0.001			
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	2.51	0.46	1.76,3.59	<0.001			
Made a suicide plan	4.17	1.39	2.17,8.01	<0.001			
Attempted suicide	2.99	1.65	1.01,8.85	0.047			
Any suicidality^	2.52	0.45	1.77,3.59	<0.001			

* Adjusted for age, sex, service rank

^ Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.10 Odds ratios comparing 12-month, and lifetime drug use in transitioned ADF who were Ex-Serving, Inactive or Active Reservists

	Ex-Serving vs Inactive Reserves		Ex-Serving Rese	y vs Active erves	Inactive vs Active Reserves	
	OR*	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR*	95% CI
Lifetime illicit drug use	0.98	0.79, 1.22	1.58	1.25, 2.00	1.62	1.26, 2.07
12-month illicit drug use	1.17	0.84, 1.63	3.51	2.05, 6.02	2.99	1.71, 5.23
Lifetime prescription drugs for non-medical purposes	1.31	0.90, 1.90	3.70	2.28, 6.02	2.83	1.69, 4.74
12-month prescription drugs for non-medical purposes	1.74	1.04, 2.91	4.91	2.32, 10.37	2.82	1.26, 6.29

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank

Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.11 A comparison of 12-month suicidal ideation, plans and attempts in 2015 ADF and 2010 ADF

	2015 ADF v 2010 ADF					
	% Diff*	SE	CI			
Felt life not worth living	6.5	1.46	3.62, 9.34			
Felt so low thought about committing suicide	4.7	1.27	2.20, 7.15			
Made a suicide plan	0.7	0.58	-0.41, 1.85			
Attempted suicide	0.2	0.32	-0.46, 0.79			
Any suicidality ^A	4.8	1.43	2.03, 7.63			

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank.

^ Calculated as yes to either felt so low thought about committing suicide, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide Note: 95%CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.12 A Comparison of the proportion of Transitioned ADF versus 2015 ADF reporting each lifetime deployment exposure type

	Transitioned ADF	vs 2015 ADF (REF)
	Adj OR*	95% CI
Seriously fear you would encounter IED	1.21	0.96, 1.52
Go on combat patrols	1.41	1.11, 1.78
Concern about unauthorised discharge of weapon	1.25	1.01, 1.55
Clear/search buildings	1.52	1.18, 1.94
Come under fire	1.23	0.98, 1.54
In danger of being killed or injured	1.39	1.13, 1.72
Have casualties among people close to you	1.64	1.31, 2.05
Handle or see dead bodies	1.41	1.14, 1.73
Experience threatening situation unable to respond	1.71	1.31, 2.24
Witness human degradation	1.39	1.13, 1.70
Discharge weapon in direct combat	1.63	1.08, 2.47
Believe your action resulted in injury or death	1.88	1.40, 2.52
Exposed to smoke	1.15	0.92, 1.44
Exposed to fumes	1.17	0.93, 1.47
Exposed to chemicals	1.22	0.99, 1.50
Exposed to hazardous materials	1.3	1.02, 1.66
Exposed to local food or water	1.08	0.88, 1.32
Exposed to close loud noise	1.29	1.04, 1.61
Any deployment Exposure	1.61	1.09, 2.36

*Adjusted for age, sex, service, rank. Significant OR are highlighted in bold Note: 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table B.13	A comparison of the proportion of Transitioned ADF versus 2015 ADF reporting
	each lifetime trauma type

	Transitioned ADF vs 2015 ADF (ref	
	Adj OR*	95% CI
Combat (military or organised group)	1.58	1.21, 2.05
Peacekeeper (in a war zone or place of ongoing terror)	1.42	1.15, 1.77
Unarmed civilian (in a place or war, revolution, military coup or invasion)	1.02	0.52, 1.97
Lived as a civilian (in a place of ongoing terror for political, ethnic, religious or other reason)	1.39	1.02, 1.90
Refugee	1.31	0.58, 2.96
Kidnapped or held captive	2.03	1.27, 3.25
Exposed to a toxic chemical which could cause harm	1.47	1.16, 1.87
Life-threatening automobile accident	1.17	0.90, 1.53
Other life-threatening accident	1.53	1.11, 2.11
Major natural disaster	1.31	0.99, 1.71
Man-made disaster	1.91	1.34, 2.72
Life-threatening illness	1.75	1.43, 2.15
Beaten by spouse/romantic partner	1.8	1.27, 2.55
Badly beaten by anyone else	1.01	0.69, 1.47
Mugged, held up, threatened with a weapon	1.22	0.92, 1.62
Rape	1.25	0.71, 2.19
Sexual assault	1.29	0.91, 1.81
Stalked	1.95	1.56, 2.42
Some-one close died unexpectedly	1.2	0.97, 1.48
Child had life-threatening illness/injury	0.86	0.59, 1.25
Some-one close had traumatic experience	1.3	0.92, 1.84
Saw someone badly injured/killed or unexpectedly saw a dead body	1.45	1.16, 1.79
Accidently injured/killed someone	1.03	0.63, 1.70
Purposely injured/tortured/killed someone	2.4	1.19, 4.82
Saw atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings	1.5	1.07, 2.09
Other traumatic event.	1.32	0.95, 1.85
Any lifetime trauma	1.46	1.14, 1.88

*Adjusted for age, sex, service rank Significant OR are highlighted in **bold** Note: 95%CI: 95% confidence interval

B.2 Methodological interpretive tables

	2015 Regular ADF						
Strata Sex Rank Medical fitness Service	Population	Responder	%	No. of persons in population each responder represents			
MilHOP	ropulation	Roponuor	,,,	represente			
Female OFFR fit Navy	170	88	51.8	1.9			
Female OFFR fit Army	237	120	50.6	2.0			
Female OFFR fit Air Force	249	121	48.6	2.1			
Female OFFR unfit Navy	48	27	56.3	1.8			
Female OFFR unfit Army	75	39	52.0	1.9			
Female OFFR unfit Air Force	76	34	44.7	2.2			
Female NCO fit Navy	197	71	36.0	2.8			
Female NCO fit Army	245	99	40.4	2.5			
Female NCO fit Air Force	255	110	43.1	2.3			
Female NCO unfit Navy	65	23	35.4	2.8			
Female NCO unfit Army	117	49	41.9	2.4			
Female NCO unfit Air Force	100	37	37.0	2.7			
Female Other Rank fit Navy	41	12	29.3	3.4			
Female Other Rank fit Army	33	4	12.1	8.3			
Female Other Rank fit Air Force	51	18	35.3	2.8			
Female Other Rank unfit Navy	31	5	16.1	6.2			
Female Other Rank unfit Army	19	9	47.4	2.1			
Female Other Rank unfit Air Force	31	5	16.1	6.2			
Male OFFR fit Navy	902	418	46.3	2.2			
Male OFFR fit Army	1585	723	45.6	2.2			
Male OFFR fit Air Force	1428	596	41.7	2.4			
Male OFFR unfit Navy	81	54	66.7	1.5			
Male OFFR unfit Army	153	75	49.0	2.0			
Male OFFR unfit Air Force	117	58	49.6	2.0			
Male NCO fit Navy	1386	522	37.7	2.7			
Male NCO fit Army	2629	1037	39.4	2.6			
Male NCO fit Air Force	2153	789	36.6	2.7			
Male NCO unfit Navy	214	96	44.9	2.2			
Male NCO unfit Army	503	244	48.5	2.1			
Male NCO unfit Air Force	309	130	42.1	2.4			
Male Other Rank fit Navy	176	46	26.1	3.8			
Male Other Rank fit Army	433	57	13.2	7.6			
Male Other Rank fit Air Force	320	75	23.4	4.3			
Male Other Rank unfit Navy	39	11	28.2	3.5			
Male Other Rank unfit Army	105	25	23.8	4.2			
Male Other unfit Air Force	43	13	30.2	3.3			

Table B.14 Strata description MilHOP Regular ADF

		2015 Reg	gular ADF	
Strata Sex Rank Medical fitness Service	Population	Responder	%	No. of persons in population each responder represents
Non-MilHOP				
Female OFFR fit Navy	305	114	37.4	2.7
Female OFFR fit Army	374	112	29.9	3.3
Female OFFR fit Air Force	406	139	34.2	2.9
Female OFFR unfit Navy	66	23	34.8	2.9
Female OFFR unfit Army	87	31	35.6	2.8
Female OFFR unfit Air Force	70	28	40.0	2.5
Female NCO fit Navy	120	50	41.7	2.4
Female NCO fit Army	138	70	50.7	2.0
Female NCO fit Air Force	157	79	50.3	2.0
Female NCO unfit Navy	48	24	50.0	2.0
Female NCO unfit Army	50	32	64.0	1.6
Female NCO unfit Air Force	69	36	52.2	1.9
Female Other Rank fit Navy	256	39	15.2	6.6
Female Other Rank fit Army	271	33	12.2	8.2
Female Other Rank fit Air Force	226	58	25.7	3.9
Female Other Rank unfit Navy	59	14	23.7	4.2
Female Other Rank unfit Army	58	14	24.1	4.1
Female Other Rank unfit Air Force	55	20	36.4	2.8
Male OFFR fit Navy	1450	188	13.0	7.7
Male OFFR fit Army	2977	269	9.0	11.1
Male OFFR fit Air Force	2098	213	10.2	9.8
Male OFFR unfit Navy	95	11	11.6	8.6
Male OFFR unfit Army	238	31	13.0	7.7
Male OFFR unfit Air Force	157	26	16.6	6.0
Male NCO fit Navy	2257	149	6.6	15.1
Male NCO fit Army	3447	311	9.0	11.1
Male NCO fit Air Force	1866	268	14.4	7.0
Male NCO unfit Navy	334	23	6.9	14.5
Male NCO unfit Army	575	59	10.3	9.7
Male NCO unfit Air Force	257	28	10.9	9.2
Male Other Rank fit Navy	4451	28	0.6	159.0
Male Other Rank fit Army	10074	43	0.4	234.3
Male Other Rank fit Air Force	2659	47	1.8	56.6
Male Other Rank unfit Navy	491	4	0.8	122.8
Male Other Rank unfit Army	1375	14	1.0	98.2
Male Other unfit Air Force	268	12	4.5	22.3

Table B.15 Strata description mon-MiLHOP Regular ADF

	Transitioned ADF							
Strata Sex Rank Medical fitness Service	Population	Responder	%	No. of persons in population each responder represents				
Female OFFR fit Navy	122	32	26.2	3.8				
Female OFFR fit Army	224	68	30.4	3.3				
Female OFFR fit Air Force	133	41	30.8	3.2				
Female OFFR unfit Navy	63	21	33.3	3.0				
Female OFFR unfit Army	90	31	34.4	2.9				
Female OFFR unfit Air Force	59	25	42.4	2.4				
Female NCO fit Navy	198	49	24.7	4.0				
Female NCO fit Army	263	80	30.4	3.3				
Female NCO fit Air Force	188	56	29.8	3.4				
Female NCO unfit Navy	101	26	25.7	3.9				
Female NCO unfit Army	139	48	34.5	2.9				
Female NCO unfit Air Force	92	30	32.6	3.1				
Female Other Rank fit Navy	411	25	6.1	16.4				
Female Other Rank fit Army	421	34	8.1	12.4				
Female Other Rank fit Air Force	156	21	13.5	7.4				
Female Other Rank unfit Navy	226	34	15.0	6.6				
Female Other Rank unfit Army	270	40	14.8	6.8				
Female Other Rank unfit Air Force	105	19	18.1	5.5				
Male OFFR fit Navy	583	173	29.7	3.4				
Male OFFR fit Army	1409	401	28.5	3.5				
Male OFFR fit Air Force	772	253	32.8	3.1				
Male OFFR unfit Navy	124	47	37.9	2.6				
Male OFFR unfit Army	350	114	32.6	3.1				
Male OFFR unfit Air Force	134	53	39.6	2.5				
Male NCO fit Navy	1285	225	17.5	5.7				
Male NCO fit Army	2735	752	27.5	3.6				
Male NCO fit Air Force	1148	291	25.3	3.9				
Male NCO unfit Navy	343	92	26.8	3.7				
Male NCO unfit Army	1055	337	31.9	3.1				
Male NCO unfit Air Force	319	111	34.8	2.9				
Male Other Rank fit Navy	1697	88	5.2	19.3				
Male Other Rank fit Army	5639	327	5.8	17.2				
Male Other Rank fit Air Force	889	65	7.3	13.7				
Male Other Rank unfit Navy	518	51	9.8	10.2				
Male Other Rank unfit Army	2443	231	9.5	10.6				

Table B.16 Strata description Transitioned ADF

Table B.17	Weighting table

		Transitioned ADF (n=24,932)							
	Raw Results			Stage 1 Weighted			Stage 2 Weighted		
ICD-10 12 month disorder	Raw n	Raw %	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI	Weighted n	%	95% CI
Panic attack	155	16	13.7, 18.4	4031	16.1	13.9, 18.6	4244	17	13.8, 20.8
Panic disorder	53	5.5	4.1, 7.1	1368	5.5	4.2, 7.1	1344	5.4	3.6, 8.0
Agoraphobia	105	10.8	8.9, 12.9	2842	11.4	9.5, 13.6	2975	11.9	9.1, 15.5
Social phobia	83	8.6	6.9, 10.5	2167	8.7	7.0, 10.6	2738	11	8.4, 14.3
Specific phobia	97	10	8.2, 12.1	2499	10	8.3, 12.1	1936	7.8	5.8, 10.3
Generalised anxiety disorder	33	3.4	2.4, 4.7	855	3.4	2.4, 4.8	917	3.7	2.2, 6.0
Obsessive compulsive disorder	37	3.8	2.7, 5.2	922	3.7	2.7, 5.1	1029	4.1	2.6, 6.6
Posttraumatic stress disorder	170	17.5	15.2, 20.1	4483	17.9	15.6, 20.5	4408	17.7	14.5, 21.3
Any anxiety disorder	354	36.5	34.3, 38.6	9175	36.7	33.7, 39.8	9232	37.0	32.6, 41.7
Depressive episodes	108	11.1	9.2, 13.3	2812	11.2	9.4, 13.4	2783	11.2	8.6, 14.3
Dysthymia	43	4.4	3.2, 5.9	1143	4.6	3.4, 6.1	1140	4.6	3.1, 6.7
Bipolar affective disorder	60	6.2	4.8, 7.9	1599	6.4	5.0, 8.2	2443	9.8	7.0, 13.5
Any affective disorder	180	18.5	16.1, 21.1	4739	19	16.6, 21.6	5755	23.1	19.2, 27.5
Alcohol harmful use	32	3.3	2.3, 4.6	894	3.6	2.6, 5.0	948	3.8	2.3, 6.3
Alcohol dependence	50	5.2	3.9, 6.7	1399	5.6	4.3, 7.3	2271	9.1	6.4, 12.8
Any alcohol disorder	82	8.4	6.8, 10.4	2293	9.2	7.5, 11.2	3219	12.9	9.8, 16.9
Acronyms

ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
ADF	Australian Defence Force
AIFS	Australian Institute of Family Studies
AIHW	Australian Institute of Health and Welfare
AUDIT	Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test
BRS	Ohio State University Brief Resilience Scale
CI	Confidence interval
CRC	Cooperative Research Centre
CTSS	Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies
DAR-5	Dimensions of Anger Reactions Scale
DMAC	Data Management & Analysis Centre
DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders – 4th edition
DVA	Department of Veterans' Affairs
ESO	Ex-service organisation
GAD	Generalised anxiety disorder
GAD-7	Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7-item Scale
HILDA	Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia
HREC	Human Research Ethics Committee
HRF	Hunter Research Foundation
ICD-10	International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision
К10	Kessler Psychological Distress Scale
KCMHR	King's Centre for Military Health Research Academic Department of Military Mental Health
MEAO	Middle East Area of Operations

MEC	Medical Employment Classification
MECRB	Medical Employment Classification Review Board
MHPWS	Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study
Milhop	Military Health Outcomes Program
mTBI	Mild Traumatic Brain Injury
NCO	Non-Commissioned Officer
NDI	National Death Index
NHMRC	National Health and Medical Research Council
NHS	National Health Survey
OCD	Obsessive Compulsive Disorder
OFFR	commissioned officer
OR	Odds ratio
OR	Other Ranks
OSU TBI-ID	Ohio State University Traumatic Brain Injury Identification Method
OSU TBI-ID PBS	Ohio State University Traumatic Brain Injury Identification Method Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
PBS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
PBS PCL-C	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version
PBS PCL-C PCS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version Post-Concussion Syndrome Checklist
PBS PCL-C PCS PGSI	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version Post-Concussion Syndrome Checklist Problem Gambling Severity Index
PBS PCL-C PCS PGSI PHQ-9	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version Post-Concussion Syndrome Checklist Problem Gambling Severity Index Patient Health Questionnaire
PBS PCL-C PCS PGSI PHQ-9 PMKeyS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version Post-Concussion Syndrome Checklist Problem Gambling Severity Index Patient Health Questionnaire Personnel Management Key Solution
PBS PCL-C PCS PGSI PHQ-9 PMKeyS PTSD	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version Post-Concussion Syndrome Checklist Problem Gambling Severity Index Patient Health Questionnaire Personnel Management Key Solution Posttraumatic stress disorder
PBS PCL-C PCS PGSI PHQ-9 PMKeyS PTSD RPBS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version Post-Concussion Syndrome Checklist Problem Gambling Severity Index Patient Health Questionnaire Personnel Management Key Solution Posttraumatic stress disorder Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
PBS PCL-C PCS PGSI PHQ-9 PMKeyS PTSD RPBS SAC	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version Post-Concussion Syndrome Checklist Problem Gambling Severity Index Patient Health Questionnaire Personnel Management Key Solution Posttraumatic stress disorder Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme Scientific Advisory Committee

Glossary of terms

12-month prevalence - Meeting diagnostic criteria for a lifetime ICD-10 mental disorder and then having reported symptoms in the 12 months before the interview.

Affective disorders - Affective disorders is a class of mental health disorders. The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study examined three types of Affective Disorder: Depressive episodes, Dysthymia and Bipolar Affective Disorder. A key feature of these mental disorders is mood disturbance.

Agoraphobia - Marked fear or avoidance of situations such as crowds, public places, travelling alone, or travelling away from home, which is accompanied by palpitations, sweating, shaking, or dry mouth as well as other anxiety symptoms such as chest pain, choking sensations, dizziness, and sometimes feelings of unreality, fear of dying, losing control, or going mad.

Alcohol dependence - Characterised by an increased prioritisation of alcohol in a person's life. The defining feature of alcohol dependence is a strong, overwhelming desire to use alcohol despite experiencing a number of associated problems. A diagnosis was given if the person reported three or more of the following symptoms in the previous 12 months:

- a strong and irresistible urge to consume alcohol
- a tolerance to the effects of alcohol
- an inability to stop or reduce alcohol consumption
- withdrawal symptoms upon cessation or reduction of alcohol intake
- continuing to drink despite it causing emotional or physical problems
- reduction in important activities because of or in order to drink.

Alcohol harmful use - Diagnosis not only requires high levels of alcohol consumption, but that the alcohol use is damaging to the person's physical or mental health. Each participant was initially asked if they consumed 12 or more standard alcoholic drinks in a 12-month period. If so, they were then asked a series of questions about their level of consumption. A diagnosis of Alcohol Harmful Use was applied if the alcohol interfered with either work or other responsibilities; caused arguments with their family or friends; was consumed in a situation where the person could get hurt; resulted in being stopped or arrested by police; or if the participant continued to consume alcohol despite experiencing social or interpersonal problems as a consequence of their drinking during the previous 12-months. A person could not meet criteria for Alcohol Harmful Use if they met criteria for Alcohol Dependence.

Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) – Alcohol consumption and problem drinking was examined using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (Saunders et al., 1993), a brief self-report screening instrument developed by the World Health Organization. This instrument consists of 10 questions to examine the quantity and frequency of alcohol consumption, possible symptoms of dependence, and reactions or problems related to alcohol. The AUDIT is widely used in epidemiological and clinical practice for defining at-risk patterns of drinking.

Anxiety disorders – A class of mental health disorder. This class of disorder involves the experience of intense and debilitating anxiety. The anxiety disorders covered in the survey were panic attacks, panic disorder, social phobia, specific phobia, agoraphobia, generalised anxiety disorder, posttraumatic stress disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) – Australia's national statistical agency, providing trusted official statistics on a wide range of economic, social, population and environmental matters of importance to Australia. To enable comparison of estimates in the Transitioned ADF with an Australian Community population, direct standardisation was applied to estimates in the 20142015 ABS National Health Survey (NHS) data. The NHS is the most recent in a series of Australia-wide ABS health surveys, assessing various aspects of the health of Australians, including long-term health conditions, health risk factors and health service use.

Australian Defence Force (ADF) – The ADF, or Defence, is constituted under the *Defence Act 1903* (Cth). Its mission is to defend Australia and its national interests. In fulfilling this mission, Defence serves the government of the day and is accountable to the Commonwealth Parliament, which represents the Australian people to efficiently and effectively carry out the Government's defence policy. The current programme of research aims to examine the mental, physical and social health of serving and Ex-Serving Australian Defence Force (ADF) members, and their families. It builds upon previous research to inform effective and evidence based health service provision for contemporary service members and veterans.

Australian Institute of Family Studies (AIFS) – The Australian Government's key research body in the area of family wellbeing. AIFS conducts original research to increase understanding of Australian families and the issues that affect them. The current research was conducted by a consortium of Australia's leading research institutions led by the Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies at the University of Adelaide, and AIFS.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) – Australia's national agency for health and welfare statistics and information. It was used in this Programme to develop a Study Roll by integrating contact information from various sources and databases.

Bipolar affective disorder – A class of mental disorder associated with fluctuations of mood that are significantly disturbed. These fluctuations of mood are markedly elevated on some occasions (hypomania or mania) and can be markedly lowered on other occasions (Depressive Episodes). A diagnosis of Bipolar Affective Disorder was applied in this study if the individuals met criteria for mania or hypomania in the previous 12-months

Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies (CTSS) – This centre at the University of Adelaide seeks to improve evidence-based practice by informing and applying scientific knowledge in the field of trauma, mental disorder and wellbeing in at-risk populations. The Programme was conducted by a consortium of Australia's leading research institutions, led by the CTSS and the Australian Institute of Family Studies.

Chain of command – A line of authority and responsibility along which orders are passed within a military unit and between different units.

Class of mental disorder - Mental disorders are grouped into classes of disorder that share common features. Three classes of mental disorders were included in the survey. These were affective disorders, anxiety disorders and alcohol disorders.

Comorbidity – The occurrence of more than one disorder at the same time. Comorbidity was defined by grouping any alcohol disorders, any affective disorders, any anxiety disorders (excluding PTSD), and PTSD according to their co-occurrence. In addition to a breakdown of the individual patterns of co-occurrence, 5 categories were defined representing those with no mental health disorder, and those with 1, 2, 3 or 4 disorder categories.

Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI) - The World Mental Health Survey Initiative version of the World Health Organization's Composite International Diagnostic Interview, version 3 (WMH-CIDI 3.0)(Kessler & Ustun, 2004) provides an assessment of mental disorders based on the definitions and criteria of two classification systems: the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition (DSM-IV) and the World Health Organization International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision (ICD-10) (World Health Organization, 1994). This instrument was utilised in phase 2 of the current research Programme. **Confidence interval (CI)** – This measurement gives an estimated range of values that is likely to include an unknown population parameter: the estimated range being calculated from a given set of sample data.

Department of Veterans Affairs (DVA) – The Department delivers government programs for war veterans, and members of the ADF and the Australian Federal Police and their dependants. In 2014, DVA, in collaboration with the Department of Defence, commissioned the Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme, one of the largest and most comprehensive military research projects undertaken in Australia.

Deployment status – The Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study defined deployment status, based on survey responses, as:

- Never deployed: Individuals who did not endorse any deployments listed in the self-report survey (Your Military Career: Deployments) and did not endorse any deployment exposures (Your Military Career: Deployment Exposure)
- **Deployed:** Individuals who endorsed one or more of the listed deployments (Your Military Career: Deployments) or endorsed one or more of the deployment exposures (Your Military Career: Deployment Exposure).

Depressive episodes – Characteristic of a major depressive disorder, an episode requires that an individual has suffered from depressed mood lasting a minimum of two weeks, with associated symptoms or feelings of worthlessness, lack of appetite, difficulty with memory, reduction in energy, low self-esteem, concentration problems and suicidal thoughts. Depressive episodes can be mild, moderate or severe. All three are included under the same heading. Hierarchy rules were applied to depressive episodes, such that a person could not have met criteria for either a hypomanic or manic episode.

Diagnostic criteria – The survey was designed to estimate the prevalence of common mental health disorders defined according to clinical diagnostic criteria, as directed by the International Classification of Diseases 10th Revision (ICD-10). Diagnostic criteria for a disorder usually involve specification of:

- the nature, number and combination of symptoms
- the time period over which the symptoms have been continuously experienced
- the level of distress or impairment experienced
- the circumstances for exclusion of a diagnosis, such as it being due to a general medical condition or the symptoms being associated with another mental disorder.

Dimensions of Anger Reactions Scale (DAR-5) – A concise measure of anger consisting of five items that address anger frequency, intensity, duration, aggression and interference with social functioning. Items are scored on a five-point Likert scale, generating a severity score ranging from 5 to 25, with higher scores indicating worse symptomatology. This scale has been used previously to assess Australian Vietnam veterans, as well as US Afghanistan and Iraq veterans, and shows strong unidimensionality, and high levels of internal consistency and criterion validity.

DVA client – A term used when referring to DVA clients for the purpose of analyses.

In the construction of the DVA dataset for the study roll, DVA created an indicator of confidence against each veteran with respect to the level of interaction DVA had with each them for assessing how confident DVA was in the address accuracy. Each of the following groups were considered DVA client:

- High where a veteran is in receipt of a fortnightly payment (such as income support or compensation pension) from DVA it was a sign of regular ongoing contact with the client and therefore DVA would have a high-level of confidence that their address would be up to date and correct.
- Medium where a veteran only holds a treatment card (i.e., does not also have an ongoing payment) there is a lower level of ongoing contact with the Department and therefore the level of confidence that DVA can assign to the accuracy of the client's address is lower.
- Low not all veterans who have their illness/injury liability claim accepted as service related by DVA automatically receive a treatment card or pension payment, however they would still be considered DVA clients.

For the purposes of this report, any individual in the study population, who met the criteria above, was flagged as a 'DVA Client'. Those with this flag were compared against those without this flag.

Dysthymia – Characterised as a chronic or pervasive disturbance of mood lasting several years that is not sufficiently severe or in which the depressive episodes are not sufficiently prolonged to warrant a diagnosis of a recurrent depressive disorder. Hierarchy rules were applied to dysthymia such that in order to have this disorder, a person could not have met criteria for either a hypomanic or manic episode and could not have reported episodes of severe or moderate depression within the first two years of dysthymia.

Ex-service organisation (ESO) – Organisations that provide assistance to current and former ADF members. Services can include but are not necessarily limited to welfare support, help with DVA claims, and employment programs and social support.

Generalised anxiety disorder (GAD) – A generalised and persistent worry, anxiety or apprehension about everyday events and activities lasting a minimum of six months that is accompanied by anxiety symptoms as described in 'agoraphobia'. Other symptoms may include symptoms of tension, such as inability to relax and muscle tension, and other non-specific symptoms, such as irritability and difficulty in concentrating.

Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7-item Scale (GAD-7) – A brief seven-item screening measure based on the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders – Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV) criteria for generalised anxiety disorder. Originally validated for use in primary care, the GAD-7 performs well in detecting probable cases of the disorder, with a sensitivity of 89% and a specificity of 82%.

Gold Card – A DVA health card for all conditions. Gold Card holders are entitled to DVA funding for services for all clinically necessary healthcare needs and all health conditions, whether or not they are related to war service. The card holder may be a veteran or the widow/widower or dependant of a veteran. Only the person named on the card is covered.

Help-seeking latency – The delay in time between first becoming concerned about a health problem and first seeking help for that problem. To assess help-seeking latency in the study, participants were asked to indicate when they first sought help for their own mental health. Options included 'within three months of becoming concerned' or 'within one year of becoming concerned'. Alternatively, participants were able to specify the number of years since becoming concerned. This item was developed by researchers for use in the study.

Hypomanic episodes – Episodes that last at least four consecutive days and are considered abnormal to the individual. These episodes are characterised by increased activity, talkativeness, elevated mood, disrupted concentration, decreased need for sleep and disrupted judgment, manifesting as risk-taking (for example, mild spending sprees). In a subgroup of people, these disorders are particularly characterised by irritability. To meet criteria for the 'with hierarchy' version, the person cannot have met criteria for an episode of mania.

Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) – A short 10-item screening questionnaire that yields a global measure of psychological distress based on symptoms of anxiety and depression experienced in the most recent four-week period. Items are scored from 1 to 5 and are summed to give a total score between 10 and 50. Various methods

have been used to stratify the scores of the K10. The categories of low (10–15), moderate (16–21), high (22–29) and very high (30–50) that are used in this report are derived from the cut-offs of the K10 that were used in the 2007 Australian Bureau of Statistics National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing (Slade et al., 2009).

Lifetime prevalence – A prevalence that meets diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder at any point in the respondent's lifetime.

Lifetime trauma – Exposure questions used in this study were drawn from the posttraumatic stress disorder module of the CIDI (Haro et al., 2006). Participants were asked to indicate whether or not they had experienced the following traumatic events: combat (military or organised non-military group); being a peacekeeper in a war zone or a place of ongoing terror; being an unarmed civilian in a place of war, revolution, military coup or invasion; living as a civilian in a place of ongoing terror for political, ethnic, religious or other reasons; being a refugee; being kidnapped or held captive; being exposed to a toxic chemical that could cause serious harm; being in a lifethreatening automobile accident; being in any other life-threatening accident; being in a major natural disaster; being in a man-made disaster; having a life-threatening illness; being beaten by a spouse or romantic partner; being badly beaten by anyone else; being mugged, held up or threatened with a weapon; being raped; being sexually assaulted; being stalked; having someone close to you die; having a child with a lifethreatening illness or injury; witnessing serious physical fights at home as a child; having someone close experience a traumatic event; witnessing someone badly injured or killed or unexpectedly seeing a dead body; accidentally injuring or killing someone; purposefully injuring, torturing or killing someone; seeing atrocities or carnage such as mutilated bodies or mass killings; experiencing any other traumatic event.

Mania – Similar to hypomania but more severe in nature. Lasting slightly longer (a minimum of a week), these episodes often lead to severe interference with personal functioning. In addition to the symptoms outlined under 'hypomania', mania is often associated with feelings of grandiosity, marked sexual indiscretions and racing thoughts.

Medical Employment Classification (MEC) – An administrative process designed to monitor physical fitness and medical standards in the ADF. MEC was divided into four levels (either current or on discharge from Regular ADF service):

- **MEC 1:** Members who are medically fit for employment in a deployed or seagoing environment without restriction.
- **MEC 2:** Members with medical conditions that require access to various levels of medical support or employment restrictions. However, they remain medically fit for duty in their occupation in a deployed or seagoing environment. In allocating

sub-classifications of MEC 2, access to the level of medical support will always take precedence over specified employment restrictions.

- MEC 3: Members who are medically unfit for duty in their occupation in a deployed or seagoing environment. The member so classified should be medically managed towards recovery and should be receiving active medical management with the intention of regaining MEC 1 or 2 within 12 months of allocation of MEC 3. After a maximum of 12 months their MEC is to be reviewed. If still medically unfit for military duties in any operational environment, they are to be downgraded to MEC 4 or, if appropriate, referred to a Medical Employment Classification Review Board (MECRB) for consideration of an extension to remain MEC 3.
- **MEC 4**: Members who are medically unfit for deployment or seagoing service in the long term. Members who are classified as MEC 4 for their military occupation will be subject to review and confirmation of their classification by a MECRB.

Medical fitness – A status defined as:

- Fit: Those who are categorised as fully employable and deployable, or deployable with restrictions. Participants are classified as 'fit' if they fall into MEC 1 or 2 as described above, or are assigned a perturbed MEC value of 'fit'.
- Unfit: Those not fit for deployment, their original occupation and/or further service. This can include those undergoing rehabilitation or transitioning to alternative return to work arrangements or in the process of medically separating from the ADF. Participants were classified as 'unfit' if they fell into MEC 3 or 4 as described above OR were assigned a perturbed MEC value of Unfitu.

Medical discharge – The involuntary termination of the client's employment by the ADF on the grounds of permanent or at least long-term unfitness to serve, or unfitness for deployment to operational (warlike) service.

Mental health disorders – Defined according to the detailed diagnostic criteria within the World Health Organization International Classification of Diseases. This publication reports data for ICD-10 criteria.

Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study (MHPWS) – The 2010 study is part of the Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP), the first comprehensive investigation of the mental health of serving ADF members.

Middle East Area of Operations (MEAO) – Australia's military involvement in Afghanistan and Iraq is often referred to as the Middle East Area of Operations. Thousands of members have deployed to the MEAO since 2001, with many completing

multiple tours of duty. The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme will build upon the Military Health Outcomes Program, which detailed the prevalence of mental disorder in

Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP) – MilHOP detailed the prevalence of mental disorders among serving ADF members in 2010 as well as deployment-related health issues for those deployed to the Middle East Area of Operations. The Transition and Wellbeing Research Programme will address a number of gaps identified following MilHOP, including the mental health of Reservists, Ex-Serving members and ADF members in high-risk roles, as well as the trajectory of disorder and pathways to care for individuals previously identified with a mental disorder in 2010.

National Death Index (NDI) – A Commonwealth database that contains records of deaths registered in Australia since 1980. Data comes from the Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages in each jurisdiction, the National Coronial Information System and the Australian Bureau of Statistics. Before contacting participants, the Study Roll was cross-checked against the NDI to ensure we did not attempt to approach deceased members.

National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) – Australia's peak funding body for medical research. The NHMRC has funded previous investigations undertaken by the Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies.

National Health Survey (NHS) – The 2014–15 National Health Survey is the most recent in a series of Australia-wide ABS health surveys, assessing various aspects of the health of Australians, including long-term health conditions, health risk factors, and health service use.

Obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) – A disorder characterised by obsessional thoughts (ideas, images, impulses) or compulsive acts (ritualised behaviour). These thoughts and acts are often distressing and typically cannot be avoided, despite the sufferer recognising their ineffectiveness.

Optimal epidemiological cut-off – The value that brings the number of false positives (mistaken identifications of a disorder) and false negatives (missed identifications of a disorder) closest together, thereby counterbalancing these sources of error most accurately. Therefore, this cut-off would give the closest estimate to the true prevalence of a 30-day ICD-10 disorder as measured by the CIDI and should be used to monitor disorder trends.

Optimal screening cut-off – The value that maximises the sum of the sensitivity and specificity (the proportion of those with and without a disease who are correctly classified). This cut-off can be used to identify individuals who might need further care.

Panic attack – Sudden onset of extreme fear or anxiety, often accompanied by palpitations, chest pain, choking sensations, dizziness, and sometimes feelings of unreality, fear of dying, losing control or going mad.

Panic disorder – Recurrent panic attacks that are unpredictable in nature.

Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) – Self-reported depression was examined using the Patient Health Questionnaire - 9 (PHQ9). The 9 items of the PHQ9 are scored from 0-3 and summed to give a total score between 0 and 27. The PHQ9 provides various levels of diagnostic severity with higher scores indicating higher levels of depression symptoms.

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) – The PBS began as a limited scheme in 1948, offering free medicines for pensioners and a list of 139 'life-saving and disease-preventing' medicines free to other members of the community. Today, the PBS provides timely, reliable and affordable access to necessary medicines for all Australians. The PBS is part of the Australian Government's broader National Medicines Policy. Health Care Utilisation, Cost and Pharmaceutical Benefit Scheme data/ Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme data were obtained for consenting serving and Ex-Serving ADF members as part of the current programme of research.

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) – A stress reaction to an exceptionally threatening or traumatic event that would cause pervasive distress in almost anyone. Symptoms are categorised into three groups: re-experiencing memories or flashbacks, avoidance symptoms and either hyperarousal symptoms (increased arousal and sensitivity to cues) or inability to recall important parts of the experience.

The Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – civilian version (PCL-C) – A 17-item selfreport measure designed to assess the symptomatic criteria of PTSD according to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV). The 17 questions of the PCL-C are scored from 1 to 5 and are summed to give a total symptom severity score of between 17 and 85. An additional four items from the newly released PCL-5 were also included, giving researchers flexibility to also measure PTSD symptoms according to the most recent definitional criteria.

Personnel Management Key System (PMKeyS) – An integrated human resource management system that provides the ADF with a single source of personnel management information. PMKeyS manages information about the entire Defence workforce – Navy, Army, Air Force.

Prevalence of mental disorders – The proportion of people in a given population who meet diagnostic criteria for any mental disorder in a given time frame. (See also '12-month prevalence' and 'lifetime prevalence'.)

Probable mental disorder – Where probable rates of mental health disorder are presented, these are based on self-report epidemiological cut-offs.

Psychopathology – The scientific study of mental disorders.

Rank status – Three levels of rank were used in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study:

- Commissioned Officer (OFFR): Senior Commissioned Officers (Commander (CMDR), Lieutenant Colonel (LTCOL), Wing Commander (WGCDR) and above) and Commissioned Officers (Lieutenant Commander (LCDR), Major (MAJ), Squadron Leader (SQNLDR) and more junior ranks)
- Non-Commissioned Officer (NCO): Senior Non-Commissioned Officers (Petty Officer (PO), Sergeant (SGT) and more senior ranks), and Junior Non-Commissioned Officers (Leading Seaman (LS), Corporal (CPL) and more junior ranks)
- Other Ranks: Able Seaman (AB), Seaman (SMN), Private (PTE), Leading Aircraftman (LAC), Aircraftman (AC) or equivalent.

Reason for discharge – The reason for transitioning out of the ADF. In the Programme, the reason for discharge was derived from responses on the self-report survey, and classified accordingly:

- Medical discharge: Involuntary termination of the client's employment by the ADF on the grounds of permanent or at least long-term unfitness to serve, or unfitness for deployment to operational (war-like) service
- Other: All other types of discharge including compulsory age retirement, resignation at own request, assessed as unsuitable for further training, end of fixed-period engagement, end of initial enlistment period or return of service obligation, end of limited-tenure appointment, not offered re-engagement, accepted voluntary redundancy, compassionate grounds, and non-voluntary administrative discharge.

Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (RPBS) – The benefits listed in the RPBS can only be prescribed for Department of Veterans' Affairs beneficiaries who hold a Gold, White or Orange card. Health Care Utilisation, Cost and Pharmaceutical Benefit Scheme data/ Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme data were obtained for consenting serving and Ex-Serving ADF members as part of the current programme of research.

Service status – The ADF is comprised of:

- **Royal Australian Navy:** A maritime force that contributes to regional security, supports global interests, shapes the strategic environment and protects national interests
- Australian Army: The military land force, a potent, versatile and modern army that contributes to the security of Australia, protecting its interests and people
- Royal Australian Air Force: An air force that provides immediate and responsive military options across the spectrum of operations as part of a whole-ofgovernment joint or coalition response, either from Australia or deployment overseas. It does this through its key air power roles – control of the air; precision strikes; intelligence, surveillance and responses; and air mobility – enabled by combat and operational support.

Social phobia – The marked fear or avoidance of being the centre of attention or in situations where it is possible to behave in a humiliating or embarrassing way, accompanied by anxiety symptoms, as well as either blushing, fear of vomiting, or fear of defecation or micturition.

Specific phobia – The marked fear or avoidance of a specific object or situation such as animals, birds, insects, heights, thunder, flying, small enclosed spaces, sight of blood or injury, injections, dentists or hospitals, and accompanied by anxiety symptoms as described in 'agoraphobia'.

Stratification – Grouping outcomes by variables of interest. In Report 1, 12-month diagnosable mental disorder and self-reported suicidality were stratified by age, sex, rank, service, years of service in the Regular ADF, deployment status, transition status, years since transition, reason for transition and DVA client status.

Study Roll – Participants' contact details and demographic information were obtained via the creation of a study roll by the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. This process involved integrating contact information from the following sources:

- Defence Personnel Management Key Solution database
- DVA client databases
- National Death Index
- ComSuper member database
- Military Health Outcomes Program (MilHOP) dataset.

Suicidal ideation – Serious thoughts about taking one's own life.

Suicidality – Suicidal ideation (serious thoughts about taking one's own life), suicide plans and attempts.

Sub-syndromal disorder – Characterised by or exhibiting symptoms that are not severe enough for diagnosis as a clinically recognised syndrome.

Transitioned ADF/ADF members – ADF members who have left military service. For the purpose of the current study, this included all ADF members who transitioned from the Regular ADF between 2010 and 2014, including those who transitioned into the Active Reserve and Inactive Reserve.

Transitioned status – Transitioned ADF members were categorised into one of three groups, which broadly represented their level of continued association and contact with Defence and their potential access to support services provided by Defence:

- **Ex-serving:** A person who was a Regular ADF member before 2010, has since transitioned out of the ADF and is no longer engaged with Defence in a Reservist role. The individual is classified as discharged from Defence
- Inactive Reservist: A person who was a Regular ADF member before 2010, but has since transitioned into an Inactive Reservist role
- Active Reservist: A person who was a Regular ADF member before 2010, but has since transitioned into an Active Reservist role.

Two-phase design – A well-accepted epidemiological approach to investigating the prevalence of mental disorders. In the first phase, participants completed a screening questionnaire, which was generally economical in terms of time and resources. Based on the results of this screening and the demographic information provided, certain participants were selected for a more accurate but costly formal diagnostic interview.

Veterans' health cards – DVA, on behalf of the Australian Government, uses the health cards as a convenient method for veterans, war widows and their eligible dependants to access health and other care services. Arrangements are based on providing access to clinically appropriate treatment that is evidence-based. There are Gold, White and Orange health cards.

Weighting – Allowing for the inference of results for the entire population. Weighting involved allocating a representative value or 'weight' to the data for each responder, based on key variables. The weight indicated how many individuals in the entire population were represented by each responder. Weighting was applied to:

• correct for differential non-response

• adjust for any systematic biases in the responders (for example, oversampling of high scorers for the CIDI).

White Card – A DVA health card for specific conditions. A White Card entitles the holder to care and treatment for:

- injuries or conditions that are accepted as being caused by war or service-related
- malignant cancer, pulmonary tuberculosis, posttraumatic stress disorder, anxiety and/or depression, whether or not it was caused by war
- symptoms of unidentifiable conditions that arise within 15 years of service (other than peacetime service).

Services covered by a White Card are the same as those for a Gold Card, but must be for treatment of conditions that are accepted as being caused by war or service-related.

World Mental Health Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization Composite International Diagnostic Interview – version 3 (CIDI) – The CIDI (Kessler & Ustun, 2004) provides an assessment of mental disorders based on the definitions and criteria of two classification systems: the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV) and the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems – 10th Revision (ICD-10) (World Health Organization, 1994). This instrument was used in phase 2 of the Programme.

Years since transition – To ascertain the number of years since transition from Regular Service, participants were asked to indicate what year they transitioned to Active Reserves, Inactive Reserves or were discharged out of the Service (Ex-Serving). Options included: zero, one, two, three, four or five years.

Years of Regular Service – The following categories were used in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Transition Study to define the number of years of Regular Service: 3 months – 3.9 years, 4–7.9 years, 8–11.9 years, 12–15.9 years, 16–19.9 years and 20+ years.

References

- Adler, A. B., Britt, T. W., Castro, C. A., McGurk, D. & Bliese, P. D. (2011). Effect of transition home from combat on risk-taking and health-related behaviors. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 24 (4), 381–389.
- Adler, D. A., McLaughlin, T. J., Rogers, W. H., Chang, H., Lapitsky, L. & Lerner, D. (2006). Job performance deficits due to depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163 (9), 1569–1576.
- Ahern, J., Worthen, M., Masters, J., Lippman, S. A., Ozer, E. J. & Moos, R. (2015). The Challenges of Afghanistan and Iraq Veterans' Transition from Military to Civilian Life and Approaches to Reconnection. *PLOS One*, 10 (7), e0128599.
- Allen, N. J. & Meyer, J. P. (1990). The measurement and antecedents of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 63, 1–18.
- Altemus, M., Sarvaiya, N. & Epperson, C. N. (2014). Sex differences in anxiety and depression clinical perspectives. *Frontiers in neuroendocrinology*, 35 (3), 320– 330.
- Andrews , F. M. & Crandall, R. (1976). The validity of measures of self-reported wellbeing. *Social Indicators Research*, 3, 1–19.
- Angst, J., Cui, L., Swendsen, J., Rothen, S., Cravchik, A., Kessler, R. C. & Merikangas, K.
 R. (2010). Major depressive disorder with subthreshold bipolarity in the
 National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 167 (10), 1194–1201.
- Ashcroft, M. (2014). Veterans Transition Review, London, England.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2008). 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing: Summary of Results, Cat. no. 4326.0. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2010). Health and socioeconomic disadvantage. Available:

www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/Ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/5703A93771AE2E4ECA25 76E70016C8D3/\$File/41020_%20healthandseifa.pdf.

- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2011). *General Social Survey: Summary of Results,* Cat. no. 4159.0. Canberrra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2012). *Australian Health Survey: First Results, 2011–12,* Cat. no. 4364.0.55.001. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2015). *National Health Survey: First Results 2014–15*. Cat. no. 4364.0.55.001. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Australian Government Department of Defence. (2016). *Defence Annual Report 2015– 16.* Canberra: Department of Defence.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2011). 2010 National Drug Strategy Household Survey report. Canberra.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2013). 2013 National Drug Strategy Household Survey. Available: www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=60129548125.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2016). Incidence of suicide among serving and ex-serving Australian Defence Force personnel 2001–2014. Viewed 4 July 2017. Available: <www.aihw.gov.au/publication-detail/?id=60129557674>.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2017a). *Incidence of suicide among serving and ex-serving Australian Defence Force personnel 2001–2015* [Online]. Cat. no. PHE 213. Canberra: AIHW. Available: www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=60129559899.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2017b). National Drug Strategy Household Survey (NDSHS) 2016 key findings. Available: www.aihw.gov.au/alcohol-andother-drugs/data-sources/ndshs-2016/key-findings/.
- Australian Liberal Party. (2017). Strengthen mental health care in Australia [Online]. Available: https://www.dva.gov.au/health-and-wellbeing/mentalhealth/national-mental-health-commission-review.
- Babor, E., Fuente, J., Saunders, J. & Grant, M. (1989). The Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test: Guidelines for use in primary health care. Geneva: World Health Organization, Division of Mental Health.
- Babor, T. F., Higgins-Biddle, J., Saunders, J. B. & Monteiro, M. (2001). *The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): Guidelines for use in primary care.* Geneva: World Health Organization, Department of Mental Health and Substance Dependence.
- Barrett, E. L., Mills, K. L. & Teesson, M. (2013). Mental health correlates of anger in the general population: Findings from the 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 47, 470– 476.
- Bastien, C. H., Vallieres, A. & Morin, C. M. (2001). Validation of the Insomnia Severity Index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Medicine*, 2 (4), 297–307.
- Beautrais, A. L., Joyce, P. R., Mulder, R. T., Fergusson, D. M., Deavoll, B. J. & Nightingale, S. K. (1996). Prevalence and comorbidity of mental disorders in persons making serious suicide attempts: a case-control study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 153 (8), 1009–1014.

- Bentley, K. H., Franklin, J. C., Ribeiro, J. D., Kleiman, E. M., Fox, K. R. & Nock, M. K. (2016). Anxiety and its disorders as risk factors for suicidal thoughts and behaviors: a meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 43, 30–46.
- Bergman, B. P., Burdett, H. J. & Greenberg, N. (2014). Service Life and Beyond Institution or Culture? *The RUSI Journal*, 159 (5), 60–68.
- Boscarino, J. A., Kirchner, H. L., Hoffman, S. N., Sartorius, J. & Adams, R. E. (2011). PTSD and alcohol use after the World Trade Center attacks: a longitudinal study. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 24 (5), 515–525.
- Bowling, A. (2005). Mode of questionnaire administration can have serious effects on data quality. *Journal of Public Health*, 27 (3), 281–291.
- Bray, R. M., Pemberton, M. R., Lane, M. E., Hourani, L. L., Mattiko, M. J. & Babeu, L. A. (2010). Substance use and mental health trends among US military active duty personnel: key findings from the 2008 DoD Health Behavior Survey. *Military Medicine*, 175 (6), 390–399.
- Brenner, L. A. & Barnes, S. M. (2012). Facilitating treatment engagement during highrisk transition periods: a potential suicide prevention strategy. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102, S1–2.
- Brugha, T., Bebbington, P., Tennant, C. & Hurry, J. (1985). The List of Threatening Experiences: a subset of 12 life event categories with considerable long-term contextual threat. *Psychological Medicine*, 15 (1), 189–194.
- Bryant, R. A., Nickerson, A., Creamer, M., O'Donnell, M., Forbes, D., Galatzer-Levy, I., McFarlane, A. C. & Silove, D. (2015). Trajectory of post-traumatic stress following traumatic injury: 6-year follow-up. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 206 (5), 417–423.
- Buckman, J. E., Forbes, H. J., Clayton, T., Jones, M., Jones, N., Greenberg, N., Sundin, J., Hull, L., Wessely, S. & Fear, N. T. (2013). Early Service leavers: a study of the factors associated with premature separation from the UK Armed Forces and the mental health of those that leave early. *European Journal of Public Health*, 23 (3), 410–415.
- Burdett, H., Greenberg, N., Fear, N. T. & Jones, N. (2014). The mental health of military veterans in the UK. *International Psychiatry*, 11 (2), 88–89.
- Burdett, H., Woodhead, C., Iversen, A. C., Wessely, S., Dandeker, C. & Fear, N. T.
 (2013). 'Are You a Veteran?' Understanding of the Term 'Veteran' among UK Ex-Service Personnel: A Research Note. *Armed Forces & Society*, 39 (4), 751–759.
- Burney, P., Luczynska, C., Chinn, S. & Jarvis, D. (1994). The European Community Respiratory Health Survey. *European Respiratory Journal*, 7, 954–960.

- Burns, J. M., Davenport, T. A., Christensen, H., Luscombe, G. M., Mendoza, J. A., Bresnan, A., Blanchard, M. E., Hickie, I. B. (2013). Game On: Exploring the Impact of Technologies on Young Men's Mental Health and Wellbeing – Findings from the first Young and Well National Survey. Melbourne: Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre.
- Butterworth, P., Leach, L. S., McManus, S. & Stansfeld, S. A. (2013). Common mental disorders, unemployment and psychosocial job quality: is a poor job better than no job at all? *Psychological Medicine*, 43 (8), 1763–1772.
- Butterworth, P., Leach, L. S., Strazdins, L., Olesen, S. C., Rodgers, B. & Broom, D. H.
 (2011). The psychosocial quality of work determines whether employment has benefits for mental health: results from a longitudinal national household panel survey. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 68 (11), 806–812.
- Carvalho, A. F., Takwoingi, Y., Sales, P. M. G., Soczynska, J. K., Köhler, C. A., Freitas, T. H., Quevedo, J., Hyphantis, T. N., McIntyre, R. S. & Vieta, E. (2015). Screening for bipolar spectrum disorders: a comprehensive meta-analysis of accuracy studies. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 172, 337–346.
- Castro, C. A. & Kintzle, S. (2014). Suicides in the military: the post-modern combat veteran and the Hemingway effect. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 16 (8), 460.
- Chantarujikapong, S. I., Scherrer, J. F., Xian, H., Eisen, S. A., Lyons, M. J., Goldberg, J., Tsuang, M. & True, W. R. (2001). A twin study of generalized anxiety disorder symptoms, panic disorder symptoms and post-traumatic stress disorder in men. *Psychiatry Research*, 103 (2), 133–145.
- Chou, K.-L., Mackenzie, C. S., Liang, K. & Sareen, J. (2011). Three-Year Incidence and Predictors of First-Onset of DSM-IV Mood, Anxiety, and Substance Use Disorders in Older Adults: Results From Wave 2 of the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions [CME]. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 72 (2), 144–155.
- Clancy, C. P., Graybeal, A., Tompson, W. P., Badgett, K. S., Feldman, M. E., Calhoun, P. S., Erkanli, A., Hertzberg, M. A. & Beckham, J. C. (2006). Lifetime trauma exposure in veterans with military-related posttraumatic stress disorder: association with current symptomatology. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 67 (9), 1346–1353.
- Coll, J. E., Weiss, E. L. & Yarvis, J. S. (2011). No One Leaves Unchanged: Insights for Civilian Mental Health Care Professionals Into the Military Experience and Culture. Social Work in Health Care, 50 (7), 487–500.
- Commonwealth of Australia. (2013). *Veteran Mental Health Strategy: A ten year framwork – 2013-2023.* Canberra: Department of Veteran's Affairs.

- Commonwealth of Australia. (2017). Australian Government response to the National Mental Health Commission Review into the suicide and self-harm prevention services available to current and former serving ADF members and their families [Online]. Canberra: Department of Veteran's Affairs. Available: https://www.dva.gov.au/sites/default/files/files/health%20and%20wellbeing/ mental/govtresponse.pdf.
- Corrigan, J. D. & Bogner, J. A. (2007). Initial reliability and validity of the OSU TBI Identification Method. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 22 (6), 38–329.
- Crum-Cianflone, N. F., Powell, T. M., LeardMann, C. A., Russell, D. W. & Boyko, E. J. (2016). Mental Health and Comorbidities in U.S. Military Members. *Military Medicine*, 181 (6), 537–545.
- Crum, R. M., Mojtabai, R., Lazareck, S., Bolton, J. M., Robinson, J., Sareen, J., Green, K. M., Stuart, E. A., La Flair, L., Alvanzo, A. A. & Storr, C. L. (2013). A prospective assessment of reports of drinking to self-medicate mood symptoms with the incidence and persistence of alcohol dependence. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 70 (7), 718–726.
- Dao, J. & Frosch, D. (2010). Feeling warehoused in army trauma care units. *The New York Times,* April 24, 2010.
- Davis, T. A., Jovanovic, T., Norrholm, S. D., Glover, E. M., Swanson, M., Spann, S. & Bradley, B. (2013). Substance Use Attenuates Physiological Responses
 Associated With PTSD among Individuals with Co-Morbid PTSD and SUDs. Journal of Psychology & Psychotherapy, Suppl 7.
- Davy, C., Dobson, A., Lawrence-Wood, E., Lorimer, M., Moores, K., Lawrence, A., Horsley, K., Crockett, A., McFarlane, A. (2012). The Middle East Area of Operations (MEAO) Health Study: Prospective Study Report. Adelaide, Australia: University of Adelaide, Centre for Military and Veterans' Health.
- Dedert, E. A., Green, K. T., Calhoun, P. S., Yoash-Gantz, R., Taber, K. H., Mumford, M. M., Tupler, L. A., Morey, R. A., Marx, C. E., Weiner, R. D. & Beckham, J. C. (2009). Association of trauma exposure with psychiatric morbidity in military veterans who have served since September 11, 2001. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 43 (9), 830–836.
- Defence Health. (2017). Military Health Outcomes Program (MiLHOP). Available: www.defence.gov.au/health/home/milhop.asp.
- Defence Health Bulletin (15/03)-Please check date-EG. *Alcohol Use disorders Identification Test.* Defence Health Services, Department of Defence.
- Dekel, S., Solomon, Z., Horesh, D. & Ein-Dor, T. (2014). Posttraumatic stress disorder and depressive symptoms: joined or independent sequelae of trauma? *Journal* of Psychiatric Research, 54, 64–69.

- Del Gaizo, A. L., Elhai, J. D. & Weaver, T. L. (2011). Posttraumatic stress disorder, poor physical health and substance use behaviors in a national trauma-exposed sample. *Psychiatry Research*, 188 (3), 390–395.
- Dell'Aglio, J. C., Jr., Basso, L. A., Argimon, I.I. & Arteche, A. (2013). Systematic review of the prevalence of bipolar disorder and bipolar spectrum disorders in population-based studies. *Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy*, 35 (2), 99– 105.
- Demers, A. (2011). When veterans return: the role of community in reintegration. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 16, 160–179.
- Department of Veterans Affairs. (2016). *Annual Reports 2015–16* [Online]. Canberra: Department of Veterans Affairs. Available: https://www.dva.gov.au/sites/default/files/files/about%20dva/annual_report /2015-2016/annrep2015-16.pdf.
- Department of Veterans Affairs. (2017). DVA Health cards summary. Available: https://www.dva.gov.au/providers/dva-health-cards.
- Dobson, A., Treloar, S., Zheng, W., Anderson, R., Bredhauer, K., Kanesarajah, J., Loos,
 C., Passmore, K. & Waller, M. (2012). *The Middle East Area of Operations* (*MEAO*) *Health Study: Census Study Report.* Brisbane, Australia: The University of Queensland, Centre for Military and Veterans Health.
- Drancourt, N., Etain, B., Lajnef, M., Henry, C., Raust, A., Cochet, B., Mathieu, F., Gard, S., MBailara, K. & Zanouy, L. (2013). Duration of untreated bipolar disorder: missed opportunities on the long road to optimal treatment. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 127 (2), 136–144.
- Dunner, D. L. (2003). Clinical consequences of under-recognized bipolar spectrum disorder. *Bipolar Disorder*, 5 (6), 456–463.
- Dunt, D. R. (2009a). Independent study into suicide in the ex-service community [Online]. Victoria: Dunt Health Evaluation Services. Available: https://www.dva.gov.au/sites/default/files/files/consultation%20and%20gran ts/healthstudies/Dunt%20Suicide%20Study%20Jan%202009.pdf.
- Dunt, D. R. (2009b). *Review of mental health care in the ADF and transition through discharge.* Canberra: Department of Defence.
- Fear, N. T., Jones, M., Murphy, D., Hull, L., Iversen, A. C., Coker, B., Machell, L., Sundin, J., Woodhead, C., Jones, N., Greenberg, N., Landau, S., Dandeker, C., Rona, R. J., Hotopf, M. & Wessely, S. (2010). What are the consequences of deployment to Iraq and Afghanistan on the mental health of the UK armed forces? *Lancet*, 375, 1783–1797.
- Fear, N. T., Wood, D. & Wessley, S. (2009). Health and social outcomes and health service experiences of UK military veterans. UK: The King's Centre for Military Health Research.

- Fetzner, M. G., McMillan, K. A. & Asmundson, G. J. (2012). Similarities in specific physical health disorder prevalence among formerly deployed Canadian forces veterans with full and subsyndromal PTSD. *Depression and Anxiety*, 29 (11), 958–965.
- Fichter, M. M., Kohlboeck, G. & Quadflieg, N. (2008). The Upper Bavarian longitudinal community study 1975-2004. 2. Long-term course and outcome of depression. A controlled study. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 258 (8), 476–488.
- Fikretoglu, D., Blais, A.-R. & Lam, Q. (2014). Development and validation of a new Theory of Planned Behavior Questionnaire for mental health service use. *Manuscript under revision*.
- Forbes, D., Hawthorne, G., Elliott, P., McHugh, T., Biddle, D., Creamer, M. & Novaco, R.
 W. (2004). A concise measure of anger in combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 17 (3), 249–256.
- Forces in Mind Trust. (2013). *The transition mapping study: understanding the transition process for service personnel returning to civilian life.* London: Forces in Mind Trust.
- Forrest, W., Edwards , B. & Daraganova, G. (2014). *Vietnam Veterans Health Study. Volume 2, A Study of Health and Social Issues in Vietnam Veteran Sons and Daughters.* Melbourne: Australian Institute of Family Studies.
- Fuehrlein, B. S., Mota, N., Arias, A. J., Trevisan, L. A., Kachadourian, L. K., Krystal, J. H., Southwick, S. M. & Pietrzak, R. H. (2016). The burden of alcohol use disorders in US military veterans: results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. Addiction, 111 (10), 17861794.
- Fulton, J. J., Calhoun, P. S., Wagner, H., Schry, A. R., Hair, L. P., Feeling, N., Elbogen, E. & Beckham, J. C. (2015). The prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder in Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OEF/OIF) veterans: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 31, 98–107.
- Ghafoori, B., Neria, Y., Gameroff, M. J., Olfson, M., Lantigua, R., Shea, S. & Weissman, M. M. (2009). Screening for generalized anxiety disorder symptoms in the wake of terrorist attacks: a study in primary care. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 22 (3), 218–226.
- Giebel, C. M., Clarkson, P. & Challis, D. (2014). Demographic and clinical characteristics of UK military veterans attending a psychological therapies service. *Psychiatric Bulletin (2014),* 38 (6), 270–275.
- Gilbody, S., Richards, D., Brealey, S. & Hewitt, C. (2007). Screening for depression in medical settings with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ): a diagnostic meta-analysis. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22 (11), 1596–1602.
- Goes, F. S. (2016). Genetics of bipolar disorder: recent update and future directions. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 39 (1), 139–155.

- Gola, H., Engler, H., Sommershof, A., Adenauer, H., Kolassa, S., Schedlowski, M., Groettrup, M., Elbert, T. & Kolassa, I.-T. (2013). Posttraumatic stress disorder is associated with an enhanced spontaneous production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *BMC Psychiatry*, 13 (1), 40.
- Goldstein, B. I. & Levitt, A. J. (2007). Prevalence and correlates of bipolar I disorder among adults with primary youth-onset anxiety disorders. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 103 (1), 187–195.
- Golub, A. & Bennett, A. S. (2014). Substance use over the military-veteran life course: an analysis of a sample of OEF/OIF veterans returning to low-income predominately minority communities. *Addictive Behavavoirs*, 39 (2), 449–454.
- Goodwin, R. D., Lieb, R., Hoefler, M., Pfister, H., Bittner, A., Beesdo, K. & Wittchen, H.-U. (2004). Panic attack as a risk factor for severe psychopathology. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161 (12), 2207–2214.
- Gouvier, W. D., Cubic, B., Jones, G., Brantley, P. & Cutlip, Q. (1992). Postconcussion symptoms and daily stress in normal and head injured college populations. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 7, 193–211.
- Gray, M., & Sanson, A. (2005). Growing up in Australia: The Longitudinal Study of Australian Children. *Family Matters*, 72, 4–9.
- Haller, H., Cramer, H., Lauche, R., Gass, F. & Dobos, G. J. (2014). The prevalence and burden of subthreshold generalized anxiety disorder: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*, 14, 128.
- Haller, M., Angkaw, A. C., Hendricks, B. A. & Norman, S. B. (2016). Does reintegration stress contribute to suicidal ideation among returning veterans seeking PTSD treatment? *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 46 (2), 160–171.
- Haller, M. & Chassin, L. (2014). Risk pathways among traumatic stress, posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms, and alcohol and drug problems: A test of four hypotheses. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 28 (3), 841–851.
- Halpern, J., Maunder, R. G., Schwartz, B. & Gurevich, M. (2011). Identifying risk of emotional sequelae after critical incidents. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 28 (1), 51–56.
- Haro, J. M., Arbabzadeh-Bouchez, S., Brugha, T. S., De Girolamo, G., Guyer, M. E., Jin, R., Lepine, J. P., Mazzi, F., Reneses, B., Vilagut, G., Sampson, N. A. & Kessler, R. C. (2006). Concordance of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview Version 3.0 (CIDI 3.0) with standardized clinical assessments in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 15 (4), 167–180.
- Harvey, S. B., Hatch, S. L., Jones, M., Hull, L., Jones, N., Greenberg, N., Dandeker, C., Fear, N. T. & Wessely, S. (2011). Coming home: social functioning and the mental health of UK reservists on return from deployment to Iraq or Afghanistan. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 21 (9), 666–672.

- Hatch, S. L., Harvey, S. B., Dandeker, C., Burdett, H., Greenberg, N., Fear, N. T. & Wessely, S. (2013). Life in and after the Armed Forces: social networks and mental health in the UK military. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, 35 (7), 1045– 1064.
- Heinzelmann, M. & Gill, J. (2013). Epigenetic mechanisms shape the biological response to trauma and risk for PTSD: a critical review. *Nursing research and practice*, 2013.
- Hoggatt, K. J., Williams, E. C., Der-Martirosian, C., Yano, E. M. & Washington, D. L. (2015). National prevalence and correlates of alcohol misuse in women veterans. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 52, 10–16-Correct?-EG.
- Hourani, L., Bender, R. H., Weimer, B., Peeler, R., Bradshaw, M., Lane, M. & Larson, G. (2012). Longitudinal study of resilience and mental health in marines leaving military service. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 139 (2), 154–165.
- Hruska, B., Irish, L. A., Pacella, M. L., Sledjeski, E. M. & Delahanty, D. L. (2014). PTSD symptom severity and psychiatric comorbidity in recent motor vehicle accident victims: A latent class analysis. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 28 (7), 644–649.
- Interian, A., Kline, A., Callahan, L. & Losonczy, M. (2012). Readjustment stressors and early mental health treatment seeking by returning National Guard soldiers with PTSD. *Psychiatric Services*, 63 (9), 855–861.
- IOM (Institute of Medicine). (2013). Returning home from Iraq and Afghanistan: Assessment of readjustment needs of veterans, service members and their families. Washington DC: The National Academies Press.
- IPAQ. 2002. *The International Physical Activity Questionniare* [Online]. Accessed 8 November 2016.
- Available: www.ipaq.ki.se.
- Iversen, A., Dyson, C., Smith, N., Greenberg, N., Walwyn, R., Unwin, C., Hull, L., Hotopf, M., Dandeker, C., Ross, J. & Wessely, S. (2005a). 'Goodbye and good luck': the mental health needs and treatment experiences of British ex-service personnel. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 186, 480–486.
- Iversen, A., Nikolaou, V., Greenberg, N., Unwin, C., Hull, L., Hotopf, M., Dandeker, C., Ross, J. & Wessely, S. (2005b). What happens to British veterans when they leave the armed forces? *European Journal of Public Health*, 15 (2), 175–184.
- Iversen, A. C., Fear, N. T., Simonoff, E., Hull, L., Horn, O., Greenberg, N., Hotopf, M., Rona, R. & Wessely, S. (2007). Influence of childhood adversity on health among male UK military personnel. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 191 (6), 506– 511.

- Iversen, A. C., van Staden, L., Hughes, J. H., Browne, T., Hull, L., Hall, J., Greenberg, N., Rona, R. J., Hotopf, M., Wessely, S. & Fear, N. T. (2009). The prevalence of common mental disorders and PTSD in the UK military: Using data from a clinical interview-based study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 9.
- Jacobsen, L. K., Southwick, S. M. & Kosten, T. R. (2001). Substance use disorders in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder: a review of the literature. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158 (8), 1184–1190.
- Jakupcak, M., Conybeare, D., Phelps, L., Hunt, S., Holmes, H. A., Felker, B., Klevens, M. & McFall, M. E. (2007). Anger, hostility, and aggression among Iraq and Afghanistan war veterans reporting PTSD and subthreshold PTSD. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 20 (6), 945–954.
- Johnston, D. W., Shields, M. A. & Siminski, P. (2016). Long-term health effects of Vietnam-era military service: A quasi-experiment using Australian conscription lotteries. *Journal of health economics*, 45, 12–26.
- Jones, M., Sundin, J., Goodwin, L., Hull, L., Fear, N. T., Wessely, S. & Rona, R. J. (2013). What explains post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in UK service personnel: deployment or something else? *Psychological Medicine*, 43 (8), 1703–1712.
- Judd, L. L., Paulus, M., Wells, K. B. & Rapaport, M. (1996). Socioeconomic burden of subsyndromal depressive symptoms and major depression in a sample of the general population. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 153 (11), 1411–1417.
- Kapur, N., While, D., Blatchley, N., Bray, I. & Harrison, K. (2009). Suicide after leaving the UK armed forces a cohort study. *PLOS Med*, 6 (3), e26.
- Karam, E. G., Friedman, M. J., Hill, E. D., Kessler, R. C., McLaughlin, K. A., Petukhova, M., Sampson, L., Shahly, V., Angermeyer, M. C., Bromet, E. J., de Girolamo, G., de Graaf, R., Demyttenaere, K., Ferry, F., Florescu, S. E., Haro, J. M., He, Y., Karam, A. N., Kawakami, N., Kovess-Masfety, V., Medina-Mora, M. E., Browne, M. A., Posada-Villa, J. A., Shalev, A. Y., Stein, D. J., Viana, M. C., Zarkov, Z. & Koenen, K. C. (2014). Cumulative traumas and risk thresholds: 12-month PTSD in the World Mental Health (WMH) surveys. *Depression and Anxiety*, 31 (2), 130–142.
- Karsten, J., Nolen, W., Penninx , B. W. & Hartman, C. (2011). Subthreshold anxiety better defined by symptom self-report than by diagnostic interview. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 129 (1–3), 236–243.
- Karsten, J., Penninx, B. W., Verboom, C., Nolen, W. & Hartman, C. (2013). Course and risk factors of functional impairment in subthreshold depression and anxiety. *Depression and Anxiety*, 30 (4), 386–394.
- Kessler, R. C., Andrews, G., Colpe, L. J., Hiripi, E., Mroczek, D. K., Normand, S. L. T., Walters, E. E. & Zaslaversusky, A. M. (2002). Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in non-specific psychological distress. *Psychological Medicine*, 32 (6), 959–976.

- Kessler, R. C. & Ustun, T. B. (2004). The World Mental Health (WMH) Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization (WHO) Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI). *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 13 (2), 93–117.
- King's Centre for Military Health Research Academic Department of Military Mental Health. (2014). The mental health of the UK armed forces (summary). London: Kings College London.
- King's Centre for Military Health Research Academic Department of Military Mental Health. (2010). King's Centre for Military Health Research: A fifteen year report. London: Kings College London.
- Kirby, S. N., and Naftel, S. (1998). The Effect of Mobilization on Retention of Enlisted Reservists After Operation Desert Shield/Storm. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation.
- Kline, A., Ciccone, D. S., Falca-Dodson, M. & Losonsczy, M. (2011). Suicidal ideation among National Guard troops deployed to Iraq: The association with postdeployment readjustment problems. *Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease*, 199 (12), 914–920.
- Kornfield, S., Klaus, J., McKay, C., Helstrom, A. & Oslin, D. W. (2012). Subsyndromal posttraumatic stress disorder symptomatology in primary care military veterans: treatment and applications. *Psychological Services*, 9, 383–389.
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L. & Williams, J. B. (2001). The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 16 (9), 606–613.
- Krysinska, K. & Lester, D. (2010). Post-traumatic stress disorder and suicide risk: a systematic review. Archives of Suicide Research, 14 (1), 1–23.
- Kukla, M., Rattray, N. A. & Salyers, M. P. (2015). Mixed methods study examining work reintegration experiences from perspectives of Veterans with mental health disorders. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 52 (4), 477– 490.
- Langdon, K. J., Fox, A. B., King, L. A., King, D. W., Eisen, S. & Vogt, D. (2016). Examination of the dynamic interplay between posttraumatic stress symptoms and alcohol misuse among combat-exposed Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF)/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) Veterans. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 196, 234–242.
- Lawrence-Wood, E., McFarlane A., Searle A., van Hooff, M. & Davy, C. (2014). *Exploration of the association between inflammation and psychological distress in deployed Australian Defence Force personnel.* Paper presented at the Australasian Military Medicine Association annual conference, Sydney, Australia.

- Leach, L. S., Butterworth, P., Strazdins, L., Rodgers, B., Broom, D. H. & Olesen, S. C. (2010). The limitations of employment as a tool for social inclusion. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 621.
- LeardMann, C. A., Powell, T. M., Smith, T. C., Bell, M. R., Smith, B., Boyko, E. J., Hooper, T. I., Gackstetter, G. D., Ghamsary, M. & Hoge, C. W. (2013). Risk factors associated with suicide in current and former US military personnel. *JAMA*, 310 (5), 496–506.
- LeBouthillier, D. M., McMillan, K. A., Thibodeau, M. A. & Asmundson, G. J. (2015). Types and Number of Traumas Associated With Suicidal Ideation and Suicide Attempts in PTSD: Findings From a U.S. Nationally Representative Sample. *Journal of Traumatic Stress,* 28 (3), 183–190.
- Leeies, M., Pagura, J., Sareen, J. & Bolton, J. M. (2010). The use of alcohol and drugs to self-medicate symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Depression and Anxiety*, 27 (8), 731–736.
- Lish, J. D., Dime-Meenan, S., Whybrow, P. C., Price, R. A. & Hirschfeld, R. M. (1994). The National Depressive and Manic-depressive Association (DMDA) survey of bipolar members. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 31 (4), 281–294.
- Lohr, J. B., Palmer, B. W., Eidt, C. A., Aailaboyina, S., Mausbach, B. T., Wolkowitz, O. M., Thorp, S. R. & Jeste, D. V. (2015). Is Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Associated with Premature Senescence? A Review of the Literature. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23 (7), 709–725.
- MacLean, M. B., Van Til, L., Thompson, J. M., Sweet, J., Poirier, A., Sudom, K. & Pedlar, D. J. (2014). Postmilitary adjustment to civilian life: potential risks and protective factors. *Physical Therapy*, 94 (8), 1186–1195.
- Maercker, A., Brewin, C. R., Bryant, R. A., Cloitre, M., Reed, G. M., van Ommeren, M., Humayun, A., Jones, L. M., Kagee, A. & Llosa, A. E. (2013). Proposals for mental disorders specifically associated with stress in the International Classification of Diseases-11. *The Lancet*, 381 (9878), 1683.
- Manea, L., Gilbody, S. & McMillan, D. (2012). Optimal cut-off score for diagnosing depression with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9): a meta-analysis. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 184 (3), E191–6.
- Marangell, L. (2004). The importance of subsyndromal symptoms in bipolar disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 65 Suppl (10), 24–27.
- Marmar, C. R., Schlenger, W., Henn-Haase, C., Qian, M., Purchia, E., Li, M., Corry, N., Williams, C. S., Ho, C. L., Horesh, D., Karstoft, K. I., Shalev, A. & Kulka, R. A. (2015). Course of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder 40 Years After the Vietnam War: Findings From the National Vietnam Veterans Longitudinal Study. JAMA Psychiatry.

- Marshall-Berenz, E. C., Vujanovic, A. A. & Zvolensky, M. J. (2011). Main and interactive effects of a nonclinical panic attack history and distress tolerance in relation to PTSD symptom severity. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 25 (2), 185–191.
- Marshall, R. D., Olfson, M., Hellman, F., Blanco, C., Guardino, M. & Struening, E. L. (2001). Comorbidity, Impairment, and Suicidality in Subthreshold PTSD. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158 (9), 1467–1473.
- McEwen, B. S. (2003). Mood disorders and allostatic load. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54 (3), 200–207.
- McFarlane, A. C. (2010). The long-term costs of traumatic stress: intertwined physical and psychological consequences. *World Psychiatry*, 9 (1), 3–10.
- McFarlane, A. C. (2014). PTSD and DSM-5: unintended consequences of change. *Lancet Psychiatry*, 1 (4), 246–247.
- McFarlane, A. C. (2017). Post-traumatic stress disorder is a systemic illness, not a mental disorder: is Cartesian dualism dead? *Medical Journal of Australia*, 206 (6), 248–249.
- McFarlane, A. C. & Bryant, R. (2013). *Predicted trajectories of morbidity for the Australian Defence Force*: Centre for Traumatic Stress Studies.
- McFarlane, A. C., Hodson, S., Van Hooff, M. & Davies, C. (2011). *Mental health in the Australian Defence Force: 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Study: Full Report.* Department of Defence: Canberra.
- McFarlane, A. C., Lawrence-Wood, E., Van Hooff, M., Malhi, G. S. & Yehuda, R. (2017). The Need to Take a Staging Approach to the Biological Mechanisms of PTSD and its Treatment. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 19 (2), 10.
- McGorry, P., Keshavan, M., Goldstone, S., Amminger, P., Allott, K., Berk, M., Lavoie, S., Pantelis, C., Yung, A. & Wood, S. (2014). Biomarkers and clinical staging in psychiatry. *World Psychiatry*, 13 (3), 211–223.
- McGorry, P. & Nelson, B. (2016). Why We Need a Transdiagnostic Staging Approach to Emerging Psychopathology, Early Diagnosis, and Treatment. JAMA Psychiatry, 73 (3), 191–192.
- McGorry, P. D., Hickie, I. B., Yung, A. R., Pantelis, C. & Jackson, H. J. (2006). Clinical staging of psychiatric disorders: a heuristic framework for choosing earlier, safer and more effective interventions. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40 (8), 616–622.
- McGuire, A., Runge, C., Cosgrove, L., Bredhauer, K., Anderson, R., Waller, M., Kanesarajah, J., Dobson, A. & Nasveld, P. (2012). Timor-Leste family study 2012: technical report. University of Queensland, Centre for Military and Veterans' Health

- McLay, R. N., Ram, V., Webb-Murphy, J., Baird, A., Hickey, A. & Johnston, S. (2014). Apparent comorbidity of bipolar disorder in a population with combat-related post-traumatic stress disorder. *Military Medicine*, 179 (2), 157.
- Meffert, S. M., Henn-Haase, C., Metzler, T. J., Qian, M., Best, S., Hirschfeld, A., McCaslin, S., Inslicht, S., Neylan, T. C. & Marmar, C. R. (2014). Prospective study of police officer spouse/partners: a new pathway to secondary trauma and relationship violence? *PLOS One*, 9 (7), e100663.
- Mitchell, P., Johnston, A. K., Frankland, A., Slade, T., Green, M., Roberts, G., Wright, A., Corry, J. & Hadzi-Pavlovic, D. (2013). Bipolar disorder in a national survey using the World Mental Health Version of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview: the impact of differing diagnostic algorithms. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 127 (5), 381–393.
- Moffitt, T. E., Harrington, H., Caspi, A., Kim-Cohen, J., Goldberg, D., Gregory, A. M. & Poulton, R. (2007). Depression and generalized anxiety disorder: cumulative and sequential comorbidity in a birth cohort followed prospectively to age 32 years. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64 (6), 651–660.
- Morina, N., Ajdukovic, D., Bogic, M., Franciskovic, T., Kucukalic, A., Lecic-Toseversuski, D., Morina, L., Popoversuski, M. & Priebe, S. (2013). Co-occurrence of major depressive episode and posttraumatic stress disorder among survivors of war: how is it different from either condition alone? *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 74 (3), e212–8.
- Mota, N., Tsai, J., Kirwin, P. D., Harpaz-Rotem, I., Krystal, J. H., Southwick, S. M. & Pietrzak, R. H. (2016). Late-life exacerbation of PTSD symptoms in US veterans: results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 77 (3), 348–354.
- National Mental Health Commisson. (2017). Review into the Suicide and Self-Harm Prevention Services Available to current and former serving ADF members and their families. Available: https://www.dva.gov.au/health-andwellbeing/mental-health/national-mental-health-commission-review.
- O'Donnell, M. (2013). Explanation of delayed-onset posttraumatic stress disorder after severe injury. *Psychological Medicine*, 75, 68–75.
- O'Toole, B. I. & Catts, S. V. (2017). The Course and Correlates of Combat-Related PTSD in Australian Vietnam Veterans in the Three Decades After the War. *Journal of Traumatic Stress,* 30 (1), 27–35.
- O'Donnell, M., Dell, L., Fletcher, S., Couineau, A. & Forbes, D. (2014). *The Australian Defence Force Mental Health Screening Continuum Framework: Full Report.* Canberra: Department of Defence.
- O'Donovan, A., Cohen, B. E., Seal, K. H., Bertenthal, D., Margaretten, M., Nishimi, K. & Neylan, T. C. (2015). Elevated risk for autoimmune disorders in Iraq and Afghanistan veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 77 (4), 365–374.

- Pacella, M. L., Hruska, B. & Delahanty, D. L. (2013). The physical health consequences of PTSD and PTSD symptoms: a meta-analytic review. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 27 (1), 33–46.
- Panagioti, M., Gooding, P. A. & Tarrier, N. (2012). A meta-analysis of the association between posttraumatic stress disorder and suicidality: the role of comorbid depression. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 53 (7), 915–930.
- Paterson, G. & Sanson, A. (1999). The Association of Behavioural Adjustment to Temperament, Parenting and Family Characteristics among 5-Year-Old Children. Social Development, 8 (3), 293–309.
- Pease, J. L., Billera, M. & Gerard, G. (2016). Military Culture and the Transition to Civilian Life: Suicide Risk and Other Considerations. *Social Work*, 61 (1), 83–86.
- Pedlar, D. & Thompson, J. M. (2016). Toward a Military-Civilian Transition theory and conceptual framework: report of the International Summit held at the University of Southern California in March 2016. Los Angeles, CA.: University of Southern CAlifornia.
- Pew Research Center. (2011). The military-civilian gap: war and sacrifice in the post-9/11 era. Washington DC: Pew Research Center.
- Pickett, T., Rothman, D., Crawford, E. F., Brancu, M., Fairbank, J. A. & Kudler, H. S. (2015). Mental Health Among Military Personnel and Veterans. North Carolina Medical Journal, 76 (5), 299–306.
- Pietrzak, E. (2013). Trajectories of PTSD risk and resilience in World Trade Centre responders: an 8 year prospective cohort study. *Psychological Medicine*, 3 (April), 1–15.
- Pietrzak, R., Feder, A., Singh, R., Schechter, C., Bromet, E. J., Katz, C., Reissman, D., Ozbay, F., Sharma, V. & Crane, M. (2014). Trajectories of PTSD risk and resilience in World Trade Center responders: an 8-year prospective cohort study. *Psychological Medicine*, 44 (01), 205–219.
- Pietrzak, R. H., Goldstein, M. B., Malley, J. C., Johnson, D. C. & Southwick, S. M. (2009). Subsyndromal posttraumatic stress disorder is associated with health and psychosocial difficulties in veterans of Operations Enduring Freedom and Iraqi Freedom. *Depression and Anxiety*, 26 (8), 739–744.
- Pinder, R. J., Greenberg, N., Boyko, E. J., Gackstetter, G. D., Hooper, T. I., Murphy, D., Ryan, M. A., Smith, B., Smith, T. C., Wells, T. S. & Wessely, S. (2012a). Profile of two cohorts: UK and US prospective studies of military health. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 41 (5), 1272–1282.
- Pinder, R. J., Iversen, A. C., Kapur, N., Wessely, S. & Fear, N. T. (2012b). Self-harm and attempted suicide among UK armed forces personnel: results of a crosssectional survey. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 58 (4), 433–439.

- Pine, D. S., Cohen, E., Cohen, P. & Brook, J. (1999). Adolescent depressive symptoms as predictors of adult depression: moodiness or mood disorder? *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 56 (1), 133–135.
- Post, R. M. & Weiss, S. R. (1998). Sensitization and kindling phenomena in mood, anxiety, and obsessive-compulsive disorders: the role of serotonergic mechanisms in illness progression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 44 (3), 193–206.
- Raja, M. & Azzoni, A. (2004). Suicide attempts: differences between unipolar and bipolar patients and among groups with different lethality risk. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 82 (3), 437–442.
- Ramchand, R., Rudaversusky, R., Grant, S., Tanielian, T. & Jaycox, L. (2015). Prevalence of, risk factors for, and consequences of posttraumatic stress disorder and other mental health problems in military populations deployed to Iraq and Afghanistan. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 17 (5), 37.
- Ray, S. L. & Heaslip, K. (2011). Canadian military transitioning to civilian life: a discussion paper. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 18 (3), 198–204.
- Reddy, M. K., Meyer, T. D., Wittlin, N. M., Miller, I. W. & Weinstock, L. M. (2017).
 Bipolar I disorder with comorbid PTSD: Demographic and clinical correlates in a sample of hospitalized patients. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 72, 13–17.
- Reed, R. L., Masters, S. & Roeger, L. S. (2016). The Australian Defence Force Postdischarge GP Health Assessment. *Australian Family Physician*, 45 (3), 94.
- Ribeiro, J., Franklin, J., Fox, K., Bentley, K., Kleiman, E., Chang, B. & Nock, M. (2016). Self-injurious thoughts and behaviors as risk factors for future suicide ideation, attempts, and death: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychological Medicine*, 46 (02), 225–236.
- Richardson, L. K., Frueh, B. C. & Acierno, R. (2010). Prevalence estimates of combatrelated post-traumatic stress disorder: critical review. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 44 (1), 4–19.
- Riviere, L. A., Kendall-Robbins, A., McGurk, D., Castro, C. A., Hoge, C. W. (2011). Coming home may hurt: risk factors for mental ill health in US reservists after deployment in Iraq. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 198, 136–142.
- Rodenburg, J., Heesink, L. & Drožđek, B. (2016). PTSD, Anger, and Aggression: Epidemiology, Etiology and Clinical Practice. *Comprehensive Guide to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorders*, 739–758.
- Rumpf, H. J., Hapke, U., Meyer, C. & John, U. (2002). Screening for alcohol use disorders and at-risk drinking in the general population: Psychometric performance of three questionnaires. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 37 (3), 261– 268.

- Rytwinski, N. K., Scur, M. D., Feeny, N. C. & Youngstrom, E. A. (2013). The cooccurrence of major depressive disorder among individuals with posttraumatic stress disorder: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 26 (3), 299–309.
- Salim, A. & Welsh, A. H. (2009). Designing 2-phase prevalence studies in the absence of a 'gold standard' test. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 170 (3), 369–378.
- Saunders, J. B., Aasland, O. G., Babor, T. F., de la Fuente, J. R. & Grant, M. (1993).
 Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO
 Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol
 Consumption-II. Addiction, 88 (6), 791–804.
- Sayer, N. A., Carlson, K. F. & Frazier, P. A. (2014). Reintegration challenges in U.S. service members and veterans following combat deployment. *Social Issues* and Policy Review, 8 (1), 33–73.
- Sayer, N. A., Noorbaloochi, S., Frazier, P., Carlson, K., Gravely, A. & Murdoch, M. (2010). Reintegration problems and treatment interests among Iraq and Afghanistan combat veterans receiving VA medical care. *Psychiatric Services*, 61 (6), 589–597.
- Sayer, N. A., Orazem, R. J., Noorbaloochi, S., Gravely, A., Frazier, P., Carlson, K. F., Schnurr, P. P. & Oleson, H. (2015). Iraq and Afghanistan War veterans with reintegration problems: Differences by Veterans Affairs healthcare user status. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 42 (4), 493–503.
- Schmidt, U. (2015). A plea for symptom-based research in psychiatry. *European Journal* of Psychotraumatology, 6.
- Schür, R. R., Boks, M. P., Geuze, E., Prinsen, H. C., Verhoeven-Duif, N. M., Joëls, M., Kahn, R. S., Vermetten, E. & Vinkers, C. H. (2016). Development of psychopathology in deployed armed forces in relation to plasma GABA levels. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 73, 263–270.
- Schuster, T. L., Kessler, R. C. & Aseltine, R. H. Jr. (1990). Supportive interactions, negative interactions, and depressed mood. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 18 (3), 423–438.
- Scott, J., Leboyer, M., Hickie, I., Berk, M., Kapczinski, F., Frank, E., Kupfer, D. & McGorry, P. (2013). Clinical staging in psychiatry: a cross-cutting model of diagnosis with heuristic and practical value. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 202 (4), 243–245.
- Seal, K. H., Bertenthal, D., Miner, C. R., Sen, S. & Marmar, C. R. (2007). Bringing the war back home. Mental health disorders among 103,788 US veterans returning from Iraq and Afghanistan seen at the Department of Veterans Affairs facilities. Archives of Internal Medicine, 167 (5), 476–482.

- Searle, A. K., Fairweather-Schmidt, A. K., Saccone, E., McFarlane, A. C., Van Hooff, M., Tran, T., Hedges, L. & Lorimer, M. (2013). Detailed associations between deployment and disorder in the Australian Defence Force: Results from the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing dataset. Report for Joint Health Command. Canberra: Department of Defence.
- Searle, A. K., Van Hooff, M., McFarlane, A. C., Davies, C. E., Fairweather-Schmidt, A. K., Hodson, S. E., Benassi, H. & Steele, N. (2015). The validity of military screening for mental health problems: Diagnostic accuracy of the PCL, K10 and AUDIT scales in an entire military population. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 24 (1), 32–45.
- Sheehan, D. V. (1983). The Anxiety Disease, New York: Charles Scribner and Sons.
- Shields, D. M., Kuhl, D., Lutz, K., Freder, J., Baumann, N. & Lopresti, P. (2016). Mental health and well-being of military veterans during military to civilian transition: review and analysis of the recent literature, Canada: Canadian Institute for Military and Veteran Health Research & Scientific Authority, Veterans Affairs Canada.
- Shirt, L. (2012). 2011 Australian Defence Force Exit Survey Preliminary Report. Commonwealth of Australia: Directorate of Strategic Personnel Policy Research.
- Sim, M. R., Clarke, D., Forbes, A. B., Glass, D., Gwini, S., Ikin, J. F., Kelsall, H. L., McKenzie, D. P. & Wright, B. 2015. Australian Gulf War Follow up Health Study: Technical Report [Online]. Melbourne: Monash University. Available: www.coeh.monash.org/gwfollowup.html.
- Simpson, T. L., Stappenbeck, C. A., Luterek, J. A., Lehavot, K. & Kaysen, D. L. (2014). Drinking motives moderate daily relationships between PTSD symptoms and alcohol use. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 123 (1), 237.
- Simpson, T. L., Stappenbeck, C. A., Varra, A. A., Moore, S. A. & Kaysen, D. (2012). Symptoms of posttraumatic stress predict craving among alcohol treatment seekers: Results of a daily monitoring study. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 26 (4), 724.
- Slade, T., Johnston, A., Oakley Browne, M. A., Andrews, G. & Whiteford, H. (2009). 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing: methods and key findings. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 43 (7), 594–605.
- Slade, T., Johnston, A., Teesson, M., Whiteford, H., Burgess, P., Pirkis, J. & Saw, S. (2007). The Mental Health of Australians 2. Report on the 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. Department of Health and Ageing: Canberra.
- Smart, D., Vassallo, S., Sanson, A., Cockfield, S., Harris, A., Harrison, W. and McIntyre, A. (2005). In the driver's seat: Understanding young adults' driving behaviour. Research report No. 12. Melbourne, Victoria: Australian Institute of Family Studies.

- Smid, G. E., Kleber, R. J., Rademaker, A. R., van Zuiden, M. & Vermetten, E. (2013). The role of stress sensitization in progression of posttraumatic distress following deployment. *Social Psychiatry + Psychiatric Epidemiolology*, 48 (11), 1743– 1754.
- Smith, B. W., Dalen, J., Wiggins, K., Tooley, E., Christopher, P. & Bernard, J. (2008). The brief resilience scale: assessing the ability to bounce back. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 15 (3), 194–200.
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B. & Löwe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. Archives of Internal Medicine, 166 (10), 1092–1097.
- St George's House. (2014). Back to Civvy Street: How can we better support individuals to lead successful civilian lives after a career in the UK Armed Forces? Windsor: Windsor Castle College of St George.
- Stanley, I. H., Hom, M. A., Hagan, C. R. & Joiner, T. E. (2015). Career prevalence and correlates of suicidal thoughts and behaviors among firefighters. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 187, 163–171.
- Statistics Canada. (2003). National Longitudinal Survey of Children and Youth Cycle 4 Survey Instruments 2000-2001, Book 1 – Parent, Child & Youth, Cat. no. 89FO077XPE, no. 4a. Canada: Statistics Canada.
- Steele, N. & Goodman, M. (2006). History of ADF Mental Health Screening 1999–2005. In PRTG technical brief 4/2006 (ed). Canberra: Defence Force Psychology Organisation, Department of Defence.
- Steudte-Schmiedgen, S., Stalder, T., Schönfeld, S., Wittchen, H.-U., Trautmann, S., Alexander, N., Miller, R. & Kirschbaum, C. (2015). Hair cortisol concentrations and cortisol stress reactivity predict PTSD symptom increase after trauma exposure during military deployment. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 59, 123– 133.
- Stewart, I. J., Sosnov, J. A., Howard, J. T., Orman, J. A., Fang, R., Morrow, B. D., Zonies, D. H., Bollinger, M., Tuman, C., Freedman, B. A. & Chung, K. K. (2015).
 Retrospective Analysis of Long-Term Outcomes After Combat Injury: A Hidden Cost of War. *Circulation*, 132 (22), 2126–2133.
- Stinchfield, R., Govoni, R., & Frisch, G. R. (2007). A review of screening and assessment instruments for problem and pathological gambling. *Research and Measurement Issues in Gambling Studies*, 1, 179–213.
- Strazdins, L., D'Souza, R. M., Clements, M., Broom, D. H., Rodgers, B. & Berry, H. L. (2011). Could better jobs improve mental health? A prospective study of change in work conditions and mental health in mid-aged adults. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 65 (6), 529–534.

- Sundin, J., Herrell, R. K., Hoge, C. W., Fear, N. T., Adler, A. B., Greenberg, N., Riviere, L. A., Thomas, J. L., Wessely, S. & Bliese, P. D. (2014). Mental health outcomes in US and UK military personnel returning from Iraq. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 204 (3), 200–207.
- Tanielian, T. & Jaycox, L. H. (eds.) 2008. *Invisible wounds of war: Psychological and cognitive injuries, their consequences, and services to assist recovery.* Santa Monica, SA: RAND Corporation.
- Teesson, M., Slade, T. & Mills, K. (2009). Comorbidity in Australia: findings of the 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 43 (7), 606–614.
- Thomas, J. L., Wilk, J. E., Riviere, L. A., et al. (2010). Prevalence of Mental Health Problems and Functional Impairment Among Active Component and National Guard Soldiers 3 and 12 Months Following Combat in Iraq. Archives of General Psychiatry, 67 (6), 614–623.
- Thompson, J., Hopman, W., Sweet, J., VanTil, L., MacLean, M., VanDenKerkhof, E., Sudom, K., Poirier, A. & Pedlar, D. (2013). Health-related Quality of Life of Canadian Forces Veterans After Transition to Civilian Life. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 104 (1), e15–e21.
- Thompson, J., MacLean, M. B., Van Til, L., Sweet, J., Poirier, A. & Pedlar, D. (2011a). Survey on transition to civilian life: Report on regular force veterans, Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada, Chalottetown: Director General Military Personnel Research and Analysis, Department of National Defence, Ottowa.
- Thompson, J., Sweet, J., Poirier, A. & VanTil, L. (2011b). Suicide ideation and attempt findings in the Survey on Transition to Civilian Life: Descriptive analysis.
 Charlottetown, PEI: Veterans Affairs Canada technical report. 30 November 2011-OK-EG.
- Thompson, J., Van Til, L., Sweet, J., Poirier, A., McKinnon, K., Dursun, S., Sudom, K., Zamorski, M., Sareen, J., Ross, D., Hoskins, C. & Pedlar, D. (2015). Canadian armed forces veterans: mental health findings from the 2013 Life After Service Survey. Charlottetown PE Research Directorate: Veterans Affairs Canada. Research Directorate Technical Report. 19 March 2105.
- Thompson, J. M., Van Til, L., Poirier, A., Sweet, J., McKinnon, K., Sudom, K., Dursun, S. & Pedlar, D. (2014). *Health and well-being of Canadian Armed Forces Veterans: Findings from the 2013 Life After Service Survey*. Charlottetown PE: Research Directorate: Veterans Affairs Canada. Research Directorate Technical Report. 03 July 2014.
- Ursano, R. J., Kessler, R. C., Stein, M. B., Naifeh, J. A., Aliaga, P. A., Fullerton, C. S., Wynn, G. H., Vegella, P. L., Ng, T. H. H. & Zhang, B. G. (2016). Risk factors, methods, and timing of suicide attempts among US Army soldiers. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 73 (7), 741–749.

- Van Hooff, M., McFarlane, A. C., Lorimer, M., Saccone, E. J., Searle, A. K. & Fairweather-Schmidt, A. K. (2012). The prevalence of ICD 10 Trauma Exposure in the Australian Defence Force: Results from the 2010 ADF Mental Health Prevalence and Wellbeing Dataset. Canberra: Department of Defence.
- van Staden, L., Fear, N. T., Iversen, A. C., French, C. E., Dandeker, C. & Wessely, S. (2007). Transition back into civilian life: a study of personnel leaving the U.K. armed forces via 'military prison'. *Military Medicine*, 172 (9), 925–930.
- Van Til, L., Macintosh, S., Thomspon, J., MacLean, M. B., Campbell, L. & Pedlar, D.
 (2014a). 2013 Synthesis of Life After Service Studies. Charlottetown (PE):
 Veterans Affairs Canada, Research Directorate Synthesis Report, 3 July 2014.
- Van Til, L., Poirier, A., Sweet, J., McKinnon, K. & MacLean, M. B. (2014b). Methodology: Life After Service Studies 2013. Charlottetown (PE): Veterans Affairs Canada: Research Directorate technical report: 31 December 2014.
- van Zuiden, M., Kavelaars, A., Vermetten, E., Olff, M., Geuze, E. & Heijnen, C. (2015). Pre-deployment differences in glucocorticoid sensitivity of leukocytes in soldiers developing symptoms of PTSD, depression or fatigue persist after return from military deployment. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 51, 513–524.
- Vermetten, E., Baker, D. & Yehuda, R. (2015). New findings from prospective studies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 51, 441–443.
- Villatte, J. L., O'Connor, S. S., Leitner, R., Kerbrat, A. H., Johnson, L. L. & Gutierrez, P. M. (2015). Suicide attempt characteristics among veterans and active-duty service members receiving mental health services: A pooled data analysis. *Military Behavioral Health*, 3 (4), 316–327.
- Wainwright, V., McDonnell, S., Lennox, C., Shaw, J. & Senior, J. (2016). Soldier, civilian, criminal: identifying pathways to offending of ex-armed forces personnel in prison. *Psychology, Crime & Law,* 22 (8), 741–757.
- Wang, P. S., Simon, G. E., Avorn, J., Azocar, F., Ludman, E. J., McCulloch, J., Petukhova, M. Z. & Kessler, R. C. (2007). Telephone screening, outreach, and care management for depressed workers and impact on clinical and work productivity outcomes: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 298 (12), 1401– 1411.
- Ware, J. E. & Sherbourne, C.D. (1992). The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care*, (Jun 30(6)), 473–483.
- Watkins, L. E., Sippel, L. M., Pietrzak, R. H., Hoff, R. & Harpaz-Rotem, I. (2017). Cooccurring aggression and suicide attempt among veterans entering residential treatment for PTSD: The role of PTSD symptom clusters and alcohol misuse. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 87, 8–14.

- Watson, N. & Wooden, M. (2002). *The Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey: Wave 1 Survey Methodology.* Melbourne Institute HILDA Technical Paper Series vol no. 1/02.
- Weathers, F. W., Litz, B. T., Herman, D. S., Huska, J. A., & Keane, T. M. (1993). The PTSD Checklist (PCL): Reliability, validity, and diagnostic utility. Paper presented at the 9th Annual Conference of the ISTSS. San Antonio, TX.
- Wiborg, J. F., Rademaker, A. R., Geuze, E., Twisk, J., Vermetten, E. & Knoop, H. (2016).
 Course and Predictors of Postdeployment Fatigue: A Prospective Cohort Study in the Dutch Armed Forces. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 77 (8), 1074–1079.
- Wisco, B. E., Marx, B. P., Wolf, E. J., Miller, M. W., Southwick, S. M. & Pietrzak, R. H. (2014). Posttraumatic stress disorder in the US veteran population: results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 75 (12), 1338–1346.
- Wittkampf, K. A., Naeije, L., Schene, A. H., Huyser, J. & van Weert, H. C. (2007).
 Diagnostic accuracy of the mood module of the Patient Health Questionnaire: a systematic review. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 29 (5), 388–395.
- World Health Organization. (1992). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Health Related Problems, vol. 10, Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (1994). *ICD-10 International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems,* Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre. (2013). Young and Well CRC Standard Measures [Online]. Sydney: Young and Well CRC. Available: www.youngandwellcrc.org.au.
- Zannas, A. S., Provençal, N. & Binder, E. B. (2015). Epigenetics of posttraumatic stress disorder: current evidence, challenges, and future directions. *Biological Psychiatry*, 78 (5), 327–335.
- Zimmermann, P., Brückl, T., Nocon, A., Pfister, H., Lieb, R., Wittchen, H.-U., Holsboer, F. & Angst, J. (2009). Heterogeneity of DSM-IV major depressive disorder as a consequence of subthreshold bipolarity. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66 (12), 1341–1352.